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Purpose: To notify the Rules Committee that this contract in use by various Nassau County Departments
has reached a spending level that requires oversight by said Committee.

Discussion: This request is a sole source purchase; Thomson West is the copyright owner of this data base.
No alternative database is available that can sufficiently meet the needs of the Departments that utilize this
blanket purchase order. The present contract has been in place since May 1, 2010.

Impact on Funding: Estimate annual usage will exceed One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.) from
general funds. For example, the Legislature’s monthly bill is approaching Four Thousand Dollars {$4,000).

Recommendation: Office of Purchasing recommends approving oversight of i.‘und'ing for this Bl'anket
Purchase Order with Thomson West. - 1/




COUNTY OF NASSAU

INTER — DEPARTMENTAL MEMO

TO: CLERK OF THE COUNTY LEGISLATURE A-28-2018

FROM: MELISSA GALLUCCI, COMMISSIONER SHARED SERVICES
DATE: MARCH 22, 2018

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION-VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENTS

THIS RESOLUTION IS RECOMMENDED BY THE DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF PURCHASING TO
APPROVE OVERSIGHT FOR A BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER IN THE ESTIMATED AMOUNT
OF OVER ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($100,000.00) ON BEHALF OF VARIOUS
NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENTS TO THOMSON WEST MEETING SPECIFICATIONS FOR
LEGAL DATA BASE ACCESS.

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED DOCUMENT ATTACHED HERETO IS FORWARDED FOR YOUR
REVIEW AND APPROV AT, AND SUBSEQUENT TRANSMITTAL TO THE RULES COMMITTEE

FOR INCLUSION IN ITS AGENDA.,
ya A

! MICHAEL SCHLENOFEF
\  ACTING DIRECTOR OF PURCHASING

MS: br

ENCIL: (1) STAFF SUMMARY
(2) DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
(3) RESOLUTION
(4) SOLE SOURCE DOCUMENTS
(5) QUOTATION

(6) CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY
(7) POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION FORM




RULES RESOLUTION 2018

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE DIRECTOR OF NASSAU COUNTY OFFICE OF
PURCHASING TO REQUEST OVERSIGHT OF A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE COUNTY
OF NASSAU ACTING ON BEHALF OF VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENTS

AND THOMSON WEST,

WHEREAS, the Director of Purchasing is representing to the Rules Committee that the firm,

THOMSON WEST is a sole source provider and meets all specifications for the product described in the

said contract as determined by the Director of the Office of Purchasing; and

WHEREAS, the Director is representing to the Rules Committee that the firm THOMSON
WEST has reached a level of spending requiring oversight by the Rules Committee as determined by the

Director of the Office of Purchasing,

RESOLVED, that the Rules Commiitee of the Nassau County Legislature authorizes the Director,
Office of Purchasing to approve oversight of funding under a Blanket Purchase Order with THOMSON

WEST.
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DATE (MM/DDIYYYY)
03/30/2018

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFCRDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S}, AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

FRODUGER ﬁmg\cr
Marsh USA, Inc, . BHONE FAR
1166 Avenue of the Americas (A/C, No, Ext): {AIC, No):
New York, NY 10036 E#D%:I"Ess-
Altn; NewYork,Certs@marsh.com Fax: 212-345-3685 >
INSURER{S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
INSURER A : ACE American Insurance Company 22667
INSURED . M/A
Wesl Publishing Corporation INSURER B : NIA h
640 Opparman Dr. INSURER G ¢ Indernily Insurance Company of North America 43575
Eagan, MN 55123 INSURER D :
INSURER E :
INSURER F ;
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER; NYC-010257943-02 REVISION NUMBER: 4

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABCVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TQ WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFGRCED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES, LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAMS.

ADDL|SUBR|
N TYPE OF INSURANCE R POLICY NUMBER (DGR YYL | (MDY LTS
A | % | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY HDO (27863413 03/31/2047 0973012018 EAGH OGCURRENGE $ 1,000,000
DAMAGE 10 RENTED
CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR PREMISES (Ea occurrence) $ 500,000
| MED EXP {Any ana parson) | $ 5000
L PERSONAL & ADV IMJURY | $ 1,000,000
| GENL AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $ 2,000,000
| X | poLicY % l:] Loc PRODUCTS - COMPIOP AGS | § 2,000,000
OTHER; s
A | AUTOMOEILE LIABILITY EA HOSDE5253 032017 |09/30/2018 | GOMBINED SNGLETMIT — T 3,000,000
X | ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY {Per person) | $
I guWTi\clJEsDonw ﬁC;'EDULED BODILY INJURY (Per accldent)| $
HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE $
|| AUTOS oMLY AUTOS ONLY | Par accident)
$
| UMBRELLA LIAB | | ocour EACH DGCURRENGE $
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $
DED E | RETENTION S 3
C |WORKERS GOMPENSATION WLR C64784808 (ACS) 033172018 [09/30/2018 y | PER | QTH-
A |ANDEMPLOYERS LIABILITY YiN RSC 06478964 033172018 | 06/3072018 STAIUTE =
ANYPROPRIETORPARTNERIEXECUTIVE IA 783648 (W) E.L EACH ACCIDENT $ 1,000,000
A {Mandatory in NH} ! WLR C64784845 (AZ, CA, MA) 0331/2018 09/30/2018 E.L DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE| $ 1,000,000
If yas, describe under 1.000.000
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT | $ L00,

DESCRIPTION OF CPERATIONS / LCCATIONS / VEHICLES {ACORD 101, Additicnal Remarks Scheduile, may be attached If more space Is required)
County of Nassau is included as an additional insured {except workers’ compensation) where required by writlen contract.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CANCELLATION

County of Nassau
1 West St.
Minenla, NY 11501

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
of Marsh USA Inc.

Michaela Grasshoff

TR D Gponelrlds

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

©1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD




POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign confributions
pursuant to the New York State Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and
ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning April 1, 2018, the period beginning two
years ptior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this disclosure, to the
campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the camnpaign
commiftees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County
Hxecutive, the County Clerl, the Compiroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?
If yes, 1o what campaign committee?

No

2. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or
Vendor authorized as a signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

"The undersigned affitms and so swears that he/she has read and vnderstood the foregoing
statements and they are, to his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersiened further certifies and affirms that the contribution(s) to the campaign commitiess
identified above were rmade freely and without duress, ihreat or any promise of a governmental
benefit or in exchange for any benofit ot remuneration,

Vendor Woest Publishing Corporation

Dated; 3/8/2018 Bigned:

Print Name:  John S. Nelson i

Title: Director of Procurement and Propasal Management

Rev. 3-2016




: Eve Kulczycki, Esq.
f?; THOMSON REUTERS Government Client Manager

3 Times Square

New York, NY

Phone: 201-988-4107
Eve.Kulczycki@tr.com

March 5, 2013

TO: Nassau County
RE: Sole Source Desighation—Thomson Reuters Westlaw

Dear Nassau County:

Thomson Reuters (West Publishing Corporation) provides a legal research solution via Westlaw. This letter
is to confirm West’s status as the sole source provider for Westlaw, which includes the exclusive content,
features, and services listed on the following page.

Westlaw provides legal researchers with access to exclusive resources, proprietary tools, and technology
that no other research provider can offer, such as the following:

» Authoritative content—With the most trusted primary law resources and leading analytical titles that
are cited most often in ceurt—all in one place and always available—researchers have access to all of
the relevant information they need to answer a legal guestion.

= Attorney-editor enhancements—For more than a century, our atiorney-editors have been analyzing,
summarizing, and classifying the law. By developing proprietary innovations like the West Key Number
System, KeyCite, headnotes, and notes of decisions, we make the content better organized and
connected sa it's easier for researchers to find accurate answers quickly.

* [ndustry-defining technology—Our research innovations, such as WestSearch, the award-winning
mobile app, Folder Analysis, Research Recommendations, Westlaw Answers, and Graphical Statutes
connect content and our proprietary analysis of the law in unparalleled ways so that legal professionals
can conduct research faster and with more accuracy. Advanced, yet intuitive, easy-to-use functionality
also helps researchers be more efficient.

With Westlaw, researching is more complete, accurate, and faster. Attached is an additional summary of
exclusive Westlaw resources and enhancements

| would be happy to further discuss with you the exclusive features, services, and content available via
Westlaw. If you have any guestions concerning this document or require additional information, please do
not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,




Editorial Enhancements—For more than a century, West attorney-editors have been providing editorial enhancements to case

law, statutes, and other lega! materials, which includes providing tha most exhaustive verification and correction process in the
legal publishing and information industry. No other ressarch service can match West’s editorial experience.

West Key Number System—The West Key Number Systam is the master classification system of U.S. law and is widely regarded
as the cornerstone of effective legal research. It helps users to quickly locate and identify cases with the same or similar legal

concepts in any jurisdiction in the U.S.

National Reporter System--Since 1879, our National Reporter System has compiled and organized federal and state case law into

a cohesive body of law that can be researched within and across jurisdictions.

Regulations with Editorial Enhancemeants—Westlaw offers a comprehensive and efficient federal regulatory research system that

provides researchers with the tools to complete their regulations research more efficiently and with complete confidence.

PastStat Locator— With PastStat Locator, users can view prior versions of sections in USCA, as well as prior versions of statutes
for select states. In all jurisdictions, PastStat Locator can rebuild the Table of Contents and show how It existed on a particular
date. It can also 1dentify when a statute or amendment has a future activation date, or when a statute or amendment is due to

lapse.

Graphical Statutes/Interactive Timeline-— Graphical Statutes revolutionizes statute research by charting legistative changes and
linking related documents in an easy-to-read display. From a single screen, researchers can easily track changes in the law, jocate

relevant legislative history materials, read important case law, and chack for possible amendments. Graphical Statutes is availeble

for USCA and the statutes for select states,

West Reporter Images—West Reporier Images provides cost effective, easy access to an exact electronic copy of a National

Reporter System case through Westlaw,

Complete Restatements of the Law—The restatemants are principles of hlack letter law distilled from case law. Restatements on

Westlaw provide a section’s biack letter law, reporter’s notes, commentary, Hlustrations, and annotations in one document. First
Restatements of the Law, available exclusively on Westlaw, can help researchers trace the evolution of a law, or an area of law,
and aid in the interpretation of older cases that rely on First Restatement sections.

Uniform Laws Annotated (ULA)—The ULA provides an extensive reference to the text of uniform laws, prepared under the
sponsorship of the National Conference of Cemmissionars on Uniform State Laws and the American Law Institute. ULA examines
acts recommended for adoption in all states, pinpoints state variations, and includes annotations to cases decided in adopting

jurisdictions.

Briefs—Westlaw provides access to an extensive and exclusive collection of appellate briefs at both the federal and state levels.
As of June 2016, Westlaw contains mare than 3.1 million separate documents and the number of briefs is growing monthiy.

McKinneys-ThomsonReuters is the Official Publisher of McKinneys New York Annctated Statutes in print and provides the full
version of the statutes online including enhanced citing reference content and legislative links.

New York Practice Series and NY Jurisprudence

WaestSearch—WestSearch, a search engine designed
specifically for law, incorporates over 140 years of
proprietary analysis of the law and exclusive tools such as
key numbers, KeyCite, headnotes, notes of decisions,
indexes, and secandary sources o deliver relevant
documents.

Research Recommendations—Westlaw makes
recommendations by detecting legal-issue patterns in users’
document Interactions during research sessions, Users can
find additional relevant documents and Key Nurnhers
recommended from Wast’s editorial tocls and common
usage patterns,

Westlaw Answers—Westlaw provides speacific answers to
common types of legal questions by including elements of a
cause of action, statutes of limitations and judicially defined
ierms. Users can click on links to authoritative court
decisions and view quastions appearing in a type-ahead
display, with the answers appearing above the search
results.

Snapshots—Westlaw gives snapshots of companies, legal
professionals, and popular statutes.

Folder Analysis—Westlaw makes suggastions, identifying
the legal Issues present through automatic analysis of cases
and statutes in a folder. Users can view additional
recommended cases and statutes, see a visual
representation of issues, and navigate documents by issue.

Research Report— Westlaw assembles professional
reports, stimmarizing research in users’ folders. Usears can
navigate reports with Table of Contants links, display all
notations (including shared notes), and edit notes from the
Summary screen,

Best Portion—A navigation tool that identifies the "best"”
poition of a document when running a plain language
search.

Visual Indicators—Westlaw helps researchers easily
determine when they’ve already viewed or worked with a
document. Icons for Already Viewed, Folders, and Notes
help researchers 1o avoid retracing their steps.

System Availability—West's expertly trained staff helps
ensure that uninterrupted Westlaw service is providad 24
hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year.




o Eve Kulczycki, Esq.
7 THOMSON REUTERS Government Client Manager
3 Times Square
New York, NY 10036
Phone: 201-988-4107
Eve. kulczycki@tr.com
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March 5, 2018

TO: Nassau County

RE: Sole Source Designation—Thomson Reuters CLEAR
Dear Nassau County:

Thomson Reuters CLEAR is a comprehensive, online investigative platform that allows investigators
and analysts to easily access billions of public records, publicly available information, and propristary
data for investigation and due diligence. Through its easy-to-use, intuitive interface, CLEAR provides
extensive and current data sources, functionality, and exclusive offerings that comprise the most
comprehensive investigative datzbase platform avzilable. West Publishing Corporation, part of
Thomson Reuters, is the manufacturer of CLEAR and the sole seller. No other online investigative
research tool provides the following combination of data, features, and capabilities, as found on
CLEAR.

Key Investigative Content—Incluging CLEAR Exclusives

= Photo Images on Criminal Records—CLEAR provides photo images on arrest and criminal
records. When available from the sources, these images will be displayed on arrest records, sex
offender records, and selected Department of Correction records.

» Cell Phone Data—CLEAR’s phone data is the most comprehensive, current, and accurate data in
the industry. No service other than CLEAR offers gateway access to real-time, nationwide phone
data. Through this real-time gateway, CLEAR provides comprehensive phone data, including
detailed carrier contact information, for cell phones, landlines, and VoIP. Additionally, the Phone
Records data set provides access to hundreds of millions of phone records, including more than
200 million cell phene numbers, as well as landlines and VolP numbers.

= Utility Data—For people who are not easily traceable via traditional sources such as credit
header, locator information from utility hookup records may provide the only current and
accurate address and phone number data available, and CLEAR offers the most comprehensive
utility locator information on the market. CLEAR's utility data is updated daily and provides more
than 30 million utility data records {e.g., names, addresses, service information) from more than
80 national and regional electric, cable, gas, and telephone companies.

» Credit Reporting Bureaus—CLEAR provides government investigators and analysts with
information ariginating from all three major credit reporting bureaus, including real-time header
information from Experian and TransUnion in CLEAR’s comprehensive reports, and utility data
from Equifax. This results in reports that provide more current address information. Other
critical address information provided by credit reporting bureaus includes the high-risk address
alert, which identifies addresses that may be associated with a propensity for fraud.

" Real-Time Vehicle Registration Data—CLEAR offers real-time gateway access to vehicle
registration data for 45 jurisdictions, providing up-to-date information on vehicles and their
registered owners.

»  Global Business Data—CLEAR provides comprehensive data on business entities, including small
and privately held companies as well as corporations. Business data sources also include



Worldbase, a global ofiering of more than 200 million companies, This content includes both
U.S. company information and international company information from 220 countries.

Advanced Features and Capabilities-—inciuding CLEAR Exclusives

Alerts—With CLEAR Alerts, users can automatically monitor the status of a selected attribute or
subject, at a chosen time interval (e.g., daily, weekly, et¢.). When either new information is
added or information changes on the selected attribute or subject, CLEAR sends a notification to
the user about the updated information.

Web Analytics—Web Analytics is a dashhoard tool that provides search access to social
networking sites, blogs, watchlists, and other Web sources.

Associate Analytics—This dashboard tool in CLEAR allows users to quickly scan multiple levels of
the subject’s associates and assess potential negative affiliations.

Company Family Tree—The Company Family Tree tool provides visualization of relationships
between parent and subsidiary companies.

Graphical Display—Graphical Display is a dashboard tool providing visualization of connections
between people and businesses.

Negative News~—This dashboard too! provides access to news items relating to a subject, with
ability to focus on negative news and sentiments about the subject.

Quick Analysis Flags—Provides a checklist of data sets that can be potential red flags for a
person or business, in order to help determine where to focus investigative efforis.

Map Analytics—This dashboard tool plets a subject’s address on a map and allows a view of
surrounding businesses by type, including medical facility, attorney’s office, or automotive
mechanic shop. Users may also view details of businesses on the map.

Customizable Dashboard—CLEAR's dashhoard view allows users to get an immediate overview
of a person or business and to guickly get a sense of potential risks associated with the subject.
Users can customize the dashboard to ensure a focus on data that’'s most relevant to them.

Vital Statistics—CLEAR results include this feature, which provides a convenient summary of the
key attributes and information from multiple sources for a subject.

Linked Searching—CLEAR offers the ability to search from within search results, making it fast
and convenient to dive deeper into returned data. Linked searches include: address, business
name, driver's license number, email address, persan name, phone number, and Social Security
number.

Entity Resolution—CLEAR uses entity resolved database (ERD) technology to efficiently find all
available public records pertaining to a subject. CLEAR’s ERD technology uses multiple data
elements and identifiers to match records and can overcome partial and incomplete data,
misspellings, etc, CLEAR’s ERD technology ensures that users ohtain the full complement of
available data on a subject.

Relevance Scores—As results are returned in CLEAR, the most relevant records appear at the
top of the result list.

Data Source Transparency-—In CLEAR, soiirces and their corresponding "reporied dates” are
provided with search results to provide maximum transparency to the user. The reported dates
shown on records indicate the dates of the transaction or activity associated with the record at
the source. In contrast, many providers of investigative database services list the date that the
information was most recently updated in their database, and not when it was updated at the
source, CLEAR shows the actual date of update in the source data. Additional source details,



such as detailed coverage infarmation and update frequencies, are provided in CLEAR's Online
Help, so that users can be assured of the credibility, reliability, and currentness of the data,

= User Preferences—CLEAR's Preferences account tool allows users to create preferences for
conducting linked searches, permissible uses, user profile, display order of dashboard modules,
and regarding data included in the Guick Analysis Flags and Associate Analytics modules.

= Customized Reporting—Iit CLEAR, customers have several customizing options available and can
create report templates by setting report preferences, identifying the sections to include, and
setting the sequence in which sections are displayed,

»  Workspace—The Workspace feature aflows customers to save selected results and report data
indefinitely and provides the ability to generate link-chart and map views of the data. Visualizing
information on multiple subjects in a link-chart view makes it easier for investigators to discern
possible connections or associations between subjects/entities.

= CLEAR Mohile Access—CLEAR users can access critical data on their smart phones and other
maobile devices. CLEAR Mobile does not restrict data returns, so users have access to the same
results information that they would on their computers, including Vital Statistics in search results
and comprehensive reports. CLEAR automatically detects a user’s mobile device type and
seamlessly logs in the user to a streamlined, maobile version.

»  Compatibility with Analytical Programs—For investigators who need to conduct more powerful
analysis on CLEAR results, CLEAR data can be readily integrated with i2 Analyst’s Notebook and
Palantir.

=»  Google Maps Compatibility—CLEAR provides mapping of address data, powered by Google
Maps, in several areas, including the Address Map and Map Analytics modules, Workspace, and
in Search Results, by selecting the map icon located beside the address.

AVAILABLE EXCLUSIVES (NOT CURRENTLY IN THE NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES EXISTING PLANS)

» License Plate Recognition Data—New—CLEAR is the onrly enline public records platform that
delivers integrated access to License Plate Reader content in a flat-rate pricing model. Through
CLEAR, law enforcement customers have accass to maore than six (6) billion sighting records, via
either direct search or integration with CLEAR repcrts. Additionally, CLEAR is the exclusive
ptovider of online access to integrated License Plate Reader content to federal customers.

*  CLEAR ID Confirm—CLEAR 1D Confirm allows customers to efficiently conduct identity
verification on individuals and businesses and understand the level of validity or risk involved.
With a dashboard view of user input, field-by-field matching (match/partial match/no match),
identity flag hits, and scores, users readily see whether an identity appears to be valid and which
data sources have information on the subject. CLEAR ID Confirm is availabie either as a premium
add-on feature to CLEAR or as a standalone subscription plan via web-based access, batch, or
system-to-system (APi web services),

= Asset Insights—Four separate premium add-on features in CLEAR can be used to better identify
risks, and provide greater depth of information for investigations: Business Credit Reports with
revenue, sales volume, M&A information, etc.; SEC Filings (access to data on farms 10-K, 10-Q, 8-
K, etc.; Real Praperty Reports providing market analysis information, comparable sales
information, etc.; and Deed Images and Parcel Maps, for in-depth verification of property
transfers and associated parties.

= \World-Checl Risk Intelligence—World-Check Risk Intelligence data contains profiles of
politically exposed persons (PEP) and heightened-risk individuals and entities, such as
businesses, organizations, shell banks, charities, political parties, etc, The content comes from
hundreds of thousands of sources, including national and international media, government,



intelligence, and police agencies, sanction and embargo lists from national and international
government agencies, etc. World-Check data is updated daily. Because World-Check monitors
the sources 24 hours per day, high-risk entities are often identified months or years before they
are listed elsewhere, such as on the U.S. Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Controt (OFAC) list.
World-Check Risk Intetligence is an optional add-on available to federal and corporate
subscribers to CLEAR.

» Real-Time Incarceration and Arrest (RTIA) Records—Through this premium feature, CLEAR
provides gateway access to this data source, which provides live access to more than 110 million
incarceration and arrest recoerds from more than 2,800 agencies nationwide, representing more
than 85% of 1).5. jail beds. The data is updated every hour to ensure that the most up-to-date
information is available. Records often contain images of the subject as well as physical
characteristic data to hefp investigators quickly identify and focus on the most relevant results.
In CLEAR, the RTIA Gateway can be searched in conjunction with the standard criminal records
resources to provide robust, comprehensive results in a single search. Law enforcement
customers who include Real-Time Incarceration and Arrest Records In their subscriptions may
access two related searches: Lineup (to create photo lineups from characteristics chosen by the
user) and Bookings (to search for recent bockings or currently incarcerated offenders at a
selected facility). By adding the Real-Time Incarceration and Arrest Records Alerts to their
CLEAR subscriptions, customers will be notified when and where their subjects of interest have
been arrested or incarcerated.

*  Provider Data for Healthcare Fraud investigation—CLEAR has been enhanced to help
investigators combat healthcare fraud. CLEAR offers the most healthcare-related content and
coverage availzble, including National Provider Identifier (NPI} records, sanction records
covering 26 types of providers from more than 1,400 state and federal agencies, and expanded
healthcare license records that are actively monitored and updated with new data as soon as it
is made available. CLEAR’s Provider Comprehensive Report is a convenient summary of all CLEAR
data found on an individual provider, The Healthcare Fraud content is an optional add-on to
CLEAR.

P would be happy to further discuss with you the exclusive features, services, and content available
for CLEAR. If you have any questicns conceraing this document or require additional information,
please do not hesitaie to contact me.

Sincerely,

Eve Kulczycki, Esg.
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

CONSULTANT’S, CONTRACTOR’S AND VENDOR’S DISCLOSURE FORM

1, Name of the Entity: West Publishing Corporation

Address; 610 Opperman Drive

City, State and Zip Code:___Eagan, MN 55123

2, Entity’s Vendor Identification Number;
3. Type of Business: ____ Public Corp ___ Partnership _ Joint Venture
___ Ltd, Liability Co ____Closely Held Corp C Corp Other (specify)
4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or

comparable body, all partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all
members and officers of limited liability companies (attach additional sheets if necessary):

Ses attached list.

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or partners of the firm. If the shareholder is not
an individual, list the individual shareholdres/partners/members. If a Publicly held Corporation include a copy
of the 10K in lieu of completing this section.

West Publishing Cerperation is whally owned by Tharson Reuters {Legal) Inc., whose ultimate parent, Thomson Reuters Corporation, is
publicly traded (TRI).




T THOMSON REUTERS

SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE

WEST PUBLISHING CORPORATION

1, Helen V. Stamatiadis, Assistant Secretary of West Publishing Corporation, a Minnesota
corporation (the “Corporalion™), do hereby cerlify as an officer of the Corporation that:

I oam s duly elecied, gualified and acting  Assistant Secretary of the

Corporation.

Lisied below arc duly appointed officers of the Corporation and are hereby

Susun Taylor Martin
Paul Fischer

Hdward A, Friedland
Marc E. Gold
Donna Gies

Randy Joetz
Margarat Hamm
Cyrthia {Cindy) L. Hansen
Andrew Martens
Algjandro Medrano
John 8. Nelson

Seott Nelson

Jon Olson

Gary Hartman

auvthorized (o execute documents in the nume of and on behalf of the Corporation in the
capacity set forth opposite their names:

Chief Executive Officer & President
Chief Financial Officer

Vice President & Secretary

Vice President & Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary

Assistant Secretary

Assistant Secretary

Assistant Secretary

Assistant Secretary

Assistant Secretary

Assistant Secretary

Assisiant Secretary

Assisiont Secrctary

Assistant Secretary

The Corporsnion is an indirect subswdiary of Thomson Rewers Corporation, a

Corporation this 3 day of April 2018,

company orgonized under the laws of the Province of Oniario, Canada and listed on
holh the Toronto Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Fhave hereunto set my haﬁd as lhf‘F\bsmtam Secretary of the

)

5!’5 g

Hefen A Smmﬂu@ha
Assistant Secretary




Appointments
West Publishing Corporation

*“*CONFIDENTIAL*

Company Name
1 West Publighing Corporation

Appointments
Name .

Sean Cannizzaro
Mare Elliol Gold
Linda J. Walker
John Francis Bellizzl
Carotyn Blankenship
Jennifer Chapman
Jaime Fuertes
Susan Garcia
Donna Gies

Ellen Gillespie
Randy Goetz
Marcela Grover
Cynthia L. Hansen
Leslie llaw

Mark frving
Joseph Kapustynski
James F. Keane
Donna LaVardera
Scolt Lexvold
Andrew Marens
Eileen McNeill
Gregory McPolin
Alejandro Medrang
Steven A Mall
John 8. Nelson
Scott Nelson

Elsa Neto

Jon Olson

David Peloguin
Andrew Perrin
David Rodgers
Michelle Scheer

Appointed as
Director

Director

Director

Assistan! Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Saecretary
Assistanl Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistani Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistani Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assisiant Secretary
Assisiant Secratary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assis{ant Secrelary
Assisiant Secretary
Assislant Secratary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
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6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line 1. above (if
none, enter “None”). Attach a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take
patt in the performance of this contract. Such disclosure shall be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary
companies not previously disclosed that participate in the performance of the contract.

Thomson Reuters {Legal) Inc. (Parent)

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid,
etc.). The term “lobbyist” means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any
client to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department
heads, legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee
and Planning Commission. Such matters include, but are not limited to, requests for proposals, development or
improvement of real property subject to County regulation, procurements, or to otherwise engage in lobbying as
the term is defined herein. The term “lobbyist” does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee,
counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

(a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):

NONE
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(b)  Describe lobbying activity of each lobbyist. See page 4 of 4 for a complete description of
lobbying activities.

NONE

(©) List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist {e.g., Nassau County,
New York State):

NONE

8. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor
authorized as a signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

The undersigned affirms and so swearts that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they
are, to his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

Dated: %’/L'f /éﬁﬁk/ Signed: Cﬁ /léée-—m

Print Name: jghn s, Nelson

Title: Assistant Secretary/Director
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The term lobbving shali mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County
Legislature, or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local
legislation or resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove
any local legislation or resolution, whether or not such legislation has been introduced in the County
Legislature; any determination by an elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with
respect to the procurement of goods, services or construction, including the preparation of contract
specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or
administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or
agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by the County Executive,
County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or
committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning
Commission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property subject to County
regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for
proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or
disposition by the county of any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real
property of or by the county, or with respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal,
adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to
hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a
board or commission;

any determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing;

the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal
legislation, rule or regulation, including any determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any
amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced
and whether or not such rule or regulation has been formally proposed.
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
LOBBYIST REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name, address and telephone number of lobbyist(s)/lobbying organization. The term
“lobbyist” means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any client
to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions,
department heads, legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks
Advisory Committee and Planning Commission, Such matters include, but are not limited to, requests
for proposals, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation,
procurements. The term “lobbyist” does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel
or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

Nzt appiicebie -

2. List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau
County, New York State):

No+ S PPV Cehle

3. Name, address and telephone number of client(s) by whom, or on whose behalf, the
lobbyist is retpined, employed or designated:
F\)m Gopliceble,
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4, Describe lobbying activity conducted, or to be conducted, in Nassau County, and identify client(s) for
each activity listed. See page 4 for a complete description of lobbying activities.

Net cpsiicable

5. The name of persons, organizations or governmental entities before whom the lobbyist expects to lobby

Mot appiicable
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6. If such lobbyist is retained or employed pursuant to a written agreement of retainer or employment,
you must attach a copy of such document; and if agreement of retainer or employment is oral, attach a written
statement of the substance thereof. If the written agresment of retainer or employment does not contain a
signed authorization from the client by whom you have been authorized to lobby, separately attach such a
written anthorization from the client.

7. During the previous year, has the lobbyist/lobbying organization or any of its corporate officers
provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York State Election Law to the campaign committees
of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign committees of any candidates for
any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County Clerk, the
Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?

If yes, to what campaign committee? If none, you must so state:

S AD + Sy eebie, Nene.

I understand that copies of this form will be sent to the Nassau County Department of Information
Technology (“IT™) to be posted on the County’s website.

I also understand that upon termination of retainer, employment or designation 1 must give written
notice to the County Attorney within thirty (30) days of termination.

VERIFICATION: The undersigned affirms and so swears that hefshe has read and understood the
foregoing statements and they are, to his’her knowledge, true and accurate,

The undersigned further certifies and affirms that the contribution(s) to the campaign committees listed above
were made freely and without duress, threat or any promise of a governmental benefit or in exchange for any

benefit or remuneration,

Dated: 2)! {e:[ ] & Signed:

Print Name: Margaret Hamm

Title: Manager
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County
Legislature, or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local
legislation or resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove
any local legislation or resolution, whether or not such legislation has been introduced in the County
Legislature; any determination by an elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with
respect to the procurement of goods, services or construction, including the preparation of contract
specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or
administration of a confract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or
agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by the County Executive,
County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or
committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning
Commission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property subject to County
regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for
proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or
disposition by the county of any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real
property of or by the county, or with respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal,
adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to
hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a
board or commission; any determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight
hearing;

the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal
legislation, rule or regulation, including any determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any
amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced
and whether or not such rule or regulation has been formally proposed.

The term "lobbying" or “lobbying activities” does not include: Persons engaged in drafting legislation,
rules, regulations or rates; persons advising clients and rendering opinions on proposed legislation, rules,
regulations or rates, where such professional services are not otherwise connected with legislative or executive
action on such legislation or administrative action on such rules, regulations or rates; newspapers and other
periodicals and radio and television stations and owners and employees thereof, provided that their activities in
connection with proposed legislation, rules, regulations or rates are limited to the publication or broadcast of
news items, editorials or other comment, or paid advertisements; persons who participate as witnesses,
attorneys or other representatives in public rule-making or rate-making proceedings of a County agency, with
respect to all participation by such persons which is part of the public record thereof and all preparation by
such persons for such participation; persans who attempt to influence a County agency in an adjudicatory
proceeding, as defined by § 102 of the New York State Administrative Procedure Act.



*West Publishing Corporation is wholly owned by Thomson Reuters {Legal) Inc, No officer or individual holds a ten percent {10%) or greater
ownership interest.

PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten
percent (10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need
more space to answer any gquestion, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and
attach them to the questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY, FAILURE TO SUBMIT A

COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS
NON-RESPONSIVE AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

*
1. Principal Name fohn 5. Neison

Date of bith _06 / G6 /1862
Home address 16710 Draft Horse Bhvd
City/state/zip Lakevilie, MN 55044

Business address 810 Opperman Drive

City/state/zip _ Eagan, MN 55123
Telephone 651-687-4406

Other present address(es)

City/state/zip

Telephone

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President / / Treasurer ! /
Chairman of Board / / Shareholder / /
Chief Exec. Officer / / Secretary 05 /23 [ 1993
Chief Financial Officer / / Partner / /
Vice President / / / !
{Other)

3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES ___ NO x  If Yes, provide details,

4.  Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES ___ NO_&_ [ Yes, provide details.

5.  Wiithin the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or not-for-profit
organization other than the one submitting the questionnaire? YES ___ NO X ; If Yes, provide details.

»

Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section § in the
past 3 years while you were a principal owner or officer? YES ___ NO X If Yes, provide details.



NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law,
or as a result of any action taken by a government agency.

Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES", i you need more space, photocopy the
appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. Inthe past (8) years, have you and/or any affillated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed In
Section 5 in which you have heen a principal owner ar officer:

a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES NO _x If Yas, provide details for each such instance.

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts
cancelled for cause? YES NO X if Yes, provide details for each such instance.

¢. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards? YES __ NO X If Yes, provide details
for each such instance.

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any
action pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business’s ability to bid or propose
on contract? YES NO X If Yes, provide details for each such instance,

8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition
and/or been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, andfor for any
portion of the last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptey proceedings
initiated more than 7 years ago and/for is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy
proceedings, whenever initiated? If ‘Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed
response to all questions checked "YES". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and
attach it to the questionnaire.)

a) s there any felony charge pending against you? YES __ NOX___ If Yes, provide detalls for
aach such charge.

b) s there any misdemeanor charge pending against you? YES NO X If Yes, provide
details for each such charge.
¢) Is there any administrative charge pending against you? YES NO x_ [IfYes, provide

details for each such charge.

d} Inthe past 10 years, have you bean convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other
crime, an element of which relates i¢ truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the
conduct of business? YES __ NO _yx  If Yes, provide details for each such conviction.

e) Inthe past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES __ NO X If Yes, provide details for each such conviction.

f) Inthe past § ysars, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES NO _x _ If Yes, provide details for each such occurrence.



10.

11

12.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or
local prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation
was related to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated
business listed in response to Question 57 YES ___ NO X If Yes, provide detalls for each such
investigation,

in addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in
response to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation
and/or any other type of investigation by any government agiency, including but not limited to federal, state,
and local regulatory agencies while you were a principal owner or officer? YES NOX  IfYes;
provide details for each such investigation.

. In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to

Question 5 had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to
any professional license held? YES NO x_ I Yes: provide details for each such instance.

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or falled to pay any applicable
federal, state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer
charges? YES NO _Xx__ If Yes, provide details for each such year.



CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH
THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT
RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY
SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

[, __JobnS. Nelson . , being duly sworn, state that 1 have read and understand all the items
contained in the foregoing pages of this questionnaire and the following pages of attachments; that | supplied
full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge, information and belief; that | will
notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of this questionnaire
and before the execution of the contract; and that all inforrnation supplied by me is true to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this
questionnaire as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

Sworn to before me this day of April 2018

ALICIA A DEGROSS
S Notary Public
4 State of Minnesota
My Commission Expies |
' January 31, 2020

TNotary Public

West Publishing Corporation
‘Name of submitting business

John 5. Nelson
Print name

Signature |

Assistant Secretary/Director
Title




Business History Form

The contract shalt be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into
consideration the reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by
the County, offers the best value to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of propasals, each proposer shall complete and submit this questionnaire. The
questionnaire shall be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the
firm, corporation or partnership submitting the Proposai.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is “none”. No blanks.

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

1) Proposer's Legal Name: West Publishing Corparation

2) Address of Place of Business: _ 810 Opperman Drive  Eagan, MN 55123

List all other business addresses used within last five years:

3) Mailing Address (if different);___ Same

Phone : 800-328-4880

Does the business own or rent its facilities? Own

4) Dun and Bradstreet number:__14-850-8286

5) Federal L.D. Number: _ 41-1426973

6) The proposer is a {check one): Sole Proprietorship Partnership _X__ Corporation ___ Other
(Describe}

7) Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
Yes___ No x  IfYes, please provide details:

8) Does this business control one or more other businesses? Yes __ No X If Yes, please provide details: _

9) Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/oris it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other

business? Yes x No If Yes, provide details, West Publishing Corporation is wholly owned by Thomson Reuters
{Legat) Inc.




10) Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfeited, or a contract with Nassau County or any
other government entity terminated? Yes __ No _X__ If Yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a
bond), date, amount of bond and reason for such cancellation or forfeiture; or details regarding the
termination (i a contract).

11) Has the proposer, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt? Yes ___ No_%  If Yes, state
date, court jurisdiction, amount of liabilities and amount of assets

12) In the past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers andfor any affiliated
business, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal,
state or local prosecuting or investigative agency? And/ar, in the past 5 years, have any owner and/or
officer of any affiliated business been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust
investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or investigative agency, where such investigation
was related to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of an affiliated business.

Yes _ No_X If Yes, provide details for each such investigation,

13) in the past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state
and local regulatory agencies? And/or, in the past & years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated
business been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to
federal, state and local regulatory agencies, for matters pertaining to that individual's position at or
relationship to an affiiated business. Yes _¥_ No____ I Yes, provide details for each such
investigation. See attached. _

14) Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either
before or during such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events
that allegedly occurred during the time of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to
the conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending? Yes ___ No %* _ If Yes, provide details for each such
charge, *Ta the best of our knowledge.

b) Any misdemeanor charge pending? Yes ___ No x*  If Yes, provide details for each such
charge._*To the best of our knowledge.

¢} In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony and/or any other
crime, an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the

conduct of business? Yes No ¥*_ If Yes, provide details for each such conviction
*To the best of our knowledge. -

d) In the past 5 years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?

Yes ___ No_** If Yes, provide details for each such conviction. *To the best of our knowledge.




Office of the Attorney General of Florida

Date initiated: 11/2/2009
Date completed: 1/31/2014

West Publishing Corporation reached an agreement on January 31, 2014 with the Florida
Attorney General's office in a matter related to legacy print, CD and ebook subscription
practices. West paid attorneys fees and costs and provided refunds for supplements, updates,
and new editions to certain books or other publications from West for eligible Florida customers
during the four years preceeding the agreement.

District Attorney for Contra Costa County

Date initiated: 3/6/2013
Date completed: 1/31/2014

Woest Publishing Corporation reached agreement on January 31, 2014 with the People of the
State of California in a matter related to legacy print, CD and ebook subscription practices. West
paid fees and costs and provided eligible customers restitution in the form of a discount offer,



@) In the past 5 years, been found in viclation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory
provisions? Yes _ _ Nax*  If Yes, provide details for each such occurrence.
*To the best of our knowledge,

15) In the past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had
any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held? Yes No yx_; If Yes, provide details for each such instance.

*To the best of our knowledge.

16} For the past (5) tax years, has this business failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any
applicable federal, state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and
sewer charges? Yes No X*_  If Yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed
response to all questlons checked 'YES', If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and
attach it to the questionnaire, __*To the best of our knowledge.

Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you need more space, photocopy the
appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

17) Confiict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist,
please expressly state “No conflict exists.”
(i) Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create a

conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau
County. To the best of aur knowledge, ne conflict exists.

{ii) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant
that may create a conflict of interast or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on

behalf of Nassau County.
To the best of our knowledge, no conflict exists.

(i) Any other matter that your firm believes may create a conflict of interest or the appearance
of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.
To the best of our knowledge, no confiict exists.

b) Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a
conflict of interest would not exist for your firm in the future.
All Thomson Reuters employees must adhere to the Thomson Reuters Code of Conduct which reduires
_...any conflict of interests o be disclosad.

A. Include a resume or detailed description of the Proposer's professional qualifications, demonstrating
extensive experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these
experiences, must be identified.

Should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include;
)] Date of formation; 1882



i)

iii)
iv)
v)

vi)
vif)

Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, including
shareholders, members, general or limited partner; West Publishing Corporation is wholly owned by Thomsen

Reuters (Legal) Inc.
Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company; see attached list.
State of incorporation (if applicable); Minnesota
The number of employeses in the firm; 6,246
Annual revenue of firm; See annual report at https://annual-report.thomsonreuters.com/financial-performance. htmj

Summary of relevant accomplishments see attached.

viliy Copies of all state and local licenses and permits. West Publishing Corporation has all necessary licenses in play

to do business in New York and it's political subdivisions.

B. Indicate number of years in business. 140+ years

C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer's
capacity and reliability to perform these services. See attached.

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Praposer has provided
similar services or who are qualified to svaluate the Proposer's capabillity to perform this work.

Company __New York County District Attorney's Office

Contact Person MarvE. Matuszak, Directar of Library Services

Address 1 Hogan Place

City/State New York, NY 10013

Telephone 212-335-4292

Fax #

E-Mail Address




Company Suffolk County District Attorney

Contact Person__ Glenn Green

Address Criminal Courts Bldg., 200 Center Drive

City/State _Riverhead, NY 11901-3388

Telephone £31-852-2469

Fax # _

E-Mail Address

Company ..........Queens County District Attorney

Contact Person  Susan Mazzella

Address 80-02 Kew Garden Road
City/State Kew Gardens, NY 11415
Telephone 718-286-6205

Fax #

E-Mail Address




S THOMSON REUTERS

SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE

WEST PUBLISHING CORPORATION

I, Helen V. Stamatiadis, Assistant Secretary of West Publishing Corporation, a Minnesota
corporation (the “Corporation™), do hereby centily as an officer of the Corporation that

. Ioam a duly clected, qualified and acting Assistant Secretary of the
Corporation.

2. Listed below are duly appointed officers of the Corporation and are hereby
autherized to execute documents in the name of and on behall of the Corporalion in the
capacily set forth apposite their names;

Susan Taylor Martip Chief Executive Officer & President
Paul Fischer Chief Financial Officer
Sdward A. Friedland Vice President & Secretary
Marc E. Gold Vice President & Assistant Secretary
Ponna Gles Assistant Secrelary
Randy Goetz Assistamt Secretary
Margaret Hamm Assistant Secrotary
Cynthia (Cindy) L. Hansen Assistant Secretary
Andrew Martens Assistant Secretary
Algjandro Medrano Assistant Secretary
John 8. Nelson Assiatani Secretary
Secoit Nelson Asststant Secratary
Ton Qlson Assislany Secretary
Gary Hartan Assistant Secvetary
: The Corporation is an indirect subsidiary of Thomson Reulers Corporation, 4

company orpgunized under the laws of the Province of Omario, Canada and lisied on
both the Toronto Stack Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange.

IN WITNESS WHERLEOF, [have hersunto set my hanti as theAssistant Secretary of the
Corporation this 3 day of April 2018 f
g’;’{ 5 / 9

o HelenA/. Stamatiadis
Assistant Secretary




Appointments
West Publishing Corporation

**CONFIDENTIAL™**

. Company Naime
1 West Publighing Corporation

Appointments
Name. -
Sean Cannlzzaro
Marc Elliot Gold
Linda J. Walker

John Francis Bellizzi

Caralyn Blankenship
Jennifer Chapman
Jaime Fuertes
Susan Garcia
Donna Gies

Ellen Gillespie
Randy Goetz
Marcela Grover
Cynthia L. Hansen
Leslie llaw

Mark lrving
Joseph Kapustynski
James F. Keane
Donna LaVardera
Scott Lexvold
Andrew Marlans
Eileen McNeill
Gregary McPolin
Algjandro Medrano
Steven A Mall
John 3. Nelson
Scott Nelson

Elsa Neto

Jon Olsan

David Peloquin
Andrew Perrin
David Rodgers
Michelle Scheer

Appointed as
Diractor

Director

Director

Asslistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secratary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secratary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistanl Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assisiant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Agsislant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistanl Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Assistant Secretary



vii. Summary of relevant accomplishments

Waest, part of Thomson Reuters, is the foremost provider of integrated information solutions to the U.S. legal
market. We have been providing the highest-quality legal, regulatory and business information, and the most
Innovative technology tools to manage it, for more than 140 years.

Many of our innovations have become synonymaus with the successful practice of law,

« The National Reporter System has compiled and organized federal and state case law into a cohesive
body of law that can be researched within and across jurisdictions since 1879,

»  The West Key Number System is the master classification system of U.S. law.

*  Westlaw is our anline legal, news and business information research service containing editorially
enhanced resources.

»  KeyCite, our revalutionary online citation research service, instantly verifies whether a case, statute,
administrative decision, or regulation is good law, and finds citing referencas to support and strengthen a
legal argument,

In addition to Westlaw, we annually publish millions of books for legal and compliance professionals and law
students. Mare information about West can be found at legalsolutions.com,

€. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the
Proposer’s capacity and reliability to perform these services.

West is under contract to provide Westlaw and CLEAR to many federal government offices and agencies, as well as
a large number of state courts, legislatures, and executive agencies, West has entered into agreements with these
federal and state government customers for the same or similar online legal research services as required by the
County of Nassau.



CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH
THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT
RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY
SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

i, _Margaret Hamm , being duly sworn, state that | have read and understand all the items
contained in the foregoing pages of this questionnaire and the following pages of attachments; that | suppilied
full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge, information and belief; that | will
notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of this guestionnaire
and before the exscution of the contract; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this
questionnaire as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

Sworn to before me this '[&*_tf‘m day of March 2018

Notary Public

ALICIA A DEGROSS
MNotary Public
State of Minnesocta
My Carmmussion Expires
January 31, 2020

Name of submitting business; _ West Publishing Corporation

By: Margaret Hamm

Manager
Title

S fe 145

Date




BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BPO ID: BPNCL0000115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/20L18 PAGE: ol

TO CONTRACTOR!
411426973
THOMSON WEST
WEST A THOMSON WRITERS BUSINESS
610 OPPEHMAN DRIVE

EAGAN MN 55123-0000
SHIP TO:
AS SPECIFIED ON INDIVIDUAL ORDERS PLEASE REFER ALL QUESTIONS
CONCERNING THIS ORDER TO:
MILLS, LINDA, XT 161089
[516) 571-4200
ITR ID F.0.B. POINT EXPIRATION DATE EFFECTIVE DATE DISCOUNT TERMS
DESTINATICHN 04/30/2019 05/01/10 0% NET 30
TERMS 1
TITLE: ON LINE DATA BASE SERVICE
AUTHORITY: AWARDED UNDER NYS COMPT. OPINION B3-67 AND
WEST PUBLISHING CORPORATION D/B/A/ WEST GOVERNMENT SERVICES
SUBSCRIBER RENEWAL/CONVERSION FORM AND SERVICE AGREEMENT. AGREEMENT
SIGNED ON MARCH 31, 2010, AND SENT BY MARY MCCAFFREY WEST GOV'T SVCS.
ADDITIONAL AGENCIES COVERED BY SEPARATE ORDER/AGREEMENTS.
BUYER: L. MILLE
ITEM COMMODITY ID MAX QUANTITY U/M UNIT COST
1 520-02 Ea, 3,017.1600

DATA RCCESS SERVICES
THOMSON REUTERS CLEAR GOVERNMENT SERVICES AGREES TO PROVIDE
NCPD AFT WITH UNLIMITED ACCESS TO CLEAR WEB ANALYTICS

FOR A TERM OF THIRTY-SIX {36) MONTHS, EFFECTIVE MAY 1, 2010.

<< CONTINUED, NEXT PAGE >>



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BPO ID: BPNC10000115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGE: 02
MONTHLY CHARGE
PRICE INCREBSE 2% 5/01/14 FROM 2,900.00 TO 2,958.00
PRICE INCREASE 5/1/15 FROM 2,358.00 TO 3,017.16 PER BUD PALUMBOC
2 920-02 EA 0001
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

ACCESS TO UNLIMITED GOVERNMENT SERVICE UNDER NYS CUSA FLAN 2B FOR FOUR

USERE; EDWARD MANGANO, JOSEPH NOCELLA, EDEN LATKIN AND JERFMY SENILMAN

3 920-02 EA 562,8700
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

MONTHLY CHARGE FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES FOR FIVE USERS;
WESTLAW SELECT STATE CORE - NY, ALL PRIMARY LAW, NY ANALYTICAL,
NY LITIGATION BASICS.
EFF 5/1/2012, PRICE INCREASED TO $546 FROM $520
EFFECTIVE 5/1/14 PRICE INCREASED 2% F'ROM 546,00 TO 556.92
EFFECTEVE 5/1/15 PRICE I8 541,01
EFFECTIVE 5/1/16 PRICE I§ INCRRASED 2% FROM 541.01 TO 551.83,
EFFECTIVE 5/1/17 PRICE IS INCREASED 2% FROM 551.83 TO 562.87
4 a20-02 EA 393.9000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

NASSAU COUNTY CLERK -~ #40988733; GOV SELECT WLNEXT; 4 USERS
EFFECTIVE 5/1/14 PRICE INCREASE OF 2% FROM 315.50 T0 321.30)
EFFECTIVE 5/1/15 PRICE INCREASE FROM 321,30 TO 328.25
EFFECTIVE 5/1/16 PRICE INCREASE FROM 328.25 TO 393.%0
5 920-03 EA 851.8000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

NASSAU COUNTY ATTORNEY, "CLEAR" WITH WEEB ANALYTICS;8 USERS

EFFECTIVE 5/1/14 PRICE INCREASE OF 2% FROM 679.80 TO 693,39

EFFECTIVE 5/1/15 PRICE INCREASE FROM 693.39 TO 707.27

EFFECTIVE 5/1/16 PRICE INCREASE FROM 707.27 TO 732.72.

PRICE INCREASE TO 827.0% FROM 732.32 DUE ‘T AN ADDITIONAL USER ADDED.
EFFECTIVE 7/1/17 PRICE INCREASE FRCM 827.09 TO 8$51.%0

6 920-02 EA 3,086.0000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

NASSAU COUNTY ATTORNEY-#40988734; QOV'T SELECT WLNEXT; 40 USERS
ACCOUNT #1003307313%

EFFECTIVE 5/1/14, PRICE INCREASE OF 2% FROM 2,524.00 TO 2,574.48
<< CONTINUED, NEXT PAGE »>>



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BPO IDt BFNC1000Q115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGEt 03

10

11

12

EFFECTIVE 5/1/15, PRICE INCREASE TO 2,625.94

EFFECTIVE 5/1/16, PRICE INCREASE FROM 2,695.94 10 $2995.71

EFFECTIVE A/1/17, PRICE INCREASE FROM §$2995,71 T0 $3,086.00
920-02 EA 2,249,5200
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

NASSAU COUNTY ATTORWEY-#40588738; GOV'T SELECT WLNEXT; 15 USERS
ACCOUNT 1004002888
EFFECTIVE 5/1/14 PRICE INCREASHE OF 2% FROM 1,8520.00 T0 1,856.40
EFFECTIVE 5/1/15 PRICE INCREASE FROM 1,#856.40 T0 1,893.53,
EFFECTIVE 5/L/16 FRICE LNCREASE FROM 1,893.53.TC 2,184.00
EFFECTIVE 4/1/16 PRICE INCREASE FROM 2,184.00 TO 2,349.52
92002 EA 255.0000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

MONTHLY CHARGE FPER USER FOR ADDITIONAL PASSWORDS:

1TO 2 PASSWORDS $127.50 EA
920-02 En 4B89.6000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

MONTHLY CHARGE PER USER FOR ADDITICNAL PASSWORDS!

1T0 2 PASSWORDE $127.50 EA

3 TO 4 " £117.30 RA
920-02 BA 1,162.8000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

MONTHLY CHARGE PER USER FOR ADDITIONAL PASSWORDE:
1 TO 2 PASSWORDS $127.50 EA

3 TO 4 " $117.30 EA
5 TO 10 " %112.20 EA
920-02 FA 3,202.8000

DATA ACCESS SERVICES

MONTHLY CHARGE PER USER FOR ADDITIONAL PASSWORDS:
170 2 PASSWORDE $127.50 EA

1 7TO 4 " $117.30 EA
5 TO 10 " £112.20 EA
11 TO 30 " 4102.00 EA
920-02 EA 533.0700

DATA ACCESS SERVICES

<< CONTINUVED, NEXT PAGE »>



BPO ID:

13

14

BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BPNC10000115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGE: 04

PROVIDES UNMASKED AND FULL DISPLAY OF SENSITIVE DATA AND PERSONAL
INFORMATION. FOR PROBATION

1) CLEAR WEB + HEALTHCARE @ $305/MONTH

2) CLEAR REAL TIME ARREST GATEWAY @ $170/MONTH

FULL SVC # 1343512
PRICE INCREASE OF 5% EFFECTIVE 3/1/15. NEW PRICE 498.75
PRICE INCREASE OF 5% EFFECTIVE 3/1/16., NEW PRICE 523.69.
SEE NEXT BLOCK FOR NEW 3 YEAR AGREEMENT TERMS AND PRICES.
EEES 2822222222 22 22 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 R R R 22 2 22 2 2 2 2 22 X LRSS SR LT L]
EFFECTIVE 4/4/17, NEW 36 MONTH TERM EXECUTED AND SIGNED BY
LESLTE MISE OF PROBATION FOR FULL SERVICE QOF THE FOLLOWING:
1} CLEAR GQOVERNMENT FRAUD, ITEM #41448992
2} CLEAR GOVERNNENT ARREST GATEWAY, ITEM #41913616
BILL TO ACCOUNT #1000276748
dkdrdrkdkkkkkhkkkh kR kA A ERARARR AR kb hhkh kbR AR AR E AR N KK
CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE
MONTHLY CHARGES EFFECTIVE 4/4/17 THROUGH 3/31/18 AS FOLLOWS:
ITEM #41448992, CLEAR FOR GVT. FRAUD, $383.07 PER MONTH
ITEM #41913616, CLEAR GVT. ARRHST GATEWAY, $150.00 PER MONTH,
[ZAREE R R AR AR AR A2 22222222222 20 R A2 A2 A2 s R s SRR SRR 222 R 22221
36 MONTH TERM, MONTHLY CHARGEZ FOR THE SECOND 12 MONTHS WILL BE 5%
OVER THE FIRST 12 MONTHS; MONTELY CHARGES FOR THE THIRD 12 MONTHS
5% OVER THE SECOND 12 MONTHS.
AR R R R R R R R R R AR R R R R AR N AR R AR R R RARRA AR R AR AR A ek b
920~02 EA 949,0000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

NASSAU COUNTY PD/LEGAL DEPT.#1000172031 GOV'T SELECT WLNEXT: 5 USERS
EFFECTIVE 7/1/15.
EFFEQTIVE 7/1/156 5% INCREASE FROM $65B.50 TO $691.43.
EFFECTIVE 7/1/17 5% INCREASE FROM $69%1.43 TO 949,00
920~02 EA 692.0000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

R L T T T T P T T T
MOWTHLY CHARGES FOR SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT,FOR THE BELOW SERVICES:
CLEAR INVESTIGATOR

CLEAR WEB ANALYTICS

CLEAR INCARCERATION & ARREST RECORDS (2 USERS)

CLEAR ALERTING (UP TO 500 ALFRTS)

CLEAR SOCTAL MEDLA ANALYTICS (10 SUBJECTS} ($692.00 FER MONTH)

<< CONTINUED, NEXT PAGE »>



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BFO ID: BPNC10000115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGE: 05

LR R R SRS LR SRR R LS L LIRS LIRSS SIS ISR R LS

15 920-02 E3, 4,066.9500
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

L R e R e e R R L L T L T T R e T P R e e T Y
MONTHLY CHARGES FOR COUNTY LEGISLATURE FOR THE BELOW SERVICES:
FULL SERVICE # 40988741; GOVERNMENT SELECYT; TWENTY USERS
INCREASE PRICE 3% EFFECTIVE 2/1/17.
INCREASE PRICE 3% EFFECTIVE 2/1/18
L2 R R R R R R R R R R R AR R R R R e T Y
16 920-02 EA 5,834,79300
DATA ACCEEBS SERVICES

LA R R R R R R Al
MONTHLY CEARGES FOR COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
FULL EERVICE # 40988742; GOVERNMENT SELECT;
WhRR A AR A AR AR AR A A AR AR A AR A AR AR A AR A kA kkkk
17 920-02 EA 106.0000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

LA 22222 R R AR R RSS2 SRS RS SRS R RS RS RS R R LR EEEE LR L LLL )
FOR LEGAL RESEARCH APRTL 1, 2015, THROUGH MARCH 31, 2016.
LIVE-NOTE FOR DISTRICT ATTORNEY
HHREKKEE KRR AR L LR R AN A AR A AN AR A AN AR AN AR N AR A AR R AN AR AR AN AN R AN
18 920-02 EA 6,593.0200
DATA ACCESE SERVICES

*hREkAhkKEEAEERAAAARK AR A A A Ak hdhh kR wdrhhdd ek ddhdrid

MONTHLY CHARGES FOR NASSAU COUNTY DISYRICT ATTORNEY

FULL SERVICE # 40988742; ACCOUNT #1000232161

GOVERNMENT SELECT; TWO HUNDRED USERS,

khkkkhkkkEhR X bk khkhkhhkhkwhhkkhrhrxrwkhwwwhkkrbhhhkhh bbby d

PRICE INCREASED BY §58.93 EFFECTIVE 4/1/17

EFFECTIVE 12/01/2017 PRICE INCREASE FROM $5552.07 TD §6593.02 FROM
12/01/2017 TR 11/30/2018.

EFFECTIVE 12/01/2018 PRICE INCREASE 3% FROM $6593.02 TO $6790.81 FROM
12/01/2018 TO 11/30/3019.

EFFECTIVE 12/01/2019 PRICE INCREASE 3% FROM $6790,81 TO $69%4.53 FROM
12/01/201% TO 11/30/2020.



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BP0 ID: BENU10Q00L15 PRINT DATE: 04/06/23018 PAGE 06
ITEM COMMODITY ID MAX QUANTITY u/M UNIT COST
19 920-02 EA 5,109.0000

20

21

22

DATA ACCESS SERVICES

LR A R R R R R A R R R L R ]

MONTHLY CHARGES FOR NASSAU COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
FULL SERVICE # 40588742; ACCOUNT #1000651975 & ACT # 1000234282
GOVERNMENT SELECT; TWO HUNDRED USERS.
AR ERE RS L LN E SR AR AL RS TR ERE R SSs el e stl]
EFFECTIVE 4/1/16 PRICE INCREASE OF 38.00,THROUGH 3/31/17
EFFECTIVE 4/1/17, PRICE YNCREASE £149.00 THROUGH 3/31/18.
HRE A AR AARNA AR A AN AAR AR A A AR AR AAAAAAAAARAAAR AR AR AR AR AR AL TR NNR R &R A’ wrow
920-02 EA
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

AR E SRR ST SR ISR RS R RS SRS S L A RS iRl SRl d el Y]]

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S ACCOUNTS, #L1000651975 & #100232161

FROM 2015 THRU MARCH 2019

ANCILLARY CHARGES FOR SPECIAIL: REPORTS NOT COVERED BY MONTHLY RATE.

KT AN AN AR AR NI AR A ANk kA Ak khk kA h vk hkdkdhhhrhhdhhbdhhhhhdtdn
220-02 EA 472.9800
DATA BCUESS SERVICES

NASSAU COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICE MONTHLY CHARGES FOR "WEST PROFLEX"

SERVIVE MATERIAL #40757482, EFFECTIVE 4/1/17 MONTHLY CHARGES

$472.98. (6 ATTORMEYS) ACCOUNT #1000686301 4/1/17 THROUGH 3/31/18.

2L ER RS AL AR RS LS LR R RS R A2l R R R R TR L R
920-02 EA 949.0000
DATA ACCESS SERVICES

WESTLAW CONTPACT FCR NASSAU COUNTY POLICE DEPARTMENT, LEGCAL AFFAIRS
OFFICE. ACCOUNT #1003890942 ORDER CONFIRMATION BY I. SANTTAGO.

ITEMS- NY CRIMINAL LAW, NY DWI SUB., NY MCKINNEY'S CPLR,

WY PRACTICE V5/5A, FVIDENCE NY & FED, WY PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY CODE,
SIEGEL NY PRACTICE. (FULL SERVICE GOVERNMENT PLAN)

10 USERS. TERM IS 36 MONTHS. THE SECOND TWELVE MONTHS WILYL, INCRERSE 5%
AND THE THIRD 12 MONTHS SHALL BE 5% MORE THAN THE MONTHLY CHARGES FOR
THE SECOND 12 MONTHS. {(FULL SERVICE #409B8B633) EFFECTIVE 5/30/17.



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BPU ID: BPNC1O00DGLLS BPHINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGE $ 07
ITEM COMMODITY ID MAX QUANTITY uU/M UNIT COST
23 520-02 EA 488.0000

DATA ACCESS SERVICES

TERMS :

Fhkhkhkdrkdhrwdkrdkhhkhhkhkrdhdkkhkddrkrrhhrrdhhhhrhkkhkhhbrhrrkhrtrtrt sty

WESTLAW FCR BCARD OF ELECTIONS, MONTHLY CHARGE $488.00,
EFFECTIVE 8/31/17. ACCOUNT #10D0686302

THIS IS A THREE YEAR CONTRACT TERM. 5% INCREASES IN YEARS 2 & 3
WILL BE ADDED TC CONTRACT ON THE ANNIVERSARY DATES.

FREKK KK I dr kT h KR Kk kA A A A A A AR AT Ak kkk

------------------- END OF ITEM LIST -~~w- - e ————

ON LINE DATA BASE SERVICE

WORK TO BE PERFORMED FOR: NASSAU COUNTY POLICE DERARTMENT ool
ASSET FORFEITURE BUREAU

200 SECOND AVENUE

MASSAPEQUA PARK, NEW YORK 11762

ADDITION SERVICE TC BE PRCOVIDED TO: NASSAU COUNTY EXECUTIVE
1550 FRANKLIN AVE
MINEOLA, NY 11501

L L L T
NASSAU COUNTY PROBATION DEPARTMENT

NASSAU COUNTY COUNTY EBXECUTIVE

NASSAU COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICE

NASSAU COUNTY ATTORNEY

NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF S0CIAL SERVICES

NASSAU COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT .

NASSAU COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

SPECS: WEST GOVERNMENT SERVICES INC. WILL PROVIDE 24 HR

ONLINE ACCESS TO THE AVAILABLE DATA SERVICES. .
WEST GOVERNMENT WILL PROVIDE NCPD AF, WITH UNLIMITED ACCESS TQ HOUSED
DATA SETS & ACCESS TO GATEWAY CREDIT HEADER DATA 1/A/W THE FOLLOWING :
IF NCPF AF TOAL MONTHLY SEARCH VOLUME EXCEEDS £3200.00 IN TRANSACT-
TONAL SEARCH VALUE, THE DEPARTHMENT'S ACCESS TCO GATEWAY CREDIT HEADER
SERVICES WILL REVERT TO HOUSED CREDIT HEADER DATA FOR THE HEMAINDER OF
THE MONTH. AT THE BEGINNING OF EACH MONTH, FULL GATEWAY CREDIT HEADER
<< CONTINUED, NEXT PAGE »>»>



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BPO ID: BFNC10000115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGE: 08

WILL BE RESTORED.

VENDOR CONTACT PERSON: MARY MCCAFFREY @ 954-571-7856

FAX NUMBER: 866-419-0752
dkhwkkkkkkhkkhkkkkkkhkkhkkhkkhkhkhkhhbkhrhkkhhhhhkhhkhkhtrhtrbkdk

ATPRANATE CONTACT FOR NCPD:SCOTT MCANDREWS 917 664-4850

ALTERNATE CONTACT FOR ALL OTHERS: BUD PALUMBO 873 216-7803

L T T R T R R T T T T Ty

The County of Nassau (hereinafter called the County) represented by
the Direator, Office of Purchasing (hereinafter called the Director),
and the individual, partnership, joint venture or corporation named
above (hareinafter called the contractor) mutually agree teo pesrferm
this contract in strict accordance with the general provisions attach-
ed herete and the specifications, terms and conditions contained here-
in.

AR o oo oo oo oo oo ook R R R RN RN R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R AR ko
AUTHORITY: AWARDED UNDER NEW YORK STATE COMPTROLLER'S OPINION B3-87
AND WEST PUBLISHING CORPORATION D/B/A/ WEST GOVERNMENT SERVICES
SUBSCRIBER RENEWAL/CONVERSION FORM AND SERVICE AGREEMENT. AGREEMENT
STGNED ON MARCH 31, 2010, AND SENT BY MARY MCCAFFREY WEST GOV'T SVCS.

Ahkkhkkdhdhrkrrkhkhkhkhhkhhkkhkhkhhhhhkhhkhhhhhhkhkhhkrrrhkrrkhrrhhhhkhhkhkhhhk
LR E R SRR 22l R ERER SRR RSS2 2]

PERICD COVERED:; SHALL BE FOR A THIRTY-SIX {(36) MONTH TERM,

AND MAY BE EXTENDED ANNUALLY ON ANNIVERSARY DATE UPON

MUTUAL AGREEWMENT, THEREAFTER.

HHHERH TR R E R AR R AR AR R AR RN IR N RN AERRR R R AR R AR AR W

ERE R ARSI R R R RS LA LRSS E AR s ety )]
TERMINATION: THE COUNTY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO CANCEL THIS BLANKET
PURCHASE ORDER BY GIVING MNOT LESS THAN THIRTY {3() DAYS WRITTEN
WOTICE THAT, ON OR AFTER B DATE THEREIN SPECIFIED, THE CONTRACT SHALL
BE DEEMED TERMIMATED AND CANCELLED.

LA R AR AR A R RS E RS R R RS AR R R SRR ERERE R LSRR EEE EERT S S

AR R A A R R R R AR AR R RS R LR R R R R R IR RS TR R Y L

FAYMENT: A CERTIFIED INVOICE, OR A COUNTY CLATM FORM TO WHICH THE
INVOICE I8 ATTACHED, SHALL BE SUBMITTED MONTHLY IN ARREARS, DIRECTLY
TC THE USING AGENCY, SUPPORTED BY VOUCHERS SIGNED BY AGENCY PERSONNEL
ATTESTING TO THE SATISFACTORY COMPLETION OF THE REQUIRED SERVICES AS
SPECIFIED.

R L L L T T e TS
* ok ok ok % Kk X ¥ % % % VENDOR COLAIM CERTIFICATION * * * % % % % % % & #
IF A CLATM VOUCHER IS NOT BEING SUEMITTED, THE FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION
<< CONTINUED, NEXT PAGE >»



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BPO ID: BPNC1000Q115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGE 09
MUST APPEAR ON THE INVOICE:
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ALL ITEMS OR SERVICES WERE DELIVERED OR RENDERED
AS SET FORTH IN THIS CLAIM; THAT THE PRICES CHARGED ARE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE REFERENCED PURCHASE ORDER, DELIVERY ORDER OR CONTRACT, THAT
THE CLAIM IS JUST, TRUE AND CORRECT; THAT THE BALANCE STATED HEREIN IS
ACTUALLY DPUE AND OWING AND HAS NOT BEEN PREVIOUSLY CLATMED; THAT NO
TAXES FRCM WHICH THE COUNTY IS EXEMPT ARE INCLUDED; AND THAT ANY
AMOUNTS CLAIMED FOR DISBURSEMENTS HAVE ACTUALLY AND NECESSARILY BEEN

HMADE. -
CLATMANT NAME DATE
BY (STGNATURE)} TITLE

%% CLAIM VOUCHERS CR CERTIFIED INVOICES NOT PROPERLY COMPLETED WILI**
#%% BE RETURNED TO YOU UNPATID. ¥k W e awdakkhkk kA kN r AR AR SR X AR AR R R AR hkw ok

LR R L L R e e 2]
PRICING:
EFFECTIVE 2014, PRICES WILL INCREASE 2%

AAXRARF R kdewdeddrkhkkdhkhdhrwbwwkktthkdkkhrrdhhhhhhhhhkhhhhhhhhkhhkhkhkkhw

INDEMNIFICATION

Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless County, its agents,
officers and employees from and against any and all losses, coste, ex—
penses (including attorneys' fees and disbursements), demages and 1i-~
abilities, arieing out of or in connection with any acte or omissions
of Contractor, ita officera, agents or employees, provided, however,
that Contractor shall not be responsible for that portion, if any, of
a leoss that is caused by the negligence of the County, and provided,
further, that Contractor shall not be liable for consequential, indi-
rect or sperial damages. Contractor shall, at County's demand and at
County's direction, defend at its own risk and expense any and all
guits, actlons or legal proceedings which may be brought against
County, ite agents, officers or employees in connection with a leoss
for which Contractor is responsible undexr this paragraph.

hkEh kR REAEA XA A ANk kb Ak hhhhkddhwrdkdkhodhhkdhhddhhddhkdhhhkhhhkkhkkhid
PARTICIPATION BY COUNTY DEPARTMENTS IN THIS BLANKET ORDER SHALL BE
ACCOMPLISHED BY A DELIVERY ORDER (Form ADPICSE GE D/DO). THE DELIVERY
ORDER IS PREPARED BY USING THE ADPICS 2360 SCREEN. AFTER RECEIVING
ALL THE REQUIRED ELECTRCNIC APPROVALS, THE DELIVERY ORDER WILL BE

<< CONTINUED, NEXT PAGE >>



BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

BEQ ID: BPNCL0QG00115 PRINT DATE: 04/06/2018 PAGE: i0
PRINTED, SIGNED BY THE AGENCY HEAD, AND MAILED TO THE VENDOR.
THIS BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER ESTABLISEES TERMS AND CONDITIONS PURSUANT
TO WHICH CERTAIN MATERIALS AND/OR SERVICES ARE TO BE SUPPLIED OR
PERFORMED, FROM TIME TO TIME, FOR A SPECIFIED PERIOD UPON ISSUANCE
BY THE COUNTY OF DELIVERY ORDERS. THIS BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER IS
NCN-EXCLUSIVE AND THE COUNTY IS MNOT BOUND TO PURCHASE, AND NO
MATERIALS ARE TO BE DELIVERED OR SERVICES PERFORMED WITHOUT A
DELIVERY ORDER, TEE COUNTY SHALL BE UNDER NO OBLIGATION WHATSOEVER
TC ISSUE SUCH DELIVERY ORDERS. THIS BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER SHALL
NOT APPLY IN ANY WAY TO ITEMS OF MATERIAL OR SERVICE DEEMED BY THE
CCUNTY IN ITS SOLE DIESCRETION TO BE EXTRAORDINARY COR INVOLVE ANY
SPECTIAL CONDITIONS, QUANTITIES, CIRCUMSTANCES OR COMPLEXITIES.

ACCRSS CLAUSE: IF ANY PROVISION OF SECTION S52 OF THE OMNIBUS
RECONCILIATION ACT OF 1980 (PL-96-493) IS8 FOUND BY A BODY OF COMPETENT
JURISDICTION TO BE APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT, THE CONTRACTOR AGREES
THAT IT WILL MAKE AVAILABLE UPON WRITTEN REQUEST BY THE SECRETARY OF
HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES, OR BY THE CONTROLLER GENERAL OF THE GENERAL
ACCOUNTING OFFICE, OR ANY OF THEIR DULY AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES, A
COPY OF THIS CONTRACT AND ANY EXECUTED AMENDMENTS THERETC, DOCUMENTS
WHICH RELATE TO THE CALCULATION OF THE CHARGES STATED IN THE CONTRACT
AND COPIES OF S8ERVICE REPORTS DOCUMENTING SERVICES PERFORMED. SUCH
RECCORDS WILL BE AVATLABRLE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ABOVE FOR THE PERIOD
OF SIX% (6) YEARS AFTER THE FURNISHING OF ANY OF THE SERVICES
DESCRIBED TN THIS CONTRBCT.

THE CONTRACTOR AGREES THAT IN THE EVENT ANY OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED
FOR UNDER THE TERME OF THIS CONTRACT SHOULD IN ANY WAY BE OMITTED OR
THEATISFAQTORILY FERFORMED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND/OR HIS EMPLOYEES,
THE COUNTY SHALIL: SO NOTIFY THE CONTRACTOR VERBALLY AND FOLLOW WITH A
WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF THE DEFICIENT SERVICES FOR IMMEDIATE
CORRECTION. IN THE EVENT THE CCNTRACTOR DOES NOT CORRECT THE
DEFICIENT SERVICES AVTER RECEIPT OF WRITTEN WOTIFICATION, THE

NASSAD COUNTY DEPARTMENT CONCERNED WILL DEDUCT A PERCENTAGE BASED ON
THE WORK NOT FERFORMED OR PERFORMED UNSATISFACTORILY FROM THE
CONTRACTOR'S CLAIM FOR THE PERIOD COVERED. IF THE CONTRACTOR
CONTINUES TC OMIT OR UNSATISFACTORILY PERFORM THE REQUIRED SERVICES,
THE COUNTY WILL ARRANGE FOR THE WORK TO BE DONE BY ANOTHER CONTRACTOR
AND THE COST OF SUCH WORK SHALL BE DEDUCTED FROM ANY MONIES DUE OR
THAT MAY BECCME DUE TC THE CONTRACTOR.

<< CONTINUED, NEXT PAGE »>>
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CONC13000665 AUTHORIZES THE EXTENSION OF THIS BLANKET ORDER TO
04/30/2014, PER VENDOR LETTER DATED 03/1%/2013 FROM

DENNIS NORTOK.

ALI; OTHER TERMS AND CONDITICONS REMATN THE SAME.
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CONC14000837 AUTHORIZES THE EXTENSION OF B/O #BPNC1i0000115 TO
04/30/2015.PER SIGNED CONTRACT DATED/1/13 PROVIDED BY DENNIS NORTON.
ALL PRICES INCREASED, AS PER SIGNED AGREEMENT BY 2% THROUGH 4/30/15.
ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS REMAIN THE SAME.
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CONCL6001032 AUTHORIZES THE EXTENSION OF B/C #BPNC10000115 TO
04/30/2017 .PER SIGNED CONTRACT DATED/1/13.

ALIL. PRICES INCREASED, AS PER SIGNED AGREEMENT BY 2% THROUGH 4/30/17.
ALL: OTHER TERMS AND CONDITICNS REMATN THE SAME.
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CONC17000787 AUTHORIZES THE EXTENSION OF B/0O #BPNC10000115 TO
04/30/2018.

ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS REMAIN THE SAMWE.
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CONC18000122 AUTHORIZES THE EXTENSION OF B/O #EPNC10000115 TO
04/30/2019.

ALL COTHER TERME AND CONDITIONS REMATN THE SAME,
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Information in this annual report is provided as of March 1, 2017, unless otherwise indicated.

Cerlaln statements in this annual report are forward-looking. These forward-ooking statements are based on certain assumptions and reflect our
current expeciations. As a result, forward-looking statements are subject to & number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or
events to differ materially from current expectations. Some of the factors that could cause actual results to differ matedally from current
expectations are discussed in the "Risk Factors” section of this annual report as well as in materials that we from time to time file with, or furnish
to, the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and the .S, Securitiss and Exchange Commission. There is no assurance that any forward-
looking statements will materialize. You are cautioned not to place undue rellance on forward-looking statements, which refiect expectations only
as of the date of this annual report. Except as may be required by applicable law, we disclaim any intention or ohligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements.

The following terms in this annual report have the following meanings, unless otherwise indicated:

* “Thomson Reuters,” "we,” “us” and "our” each refers to Thomson Reuters Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the coniext
otherwise requires,;

+ “Woodbridge" refers to The Woodbridge Company Limited and other companies affiliated with il; and
“$," “US$" or “dollars” are to U.S. dollars.

When we refer {o our performance bafore the impact of foreign currency (or at "constant currency”}, we mean that we apply the same foraign
currency exchange rates for the current and squivalent prior period. We believe this provides the best basis to measure the performance of our
business as it removes distortion from the effects of forelgh currency movaments during the period.

Mon-Interational Financizl Reporting Standards {(IFRS) financial measures are defined and reconciled to the most directly comparable IFRS
measures in the "Management's Discussion and Analysis™ saction of this annual repott,

For information regarding our disclosure reguirerents under applicable Canadian and U.S. laws and regulations, please see the “Cross Reference
Tables” section of this annual report.

Information contained on our website or any other websites identified in this annual report is not part of this annual report. All website addresses
listed in this annual report are intended to be inactive, textual references only. The Thomaon Reuters lege and our other trademarks, trads names
and service names mentioned in this annual report are the property of Thomson Reutars.




Table of Contents

Themson Reuters Annual Report 2016

Table of Contents

Business 2
Overview 2
Financial & Risk 7
Legal 10
Tax & Accounting 12
Global Growth Qrganization 13
Reuters 13
Additional Business Information 14

Risk Factors 18

Management's Discussion and Analysis 29

Consolidated Financial Statements 88

Executive Officers and Directors 153
Executive Officers 153
Other Executive Commitiee Members 153
Directors 156
Audit Committee 159
Principal Accountant Fees and Sgrvices 160
Controlled Company 161
independent Directors 161
Presiding Directors at Meetings of Non-Managemeant and Independent Directors 162
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 183
Additional Disclosures 163

Additional Information 164
Description of Capital Structure 164
Market for Securities 185
Dividends 166
Woodbridge 167
Transfer Agents and Registrars 168
Ratings of Debt Securities 168
Material Contracts 169
Principal Subsidiaries 171
Interasts of Experts 172
Further Information and Disclosures 173

Cross Reference Tables 175
Annual Information Form (Form 51-102F2) Cross Referance Table 175
Form 40-F Cross Reference Table 178

Page 1



Table of Contents

Themson Reuters Annual Report 2018

Business

Overview

Thomson Retiters is the world's leading source of news and information for professional markets. Our customers rely on us to deliver the
intelligence, technology and expertise they nead to find trusted answers. The business has operated in more than 100 countries for more than 100
years. We are a Canadian company with shares listad on the Toronto Stock Exchange and New York Stock Exchange (symbol: TRI). Qur website
is www.thomsonrauters.com.

We are organized in three husiness units supported by a corparate center:
Financial & Risk
A leading provider of critical news, information and analytics, enabling transactions and connecting communities of trading,

invesiment, financgial and corporate professionals. Financial & Risk also provides leading regulatory and operaticnal risk
management solutions.

Legal

A leading provider of critical onling and print information, decislon tools, softwars and services that support legal,
investigation, business and government professionais around the wotld.

Tax & Accounting

A leading provider of integrated {ax compllance and accounting information, software and sefvices for professionals in
accounling firms, corporations, law firms and government.

We also operate:

Reuters, a leading provider of real-ime, high-impact, multimedia news and Information services to newspapers, television and cable networks,
radio stations and websites around the globe.

© A Global Growth Organization (GGO) that works across cur business units to combine our global capabilitiss and expand our focal presence and
development in countries and regions whaere we believe the greatest growth opportunities exist. GGO supporis our businesses in Latin America,
China, India, the Middle East, Africa, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations, Nerth Asia, Russia and countries comprising the
Commonwealth of independent States and Turkey.

+  An Enterprise Technology & Operations (ET&0) group which drives the transformation of our company into a more integrated enterprise by
unifying infrastructure across our organization, including technology platforms, data centers, real estate, products and services.

In October 2018, we soid our Intellectual Proparty & Science business for gross proceeds of $3.55 biltion. Intellectual Property & Scisnce was
classifled as a discontinued operation for 2016 reporting purposes through the clesing date of the sale, The business was subsequently renamed
Clarivate Analytics.

Page 2
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Business Model and Key Operating Characteristics

Wae derive the majority of our revenues from selling electronic content and services to professionals, primarily on a subscription basis. Qur
businesses provide solutions, software and workflow tools which integrate our core data and information, The table below describes some of our
key operating characteristics.

ndustry leader A leader In most of the market segments that we serve
Deep and broad industry knowladge
Products and services tailored for professionais
Distinct core customer group revenues:
. 54% Financial & Risk
f 30% Legal
. 13% Tax & Accounting
» 3% Reuters News
+  Geographical diversity by revenues:
62% from the Americas

+ 27% from Eurcpe, the Midkdle East and Africa

. 11% from Asia Pagific
- Mo single customer accounted for more than 2% of our 2016 revenues

» Technology and operating platforms are bullt to address the global markelplace

Attractive business model »  BB% recurring revenues
»  93% of ravenuas from information delivered electrenically, software and seivices
«  Sirong and consistent cash gensration capabilties

s is o+

Balanced and diversified

20116 Performance Highlights

2016 was a year of continued progress executing against our operating and financial plans. Qur company's organic revenue growth was positive for
the second consacutive year and our Financial business retumed (o revenus growth (before the impact of currency) in the second half of the year.
Our core Legal and Tax & Accounting businesses also performed strongly in 2016.

Along with fueling growth, improving productivity and profitability is at the core of our strategy. In 2016, our intemal initiatives ied to further
efficiency gains and greater savings.

We also remained focused in 2016 on continuing to provide an attractive retum fo shareholders through Improved operating performancs, an
nereasad annualized dividend and share repurchases. Qur business continued to generate significant free cash flow in 2016, which we are utifizing
to both invest in the company and deliver value to sharshelders through retumns.

Below are IFRS and non-FRS financial highlights from our full-year 2016 results. A detailed discussion of our 2016 financial results is provided in
the Management's Discussion and Analysis section of this annual report.

IFRS financial measires

Huvenues ' ' 11,166 11257 NG
Operating profit 1,390 1,526 (9%}
Diluted ERS (includes discontinued operations) $4.13 $1.60 158%

Page 3
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Non-IFRS financial measures

Revenues , 1, (1%) 3 {1%)
Adjusted EBITDA 2,654 3089 (4% ) 3%,
Adiusted EBITDA margin 26.5% 3745, {90)bp (1903bp 160bp 30hp
Underlving operating profit 1,930 2,055 (B%) {9%) 4%, 2%
Underlying operating profit margln 17.3% 18.3% (1003bp {180bp 90bp 20bp
Adjusted earnings per share (adjusted EPS) $1.79 $1.78 1% {4%) 16% 12%

{1) Results excluds the impact of $212 milion of fousth-quarter charges frem adjusted EBITDA, underlying operating profit margin and adjusted EPS.
(2) Refer to Appendix A of the Management's Discussion and Analysis sectlon of this annual report for additionat information on non-IFRS financial measures,

2016 was the fifth consecutive year that we met or exceeded each of the performance metrics in our extarnal financial outlook, We orlginally
communicated a full-year outlook in February 2016 which was updated in Nevember 2016 to account for planned fourth-quarier charges related to
the simplification and streamlining of our business. The table below compares our actual performance to our outlock as criginally communicated
and as updated to exclude charges from adjusted EBITDA margin and underving opsrating profit margin,

BNLGS N
Exclding Financial & Risk's recoverios revenuas Betweern 2% and 3% 2% increage
Adjusted EBITDA margin Between 25% and 26% 25.5%
Adjusted EBITDA margin, excluding charges Betwaen 2¥ 3% and 28.3% 27.6%
Underlying oporating profit Between 16% and 17% 16.5%
Underlying aperating profif margin, excluding charges Between 18.4% and 18.4% 18.5%
Free cash flow Between $1.7 billion and $1.9 bilken $2.0 billion ¥

*The 2016 Dutlook and 2016 peformance were measured at gonsiant currency vates relative to 2015, except for the 2016 free cash flow performancs which was reflacied at actual
currency rates. Foreign cusrency had a favorable impact on actual adjusted EBITDA and underying operating profil margins. Actual adjusted EBITDA and underlying operating profit
margihs ware 26.5% and 17.3% including the charges, and 28.4% and 19.2% sxcluding the chatges, raspectively.

{1) This information includes non-IFRS financial measures. Please refer o Appendix A of the Management's Discussion and Analysis section of this annual report for additional
information en these non-IFRS financiat measures, including how we defing sach of them and how we calculate them.

Page 4
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Our Strategy

In {ate 2013, we announced our intention o change the way that we managed Thomson Reuters, transforming from & portfolio of individual
operating companies to an integrated enferprise. Our strategy is to be the premier global provider of the most truated, must-have decision support
tools and workflow solutions to professionals in information-intensive and highly regulated businesses, We operate at the fast-changing
intersection of regulation and commerce, where intelligence, technology and human expertise are required to achieve success in the digital
economy. We continue to drive our growth strategy through the following three pillars:

Strengthen and enable the core

We made solid progress over the last three years in strengthening and enabling our core through simplification and
productivity initiatives, We consolidated platforms by retiring 110 legacy applications, simplified our technical
infrastructure by closing a number of data centers and consolidated 62 office locations. We also have been simplifying
our product portfolio. In our Financial & Risk business, we reduced the number of our products by approximately 70% and
our U.S. Legal business is in the midst of a similar initiative. We also reduced our workforce by approximately 20%. We
believe that significant opportunities remain in 2017 to further simplify and improve productivity through our transformation
initiatives.

Improve go-to-market capabilities

We continue to pursue cpporiunitiss to improve the impact of our go-to-market capabilities, which are focused on our
customears and sales practices. in 2015, we established a new “Thomson Reuters Way” of going to market. The Thomson
Reuters way involves a sst of shared standards, processes, tools and technology that are utilized across the organization
with a focus oh increasing customer and revenue retention while driving new sales growth., We are also simplifying
customer interactions and increasing e-commerce and digital customey experiences. In 2017, we ars utilizing our
transformation program methodology and resources towards key areas that are critical to our customers and sales force.
First, we are looking to increase sales growth through more focused management and deployment of our go-to-market
resources. We are algo focused on systematically resolving and removing customer pain polnts, We are alse looking to
improve the productivity and effectiveness of our sales force.

Accelerate in high-growth market segmenis

We continue to realiocate more resources and increase investments in the businesseas in our portfolio that we believe
have the highest potential for growth — Risk, Elekiron Data Platform, Legal Software & Services and Global Tex. These
growth segments represented over one third of our total revenue base in 2016. We plan o continue focusing on these
husinesses in 2017.

Page 5
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Three-Year History

tn 2014, we began a new transfoermation program. The overarching objectives of this program are to (1) accslerate our organic revenue growth rate
and (2) take advantage of our scale by integrating the disparate infrastructure rasources that we inherited as a result of over 200 acquisitions
completad over the previous decade.

2014 marked the beginning of a far more coliaborative approach across our enterprise. We began developing an infegrated approach for some of
our largest custormners to expand our footprint and drive growth. Wa consolidated platforms and real estate to drive efficiency and effectiveness.
We also increased our innovation initiatives with dedicated funding to invest behind ideas, many of which can be leveraged across the business.
We continued to approach our capltal strategy and balance shest sirength in a consistent and disciplined manner. Our capital strategy is a critical
part of our overall strategy and a key element in supporting and growing our business. As part of our capital strategy, we seek fo balance investing
in our business and retuning capital to shareholders.

In 2015, we continued to transform from a product-centiic business bullt on multiple platforms, to a customer-centric enterprise buili on open
platforms. As part of our transformation program, we reduced staff, continued to consolidate various technology platforms and content assets,
standardized intemal processes, outsourced various activities, and conscildated various officesfreal estate around the world, including increasing
our leadership presence at a new Enterprise Centre, which was created to oversee our enterprise-wide content and technology rescurces. We
increasingly focused on our organizational health and continued to pay close aliention to metrics around employee engagement, cusiomer
satisfaction and customer retention. Our focus on health and wellness was also a key diiver of improved employee engagement. 1n late 2015, we
announced plans to sell our intellectual Property & Science business to focus more on opportunities at the intersection of global commerce and
reguiation.

At the beginning of 2016, we created & new ET&0 group to drive the continued transformation of our company into a more integrated enterprise.
ET&O centralized more than 10 functions (most notably, our technology funclions, operations centers, real estate and sourcing) into a single
Enterprise team. In October 2018, we completed the sale of our Inteliectual Property & Science business for $3.55 billion in gross pioceeds. We
expanded our Canaclian operations by creating a new Technology Centre in downtown Toronto, Ontarto. The Toronto Technotogy Centre s
expected to create 400 high-quality technology jobs in Canada by the end of 2018, with plans to grow o approximately 1,500 jobs over time. As
part of our growing investment in Canadian talent and innovation, we announced that our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer will be
relogating to Toronto in 2017,

Qver the last three years, our suscesses include the following accomplishments:

* We delivered positive organic revenues growth for two consacutive years.

* Produgiivity, based on measuring our adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures per employee, has increased significantly. We improved
adjusted EBITDA margins by 250 basis points, exciuding charges. These productivity improvements resufted primarily from initiatives led by
our ET&D group.

* Thomson Reuters has been recognized as a greal place fo work. Employee engagemeni was at an all-time high in the fourth quarter of 2016,
significantly increasing over the last two years. In 2016, Thomson Reuters was included in The Economist’s "Global Diversity List" and Forbes’
“Best Companies for Work-Life Balance” and we were ranked #66 of 100 "Most In Demand Employers” by Linked/n. We were the only Canadian
company included on Fortune's 2016 list of “The World's Most Admired Companies.”

* Qur strategic workiorce planning initiative has changed cur overall amployee footprint. Overall, our workforce decreased 20% over the last
trwee years., Wa have also changed the mix of our employee population, with customer-facing roles now representing a greater percentage of the
total.

We have made significant shifts in our capital and overall resources priorifization processes, directing an increasingly larger percaniage of
our resourees to our highest growth opportunitiss. Cur four key growth areas (Rislk, Elekiron Data Platform, Legal Software & Services and
Global Tax) received increases in cash investments batween 2015 and 2018 and we also increased headcount in those businesses over the
same pericd. We funded those invesiments through savings generated by our transformation program and through & reduction in resources
allocated to our other businesses. In 2017, the cash investment in these areas is expected to continue to grow. Greater focus on resource
priciitization has enabled us to grow our revenua base in these four key segments and also led us to sell our Inisllectual Property & Science
business.

Page 6
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We have consistently and successfully baen implementing our capital strategy announced in late 2013, Over the last three years, we dramatically
reduced our acquisition activity as we focused the organization on driving organic growth. From 2014 to 2016, we completed 16 acquisitions for a
cost of $316 million compared to closing 97 acquisitions for 2 cost of $3.8 billion batwean 2011 and 2013. The maturity dates for our term debt are
atso wall balanced with no significant concentration in any one year, At the end of 2018, the average interest rate on our debt portfolio was 4.2%
with an average maturity of eight years. We have retumned $7.1 billion to sharsholders over the last three years through share repurchases and
dividends.

Financial & Risk

Through its open platform approach, Financial & Risk provides critical news, information and analytics, enables transactions and connscts
communities of trading, investment, financial and corporete professionals. H also provides leading regulatory and risk management solutions o
help customers anticipate and manage risk and compliance.

The following provides a summary of Financial & Risk's 2016 revenues. For additional information, please see the Management's Discussion and
Analysis section of this annual report.

8 Hubeorition » 1% {77% of revonues)

@ Transactions 427 (F52% of revenuas}

463 HILLION

o Facowerles ~53% (8% of revanues)

Growth rates are in constant currency and are compared to 2018,

Financial & Risk’s business mix has been avolving over the lasi faw years, as reflected below. Financlal & Risk’s proportion of revenues from the
Elektron Data Platform and Risk has grown, while the proportion of revenues from Desktop has declined. Over the same period, Financial & Risk
has increased the proportion of its revenues from buy side customers (compared to sell side customers). Financial & Risk continues to have a
fairly balanced and global presence in terms of where it derives its revenues.
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Financial

The Financial business provides a broad and robust range of offerings to financial markets professionals. it delivers global content sats, including
fundamentals, estimates and primary and secondary research, Financial also provides customers with tools, platforms, venues and services to
enable fast, intelligent decision-making. Financlal's flagship financial markets desktop platform is Thomson Reuters Eikon.

Major brands
The following table provides information about Financial's major brands.

lagship desktop platform providing pre-trade decision-making
fools, news, real-time pricing, research and analysis, charting,
analylics, portfclio tools, trading connectivity and collaboration
tools

Investmant professionals, portiolio managers, wealth
managers, research analysts, economists, strategists,
investment bankers, professional services and private aquity
professionals, salespeople, raders, brokers, corporate
treasurers, corporate strategy and research professionals,
financial analysts and supply chain and procurement managers

Thomson ONE

Integrated access to information, analytics and tvels deliverad
within workspaces dasigned specifically for each targat
custoner's workflow

Waealth management firms, professional services and private
equily professionals

Corporate customers, including strategy and ressarch
professionals, freasurers and finance professicnals

Thomson Reuters
BETA

A complete suite of integrated, intelligent solutions to manage
retail brokerage operations, including workflow and productivity
tools, transaction processing, reporting and archiving, data
delivery and more

Wealth managamant firms

Thomson Reutars Elektron

Flexible, high performance, cross asset data and frading
infrastructure that includes low latency reakime data feeds, nen
real-tima data, analytics and transactional connactivity. Services
san be offered in a rangs of deployment and hosted models

Investment banks, assel managers, custodians, liquidity
centers and depositories, hedge funds, prime brokers,
proprietary traders, nterdealer brokers, multilateral trading
faciliies (MTFs), central banks and Tund administraters

Thomson Reulers
Enterprise Platform

Scalalde and robust technology platforms that enable financial
inslitutions to centrel read-time information flows

Financial instilutions

FX Trading Selutions

Foreign Exchange (FX) Trading

Premiumn pre-trade, sxecution and post-trade deskiop with
aceess to a professional FX trading commurity of over

4,004 institutions and 15,000 users In more than 120 coundries
around Lhe world

Elactronis Trading
Powerful e-commerce solutions for automatsd FX price
distripution and risk managament used by banks globally

FXall
Dealar-to-client multibank trading and workflow sclutions used by
institutions globally with ligeidity from over 180 leading providers

FX and moneay market tradars, sales desks, hedge funds and
alternative market makers, asset managers, banks,
broker/dealers and prime brokers

Tradaweb

Global electronic mulli-dealer-to-custemer markeiplace for
trading fixed income, derivatives and money market products
which connects major ivesiment banks with institutional
cusiomers

Instilutionad traders
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Compaetition

Our Financial business competes with a wide range of large and specialist providers which primarily include Bloomberg, FactSet, S&P {including
its Capital 1Q business), FIS, ICE Data Services, Telekurs, Dow Jones and large IT vendors, such as IBM. The FX business primarily competes
with large inter-dealer brokers, such as NEX Group’s {formerly ICAP) EBS platform and other electronic communication networks {(ECNs) such as
Bloomberg. Tradeweb's principal compstitors include MarketAxess and Bloomberg. The Financial husiness also competes with single-dealer and

multi-dealer portals.
Risk

Our Risk business provides a comprehensive suite of solutions designed to help our customers address third party risk (customer, supplier and
partner), regulatory compliance, corporate governance, operational risk controls and pricing and vaiuation. Risk’s solutions combine powerful
technology with trusted regulatory and risk Intelligence to detiver integrated offerings to financial services and multinational institutions for global
regulatory infelfigence, financial crime prevention, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and anti-corruption, know-your-customer (KYC) and other due

diligence, compliance management, intemal audil, efeaming and risk management services.

The foliowing table provides information about Risk’s major product categeries.

ustomer and Thi
Risk

nformation, software p Usls and man Il

include Thomson Reuters World-Check risk anteithnce
Thomson Reuters Org 1D (KYC compliance managad service}
and Enhanced Due Diligence reports to help organizations
detect, assess and minimize potential risks with customers,
suppliers and partners and protect against reputational and
financial damage

p Y
iaundering reporting officers, general sounsels, supply chain
and procurement managers and business leaders

Regulatory intetligonse and
Regulatory Change Management

Informalion and software produsls which include global coverage
of over 750 regulstory bodiss and more than 2,500 coflections of
reguiatory and leglslative materials with exclusive news and
analysis from our giobal team of regulatory compliance experts
and journalists. Incorporates ingight and content and maps
retevant policies to rule changes to comprehensively evaluate
their sffect on husinesses

Corporate complance, risk management professionals,
corporaie and company secretaries, general counsels,
business leaders, boards of directors and faw firms

Compiiance Learmning

Training programs which assist in changing behavior and
supporting a culiurs of intsgrity and compliance

Corporate compliance, risk management professionals, anti-
money laundering reporting officers, corporate and company
sacrataries, general counsals, human resources, business
leaders, boards of directors and law firms

Internal Audit and Controls

Internal auditing and internal contrels testing, ncluding risk
assessment, global ssue tracking and adminisiration

Audit management professionals, business leaders and boards
of directors

Enterprise Risk Management

Risk managemsnt solution that helps 'dentify, document and
assess strategic and operational risks, including loss events,
key risk indicators, assessment rasponses and scenario
analysis data

Risk management professionals, busingss leaders and boards
of directors

Fricing and Reference Services

A suite of products for non-gtreaming cross-asset class content
globally; supperts the management of financial risk, including
such instruments as peer-to-peer or marketplace leans

Custodians, banks, insurance companies, fund administrators,
pension firms, mutual funds, hedge funds, soverelgn funds,
underwriters, market makers, accounting firms and
government institutions
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Competition

Risk's products and services compete with a wide varety of global, regional and niche competitors. Risk's Gustomer and Third Party Risk key
competitors include Dow Jones and LexisNexis. Regulatory Intefligence products primarily compete with Wolters Kluwer, LexisNexis, Bloomberg
and MetricStream. Regutatory Change Managament products primarily compete with Wolters Kluwer, IBM Watson Analytics and Nasdag BWise,
Risk’s pricing and reference services business primarily competes with ICE Data Services, Bloomberg and a number of smaller asset pricing and
reference data providers.

Legal

Legal is a leading provider of critical online and print information, know-how, decision tools, software and services. The business serves customers
in law firms, corporate legat departiments and govemments, including federal, provinclal, state and local government lawyers and judges, as well as
investigators.

The following provides a summary of Legal's 2016 revenues, For additional information, pleass see the Management's Discussion and Analysis
section of this annual report.

B 50lutions Boasinessos +2% 5% of pveones
B, Onfine Lonal indermsation W 1% of revesuns)

LS. Privil -7% 4% of spvenuesl

Growth rates ara in constant curency and are compared to 2015,

in recant years, Legal has been focusad on driving growth in its Solutions businesses, which are subscription-based as well as transactional. U.5.
Online Legal information is composed of Westlaw and Practical Law. Revenues for Legal's U.S. Print business have been declining and are
expected 1o continue to decline given the shift in the indusiry to digital consumption.

The following shows Legal's revenue performance by business type since 2013:
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Growth rates are in constant cumency.
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Major brands

The following table provides information about Legal's major brands,

Westlaw {LLS.)

Sweet & Maxwell [U.K.)
Thomson Reuters Canada
Legal

Aranzadi (Spain)

La Loy {Argentina)

Legal, reguiatory and compiiances Information-based producis and
services

Thomson Reuters Westlaw is Legal's primary online legal research
delivery platform in the United States. Westlaw offers authoriiative
content, powerful search functionality and research organization,
team collabaration features, and navigation tonls 1o find and share
spacific points of law and search for anaiytical commentary

Localized vorsions of online legal research services are provided in

Argenting, Australia, Brazli, Canada, Chils, China, France, Hong Kong,

Indla, Irslend, Japan, Malaysla, New Zealand, Paraguay, Part,
Singapors, South Korea, Spain, the United Kingdom, Uruguay and
other countries. Through Westlaw International, we offer cur ondine
products and services to customers in markets where we do not offer
a fully localized Westlaw service

Law firm and corporate legal professionals, law students, law
livrarians, legal professionals in government agencies and
trademark professionais

Practical L.aw
Practice Point

Legal know-hew, current awareness and workfiow tools with
eimbedded guidance from expert practitioners, Practice notes,
standard documents, checklists and What's Market tools cover a
wide variety of practice areas such as commercial, corporate, labor
and employment, intellectual proparty, finance and litigation, Practical
Law currsntly has offerings in the United Kingdom, United $tates,
Canada, Australia and China

Law firm and corporate legai professionals and fegal professionals in
government agensies

Legal Tracker

Online matter management, a-biling and legal analytics services
{formerly known as Serengsti)

Corporate lagal professionals

L:ggai'l\danaged Sarvicas

Cutsourced legal services (formerly known as Pangsad)

Carporats legal and law firm professionals

Elite 3E
Prol.aw
Legal One

Sufte of ntegrated software applcations that assist wih business
managament funclions, Including financial and practics management,
matter management, documaent and email management, accounting
and biling, timekeeping and records managament

Law firm and professional services, legal, finance and technclogy
profassionals

FindLaw

Qnline legal direciory, websile oreation and hosling services, faw firm
marKeting solutions, peer raling services

Law firm professionals, marketers and consumers

abiscovery Point
Case Notebook
Drafling Assistant
Court Expross

Electronic discovery software, research fools, case analysis software Law firm and corporate legal professionals, paralegals and court

and deposition technology, as well as expert witness, decument
review and document retrieval services and drafting tools to support
each stage of the workflow

professionals

CoTrack Court Management

Softwarg suite io support e-fillng, cass management ard public

Judges, lewyers, court and law firm staff and genaral public

Solutions access solutions for courts which can be integrated with other court
applications
ProView Professional grade e-teader platform Law firm and corporate legal professionats, lsgal academics, legal
professionals in courts, government agencies and government
departments
CLEAR Public and proprietary records about individuals and companies with  Fraud prevention and investigative professionals in government, law
Paopleiap {ovls for Immediately usabks rosults enforcemnent, kaw firrms and businesses
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Compatition

Lagal's prirmary global competitors are RELX Group (which operates LexisNexis) and Wolters Kiuwer. Legal also competes with ather companies
that provide legal and regulatory information, including Bloomberg BNA, as well as practice and matter management software companies, client
development providers and other service providers that support legal professionals,

Tax & Accounting

Tax & Accounting is a leading giobai pravider of integraled tax campliance and accounting information, software and services for professionals in
accounting firms, corporations, law firms and government.

The following provides a summary of Tax & Accounting's 2016 revenues, For additional information, pleass see the Management's Discussion and
Analysis section of this annual report.
53

W Corpoeaty < 5 B of revaitass)
# Prefusshnod +85% 1529 of rvenues)
1.5 BILLICS B Sneestuige Soletons +2% 120% of mueaues

B/ Governirsnt - 367 (2% of sevanaes)

Grovith rates are In constant currengy and are compared fo 2018,

Major brands
The following table provides information about Tax & Accounting's major brands.

T SRR i s et : vwwwmmwm G
ONESOURCE Comprehensive gliobal tax compliance solution with local, country- Tax departrants of multinational and domestic corporations,
apacific focus to manage a company’s entire tax fecycla, gecounting firms, financiat institulions and {ax authorities

ONESGURCE sofiware and services, which can be sold separately
or &3 a suile, include solutions for tax planning, tax provision, tax
compliance, transfer pricing, frade and customs, tax information
reporting, frust, property, and overall tax workflow management and
data managament

Chackpolnt Integrated information solutlon that addresses market distuption Accounting firms, corparate tax, finance and accounting
through integrated research, editorial insight, workflow productivity departments, international irade professionals, lew finms and
toals, online lsarning and news updates, along with intelligent links to governments
related content and software

C8 Prefessional Suite Sealable, integrated sulte of deskiop and online software applications Accourding firms

that encompass key aspects of a professional accounting firmy's
pparations - from collecting customer data and posting finished tax
returns to the overall managemeant of the accounting practice.
Applications include tax preparation, engagement, practice
management, document management and workflow management
solutions for both large and small firms
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Onvie Innovativa, international suite of cloud-based products that brings Accounting firms
aspecis of accounting firm operations inte a single, accessible anline
platform., Available applications include document managarnent, file
sharing and coliaboration, fime and biling, workpaper managament
and project management

Aumentum Integrated sofiware solution for governments to manage the entire Govarnment offices (treasurars, tax colleciors, auditors, clerks,
property ifecycle in order to gimplify property tax functions and assessors, land managers)
improve services to taxpayers
Digita UK, tax compliance and accounting software and services Accouniing firms, corporate tax, finance and acsounting
departments, law firms and governments
DT Max Canadian tax compliance software products as well as state-of-the-art Accounting firms

procuctivity tools for accounting firms . Applications inglude tax
preparation and comgpliance, practice management, document
managarnent and workflow management solutions for any size firm

Competition

Tax & Accounting's primary competitor across all customer segments is Weiters Kiuwer. Other major competitors include Intult in the professional
software and services market segment; CORPTAX (ownad by Corporation Services CGompany) in the corporate software and services market
segment; and Bloomberg BNA in the tax research market segment. Tax & Accounting also competes with other providers of software and services
and ERP vendors.

Global Growth Organization

Our Globat Growth Crganizaton (GGO) works with our Financial & Risk, Legal and Tax & Accounting businesses to combine our global
capabifities and to expand our locs| presence and development in countries and ragions where we believe the greatest growth oppertunities exist,
Finangial results for GGO are reported within our segment businesses results. Geographic areas that GGO is focused on include Latin America,
China, India, the Middie East, Afiica, the Association of Scutheast Asian Nations/Narth Asia, Russia and countries comprising the Commonwealth
of Independent States (CIS) and Turkey,

Reuters

Founded over 165 yaars ago and powered by nearly 2,500 journalists around the world, our news has a reputation for speed, impartiality and
insight. Reuters is dedicated to upholding the Thomson Rewters Trust Principles and preserving indepandence, integrity and freedom from bias in
tha gathering and dissemination of information and news. For more information on the Thomson Reuters Trust Principles, pleass ses the
“Additicnal Information — Material Contracts ~ Thomson Reuters Trust Principles and Thomson Retters Founders Share Company” section of this
anrniual report.

We provide trusted business, financial, national and international news to professionals through Thomson Reuters desktops, the woild's media
organizations and direcily to consumers via www.reaters.com and Reuters TV, In 2016, we delivered over 2.3 million unique news stories, over
1.5 million news alerts, nearly 800,000 pictures/images and over 100,000 video stories.

Primary competitors of Reuters include the Associated Press, Agence France-Presse, Bloomberg and Dow Jones.
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Additional Business information

Comorate

Our corporate office seaks to foster a group-wide approach to management while allowing our business units sufficient operational flexibility to
serve their customers effectively. The corparate office’s primary areas of focus are sirategy, capital atfocation, technology operations and
infrastructure and talent management. The cotporate office is also responsible for ovevall direction on communications, investor relations, tax,
accounting, finance, treasury and legal, and administers certain human resources services, such as employee compensation, benefits
administration, share plans and training and development.

At the beginning of 2016, many of our cors operational functions were combined in a single organization at corporate called Enterprise Technology
& Operations (ET&0). The ETAC group is part of our Enterprise Centre. ET&O brings togesther nearly 12,300 employess (approximately 30% of
our total workforce as of year-end 2016} and approximataty $3.3 billion of our total aperating expense across nearly 200 locations, It unifisd mors
than 10 functions {most notably, our technolagy functions, operations centers, reat estate and sourcing) into a singls Enterprise team. We belisve
that ET&O provides us with a greater opportunity to accelerate our progress on scals and growth initiatives and allows us to sharpen our focus on
allocating resouices to our growth priorities.

In the second quartar of 2017, our Chief Exscuiive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are telocating to Toronto. Our corporate offices are located
arourdd the world, including in Toronte, Canada; Stamford, Connecticut; New York, New York; Baar, Switzerdand; Eagan, Minnesota: London,
Linited Kingdom; Carroliton, Texas and Bangalore, India,

Tachnology

We believe that we can make information more relevant, more personal and deliver it faster to our customers through the smart use of technology.
By using shared platforms and working across our businesses, we are making our data mora acoessible and valuable for our customers, no matter
how they access it.

We believe we are continually transforming our content, products, services and company o better meet our customers’ needs. We are focused on
seclying our customer data and global sysiems as we implement and enhance our security programs.

in 2016, we continued to transform our Technology group to 2 more unified enterprise, bringing together our development and operations, content
platforms, research and applied innovation teams. We also opened our new Technology Centre in Toronto in the second half of the year.

We have expanded our Thomson Reuters Labs program with the launch of new facilies in Singapore, Cape Town, London and Zurich, enabling us
to further collaborate with businesses, customars, start-ups and academic Institutions on data-driven innovation and research,

Intellectual Properiy

Many of our products and services are comprised of information delivered through a varisty of madia, including online, software-based
applications, smartphones, tablets, books, journals and dedicated transmisslon lings. Our principal 1P assets include patents, trademarks, trade
secrets, databases and copyrights in our content. We believe that our 1P is sufficient to permit us to carry on our business as presently
conducted. We also rely on confidentiality agresments to protect our rights. We continue to apply for and receive patents for our innovative
technologies. Additionally, we continue to acquire patents through the acquisition of companies. We also obtain significant content arnd data
through third party licensing arrangements with content providers. We have registered a number of website domain names in connection with our
onfine operations.

Research and Development
Innovation is essential to ocur success and is one of our primary bases of competition,

Wa believe we are in a unigue position to help shape how professionals find, evaluate, interact with, consume and act upon information. Our
Applied Innovation group explores emerging and future technologies such as blockchain, cloud micro-services and virtual and augmeniad realities
to help our business develop capabllities that innovate and build smarter products.
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Research & Development (R&D), which is part of our wider Applied Innovation group, petforms computer science research and practical
development in areas of cognitive computing, Inciuding machine leaming and artificial intalligence. This group leads our Centre for Cognitive
Computing in Toronto.

Sales and Marketing

We primarily seil our products and services directly to cur customers. In addition, we sell some of our products and services online directly to
cusiomars. Focusing some of our markating and sales efforts online has aliowed us to broaden our range of customers and reduce sales and
marketing costs. Some of our products and services are sold through partnars,

Corporate Responsibility & Incluston

Corporate Responsibility & Inclusion (CR&H) is an integral part of the way we do business, Our combined approach ehcompasses community
investment, diversity & inclusion and sustainability and seeks to empower sustainable growth for our people, our markets and our world. Qur
strategic approach supports our role as a responsible business, which is underpinned by our Trust Principles and Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics. We also have a Supply Chain Ethical Code that Is designed to ensure that our suppliers and vendors meet a specified set of standards and
reflects anti-bribery and anti-corruption legislation. We continue to report on our progress and update on owr kay fosus areas in our annual global
CR&1 repoirt, which we post on www.thomsonreutars.com.

Community Invesiment

in 2018, our employees continued to invest in thelr losal communitias with nearly 138,000 hours of volunteering time, made possible with the
support of our employes-led giobal volunteer networks. Our Matching Gifts and Volunteer Grants programs continue to be a comersione of our
community investmenl efforis with employees across the company taking part in numerous fundraising and volunteering efforts throughout the
vear.

Diversity & Inclusion

To serve our customers and communities, we want to alfract and retain the most talented individuals and create an environment where all our
people can develop to their full potential, Valuing and prometing diversity and inclusion are key aspects of this objective, Our business resource
groups also provide a network of suppert for other employees and work with the business to enhance professional development, recruitment and
retention, To reflect the importance of a diverse workforca for ali businesses, we launched a Diversity & inclusion index in 20186 using our own
ESG (Environment, Social, Govemance} data, The index ranks the top 100 publicly traded companies globally with the most diverse and inclusive
workplaces. This data can be used to galn insight and help financial professionals screen companies for longterm opportunities and risks in their
investments,

Sustainability

As a giohal company, we have a broad focus and an ongoing commitment to sustainability, both through the measurement and management of our
own emissions and environmental impacts, and also through our cwn insights andd thought leadership on sustainable growth. In 2018, we launched
a section on our thought leadership site (www.sustainability.thomsonreuters.combwomen) that explores the role that gender plays in
sustainable development. The site features leaders from across the world exploring the benefits of gender equality on economic growth. Our site
continues to provide insights from Reuters and other partners on current trends and stories in the sustainability space.

We continue to make progress in our own snvironimental process, as we continue to identify ways to assess, menitor and manage our carbon
footprint,

Thomson Reuters Foundation

The Thomson Reuters Foundation stands for free independent joumalism, human rights, wormen's empowerment and the rule of law, Leveraging
the skills, values and expertise of our comparny, the Foundation plays a leading role in the global fight against human trafficking and runs a number
of programs and initiatives that trigger change and empower people globally: free legal assistance, media development and in-depth coverage of
the wotld's underreportaed storles. Additional information on the Foundation can be found at www.trust.org.
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Acquisitions and Dispositicns

As part of our foous on organic revenue growth, we raduced our acquisition activity significantly aver the last three years, spending $112 million in
2018, $37 million in 2015 and $167 miliion In 2074, Between 2008 and 2013, we completed over 150 acquisitions and had average annusl
acquisition spend of $950 million during that period. Many of cur acguisitions have been tactical and complemented our exdsting businesses. For
many of these acquisitions, we purchased information or a service that we integrated into our operations to broaden the range of our offerings. We
have also directed our acquisitions o broadening our produst and service offerings in higher growth market segments and exacuting our global
growth strategy, particularly in rapidly developing economies. In 2017, we plan to continue to focus on driving organic growth. However, we expect
to make tactical acquisitions that we belisve will strengthen cur positions in key growth segments.

In addition, as part of our continuing strategy to optimize our portfolic of businesses and ensure that we are investing in parts of our business that
offer the greatest opportunities to achieve growth and retums, we also sold a number of businesses during the last several years, As mentioned
earlier in this annual report, we sold our Intellectual Property & Science business in October 2016 for gross proceeds of $3.55 biliion.

For more information on acquisitions and dispositions that we made in the last two years, please see the Management's Discussion and Analysis
section of this annual report.

Employees
The following table sets forth information about cur employees as of December 31, 2016,
By Region
Americas 21,800
Eurcpe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) 9,900
Asia Pacific 14,000
By tnit
Financial & Risk 10,900
Legal 8,500
Tax & Accolinting 3,300
Global Growth Organization (GO} 3,300
Reuters 2,700
Corporate 17,000
ET&0 12,300
Other 4,700
Thomsun Reuters 485,700

We believe that we generally have good relations with our employeses, unions and work councils, although we have had disputes from time to time
with the various unions that represent some of our employeas, Our senior management team is committed to maintaining good relations with our
amployees, unions and works councils.

Page 16



Table of Contents

Thomson Reufers Annual Report 2018

Properlies and Facilities

We own and lease office space and facilities around the world to support our businesses. Wa believe that our properties are in good condition and

are adeguate and suitable for our present purposes. The following table provides summary information about our principal properties as of
December 31, 2016.

610 Opperman Drive, 2,792,000 Owned Legal headquarters and operating fa

fagan, Minnasota, United States

3 Times Square, 555,500 Gwrad/leasedd Firancial & Risk operafing facilities and Gorporate office
Mow York, New York, United States

Technopolis 455,500 Leased Financial & Risk operating faciities

Bangalore, India

2395 Midway Road, 400,150 Cwned Tax & Accounting headquarters and operating facilities
Carrollton, Texas, Unitod States

Geneva, Switzerland 291,160 Owned Financial & Risk aparating faciities

Canary Wharfi, 282,700 Leased Financial & Risk operating facilties

London, United Kingdom

Blackwail Yard, 240,000 Owned Financial & Risk Dockland’s Technical Centar

Loadon, United Kingdom

Boston, Massachusetts? | 190,565 Leasexl Financiet & Risk operaling facililies

United Siates

333 Bay Stroet, 81,350 Leased Corporate office and Legal and Financial & Risk operating facilifles

Torento, Gntarlo, Canadad

1 We afe in the process of consolidating four existing London locations inlo a new location gt 8 Canada Square In Canary Wharf, We are moving into the Canada Square location in
phases and It wil eventually consist of approximately 316,000 sq. ft. by 2020. The Canada Square Jocation will replace the exlsting 282,709 sq. ft. that we cccupy at 30 South
LColonnade in Canary Whait.

2 Consisls of two addresses.

3 The malt loase covers approximately 86,350 aq. i, We sub-deased 5,000 s, . of this space to a third pasty,

4 We leasa ihls Tacility from 3X8Q Assoclates, an entity owned by one of our subsidiaries and Rudin Times Square Associates |.LEC, 3XBQ Associates was formad to build and
operate the 3 Times Sguare propedy. The maln leass covers approximately $88,000 sq. . and we have sub-leased approximately 163,000 sq. fl, to a thind party, We saparately
sub-lease an additionat 36,500 sq. ft.
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Risk Factors

The risks and uncertainties below represent the risks that our management believes are
material. If any of the events or developments discussed below actually occurs, our business,
financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected. Other factors not
presently known to us or that we presently believe are not material could aiso affect our future
business and operations.

We may bo adversely afiected by uncertainty, downturns and changes In the markets that we serve, in particular in the finanglal services
and legal industries,

While we believe that we operate in attractive market segments at the intersection of glabal commerce and regulation, our performance depends
arl the financial health and strength of our customers, which in tumn is dependent on the general economies in North America, Europe, Asia Pacific
and Latin America. In 2016, we detived approximately 84% of our revenues from our financlal and iegal businesses.

in 2016, the economic environment Tor cur core businesses continued to be challenging, which was similar to that experenced in recent years.
The momenturn and pace of growth continued to be unegual around the world, as advances in some regions were offset by weaknesses in others.,
Uncertainty in global econoraic and market conditions, particularly around the U.K.'s referendum to leave the European Union {Brexit) and the U.S.
presidential election, continued Lo cause disruptions and volatility worldwide, particularly in the financial services indusiry. The financial services
industry remains challenged with heightened regulatory scrutiny, increasing capital requirements, Jower transaction volumes in certain markets and
asset classes, consolidation among firms and relatively low overali anticipated market growth. A number of banks continue to implement structural
changes designed to reduce costs, including job cuts. in 2016, the combination of these factors continued to put intense pressure on financial
institutions’ profitability and returns. At the same time, increased and more cornplex regulatory requirements have caused many financial
institutions to increase their spending on compliance and risk-related matters. Continued global economic uncertainty and future downtums in the
financial services industry in one or more of the countiies in which wa operate or significant trading market disruptions could adverssly affect our
Financiat & Risk business.

Uncertain and changing economic conditions also continue to impact the legal industry, which experienced relatively fiat to modest growth in 2016,
Larger law firms in particular continue to be challenged in their efforts to increase revenus growth as corporate counsels fimil increases in billing
rates and hours, lkeep more work in-house and insist on increased transparency and efficiency from taw firms. This has caused a number of law
firms fo increase thelr focus on increasing efficiency and reducing costs {including spending on legal research). As expected, we have also
continued to experience a decline in U.5. Legal's print revenues as customers increasingly migrate to our online offerings and as law firms reduce
library space for print materials, While we have baen allocating greater amounts of capital to our solutions offerings within the Legal business that
we believe present the highest growth opportunities, an accelerated decling in print revenues or another decline in U.5. online legal information
revenues in the future could adversely affect our profitability and cash flows.,

Cost-cutting, reduced spending or reduced activity by any of our customer segments may decrease demand for, and usage of, scme of our
products and services. This could adversely affect our financial resulis by reducing our revenues, which could in tumn reduce the profitability of
some of our products and services, Cost-gutting by customers has also caused us to further simplify our organization and take additional steps
beyond those we might otherwise take to optimize our own cost structure as a means to maintain or improve profitability.
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Wa operate in highly compstitive markets and may be adversely affected by this competition.

The markets for our information, software, services and news are highly competitive and are subject to rapid technclogieal changes and evolving
customer demands and needs. As new technologies continue to change the competitive landscape, our customers increasingly ook to us to help
them take action, not just provide content.

* Many of our principal competitors are established companies that have substantial financial resources, recognized brands, technologlcal
expertise and market experience and these competitors sometimes have more established positions in certain product segments and
geoyraphic regions than we do.

* YWe also compete with smaller and sometimes newer companies, some of which are speclalized with a narrower focus than our company. As a
resuft, they may be able to adopt new or emerging technologies or address customer requirements more quickly than we can. New and
emerging technologies can atso have the impact of aliowing stari-up companies to enter the market mere quickly than they would have been
able to in the past, In 20186, glebal investment in the financial technology, or "FinTech”, space increased compared to the prior year,

We may also face increased competition from Intemet service companies and search providers that could pose a threat to some of our
businesses by providing more in-depth cfferings, adapting their products and services to meet the demands of their customers or combining
with one of their {raditional competitors 1o enhance their products and services.

To better serve the neads of their existing custorners and to attract new customers, our competitors continue to:

+ enhance and improve their products and services (such as by adding new content and functionalities);
+ develop new products and services;
invest in technology; and

+ acyuire additional businesses and partner with other businesses in key sectors that will allow them to offer a broader amay of products and
services.

Some of our competitors are alsc aggressively marketing their products as a lower cost altemative and offering price incentives to acquire new
business, although we believe that many of our customers continue to see the value meflected in our offerings that sometimes results in a higher
price. As some of our competitors are able to offer products and services that may be viewed as more cost effective than ours or which may be
seen as having greater functionality or perfermance than ours, the relative value of some of our products or services could be diminished.

Competition may require us fo reduce the price of some of our products and services {(which may result in lower revenues) or make additional
capital investments {which might result in lower profit margins), For example, In 2018, our Financial & Risk business continued to be impacted by
its commercial pricing adjustments in connection with the migration of its buy-side and foreign exchange customers onto the segment’s unified
platform. [f we are unable or unwilling to reduce prices or make additional investments in the future, we may lose customers and our financial
results may be adversely affected. Soma of our current or future products or services could also be rendered cbsolete as a result of competitive
offerings.

In addition, some of our customers have in the past and may decide again o develap independently certain products and services that they cbtain
fram us, including through the formation of consortia. In the financial services industry, soms firms have also invested in competitors to our
Financial & Risk business, in part due to increaging regulatory and cost considerations or to pursue their own business models. If more of our
customers become self-sufficient, demand for our products and services may be reduced. If we fail o compete effectively, our revenues,
profitability and cash flows could be adversely affected.
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If we are unable to develep new products, services, applications and functionalities to meet our customers’ needs, attract new customers
and refain existing ones, expand ine new geographic markets and identify areas of higher growth, our abiliiy {o generate revenuss or
achieve higher levels of revenue growth in the future may be adversely affected.

Our growth strategy involves developing new products, services, applications and functionalities in a timely and cost effective manner to mast our
customers’ needs, anticipating and responding to industry trends and technelogical changes, and maintaining a strong position in the sectors that
we serve, It 2017, we are seeking to increase revenue growth and profitability, improve customer experience and our sales and marketing
expertise and continue to simplify the organization,

We are raatlocating more resources and increasing investments in opportunities in our four strategic growth pricrities — Risk, Elektron Daia
Platform, Legal Software & Services and Global Tax. These four growth areas represented over one third of our 2016 revenues. While we are
confident that this focus will lead to increased revenues, there is no assurance that we will be successfut in increasing our company’s overall
revenue growth in the future.

* Disruptive technologies such as machine automation, artificial intelligence, data synthesis and user-generated capabilities are creating a need
to adapt rapidly {o the shifting landscape. While wa are focused on these changes to the landscape, if we fail to adapt, our financiat condition
and results of operations could be adversely Impacted.

« Growth in today’s business environment has required us to explore different busingss models than we have in the past. We have bsen
increasing our focus on driving grawth through more collaboration and stronger relationships with both established and emerging companies and
incubators. Some of these initistives combine another company’s fechnology, data or other capabilities with our products and services. These
initiatives involve a number of risks, including the risk that the expected synsrgies will not be realized, that the expected resulis will not be
achleved, that the new initiative may confiict or detract from our existing businesses or that security measures may not be adequate. While we
helieve these initiatives will be attractive to our custormers, allow us to innovate more quickly and build sales channels in segments that we
could not have reached as guickly on cur own, we are unable to provide any assurances that these Initiatives will increase our revenue growth.

Over the last few years, we have made significant investments designed to improve and enhance the functionality and performance of a number of
our existing flagship products, such as Thomson Reuters Eikon, Thomson Reuters Eleklron, Thomsoen Reuters Westiaw and ONESOURCE. We
have also successfully migrated customers from legacy offerings 1o our currant propositions and continued to enhance the reliability and resiliency
of the tachnology infrastructure that we use to defiver products and services. However, if our customers’ adoption rates for existing and new
products and ssrvices are lower than our expectations, our revenues may be lower and our resuits of operations may be adversely affected.

Some of our businesses, in particular Legal, continue to evolvae towards becoming greater providers of solutions to our customers as part of an
ongoing transformation from fecusing primarily on providing data and inforrnation. These solutions often are designed to integrate cur core
information with software and workflow tools. While we believe that transitioning a greater part of our business to solutions will help us increase
customer value, create growth, diversify business mix and differentiate us frorm competitors, operating a business with a greater percentage of
soiutions may result in fower profit margins.

In addition, we have been atiracting new customers and gontinuing to expand into Asia, Latin America and the Middle East through our Glebal
Growth Qrganization. With our current focus on organic growth, it may iake us a lenger period of time and we may need 1o incur greater costs to
davelop new products, servicas, applications and functionalities to meet naeds of customers, attract new customers or expand inte these markets.
If we are unable to do so, our abllity to increass our revenues may be adversely affected,

Historically, our customers accessed our web-based products and services primarily through desktop computers and iaptops. Over the last few
years, Internet use through smariphones, tablsts and other mobile devices has increased significantly. Applications or “apps” have also
experienced significant growth and popularity. As a result of this shift, we have been focused on developing, supporting and maintaining various
products and services on different platforms and devices (some of which complement traditional forms of delivery). If our competitors are able to
release altemative device products, services or apps more guickly than we are able to, or if our customers do not adopt our offerings in this area,
our revenues and retention rates could be adversely affectad.

Page 20



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2016

Fraudulent or unpermitied data aceess or other cyber-security o privacy bresches may cause some of our customers to lose confidence
in our security measures and couldd result In increased costs for our company.

Similar to other global multinational companies that provide services online and also due to the prominence of our Financial & Risk and Reuters
news businesses, we experience cyberthreats, cyber-sltacks and security breaches, which can include unauthorized attempts to acuess, disabls,
impropery modify or degrade our information, syslems and networks, the introduction of computer viruses and other malicious codas and
fraudutent “phishing” e-mails that seek to misappropriate data and information or install malware onto users’ computers. Cyberthreats in particular
vary in technique and sources, are persistent, frequently change and increasingly are more sophisticated, targeted and difficult to detect and
prevent against. None of these threats and related incidents to date have been material to our business.

While we have dedicated resources at our company wheo are responsible for maintaining appropriate levels of cyber-security and we utilize third
party technology product and seivices to help identify, protect and remadiate our company's information technology systems and infrastructure
against security breaches and cybsr-incidents, our measures may not ba adequate or effective to prevent, identify or mitigate attacks by hackers
or breaches caused by employee error, malfeasance or othar disruptions. While we maintain what we believe is sufficient insurance coverags that
may (subject to certain policy terms and conditions including self-insured deductibles) cover certain aspects of thind party security and cyber-isks
and business interruption, our insurance coverage may not always cover ail costs or losses,

We are also dependent on security maasures that some of our third party suppliers and customers are taking to protest their own systems and
infrastructures, For example, our outsourcing of certain functions requires us to sometimes grant network access to third party suppliers, if our
third party suppliers do not maintain adequate securlty measures, do not require their sub-contractors to maintain adequate security measurss or
do not perform as anticipated and in accordance with contractual requirements, we may experience operational difficulties and increased costs. In
addition, if a customer experences a data secwity breach that results in the misappropriation of some of cur proprietary business information, our
company’s reputation could be harmed, even if we were not responsible for the breach.

We collect, stors, use and transmil sensitive data, including public records, intellectual property, our proprietary businass information and
personally identifiable information of our employees on our networks, A number of our customers and suppliers also entrust us with storing and
seclring their own confidential data and information. Any fraudulent, malicious or accidental breach of data security coutd also result in
unintentional disclosure of, or unauthorized access {o, customer, vendor, employee or other confidential or sensitive data or information, which
could potentlally result in additional costs to our company to snhance security or to respond to occurrences, lost sales, violations of privacy or
other laws, penalties or litigation, In addition, madia or cther reports of perceived security vulnerabilitiss to our systems or those of our third party
suppliers, even If no breach has been attempted or occurred, could also adversely impact our brand and reputation and materially impact our
business.

Misappropriation, improper modification, destruction, corruption or unavailability of data and information or ransom demands due to cyber-attacks
or other secwity breaches could damage our orand and reputation and customers could lose confidence in our security measures and reliability,
which would harm our ability to retain customars and gain new ones. We could also face litigation or other claims from impacied individuals as well
as substantial regulatory sanctions or fines. If any of these were to ooeur, it could have a material adverse effect on ouwr business and resulls of
operations.

We rely heavily on our own and third party felecommunications, data centers, nelwork systerns and the Internet and any fallures or
disruptions may adverssaly affoct our ability fo serve our customers and could negatively impact our revenues and reputation,

Most of cur products and services are delivered electronically and our customers depend on our ability to receive, store, process, transmit and
otherwise rapidly handle very substantial quantities of data and transactions on computer-based natworks. Our customers also depend on the

continued capacity, reliability and security of our telecommunications, data centers, nelworks and other electronic delivery systems, including
websites and the Internet. Our employees also depend on these systems for our internal use.

Any significant failure, compromise, cyber-breach or Infernuption of our systems, including operational services, loss of service from third parties,
sabotage, break-ins, war, terrorist activities, human error, natural disaster, power or coding loss and computer
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viruses, could cause our systems to operate slowly or could intesrupt service for periods of time. While we have disasier recovery and business
continuity plans that utilize indusiry standards and best practices, including back-up facilities for our primary data centers, a testing program and
staff training, our systems are not always fully redundant and our disaster recovery and business continuity plans may not always be sufficient or
sffactive. To the extent that our telecommunications, information technolegy systems, cloud based service providers or other networks are
managed or hosted by third parties, we would need i coordinate with these third parties to resclve any issues. 1n the past when we have
experienced slow operation of our systems or service Interruptions, some of our products, services or websites have been unavailable for a limited
period of time, but none of these occurences have been material lo our business.

Our ability to effectively use the Internet may also be impaired due to infrastructure failures, service outages at third party Intermet providers or
increased goverment regulation. In addition, we are facing significant increases in our use of power and data storage. We may axperience
shortage of capacity and increased costs associated with such usage. These events may affect our ability 1o store, process and transmit data and
sevices 1o our customers.

From time to fime, update rates of market data have increased. This can sometimes impact product and network performance. Factors that have
significantly Increased the market data update rates Include the emergence of proprietary data fesds from other markets, high market volatility,
decimalization, reductions in trade sizes resulting in more transactions, new derivative instruments, increased automatically-generated algorithmic
and program trading, markst fragmentation resulting in an increased number of trading venues, and multiple listings of options and other secuwities.
Changes In legislation and reguation pertaining to market structure and dissemination of market information may also increase update rates. While
we confinue fo implemeant a number of capacity management initiatives, there can be no assurance that our company and our network providers
will be able to accommodate accelerated growth of peak traffic volumes or avoid other failures or interruptions.

Inereased accessibility to Tree or relafively inexpensive Information sources may reduce demand for our products and services.

In recent years, more public sources of free or relatively inexpensive information have become available, particuarly through the Internet, and this
trend is expected to continue. For example:

+ Some governmental and regulatory agencies have increased the amount of information they make publicly available at no cost;
Several companies and organizations have made certain lagal and financial information publicly available at no cost; and
© “Open source” software that is available for fras may also provide some functivnality similar to that in some of our products.,

Public sources of free or relatively Inexpensive information may reducs demand for our products and services. Demand could also be reduced as a
result of cost-cutting initiatives at certain companies and oiganizations. Although we believe our information is more valuable and enhanced
through analysis, {ools and applications that are embedded into customers’ workflows, our financial results may be adversely affected if our
customers choose to use these public sources as a substitute for our products or services.

Operating globally Involves challenges that we may not be able to meet and that may adversely affect our ability to grow.

In 2018, approximately 41% of our revenues were derived oulside of North America. As of December 31, 2016, approximately 60% of our
employees were located outside of North Amarica,

Wa belisve that there are advantages to operating globally, including a proportionately reduced exposure to the market developments of a single
country or ragion. However, there are certain risks inherent in dolng business globally which may adversely affect our business and ability to grow,
These risks include:

+ Difficulties in penetrating new maikets due to established and entranched competitors;
Difficulties in developing products and services that are taillored to the needs of local customaers;
* Lack of local acceptance or knowledge of our products and sarvices;
Lack of recognition of cur brands;

+  Economic slowdowns, instabliity and volatity in local markets and political instabiiity of governments;
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«  Unavailability of iocal companies for acquisition or joint venture pariners;
+  Exposure to possibly adverse governmantal or reguiatory actions in countries where we operate or conduct business,

Higher inflation rates in the countries in which we do business,

The impact of foraign currency fluctuations on prices charged to lecal customers, notably in connection with the strengthening of the U.S. dollar,
* Changes in laws and policies affecting trade and investment in other jurisdictions; and

Exposure to varying and sometimes conflicting legal standards.

Adverse developments in any of these areas could cause our actual results to differ materially from expected resulis. Challenges assocciated with
operating giobally may increase for our company as we continue to expand into geographic areas that we believe present the highest growth
cpporiunities.

We generate a significant percentage of our revanuss from recurring, subscription-based arrangements, and our ability to malntain
existing revenuas and to generate higher revenues is depandent in part on maintaining a high renewal rate.

In 20186, 88% of our revenues were derived from subscriptions or similar contractual amrangements, which result in recurring revenues. Qur
revenues are supporied by a relatively fixed cosl base that is generally not impacted by fluctuations in revenues. The majority of our subseription
arrangements have a term of ane year and the remaining porticn is largely for two or three year terms. These arrangements typically have renewal
provisions, Renewal dates are spread over the course of the vear. In order to maintain existing revenues and to generate higher revenues, we are
dependent on a significant number of our customers to renew thelr amangements with us. In our Legal and Tax & Accounting business units, our
customers have increasingly been seeking products and services delivered slectronically and continue to migrate away from higher margin print
products, In 2016, our Legal U.S. print-related revenues declined 7%. Our revenues could also be lower if a significant number of our customers
renewad their arrangements with us, but reduced the amount of their spending.

We are dependent on third parties for dats, information and other services.

We obtain significant data and information through licensing arrangaments with content providers, some of which may be viewed as competitors.
Some providers may seek to increase fees for providing their proprietary content or services and others may not offer our company an oppertunity
{0 renew existing agreements.

In addition, we rely on third garty service providers for telecommunications and other services that we have outsourced, such as certain human
resources administrative functions, facilities management and [T services.

If we are unable to maintain or renegotiale commercially acceptable arrangements with these content or service providers or find substitutes or
altetnative sources of equivalent content or service, our business could be adversely affeclsd. Qur revenues and margins could also be reduced if
some of aur competitors obtained exclusive rights to provide or distsibute certain types of data or information that was viewed as critical by our
customers.

We may be adversely affected by changes in legisiation and regulation, which may impact how we provide products and services and
how we collect and use information,

Legislative and regulatory changes that impact cur customers’ industries (in particular, custorners of cur Financial & Risk business) may impact
how we provide products and services to our custornars. The Implementation of the Europsan Market Infrastruclire Regulation (EMIR) and the
revision of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID 1) and naw rules and regulations associated with such revision may also impact
haw we provide products and services to our Financlal & Risk customers.

Laws relating to electronic and moblle communications, privacy, data security, data protection, anti-money laundering, e-commerce, direct

markeling and digital advertising and the use of public records have alzo become more prevalent and developed in recent years. Brexit and the
new U5, presidential administration have created some legal uncertainties and it 1s difficult to predict in what form laws and regulations will be
adopted, changed or repealed, how they will be construed by the relevant courts, or the extent to which any changes right adversely affect us,
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In the ordinary course of business, we collect, store, use and transmit certain types of information that are subject to different laws and
regufations. In particular, data security and data protection laws and reguialions that we are subject to often vary by jurisdiction and inslude,
without limitation, the E.U. Data Protection Directive and various U.S. state regulations. These laws and reguiations are continuously evelving. In
2018, the European Commission and U.S. adopted a new framework structure called Privacy Shield to govem transfers of perscnal data from the
European Union and Switzerand to the United States. Certaln privacy groups have launched legal challenges against Privacy Shisid. In May 2018,
a new E.U. General Data Protection Regulation {GDPR) will replace the existing E.U. Data Protection Directive. The GDPR will introduce new data
grotection requirements and related compliance obligations in the E.U. and significantly increases fines for breaches. We are also subject to data
focalization laws In certain countriss, which require us to store and process certain types of data within a particular country.

Existing, new and proposed legisiation and regulations, including changes in the manner in which such legislation and regulations are interpreted
by courts, may:

= Impose limits on our collection and use of certain kinds of infarmation and our ability to communicate such information effectively to our
customers;

= Increase our cost of doing business or require us o change some of our existing business practices; and
* Conflict on a global basis (such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar laws).

Although we have implemented policies and procedures that are designed to ensure compilance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, we
could be subject to panalties as well as reputation harm for any violations.

Tax matters, including changes to tax laws, reguiations and freaties, could impact our effective tax rate and our resulis of eperations.

We operate in many countries worldwide and our earnings are subject e taxation in many different jurisdictions and at different rates. We sesk to
organize our affairs in a tax efficient mannsr, taking account of the jurisdictions in which we operate. In 20186, our effective tax rate was lower than
the Canadian corporate income tax rate due significantly to lower tax rates and differing tex rudes applicable to certain of our operating and
financing subsidiaries outside Canada. Cur effective tax rate has fluctuated in the past and is likely to fluctuate in the future, reflecting the mix of
taxing jurdsdictions in which pre-tax profits and losses are recegnized. Our effective tax rate and our cash tax cost in the future will depend on the
laws of numerous countries and the provisions of multiple Ihcome tax treatiss betwsen various countries in which we operate, Changes in tax laws
and regulations, international treaties and tax accounting standards and/or uncertainty over their application and interpretation as well as changes
in the geographic mix of our profits may adversely affect our resulis (nctably our income tax expense) and our effective tax rate. Tax-related
changes or tax rulings may also require adjusltiments to our previously filed lax retums, which i unfavorable, may adversely affect our resulls, Tax
taws and regulations that apply to our company may aiso be amended by the relevant authorities due to changes in fiscal circumstances or
priorities. These types of armendments, or their application to cur company, may adversely affect our resuits.

Many governments in jurisdictions where we operate are facing budget deficlis and challenges and as a result, are looking to increase their tax
revenues through increased audit activity and tax reform. For example, in 2016, cestain of our U.S. subsidiaries received a statutory notice of
deficiency frorm the Intemnal Revenue Service (IRS) for the 2010 and 2011 tax years related to our intercompany transfer pricing practices. In the
notice, the IRS claims that the taxable income of these subsidiaries should be increased by an amount that creates an aggregate potential
additional income tax liability of approximatety $250 million for the period. Although we disagree with the IRS’s position and are coniasting the
issle in U.S. Tax Cour, the outcome of the matler is uncertain and if it were to be resolved against us in an unfavorable manner, it could
adversely affect our financial results for a particular pericd. In addition, various tax-related legislative initiatives have been proposed or are being
discussed that if enacted, could adversely affect owr tax positions andfor cur tax liabliitles. The Organization for Economic Co-cperation and
Development (OECD), which is comprised of member countries that encompass many of the jurisdiclions where we operate, has been working on
a coordinaled, mulfi-jurisdictional approach to address issues in existing tax systems associated with “base erosion and profit shifting” (BEPS)
that the OECD believes may lead to tax avoidance by global companies. In 2015, the QEGD finalized many of its recommendations pursuant to
the BEPS action plan and shiflad iis focus to the implementation and moniioring of these recommaendations. In 2018, the member siates of the
Eurppean Union adopted an anti-fax avoidance directive which is intended
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to provide uniform implementation of BEPS measures across all of the member states by the start of 2020, In the United States, the current
atiministration has indicated that it would like to pursue 1ax reform legisiation, Changes in the tax laws of various jurisdictions in which we do
business could result from these developments and such changes could increase our worldwide tax Habilities and the related income tax expense,

Currency and inferest rate fluctuations and volatility in global currency markets may have a significant impact on our reported revenues
and earnings.

Our financial statements are expressed in U.8, dollars and are, therefore, subject to movemants in exchange rates on the trans|ation of the
financial information of businesses whose operational currencies are not U.S. dollars. We recsive revenuss and incur expenses in many cuirencies
and are thersby exposed to the Impact of fluctuations in varicus currency rates, Foreign currency movements have been unusually volatile over
the last three years and volatility in foreign currencies is expectad to continus as the UK. negotiates its exit from the Eurepean Union.

Exchange rate movements in our cumrency exposures may cause fluctuations in our conselidated financial statements. As our operations cutside
of the U.8, conlinue to expand, we expect this trend te continue, In particular, we have exposure to the Euro, the British pound sterling, the
Japanese yen and the Canadian Dollar. We mitigate this exposure to our operating cash flow by entering inte exchange contracis to purchase or
sell certain currencies in the future at fixed amounts. However, because these instruments have not been designated as hedges for accounting
purposes, changes in the fair value of these contracts are recognized through the income statement with ne offsetting impact, and therefore our
income statement will reflect volatility from exchange rate movements.

Wea monitor the financial stability of the foreign countries In which we oparate. Global markets continued fo expetience uncertainty in 2016, and
continuing volatility could adversely affect our results.

Substantizlly all of our non-U.S. dollar-denominated debt is in Canadian dollats and has been hedged into U.8. dollars. In additicn, an increase in
interest rates from current levels could adversely affect our results in future pericds.

i we are unable to successiully adapt to organizational changes and effectively implement strategic initiatives, our reputation and
restlis of operations could be impactad,

Wa have experienced significant organizational changes over the last few years,

* In October 2018, we complated the sale of our Intellectual Properly & Science business.

*  As part of our simplification and transfomation initiatives, we have reduced staff, consolidated various technology platforms and content
assets, standardized internal processes, outsourced various activities, and consolidated various oificesfreal estate around the wonld, Including
increasing our leadership presence at our new Enterprise Centre.

in the sacond quarter of 2017, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financlal Officer will be relocating from the United States to Toronto.

Our ability te successfully manage organizational changes is important for our future business success, In particular, our reputation and resulis of
oparations could be harmed if employee morale, sngagement or productivity decline as a result of organizational or simplification changes.

Furthermaore, we may not realize cost savings and synergies that we expect to achieve from our current strategic initiatives due to a variety of
risks, including, but not fimited to, operational challenges across impacted business units, difficulties in integrating shared services with our
business, higher than expected employee severance or retention costs, higher than expected overhead expenses, delays In the anticipated timing
of activities related to our initiatives and other unexpacied costs associated with operating our business. If we are unable to achisve the cost
savings of synergies that we expect to achieve from our strategic initiatives, it could adversely affact our profitability and related margins.

if we do not continue to aliract, motivate and retain high gquality rmanagement and key employees, we may not be able to executs our
stirategies. )

The completion and execution of our strategies depends on owr ability to continue to attract, motivate and retain high quality management and
employess across all of our busingsses. We compets with many businesses that are seeking skilled individuals,
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particularly those with experience in technology and data science. Competition for professionals in our financial services and legal businesses in
particular can also be intense as other companies seek to enhance thair positions in our market segments. In gddition, competition for experienced
tatent in our faster growing geographic areas cuiside of the United States and Europe continues to intensify, requiring us to increase our focus on
atiracting and developing highly skilled future leaders In our most strategically important locations in those areas of the world. Future organizational
changes could also cause our employee attition rate to increase. H we are unable to continue to identify or be successful in attracting, motivating
and retaining the appropriate qualified personnel for our businesses, it could adversaly affect our ability to execute our strategies,

Qur brands and reputation are important company assets and are key o eur ability to remain a trusted source of information and news.

The integrity of our brands and reputation Is key to our ability to remaln a trusted source of Information and news and to aftract and refain
customars. Negative publicity regarding our company or actual, alleged or perceived issues regasding one of our products or services could harm
aur relationship with customers. Faillure to pratect our brands or a faliure by our company to upheld the Thomson Reuters Trust Principies may
adversely impact our credibility as a trusted supplier of content and may have a negative impact on our information and news business.

Our intollaciual property rights may not be adequately protectad, which may adversely affect our financial resulys.

Many of our products and services are based on inforrnation delivered through a variety of media, including online, software-hased applications,
smartphones, fablets, books, journals and dedicated transmission lines. We rely on agreements with our customers and employeas and patent,
trademark, copyright and other intellectuat property laws to establish and protect our propristary rights in our products and services. Third partles
may be able to copy, infringe or ctherwise profit from our proprietary rights without authorization and the Intemet may facilitate these activities. We
also conduct business in some countries where the extent of effective legal protection for intsllectual property rights is uncertain. We cannot
assure you that we have adequate protection of our intsllectuat property rights. If we are not able to protect our intellectual property rights, cur
financiat results may be adversely affected.

The intellectual property of an acquired business may also be an important componert of the value that we agree to pay for such a business.
However, such acquisitions are subject to the risks that the acquired business may not own the intellectual property that we helieve we are
acquiring, that the intellectual property is dependent upon licenses from third parties, that the acquired business infringes upon the Intallectual
property rights of others or that the technology doss not have the acceptance in the markstplace that we anticipated. If we are not able to
succassfully integrate acquired businesses’ intellectual property rights, our financial results may be adversely affected.

Some of our competitors may also be able to develop new products or services that are similar to ours withaut infringing our inteliectual property
rights, which could advearssly affect our financial condition and resuits of operations.

We operate in a litigious envirenment which may adversely affect our financial resulis,

We may become involved in legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business, including employment matters, commeircial
matters, defamation claims and intellectual property infringement claims. Regardiess of the merit of legal actions and claims, such malters can be
expensive, fime consuming, or harmful to our reputation and in recognition of these considerations, we may engage in arangements to settle
litigation, While we maintain insurance for certain potential liabilities, such insurance does not cover all types and amounts of potential liabilities
and is subject Lo various exclusions as well as caps on amounts recoverable, Due to the inherent uncertainty in the litigation process, the
resolution of any particular legal procseding could result in changes to our products and business practices and could have a matetial adverse
effect on our financial position and resuits of operations,

We are significantly dependent on technology and the rghts related to it. From time to time, we have been sued by other companies for allegedly
violating their patents. Our company (as weli as other companies) have exparienced alleged claims from third parties whose sole or primary
business is to monetize patents. [f an infringement suit against our company Is successful, we may be required fo compensate the third party
bringing the suit either by paying a lump sum or ongoing license fees to be able to continue selling a particular product or service. This type of
compensalion could be significant, in addition fo legal fees and other
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costs that we would incur defending such a claim. We might aiso be prevented or enjoined by a court from continuing 1o provide the affected
product or service. We may also be required to defend or indemnify any cusiomers who have been sued for allegedly infringing a third party's
patent in connection with using one of our products or services. Responding to intellectual property claims, regardless of the validity, can be time
consuming for our technology personnsl and management.

We may be unable to derive fully the anticipated benefits from our existing or future acquisitions, joint ventures, investments or
dispositions.

Acquisitions have historically been an important part of our growth strategy to expand and enhance our products, services and customer base and
to enter new geographic areas. In the future, wa may not be able to successfully identify attractive acquisition opportunities or make acquisitions
an terms that are satisfactory to our company from a commercial perspective. In addition, competition for acquisitions In the industries in which we
operate during recent years has escalated, and may increase costs of acquisitions or cause us {o refrain from making certain acquisitions. We
may also be subject to increasing regulatory scrutiny froms competition and antitrust authorities in connection with acquisitions. Achieving the
expected returns and synergies from existing and future acquisitions will depend in part upon our abifity to integrate the products and services,
technology, administrative functions and persennel of these businesses into our segments in an efficient and effective manner. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to do so, or that our asquired businesses will perform at anticipated levels or that we will be able to obtain these synergies.
Management resources may also be diverted from operating our existing businesses to certain acquisition integration chalienges. If we are unable
to successfully integrate acquired businesses, our anticipated revenues and profits may be lower. Our profit margins may also be lower, or diluted,
follewing the acquisition of companies whose profit margins are less than those of our existing businesses. Acquisition spending may glso reduce
our eamings per share in certain periods.

We have also historically decided from time to time to dispose of assets or businesses that are no longer aligned with strategic objectives or our
current business portfolio. [n 2018, we compieted the saje of our intellactual Property & Science business. These transactions may involve
challenges and risks. There can be no assurance that future divestitures will oceur, or if a transaction does occur, there can be no assurance as to
the potential value created by the transaction. The process of exploring strategic alternatives or selling a husiness could also negatively impart
customer decision-making and cause uncertainty and negatively impact our abllity to attract, retain and motivate key employees. Any fallures or
delays in completing divestitures could have an adverse effect on our financial results and on our ability to execute our strategy. Although we have
established procedures and processes to mitigate these risks, there is no assurance that these transactions will be successful. In addition, we
expend costs and management resources to complete divestitures and manage post-closing arrangements. Completed divestitures may also
result in continued financial involvement in the divested business, such as through guarantees, indemnifications, transition services arrangements
or other financial arrangements, following the transaction,

Anfitrust/compstition-related claims or investigations could result in changes to how we do business and could be costly.

We are subject to applicable antitrust and competition laws and regulations in the countries where we have operations, These laws and regulations
saek to prevent and prohibit and-competitive activity, From time 1o time, we may be subject to antitrust/competition-related claims and
investigations, Following such a claim or investigation, wa may be raquired to change the way that we offer a particular product or service and if
we are found to have violated antitrust or compstition laws or regulations, we may be subject to fines or penalties, Any antitrust or compatition-
related claim or investigation could be costly for our company in terms of time and expense and could have an adverse effsct on our financial
condition and results of operations.

We may be requived to take future impairment charges that would reduce our reported assets and earnings.

Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets comprise a substantial porticn of our totaf assets. YWe are required under IFRS to test our goodwill
and identifiable intangible assets with indefinite fives for impairment on an annual basis. We also are required by IFRS to perform an interim or
pesiodic review of our goodwill and all identifiable intangible assets if events or changes in circumsiances indicate that impaiment may have
oceurred. impaiment testing requires our company to maks significant estimates about our future performance and cash flows, as well as other
assumptions. Economic, legal, regulatory, competitive, contractual and other factors as well as changes in our company's share price and market
capitalization may affect these assumptions. If our testing indicates that impaimment has occurred relative to current fair values, we may be
required to record an impairment charge in ths peticd the determination is made. Recognition of an impairment would reduce our reported assets
and eamings.
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Qur credit ratings may be downgraded, which may impede our access to the debt markets or raise our borrowing rates.

Our access to financing depends on, among other things, suitable market conditions and the maintenance of suitable long-term credit ratings. Our
cradit ratings may be adversely affected by various factors, including increased debt levels, decreased samings, declines in customer demands,
increased competition, a further deterioration in general econemic and business conditions and adverse publicity. In 2013, foliowing our
announcement of a new capital strategy, our long-term debt rating was downgraded by Moody's arxd Standard & Poor's, which increased our credit
facllity fee and bomrowing costs. Any further downgrades in our oredit ratings may impede our access fo the debt markets or raise our borrowing
rates.

We have significant funding obligations for pansion arrangements that are affected by factors sutside of our control,

We have significant funding obligations for various pension arrangements that are affected by factors outside of our control, including market
factors and changes in legislation. In the past, we have contributed o our pension plans to prefund certain obligations. In the first quarter of 2017,
we contributed $500 million to our U.S. defined benefit pension plan to improve the funded status of that plan.

The valuations of obligations for materizl plans are determined by independent actuaries and require assumptions in respect of future
compensation levels, expected mortality, inflation and medical cost trends, along with the discount rate to measure obligations. These
assunmplions are reviewed annually. While we beliave that these assumptions are appropriate given current economic conditions, significant
differences in actual experdence or significant changes in assumptions may materally affect our valuations of pension obligations and related
futurs expenses. [n addition, the performance of equity and fixed income markets, which may be influenced by general economic conditions,
including interest rates, inflation and currency exchange rates, may impact the funding level of our funded plans and required contributions.

Woodbridge confrols our company and is in a position to affect our governance and operations.

Woodbtidge bsnaficially owned approximately 62% of our shares as of March 1, 2017. For so long as Woodbridge maintains its controlling interest
in our company, it will generally be able to approve matters submitted to a majerity vote of our shareholders without the consent of other
sharaholders, including, among other things, the sleclion of cur hoard. In addition, Woodbridge may be able to exercise a controlling influence over
our business and affairs, the selection of our senfor management, the acquisition or disposition of cur assets, our access to capital markets, the
payment of dividends and any change of control of cur company, such as a merger or take-over. The effect of this control may be to limit the price
that investors are willing to pay for our shares. In addition, a sale of shares by Woodbridge or the parception of the market that a sale may occur
may adversely affect the markat price of our sheres. For additional information, please see the "Additionai Information — Woodbridge” section of
this annual report.

Changes in the tax residence of our company could cause us adverse tax conseguances.

We expect our company will remain resident only in Canada for tax purposes. However, if our company were o cease to be resident solely in
Canada for tax purposes (including as a result of changes in applicable laws or in Canadian regulatory practice), this could cause us adverse tax
CONSeqUences.

Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company holds & Thomson Raulers Founders Share in our company and may be in a pesition to
affect our governance and management.

Thomson Reuters Fourkiers Share Company was established fo safeguard the Thomson Reuters Trust Principles, including the independence,
integrity and freedom from bias in the gathering and dissemination of information and news, The Thomson Reuters Founders Shara Company
holds a Thomson Reuters Founders Share in our company. The Interest of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company in safeguarding the
Trust Principles may corflict with our other business objectives, impose additional costs or burdens on us or otherwise affect our managament and
govermnance. In addition, the Founders Share enables the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company o exercise extraordinary voting power (o
safeguard the Trust Principles and to thwart those whose holdings of voting shares of Thomson Reuters threaten the Trust Principles. As a result,
the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company may pravent a changs of control {including by way of a take-over bid or similar fransaction) of cur
company in the future, The effect of these rights of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company may be to limit the price that investors are
wifling to pay for our shares. For additional information, please see the “Additional Infermation — Material Contracts” section of this annual report.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

This management's discussion and analysis is deslgned to provide you with a narrative explanation through the eyes of our management of how
we performed in the last two years, as well as information about our financiai condition and future prospects. We recommend that you read this in
conjunction with our 2016 annual consolidated financial statements, as management’s discussion and analysis is intended to supplement and
complement our financial statements. This management's discussion and analysis conlains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks
and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materiaily from the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include,
hut are not limited to, our 2017 outlook and cur expectations related to general economic conditions and market trends and their anticipated effects
on our business segments. For additional information related to forward-iooking statements and material risks associated with them, pleass see
the “Quiicok” and "Cautionary MNote Concerning Factors That May Affect Future Results” sections of this management’s discussion and analysis.
This management’s discussion and analysis is dated as of March 1, 2017.

We have organized our management’s discussion and analysis in the following key sections:

Executive Summary — a brief overview of our business, 2016 resulls and 2017 outlogk 30
Results of Operations - g comparison of our 2016 and 2015 results a8
Liquidity and Capital Resources — g discussion of our cash fiow and debt 57
Outlook — our current finangial outlook for 2017 65
elated Party Transacfions — a discussion of transactions with our principal and controling shareholder, The Woodbridds Cormpary Limited

{(Woodbsidas), and others &7
Subsequent Events — a discussion of matsrial gvenis occuiring after December 31, 20116 and through the date of this management's

discussion and analysis a8
Changes in Accounting Policles - a discussion of changes In cur gecounting policies end recent accounting pronouncements 58
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judaments - a discussion of gritical estimates and judgments made by our management in applving
aceounting poligies 71
Additignal Information — other required disclosures 71
Appendix — supplemental information and discussion 73

To help you understand this management's discussion and analysis;

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the
Intermational Accounting Standards Board JASB}. This management's discussion and analysis also includes certain non-lIFRS financial
measures which we use as supplemental indicators of our operating perfermance and financial position, as well as for Internal planning
purposes, These non-FRS maasures do not have any standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and therefore are unlikely to be comparable
o the calculation of similar rmeasures used by other companies, and should not be viewed as altematives to measures of financial performance
calculated in accordance with IFRS. Non-{FRS financial measures ars defined and reconciled to the most directly comparable IFRS measures
in Appendix A of this management’s discussion and analysis.

« Our consolidated financial statements are reflected in U. 8, dollars. References in this discussion to "§ and "USS" are to U.S. dollars and
references to “C$" are to Canadian doliars. References to "bp” means “basis points” and "n/a” and *n/m” refer to "not applicable” and “not
meaningful”, respectively. One basis point is equal to 1/100th of 1%, so “100bp” is equivalent to 1%. Unless otherwise indicated or the context
otharwise requires, referances in this discussion to “we,” “our,” “us” and “Thomson Reuters” are to Thomson Reuteis Corperation and cur
subsidiaries.
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We refer to our performance before the impact of foreign currency (or at “constant curency™), which means that we apply the same forelgn
cutrency exchange rates for the cument and equivalent prior period, W believe this provides the best basis to measure the psrformance of our
husinass as it removes distortion from the effects of foreign currency movements during the relevant period.

“ When we refer to “net sales” of a businass, we are refening to its new sales less cancellations. When we use the terms “organic” or
“organically”, we are referring to cur existing businesses.

Executive Summary

Cur Company

We are s leading source of news and information for professional markets, Owr customers rely on us to deliver the intelligence, technology and
expertise they need to find trusted answers, We have operatad in more than 100 countries for more than 100 years.

We are organized in three business units supperted by & corporate center

Financial & Risk

A provider of critical news, information and analytics, enabling transactions and connecting
communities of trading, invesiment, financial and corporate professionals. Financial &
Risk also provides regulatory and operational risk management solutions.

Legal

A provider of eritical onling and print information, decision tools, scftware and services thal support legal, investigation,
business and goverment professionals around the world.

Tax & Accounting

A provider of integrated tax compliance and accounting information, sofiware and services for professionals in accounting
firms, corporations, law firms and govemment,

Woe also operate:

Reuters, a leading provider of real-lime, high-impact, muitimedia news and information services to newspapers, television and cable networks,
radio stations and websites around the globa.

A Global Growth Organization (BGO} that works across our business units to combine our global capabilities and to expand our local presence
and development In countries and regions where we believe the greatest growth opportunities exist. GGO supports our businesses in Latin
America, China, India, the Middle East, Africa, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations, North Asia, Russia and countries comprising the
Commonwealh of Independent States and Turkey. We include the results of GGO within our business units.

- An Enterprise Technology & Operations (ET&Q) group, which was created in January 2016, drives the transformation of our company into a
more integrated enterprise by unifying infrastructure across our organization, including technology platforms, data centers, real estate, products
and services.
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In October 2016, we sold our Intellectual Property & Sclence business for gross proceeds of $3.55 billion. intellectual Property & Sclence was
classified as a discontinued operation for 2016 reporting purposes through the closing date of the sale. To facilitate a comparison with our 2018
resulis, prior-year pariod amounts in this management's discussion and analysis have been restated to conform to the current pericd’s
presentation. See the ‘Resuits of Operations — Discontinued Operations” section of this management's discussion and analysis for additional
infermation.

Our Business Model and Key Operating Characteristics

We live at a time when the amount of data is overwhelming, the regulatory environment is complex, markets move at breakneck speed and
connectivity is expanding around the world, Our customars count on the accuracy of our Information, the reliability of our systems and the
refevance of our insights to help them havigate the changing worlds of commerce and regutation. We belisve our workflow solutions make cur
customers more productive, by streamlining how they operate. Reuters is renowned for the integrity of its news. The principles of freedom from
bias and access to information govern everything that we do.

We dative the majority of our revenues from selling solutions to our customers, primarily electronically and on a subscription basis. Many of our
customers utilize our solutions as part of their workflows. We believe this is a significant competitive advantage as it has led to strong customer
ratantion, Over the years, our business mods! has proven te be capital efficient and cash flow generative, and it has enabled us to maintain
lzading and scalable positions in our chosen market segments,

The table below describes some of our key operating characteristics.

Industry Leader Balanced and Diversified Afiractive Business Mode!
* Aleader in most of the market * Three distinct core customer groups — our 2016 + B6% of our 2016 revenues ware recurring
sagments we serve revenues were: 54% Financial & Risk; 30% Legal;

¢ 93% of our 2018 revenues were from
information delivered electronically,

Geograghical diversity - our 2016 revenues were software and services

62% from the Americas, 27% from Europe, the

Middle East and Africa {EMEA) and 11% from Asia

Pacific

O, H . 0
* Deep and broad industry knowledge 13% Tax & Accounting; and 3% Reuters News

* Products and services taitored for
professionals Strong and consistent cash generation

capabilities
' Ne single customer accounted for more than 2% of
our 216 revenuss

Technology and operating platforms are built to
address the global marketplace

In the “Resuits of Operations™ saction of this management’s discussion and analysls, we discuss the 2017 business outlook and trends for cur
Financial & Risk, Legal and Tax & Accounting businesses.
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2018 Results and Key Accomplishments

Below are the financial highlights of our 2016 resulte, You can find a more detailed discussion of our 2016 performance in the "Results of
Operations” section of this management’s discussion and analysis.

Revenues 11,166 11,257 (1%}
Operating profit 1,380 1,528 (9%
Dliuted EPS (includes discontinued operations) 24,13 $1,60 158%,

Revenues: Revenues declined as higher subscription revenues were mora than offset by the impact of foreign currency as weli as declines in
transactions revenues and in Financial & Risk's low margin recoveries revenues,

Operating profit: Operating profit decreased due to fourth-quarter severance charges of $212 million to further simplify and streamline the
business.

Diluted EPS: Diluted EPS, which includes discontinued operations, increased due to a $2.0 biliion gain on the sale of the Intellectual Property &
Science business.

Additionally, 2016 was the fifth consecutive year that we met or excesded each of the performance metrics in our external financial outlook. We

originally communicated a full-year outlook in February 2016, which was updated in November 2016 to account for planned fourth-guarter charges
of batween $200 rniliion and $250 million to simplify and streamline our business. We subsequently incurred 5212 million of severance charges in
the fourth quarter (referred 1o as the "charges” in this management’s discussion & analysis). The table below compares our actual performance to
our outlook as originally communicated and as updated to exclude charges from adjusted EBITDA margin and underlying operating profit margin:

Total Revenues Low single digit growth b inctease
Exchuding Financial & Risk's recovelies revenuos Between 2% and 3% 2% ingrease

Adjusted EBITDA margin Between 25% and 26% 255%
Adusted FBITDA margin, excluding charges Between 27.3% and 28.3% 27.6%
Underlying operating proflt margin Between 16% and 17% 16.5%
Underlying operating profit margin, sxcluding cherges Between 18.4% and 19.4% 18.5%

Free cash fow Between $1.7 billion and $1.9 hition 52,0 billion

() Refer to Appendix A for additional information on nenFRS financial measures,

(*) The 2018 Outiock and 2016 performanse were measured at constant cumency rates relative 10 2018, except for the 2016 free cash flow performance which was refloctad at actual
curency rates, Foreign cumency had a favorable fmpact on actual adjusted EBITDA and underlying aperating profit margins. Actuat adjusted EBITDA and underlying operating profit
margins were 26.5% and 17.3% including the charges, and 28.4% and 19.2% excluding the charges, respectively,

In 2016, we executed against the following priorities:

Accelerate Organic Revenue Growth, In 2014, we began a new transformation program. One of the overarching
chjectives of this program is to accelerate our organic revenue growth rate. In 2018, we used cost savings generated by
our transformation program efficiency initiatives to fund investments in faster growing businesses and we focused our
efforts on customer retention and new sales in our core market segments. As a result, our 2016 revenues grew 1% on a
constant currancy bhasis, representing the second consecutive year of organic revenue growth for our business, Our
Financial & Risk segment achieved revenue growth in the second haif of 2016, despite a continued, but expected decline
in recoveries revenuss, While lower transaction revenues In our Legal segment and challenges in the Government
business of our Tax & Accounting segment negatively impacted revenues, the cors subsciiption portions of these
businesses generated strong revenue growth throughott the year,
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Improve profitability, The second overaiching objective of our transformation program is to take advantage of our scale

severance charges of $212 miilion,

Additional financial highlights for 2016.

by integrating the disparate infrastructure esources that existed as a result of over 200 acquisitions completed over the
previous decade. In 2016, we continued to fransform our company from a porticlio of individual businesses into a more
integrated enterprise. At the baginaing of 2018, we created a new Enterprise Technology & Operations (ET&0) group to
dtive this continued transformation. In order to better leverage our scale, ET&O centralized more than 10 functions {(most
notably, our technology functions, operations centers, real estate and sourcing) into a single Enterprise team. In 2016, we
achieved significant banefits from our transformation initialives, and we used the savings to invest in faster growing
businesses. As a result, our adjusted EBITDA margin improved 20bo in consfant currency, excluding fourth-quarter 2016

Consistent Capital Strategy. We continued to execute a consistent capital strategy, balancing reinvestment in our core
businesses with retum of capital to cur shareholders through dividends and share repurchases. in 2016, we generated

$2.0 billion of free cash flow. Additionally, we sold our Intellectual Property & Science business for gross proceeds of
$3.55 hiflion. We returned $2.7 billion to shareholders during the year through share repurchases and dividends. In February
2016, we increased our dividend for the 23rd aonsecutive year,

venues 11,166 11,257 (1%) 1% (1%} 1%
Adjusted EBITRA 2,054 3,680 {4%) (6%) 2% 2%
Adjusted EBITDA marglin 26.5% 27.4% (20)bp (180)bp 100bp 20bp
Underlying operating profit 1,830 2,065 (6%) {9%) 4% 2%
Underlying operating profit margin 17.3% 18.3% {100)bp {180} 9ithp 206p
Adjustad earmings per share (adjusted EPS) $1.79 $1.78 1% {4%} 16% 12%

{1) Refer to Appendix A for additienal informatien on non-IFRS financial measures.

In constant currency, our revenues increased 1% as growth in subscription revenues more than coifset the declines in transaction revenues and
Financial & Risk’s recoverdes revenues. Excluding the decling in recoveries revenues, consolidated revenues grew 2% in constant curency over

20185,

Revenue results by segment in constant currancy were as follows:

2018 Revenues

- Financial & Risk’s revenues were essentially unchanged as higher subscription and

transaction revenues were offset by a dacline in recoveries revenues. Financial & Rigk's
revenuas grew 2% excluding recoveries and the impact of ongoing commarcial pricing
adjustments related to the migration of remaining foreign exchange and buy-side cusfomers

onto new products on its unified platform.

* Legal's revenuss increased 1%. Subscription revenues, which represented over T0% of
Legal’s total revenues, grew 3%, but were partly offset by declines in transaction and U.5.

Print revenues.

* Tax & Accounting’s revenues grew 4%, reflecting growth across all its businesses, except

its srmallest unit, Government.

e Firpncka & Risk #logd

# Tw & Bradunting e flgsars Mews
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Adjusted EBITDA, underlying operating profit and ihe related margins all decreased in 2016 due to the impact of $212 million of severance charges
in the fourth quarter of 20118. Excluding the charges, all of these measures increased in total and en a constant currency basis from 2015,

Excluding the fourth-quarter charges:

* The increasas in adjusted EBITDA and underlying operating profit and the related margins included a favorable impact from currency. Currency
benefited adiusted EBITDA and underlying operating prefit marging by 80bp and 70bp, respectively. On a constant currency basis, each of
these measures increased as higher revenues mora than offset slightly higher operating expenses, which reflected savings from our efficiency
initiatives and effective cost management.

* The increase in adjusted EPS included a $0.07 benefit from currency. On a tonstant currency basis, adjusted EPS increased due to higher
underlying operating profit, lower income tax expense, and the benefit of lower common shares due to repurchases.

2017 Outlook and Key Strategic Objectives

The following table sets forth our business outlook for 2017, For comparative purposes, 2018 actual amounts are also presented excluding the
$212 million severance charges because we believe the charges distort the underlying perfosmance of our business, since no benefits resulted
from these actlions in 2016, Cash payments associated with the charges did not have a meaningful impact on our free cash flow in 2016, as most
of the payments will be made in 2017,

Rovenues $11.2 billon Low single Giglt growth

Adjusted EBITDA margin(1) 26.5%

Adfusted EBITDA margin - excluding charges 28.4% 28.8% -~ 29.8%
Adjusted EPS{1) 51.79

Adjusted EPS -- excluding charges $2.07 $2.35

Free cash flow(1) $2.0 hillion $0.9 biliion - $1.2 billion

(1) Refer 1o Appendix A for additional information on non-IFRS financial measures,

Our 20117 outiook assumes canstant currency rates relative to 2016. The 2017 outlook does not factor in the impact of any asquisitions or
divestitures that may eccur during the year. Our outiook for free cash flow reflects cash payments in 2017 relating to the fourth-guarter 2016
charges, a $500 million contribution to our U.S. defined benefit pension plan made in January 2017, and the loss of free cash flow from the sale of
Intellectual Property & Science.

Additional information is provided in the “Outlook™ and “Segment Results” sections of this management's discussion and analysis.
The following are our 2017 key financial priorities:

Accelerate Organic Revenue Growth

To accelerate organic revenue growth, we are continuing to execute key initiatives akready in process, including using cost savings from our
efficiency initiatives to invest in our higher growth businesses, including Risk, Elektron Data Platformn, Legal Software & Solutions, and Global Tax.
These growth segments represented over one third of our total revenue base in 2016, Additionally, we are focused on improving our customers’
experience by making it easier to conduct business with our company - fiom placing an arder fo paying a bill. We're also focused on increasing
the productivity of our sales force through better tools to sase administration and simpler commercial policies.

Continue to Drive Productivity Galns

We have made significant progress simplifying our business over the last three years, and we are focused on streamiining it even further. In 2017,
each of our businesses plans to reduce the number of products 1t sells, which Is expected to benafit our customers as well as our sales and
customer representatives. Additionally, we pian to consdlidete more offices, thereby reducing the number of locations in which we operate. As a
result, we expect 1o increase our adjusted EBITDA margin compared to 2016.
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Deliver on Our Financial Objectives

in 2017, we plan to increase our adjusied EFS by approximately 15% to $2.35. We plan to continue execuling a capital strategy that balances
reinvestment in our core businesses with return of capital to our shareholders through dividends and share repurchases. In February 2017, we

announced plans o repurchase an additional $1.0 billion of our shares and a 30.02 annualized increase in our dividend to $1.38 per share. This
was the 24th consecutive year that we have increased our dividend.

The information in this section is forward-iooking and should e read in confunction with the seciion below entitled "Oullook” and “Cautionary Note
Concerning Factors That May Affect Futtire Resulis”.

Revenue Dynamics and Related Trends

We detrive revenues from a diversa customer base. No single customer accounted for more than 2% of our 2016 revenues, Below, we provide
information regasding our 2016 revenues by media, type and geographic area,

By media. We derived 93% of our 2016 revenues (2015 - 82%) from information delivered slectronically as well as
from software and services. We derived the remaining 7% of our revenues from print products, primarily in our Legal
segment. Most of our cusiomers continue te migrate from print, as professionals around the world increasingly utilize
resources ontine. We expect the decline in cur print revanues to continue, We defiver most of our information
electronically through the Intemet, dedicated high-speed transmission lines to desktops and mobile devices.,
Electronic delivery improves aur abliity to rapidly provide additional products and services to our existing customers
and access new customers around the word. In addition, our offerings delivered electronically often combine
software and services as integrated solutions to better serve the workflow needs of our customers. We increasingly

! offer sofiware as a service, [somelimes referred to as a "SaaS” offering), as a number of our customers prefer for us
= Eiﬁcli’{?ﬂiﬁ,%ﬁﬂ‘fféim to host thsir applications. The business mix of our products alsc impacts our operating profit margins, Specifically,
® %fﬁmreﬁ pmgucts delivered electronically as well as from software and services typically have lower margins than our print
products.

By type. We derived 86% of our 2018 and 2015 revenues from subscription or similar contractual arrangements,
which most customers renew fiom year to year. Because a high proportion of our revenues are recuring, we believe
that our revenue patterns are generally more stable compared to other business models that primarily involve the
sale of products in discrate or one-off arrangemants. However, this also means that there Is often a lag in realizing
the impact of current sales or canceliations in our reported revenues, as we recognize revenues over the term of the
arrangement. Because of this lag effect, our revenues are typically slower to decline when economic conditions
worsen, but are also often slower to retum to growth when sconomic activity improves, as compared to other
businesses that are not subscription-based. The majority of our subscription arrangements have a term of one year

® Sxdmeripiion or Simiar and the remaining portion is largely for two or three year terms. These aangements typically have renewal
Acrarimrrads provisions. Renewal dates are spread over the course of the year. In the case of some of our subscription
# Cihar arrangements, we realize additional fees based upon usage. Recurring revenues for our Financial & Risk segment

include recoveries, which are low margin revenues that we collect from customers and pass through to a third party
provider in retum for their content or services distributed through our platform.

Nen-recurring revenues are principally comprised of transaction revenues from our Financial & Risk segment's
trading platforms and discrete sales, including sales of software, across all of our businesses. Legal and Tax &
Accounting also have businesses that depend on transactional revenues. Transaction revenues can fluctuate
significantly from perlod to period, depending on activity in the external market place. Increases or decreases in
transaction revenues in a particular period can also impact the comparability of operating profit margins.
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By geography. In 2016, our revenuss were 62% (2015 - 61%) from the Americas, 27% (2015 - 28%) from Europe,
Middle East and Africa (EMEA) and 11% (2015 - 11%) from Asia Pacific. As part of our globalization, we have
brought our global portfclio of products to local rarkets as well as modified existing products and services for local
markets at relatively low incremental cost. Howevar, soms products and services need specific development for
local markets or Industry segments, While this may require higher incremental costs and result in initially lower
marging, we try to maximize our global and regional scale and sharad technology assets to improve marging over
time. GGC, whose rasults are included in each of our segments, works across our business units to combine our

® Ariedras global capabilities and to expand our local presence and development in countries and regions where we believe the
u EdES greatest growth oppottunities exist. Revenues from our GGO organization represented approximately 8% of our

W Asia Pagi revenues in 2016 and 2015.

Expanses

A majority of our operating expanses are fixed, As a result, when our revenues increase, we become more profitable and our margins increase,
and when our revenues decline, we become less profitable and our margins decrease. We invest some of the profits from our incremental
revenues in our busingss, so the full impact of incremental revenuss are hot always reflected in our profitability. Our most significant operating
expense is staff costs which are comprised of salarias, bonuses, cormmissions, benefits, severance, payroli taxes, and equity-based
compensation awards. In 2016, staff costs represented 56% of our tolal 2016 expenses (2015 — 54%) and included $212 million of fourth-quarter
severance charges.

Seasonality

Our revenues and operating profit on s consolidated basis do not tend to be significantly impacted by seasonality as we record a large pertion of
our revenues ratably over a coniract term and our costs are generally incurred evenly thraughout the year. However, our non-recurring revenuss
(such as transaction revenues) can cause changes in our performance from quarter to consecutive quarter, Additionally, the release of certain
print-hased offerings can be seasonal as can cartain product releases for the regulatory markets, which tend to be concentrated at the end of the
year, Qur quarterly parformance may also be impacted by volatile foreign currency exchange rates. As a consequence, the results of certain of our
segments can be impacted by seasonality to a greater extant than our consolidated revenues and operating profit.

Acquisitions and Dispositions
Acquisitions, We are focused on driving organic growth. Howaver, we make tactical acquisitions from time to time that we believe will strengthen
our positions in key growth segments. In 2016 and 2015, we spent $112 miflion and $37 million on acguésitions, respectively.

When integrating acguired businesses, we focus on eliminating cost redundancies and combining the acquired products and servicas with our
existing offerings and capabilities to achieve revenue growth. Generally, the husinesses that we acquire inftially have lower margins than our
existing businesses, largely reflecting the costs of integration.

Dispositions. We optimize our pertfolio of businesses by investing in the paris of our business that offer the greatest opporiunities to achieve
higher growth and returns. As a result, we ssil businesses from time to time that are not fundamental to our strategy. In 2016, we sold our
Intellectusl Property & Science business for gross proceeds of $3.85 billlon.
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Use of Non-IFRS Financial Measures

In addition to our resuits reported in accordance with IFRS, we use certain non-IFRS financial measures as supplemental indicators of our
operating performance and financial position, as well as for intemal planning purposes and ouz business Qutlook. We report non-IFRS financial
measures as we believe their use provides more insight inte and understanding of our performance. These nondFRS financial measures inciude:

+ Underlying operating profit and the related margim,
Adjusted EBITDA and the related margin;
© Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures and ths related margin;
Adjusted eamnings and adjusted EPS3;
* Net dabt;
Free cash How; and
Reium on invested capital, or ROIC,

Changes before the impact of foreign currency or at "econstant curency” In order to provide better comparability of our business trends from pericd
{o period, we also report changss in our revenues, underying operating profit, operating expenses, adjusted EBITDA, marging and adjusted EPS,
excluding the seffects of forelgn currency movements.

Changes excluding the 2016 fourth-guaiter charges: We also report underlying operating profit, adjusted EBITDA, the related margins, and adjusted
EPS excluding the 2018 fourth-quarter charges, in arder to provide transparency about our performance relative to our original 2018 Outlook, which
also excluded the charges. This approach aligns with the updated business Qutlook that we provided in November 2016, We believe this
supplemental information provides enhanced visibility into our performance,

As previously disclosed in our second quarter 2016 repert, we redefined adjusted earnings and adjusted EPS in relation to certain tax
computations to better align these definitions with curmant market practices and to reflect guidance issued in May 20186 by the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission. These changas were effective for our third quarter reporting and reflected the following:

- Tax effect of amortization of other identifiable intangible assets — we now remove the post-tax impact of amortization of other identifiable
intangible assets. We previously removed the amortization of other identifiable intangible assets on a pre-tax basis.

+ Tax charge amoriization — we nc longer amortize the tax charge generated from our 2013 sale of fechnology and content assets to a related
subsidiary over saven yvears.

To facilitate a comparison 1o our redefined adjusted sarmings and adjusted EPS measures, we restated the prior-year computaticns for both of
these measures in this management's discussion and analysis. Under the redefined measures, our 2015 adjusted eamings and adjusted EPS are
$18 million and $0.02 lower, respectively, for the fourth quarter and $77 million and $0.10 lower, respectively, for the ful year. These changes had
no impact on revenues, adjusted EBITDA, underlying operating profit or free cash flow.

See Appendix A of this management's discussion and analysis for a description of our nor-iFRS financial measures, including an explanation of
why we believe they are useful measures of our performance, including our ability to generate cash flow. Refer to the sections of this
management's discussion and analysis entitled "Results of Operations-Continuing Operations”, “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Appendices
B and C for reconciliations of these nonFRS financiai measures o the most directly comparable IFRS financiali measures, We are unable to
provide reconciliations for non-IFRS measures presented in our 2017 outlock. Refer to the "Outlook™ section of this management's discussion and
analysis for further explanation.
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Results of Operations — Continuing Operations

Basis of Presentation

in this management's discussion and analysis, we discuss our results from continuing operations on both an IFRS and non-IFRS basis. Both
bases exclude the results of our Intellectual Property & Science business, which was reported as a discontinued operation through the closing
date of the sale, and include the results of acquired businesses from the date of purchase. We discuss the results of our Intellectual Property &
Science business within the "Results of Discontinued Operations” section of this management's discussion and analysis.

Consolidatad Results

Revenues $1,168 14,257 1%

Operating profit 1,380 1,526 (9%

Diluted EPS from continuing operations $1,34 $1.37 (2%}
Non-iFRS Financial Measures

Revenues 11,168 11,257 (1%} 1%

Adjusted EBFFDA 2,954 3,089 {49%) {6%) 2% 2%
Adjusted EBEYDA margin 25.5% 27.4% {90)bp {180Ybp 100bp 2060
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures 2,049 2,138 {4%)

Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures margin 18.4% 19.0% (60}bp

Undsrlying operating profit 1,530 2,055 {B%} (9%) 4% 2%
Underlying operating profit margin 17.3% 18.3% (10Cbp (180)bp B0bp 20bp
Adusted EPS $1.78 $1.78 % (4%} 16% 12%

Foreign currency effects

With respect to the significant foreign cumencies that we transact in, the U3, dollar strengthened against the British pound steding and the
Canadian dollar, weakened against the Japanase yen, and was essentlally unchanged against the Euro in 2016 compared to 2015, Given our
currency mix of revenues and expenses around the world, these fluctuations had a negative impact on our consaclidated revenues, but had
positive impact ot our adjusted EBITDA and underlying cperating profit and the related margins.

Revenues

Revenues decreased due to the impact of foreign cumency. On a constant cuirency basis, revenues increased driven by growth in subscription
revenues. The combined revenue growth from our Legal and Tax 8 Accounting segments was 2%, while revenues for the Financial & Risk
segment were essentially unchanged despite the expected decline in recoveries revenues. Excluding the decline in recoveries revenues,
consdlidated revenues grew 2% in constant currency over the prior year.

Revenues from GGO, which comprised approximately 9% of our revenues, increased 2% on a constant currency basis. Excluding the decline in
Financial & Risk's recoveries revenues and s ongoing commercial pricing adjustments, GGO revenues increased 6% on a constant curency
hasis,
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Operating profit, underlying operating profit, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures

“Yearended Deceinber 3%,

Dpe 1,380 ,
Adjustments to remove:
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets 528 548
Fair value adjustments 20 8)
Other operating gains, net 18} (13}
Undertying operating profit 1,930 2,085 (6%) (9%) 4% 2%
Remove: depraciation and amertization of computer software 1,024 1,034
Adjusted EBITDA1) 2,954 3,089 (4%} {6%) 2% 2%
Deduct: capital expendilures, less proceads from dispesals 205 951
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures(i) 2,040 2,138 {4%)
Underlying opertating profit margin 17.2% 18.3% 1100)bp (180bp Q0bo 20bp
Adjustad EBITDA margin 28.5%  27.4% {90)hp {190hp 100bp 20bp
Adjusted EBITDA Iess capital expenditures margin 18.4% 19.0% (60)bp

{1} See Appendix B for a reconciliaion of eamings from continuing operatichs to adjusied EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures.
tn 20116, operating profit decreased due to 2016 severance charges of 3212 milllen, partly offset by the favorable impact of forelgn currsncy.

Similarly, adjusted EBITDA, underlying operating profit, adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures and the related margins decreased due fo the
2016 severance charges.

The severance charges were incumed in the fourth quarter and will begin to generate ongoing benefits in 2017, Because the charges distort the
underlying performance of our business relative to the criginal cutiook that we provided at the beginning of 2016, we provide supplemental
information about our results excluding the charges. Excluding the charges, adjusted EBITDA, underying operating profit, adjusted EBITDA less
capital expenditures and the related marging all increased in total and on a constant currency basis, The increases on a constant currency basis
were driven by higher revenues, which more than offset higher operating expenses, excluding the charges.

Operating expenses

Operafing expensas N 8,232 8,162 Yo
Roemuve falr value adjustments(l) {20) B
Qperating expenses, axciuding fair value adjustments 8,212 8,168 1% 3%

{1} Fair value adjustinents primaiily repregent mark-to-market impacts on embadded deiivatives within certain customer contracts due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, as
well as mark-{o-market impasts an cartaln share-bassd awatds, dua o changes In our share price.
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Operating expenses increased due to $212 million of severance charges in 20186, partly offset by favorable foreign cumency. On a constant
currency basis, operating expenses, excluding fair value adjustments, increased due to the 2018 charges as well as investments in our growth
businesses and inftiatives to lransform cur company into a more integrated enterprise. These increases were partly offset by cost savings from
earfier efficiency initiatives and lower costs related to the decline in recoveries revenues in the Financial & Risk segment.

Depreciation and amorlization

Dopreciation

313 340 (8%}
Amortization of computer software 711 594 2%
Subtotal 1,024 1,034 (1%)
Amuortizatlon of other Identifiable intangible assofs 528 548 (4%)

¢+ Depreciation and amortization of computer software on a combinad basis decreased due to the favorable impact of foreign curency and the
completion of depreciation and amortization of assets acquired or developed in previous years. These decreases were partly offsst by expenses
associated with capital spending on product developmant, network and infrastructure initiatives as well as accelerated amortization of certain
software within in our Tax & Accounting segment.

Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets decreased due to the impact of foreign currency and the completion of amortization for
certain identifiable intangible assets acquired in previous years. These decreases were partly offset by accelerated amortization associated with
an intangible asset within our Tax & Accourting segment,

Other operating gains, net

Year ended December 31,

In 2016, other operating gains, net, includad gains on the sale of two Canadian wholly owned subsidiaries to a company affiliated with our principal
shareholder, Woodbridge, These gains were partly offset by costs associated with acquisitions.

kn 20115, other operating gains, net, included a gain on the sale of the Fiduciary Services and Competltive Intelligence unit of Financial & Risk's
Lipper businass and & gain on the sale of a Canadian whelly owned subsidiary to a company affifiated with Woodbridge. These gains were also
partly offset by costs assoeciated with acquisitions,

Additional information about the Woodbridge transactions is provided in the "Related Party Transactions” section of this management’s discussion
and analysis.

Net interest expense

pet interest expense 403 416 (3)

The decrease in net interest expense was primarily due to lower interest on our term debt obligations, an interaest benefit associated with the
release of cortain sales tax liabilities and interest income from investing a portion of the proceeds from the sale of Intellectual Property & Science.
These decreases were pastly offset by higher interest on commercial paper borrowings. in 2016 and 2015, interest expense was impacted by debt
financing activilies discussed within the "Liquidity and Capilal Resources ~ Cash Flow” section of this management’s discussion and analysis. As
substantially all of our fong-term debt obligations paid interest at fixed rates (after swaps}, the nel interest expense on the badance of our term debt
was essenfialiy unchanged.
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Other finance income

50 41

Qther finance income Included gains or fosses related to changes in forgign exchange contracts and changes in foreign currency exchange rates
an cartain intercompany funding arrangemasnts,

Tax (benefit) expense

Year encled December 31,

In 2018, our effective income tax rate on gamings from continuing operations was a (1.4%) benefit compared to 2.9% expense in 2015. The
comparability of our tax (benafit) expense was impacted by various fransactions and accounting adjustments during sach year, Additionaily, the
tax (benefift) expense in each year reflected the mix of taxing jurisdictions in which pre-tax profits and losses were recognized.

The foliowing table sets forth certain components within income tax (benefit) expense that impact comparability from year to year, as well as tax
(benefit} expense associated with items that are removed from adjusted earnings:

Corporate {ax rates{1} (5} @
Discrete changes to uncertain tax posilions(} 32 -
Other {ax adjustments{3) 7 10
Sublotal 34 14
Tax refated {o: '

Fair value adjustments (19) -
Amortization of ofher dentiflable Intanglble assets {156) (160)
Qther tems (%) {8}
Subiotat {184 (168)
Totad {150} 149)

{1} Relates to the net changes in deferrad tax liabilities dus to changes in U.8. state apportionment factors and changes in corporate tax rates that were substantively
enacted in cortan jurisdictions,

{2) Relates to the write-down of deferred tax assets to reflect the expecter] cutcome of certain tax disputes.

{3) Relates primarily to changes In tha recognition of deferred tax assets in various iurisdictions due (o earlier acaquisitions, assumplions regarding fulure profitabllity, and
adjustments for ndefinite-ived assets and liabilides thal are not expectad lo reverse.

Because the items described above impact the comparability of our tax {benefit) expense for each year, we remove them from our caleulation of
adjusted eamnings, along with the pre-tax items to which they relate.
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The computation of our adjusted 1ax expense is set forth below:

il

Tax {benefit) axponse - ' Y ' 34
Remove: ltems from above Impacting comparability 150 149
Total tax expense oh adjusted earnings 135 183

Qur 2016 effective tax rate on adjusted earnings was 8.8% (2015 - 11,2%)}. On an IFRS basis and on an adjusted eamings basis, our effective
income tax rates in both years were lower than the Canadian corporate income tax rate of 26.6% (2015 - 26.5%), primarily due to lower tax rates
and diffeting tax rules appiicable to certain of our operating and financing subsidiaries outside of Canada. As a global company, our income taxes
depend on the laws of numerous countries where we operate and the provisions of muitiple income tax conventlons between varicus countries in
which we operate.

Because of the requirements of income tax accounting under 1AS 12, Income Taxes, income fax expense can differ significanily from taxes paid
in any reporting perlod. We paid income taxes from net eamings on our worldwide business as follows:

oG oS RE ; 5 = =
Taxes pakl related to continuing operations 4B 487
Taxes paki related to the oparations of discontinued operations 59 18
Taxes paid on sales of husinesses (includss discontinuad operations) 240 1
Total taxes paid 347 206

In 20186, the tax that we paid on our operations reflected a tax benefit of about $200 million related to a $500 million pension contribution made in
the first quarier of 2017, which reduced the taxes we paid, but did not impact income tax expense.

Our effective tax rate and our cash tax cost in the future will depend on the laws of numerous countries and the provisions of muitiple Income tax
conventions between varipus countries in which we operate. Our ability to maintain our effective tax rate will be dependent upon tax laws and
conventions remaining unchanged or favorable {o our company, as well as the geographic mix of our profits. See the *Contingencies” saction of
this management's discussion and analysis for further discussion of income tax labilities,

Earnings and diluted earnings per share (EPS) from continuing operations

Year ended December 31

Eamnings m tmuigopetions 1,05 117 (6)
Diluted EPS from continuing operations §1.34 $1.37 {2%)
Eamings from continuing operations and the related per share amount decreased primariily due to lower operating profit, partly offset by lower
income taxes. Diluted EPS from continuing cperations also benefited from lower common shares outstanding.
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Adjusted earnings and adjusted EPS

Adjustments to remove:

Fair value adjustments 20 (8)

Amortization of other identifiable intanghle zsssts 528 548

Other operaling gains, net (8) (13)

Qther finance income {50) (41)

Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments (%) {10}

Tax on above ltemns(1) {184) {168)

Tax tems impacting comparabiiity(1) 34 1%

Farnings from discontinued operations, net of tax (2,093} {184)

CHvidends declared on proferonge shares {2} {2)
Adjusted earnings 1,339 1,398 (4%
Adjusted EPS $1.79 $1.78 1% (4%
Bliuted weighted-average commaon shares (milllons) T49.0 7841

(1) Sae the "Tax (henefit) expense” section above for additional information.

Adjusted earnings decreased primarily due to lower underlying operating profit, partly offset by lower income tax expense. Adjusted EPS Increased
as lower adjusted sarmings was offset by the benefit from lower outstanding common shares due to share repurchases (see the "Liquidity and
Capital Resources - Share Repurchases” section of this management's discussion and analysis for additional information). Both adjusted eamings
and adjusted EPS included a positive impact from foreign currency, which amounted to $0.09 on a per share basis.

The severance charges of $212 million that were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2016 negatively impacted adjusted eamings per share by $0.28,
Excluding the charges, adjusted eamings increased 11% and adjusted earnings per share increased 16%.

Segment Results

We discuss the results of our thres reporlable segmants as presented in our 2016 annual consolidated financial statements: Financial & Risk,
Legal and Tax & Accounting. The operating results of Intellectual Property & Science, which was previously a reportable segment, were reported
as a discontinued operation through the closing date of the sale. In connection with the sale of intellectual Propesty & Science, we relained the
Wastlaw P business, which is now part of the Legal segrent, Prior-ysar amounts have been restated to conform fo the current year's
presentation.

Wa also report "Corporate & Other”, which includes expenses for cotporate functions and the resuits of the Reuters News business. Neither
Corporate & Other nor the Reulers News tusiness qualify as a component of another reportable segment nor as a separate repotlable segment.

See note 4 of our 2016 annual consolidated financial statements for a reconciliaion of our reportable segments to consolidated results as reported
in our consotidated income statement.

We assess the performance of our reportable segments as foliows:

Revenues

We present segment revenue growth at both actual foreign exchange rates and in constant currency. We assess revenus performance for each
reportable segment, as well as the businesses within each segment, before the impact of currency (or at "constant currency”).
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Segment operating profit and segment operating profit margin

Segment operating profit represents operating profit before (i) amortization of other identifiable intangible assets; (i) other operating gains and
losses; (i) cettain asset impairment charges; {iv) corporate~rslated items; and {v) fair value adjustments.

Wa do not consider these exciudad items {c be controllable operating activities for purposes of assessing the current performance of our
reportable segraants.

*  Each segment includes an allocation of costs for centralized support services such as technology, editorial, real estate and certain global
transaction processing functions that are based on usage or other applicable measures.

+ We also use segment operating profit margin, which we define as segment operating profit as a percentage of segment revenuas,

EBITDA and EBITDA margin

+ As a supplemental measure of segment operating performance, we add back depreciation and amortization of computer software to segment
operating profit to arive at each segment's EBITDA and the related margin as a percentage of revenues. See Appendix B of this management’s
discussion and analysis for additicnal information.

Our definitions of segment opsrating profit, segment operating profit margin, EBITDA and EBITDA maigin may not be comparable to that of other
companies.

Financial & Risk

Revenues 6,057 6,148 (1%}
Revenue change at constant currency -
EBITDA 1,629 1,701 (4%)
ERITDA margin 26.9% 27.7% {80)bp
Segment operating profit 1,044 1,104 (5%)
Hegment operating profit margin 17.2% 18.0% {80)bn

Revenues were essentially unchanged on a constant curency basls, as the benefits from an annual price increase and the cumulative effect of
positive net sales over the last 12 months were offsat by a decline in recoveries revenues and commergial pricing adiustments related to the
migration of remaining foreign exchange and buy-side customers onto naw products on Financial & Risk's unified platform. However, both the rate
of decline in recoveries ravenues and the impact of the commergial pricing adjusiments on Financial & Risk’s reverwe growth rate diminished in
the second half of 2018, Excluding the impact of the decline in recoveries revenues and the impact of the commercial pricing adiusimenis,
Financial & Risk's revenues increased 2% in 2016.

By geographic area, Financial & RisK's revenues increased 2% (3% excluding recoveries) in the Americas and 1% (3% excluding recoveries) In
Asia Pacific and decreased 2% (1% decrease excluding recoveries) in Europe, Middle East and Afiica (EMEA).

MNet sales were positive for the third consecutive year. By geographic area, net sales were positive in the Amerdcas and Asia Pacific, but negative
in EMEA reflecting cancellations from large European banks. Net sales were negative in the fourth quarter, as many banks make their budgsting
decisions at the end of the year.

Financial & Risk’s business has been positively impacted by the following favorable trends:

+  Higher growth Elektron Data Platform and Risk products ars begoming a greater proportion of Financiat & Risk’s revenues, increasing from 31%
in 2012 to 38% in 2818, Conversely, desktop revenues have decreased from 46% of Financial & Risk's revenues in 2012 to 39% in 20186,

- 8econd, Financial & Risk’s revenues from buy-side customers have increased from 37% in 2012 to 44% in 2016, as revenues from sell-side
customers have decreased over the same period from 63% to 56%.
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Resulis by type in constant currency were as follows: 2O Bavenues by Tyne

* Subscription revenues increased 1% reflscting the benefit of the 2016 annual price
increase and the cumulative effact of positive netf sales over the last 12 months, partly
offset by the commaercial pricing adjustments on remaining legacy foreign exchange
products. While desktop revenues declined 3%, Elektron Data Platform and Risk grew 6%
collectively, as growing demand for these products by banks and financial firms reflact the
need for our customers {o raduce risk and lower costs;

* Transactions revenues increased 2% as growth in Tradeweb, BETA brokerage processing
and transactional revenuss from the Risk business was partly offset by the impact of lower
foraign exchange trading revenues; and

* Recoveries revenues, which Financial & Risk collects from customers and largely passes
through to & third-party provider, such as stock exchange fees, decreased 13%. The

decling in these low-margin revenues reflected a smali number of third-party information AR S
providers incraasingly moving to dirsct billing arrangements with their customers. # Eransaciions
Recoveries have almost no Impact on EBITDA or segment operating profit. A Recuries

EBITDA, segment operating profit and the related marging decreased due to severance charges of $187 million to further simplify and streamline
the business. The charges negatively impacted EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 280bp each.

Execluding the charges, EBITDA and segment operating profit increased 8% and 10%, respectively, and the related margins increased 200bp each,
These increases were primarily dus to the impact of higher subscription and transaction revenuss (on a constant currency basis) and cost savings
from earlier efficiency initiatives, including platform consolidations complsted in 2015, partiy offset by increased investments in technology to drive
further efficiency. On this basis, foreign currency benefited EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 90bp and 80bp, respectively.

2017 Outlook and Trends

In the years since the financial crisis, increasing regulations, the low interest rate etwironment and slow economic recovery have created
challenges for our largest Financial & Risk customers, including significant declines in their profit, especially in Europe and among major banks.
While the prospect of less regulation and higher interest rates could benefit banks and financial services compandas in the future, our Financlal &
Risk custoimers remain under pressure to reduce costs and drive efficiencies. As a resull, they are accelerating the adoption of technology to
reduce headcount and increase automation. Regulalions and new technologies are driving profound and structural change in Financial & Risk’s
market segments. Financial & Risk balieves this environment creates opportunities for its Elekiron Pata Platform and Risk products, which
address the increasing demand by banks and buy-side firms lo reduce risk while lowering costs. At the same time, the current economic
environment produces uncertainly, reflecting factors sush as the ULK.'s plan to leave the European Union. Economic uncerainty can also impact
market volumes of trading activity, on which a portion of Financial & Risk's business depends. The current envirenment hias also resufted In an
evalving competitive landscape, including pricing pressures from traditional competitors, while new competitors emerge and offer new solutions.

Financial & Risk believes that it remains well positioned {o support its customers through its scalable global platform with operatlons it all major
financial centers, In 2017, Financial & Risk expects to continue to invest in growth opportunities and to improve its go-to-market performance by
focusing on custormers and implementing new account management tools. Financial & Risk also expects that its business mix will continue to
avolve with higher growth Elekiron Data Platform and Risk products becoming a greater proportion of ravenue, and desklops comprising a smaller
proporiion. We do not expect recoveries revenues to have a major impact on Finencial & Risk's revenue growth in 2017, Additionally, Financial &

Risk expects to largely complete the remaining commercial price adjustments on its legacy foreign exchange products by the end of the first half
of 2017.
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Legal

Revenues 3,367 3,407 (1%])
Revenue change at constant currency 1%
EBITDA 1,332 1,268 (3%)
EBITDA margin 36.6% 37.2% {80k
Sagment operating profit 984 1,013 (3%)
Segrent operating profit margin 29.2% 29.7% {50)bn

Revenues increased on a constant currency basis as 3% growth in subscription revenues (74% of the Legal segment) more than offset a 6%
decline in ransaction revenuss (12% of the Legal segment) and a 7% decline in U.S. Print revenues (14% of the Legal segment). Excluding U.8,
Print, Legal's revenues increased 2%.

Legal's transaction revenues are less predictable, as they tend to be linked to variable activity in the market. However, our Legal segment
continues to experience growth in the more stable subscription portion of its Solutions business, reflecting growth opportunities in the legal
services market segment. The subscription portion of Legal's Soiutions business has grown from 31% of total Legal revenues in 2013 to 35% in
20186.

Resutts by line of business in constant currency were as follows: ZHE Revenues by Line of Business

+ Solutions businesses revenues incluce non-U.5. legal information and global software and
services businesses. Solutions business revenues increased 2%, as 5% growth in
subscription revenues led by U.K. Practical Law, Invastigative & Public Records and Legal
Tracker, was partly offsat by a 6% decline in transaction revenues reflecting declines in
Legat Managed Services and Findl.aw revenues;

U.S. Online Legal Information revenues increassad 2% due te growth in U.S. Practical
Law and the impact of improved net sales and higher refantion rates at Westlaw. This was
the second year of positive growth for this business; and

- U8, Print revenues decreased 7%.

w Bohutivrs businssses
2115 Dnding Lonad doarmating
& 1LL5 Feint

EBITDA, segment operating profit and the refated margins decreased primarily due to severance charges of $26 miflion to further simplify and
streamline the business, The charges negatively impacted EBITDA and sagment operating profit margins by 80bp each.

Exciuding the charges, EBITDA decreased 1% dus to the unfavorable impact of foreign cumrency, while segment operating profit was essentiaily
unchanged. The related marging increasad 20bp and 30bp, respectively. On this basis, foreign currency benefited EBITDA and segment operating
orofit marging by 40bp and 30bp, respectively.
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2017 Outlock and Trends

Linderlying trends in the legal services market segment are acceleraling tha pace of change and the intensity of competition. Among our Legal
customers, power continues to shift from law firms to corporate general counsels, driving a neead for greater efficiency. Global regulation and costs
of compliance have increased slgnificanily over the past few years, At the same time, significant deregulation of the legal servicas industry,
particularly cutside the United States, is creating new types of legal services providers and legal practitionars. New technology is alse transforming
the practice of law by simplifying routine legal work. While we believe that our onlire legal information offerings remain essential to our customers,
changes in the legal services market ssgment have generated growth opportunities for our solutions businesses that provide tools for compliance,
regulatory and risk-related issues. In recent years, a more moderate demand for legal services has impacted our law firm customers. However, in
the current geo-palitical environment, the prospect of changing legislation across a spectrum of issues may increase demand for legal services,
potentially feading to more demand for our products and services, As Legal's marketplace evolves, it is experiencing price competition among
traditional competitors and more start-up competitors are emerging, particularly around data analytics,

Lagal befieves it is weli positioned (o act on these trends through its integrated research offerings and practice management tools that are
supported by advanced technology. In 2017, Legal plans to invest more in analytics and artificial intelligence in its core Westlaw product;
implement initiatives to simplify sales interactions for customers; focus on eppertunities around the shifling neads of corporate counsels; and
continue to provide more business solutions to law firms. Legal expects that Solutions subscriptions will continue to drive revenus growth and that
s LS. print revenues will continue to decline. However, the impact of the decline of print on the Legal segment’s results is expected te diminish
aver time as LS. Print increasingly rapresents a smaller portion of the Legal business.

Tax & Accounting

“Year ended Decembar

Revenues 1,452 1,417 2%
Revenue change at constant currency 4%
EBITDA 414 456 (9%}
EBITDA margin *B.5% 32.2% (370)bp
Segment operating profit 283 343 (17%)
Segment operating profit margin 19.5% 24.2% (470bp

Revenues increased on & constant currency basis driven by 8% growth in recurring revenues (87% of the Tax & Accounting segment), partly
offset by a 14% decline in transaction revenues, primarily within the Corporate and Government businesses. The Government business, Tax &
Accounting's smaellest unii, reported fower revenues due to the continued impact of delays associated with two significant projects. Excluding the
Government business, ravenues increased £%.

Results by line of business in constant currency were as follows:

* Corporate includes revenues from a suite of global and local tax compliance, workflow and
data management software and services. Corporate revenues increased 7% as rscurring
revenue growth of 12% was partly offset by a decline in transaction revenues primarily due
to lower perpetuat license revenues;

ZOAS Revenaes by Link of Basiness

2%
iy

* Professional includes revenues from tax, accounting, audit, payroll, document
managemaeant, client porials and practice management applications and services.
Professional revenues increased 8%, driven by 11% growth in recurting revenues,;

Knowiedge Solutions includes revenuas from information, research, workflow tools and
certified professional education. Knowledge Solutions revenuas increased 2% primarlly due
to growth in the U.S. Checkpoint business; and

+ Government includes revenues from integrated properly tax management and land registry

solutions. Govemment revenues, which represent only 2% of Tax & Accounting's revenue
hase, decreasad 36%, due to delays associated with certain significant contracts.
Revenues for the Government business are kess predictable in nature, and growth raies
can vary significantly from period to period.
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EBITDA and segment operating profit included severance charges of $18 million to further simplify and streamline the business. The charges
negatively impacted EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 130bp and 120bp, respectively.

Excluding the charges, EBITDA and sagment operating profit decreased 5% and 12%, respectively, and the related margins decreased 240bp and
350bp, respectively. The decreases reflected charges in Tax & Accounting's Government business largely caused by delays associated with
certain long-term contracts and higher allocations of technology expenses, The declines in segment operating profit and the refated margin alse
reflected higher depreciation and amortization, partially attributable o the accelerated amortization of certain assets in the Government business,
In 2018, Tax & Accounting racorded $62 million of charges to segment operating profit for the Govemment business. Foreign exchange benefited
EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 80bp and 80bp, respectively.

In 2017, we expect that higher allocations of central costs, primarily technology related, will mitigate improvements fo Tax & Accounting's
margins.

2017 Quilogk and Trends

Taxes continue to be complex for corporations, professional firms and governments, Tax codes are changing rapidly around the world, creating
compliance challenges for taxpayers and tax collectors alike. Global supply chains intreduce complexity to tax and trade compliance as well as
refated planning for & growing shars of cormpanies, Governments are using tax and trade pelicies to atiract investments and spur domestic growth,
while at the same time introducing more rigorous compliance and collection mechanisms. This complaxity drives the need to automate tax and
accounting and trade compliance workflows and to access high-value-added tax research and education solutions. We believe the complianca
challenges for taxpayers and tax collectors will sustain a steady demand for technology solutions to cotporate tax departments, accounting firms,
and government agencies. Competition, although highly fragmented, has increased because opportunities in the tax, accounting and compliance
market are altractive. Non-tradifional competitors, such as companies which offer Enterprise Resource Planning solufions, are also entering the
market and price pressire is increasing.

Tax & Accounting believes it is well positioned for growth as its combination of its broad content and software-based workflow sclutions pravide
competitive advantage. In 2017, Tax & Accounting plans to continue investing in workflow solutions arsing from opportunities in spacific
industries, customer segments and geographic markets. Tax & Accounting also plans to improve its ge-te-market capabilities making it easier for
customers to interact with us and will continue to integrate its platform with widely-used enterprise resource planning systems.

Corporate & Cther

304 205
Routers News {8} {18)
Core corporate expenses {373) (387)
Total ) (381) (405)

Revenues from our Reuters Mews business increased primarily due to growth in Reuters Solutions, which includes content marketing and
broadcast solutions, partly offset by lower news agency revenuss and unfavorable forsign curency. Foreign currency had a 1% unfavorable inpact
On revenues.

Reufers News results reflected the favorable impact from higher revenuss, The decrease In core corporate expenses was primarly due to the
elimination of cerlain overhead costs in connection with the sale of Inteliectual Properly & Science and the allocation of additional costs, primarily
techrology, to the segments.
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Discontinued oparations

In Qctober 2018, we sold our Intallectual Property & Science business in order to foous more on opportunities &t the intersection of global
commerce and regulation. Intellectual Property & Science was reporied as a discontinued operation through the closing date of the sale, and prior-
year results have been restated to confarm to the current year's prasentation. Inteflectual Property & Science reported the following results:

Earnings from discontinued opetations, net of tax T 2,003 184

The increase in eamings from discontinued operations, net of fax, was due to the $2.0 billien gain on the sale of the business.

Review of Fourth-Quarter Results

Consolidated Results

IFRS Finanecial Messures
Reveriles 2,560 2,887 (19%)
Operating profit 284 433 (32%)

_ Dilated EPS from continuing operations $0.35 $0.45 (22%)

Nen<dFR3 Financial Measures
Revanues 2,860 2,887 (1%} 1%
Adjusted EBITDA 638 802 (21%) {24%) 6% 5%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 22.2% 27.8% (560)bp (680)bp 180bp 100bp
Adiusted EBITDA less capital expaenditures 388 554 {30%)
Adiusted EBITDA less capital expanditures margin 13.6% 19.2% {560)bp '
Underlying operating profi 368 560 {34%} (39%} 4% 2%
Underlying operating profié margin 12.9% 19.4% {650}bp {760)bp 20bp 206p
Adjusted EPS $0.31 50,55 {44%) {49%} 5% 7%

Foreign currency effects

With respect to the significant foreign currencies that we transact in, the U.S. dollar strengthened against the Euro and the British pound stetling,
weakenad againsi the Japanese yen, and was essantially unchanged against the Canadian dollar in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared to the
same period in 2015, Given our curtency mix of revenues and expenses around the world, these fluctuations had a negative impact on our
consolidated revenues, but had a positive impact on our adjusted EBITDA and underlying operating profit and the related margins.
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Revenues

Revenues decreased due to the impact of forelgn currency. Revenues increased on a constant currency basis driven by growth in subscription
revenues. The combined growth from our Lagal and Tax & Accounting segments was 1%. Financial & Risk revenues also grew 1% despite a

continued, but more modest, decline in recoveries revenues. Accordingly, consolidated revenue growth on a constant currency basis, axcluding
the decline in recoveries revenuss, remained at 1%,

Revenues from GGO were essentially unchanged on a constant currency basis. Excluding the decline in Financial & Risk's recoveries revenues
and its ongoing commarcial pricing adjustments, GGO revenues increased 3% on a constant currency basis.

Operating profit, underlying operating profit, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures

Operating profit 294 433 (32%)
Adjustments to remove:
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets 1490 133
Fair value adjustments {57} (G}
Other operating gains, net 3 (9 -
Underlylng operating profit 368 560 (34%) (39%) 4% 2%
Remove: depreciation and amortization of compuler software 267 242
Adiusted EBITDAQ) 635 802 (21%) (24%) 6% 5%
Deduct: capital expandituras, less procesds from disposals 247 248
Adiusted EBITDIA loss caplital expenditures() 388 554 {30%)
Underying operating profit margin 12.9% 194% (650%bp {760)bp Qb 20bp
Adjusted EBITDA margin 22.2% 27.8% (560)bp {680)bp 180bp 1006p
Adjusted EBITDA less capilal expenditures margin 13.6%  19.2% (560bp

(1} See Appendix B for a reconciliation of eamings frem continuing operations to adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA less capital expendiluras.

Qperating profit decreased due to the 2016 severance charges of $212 riflion.

Similady, adjusted EBITDA, underlying opsrating profit, adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures and the related marging decreased due to the
2016 severance charges,

The severance charges were incuired in the fourth guarter and will begin to generate ongoing benefits in 2017, Because the charges distort the
underlying performance of our business, we provide supplemental information about our results excluding the charges. Excluding the charges,
adjusted EBITDA, underlying oparating profit and the related margins all increased in total and on a constant currency basis. The increases on a
constant currency basis were driven by higher revenues, as operating expenses excluding the charges were essentially unchanged.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses 2,168 2079 4-% 12%
Remove fair value adjustmenis(1)} . 57 B
Opaerating expenses, excluding fair value adiustments 2,225 2,085 % 10%

(1) Fair value adjustrnents primadily represent mark-to-market mpacts on embedded derivalives within cedain customer contracts due to fluctuations In foreign exchange rates as well as
marlkto-market impacts on certain share-based awards, due o changes in our share price.
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Operating expenses increased due to the $212 million severance charges recorded in 2018, partly offset by favorable foreign currency. Similary,
on a constant currency basis, operating expenses, excluding fair value adjustments increased due to the 2016 charges.

Depreciation and amortization

74

Amortization of computer software 193 166 1
Subtotal 287 242 10%
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets 140 133 5%

* Depreciation and amortization of computer software on a combined basis increased due to expenses associated with capital spending on
product developrent, networl and infrastructure initiatives and accelerated amortization of cerlain software within our Tax & Accounting
segment. These increases were pattly offset by the completion of depreciatien and amorlization of assets acquired in previous years.

+ Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets increased due to accelerated amortization of an intangible asset within our Tax & Accounting
segment, partly offset by the completion of amortization for certain identifiable intangible assets acquired in previous years.

MNet interest expenss

Ni interest expense

The decrease in net interest expense was primarily due to higher inferest income and lower commercial paper borrowings, both of which resuited
from the use of proceeds from the sale of the Intellectual Property & Sclence business. These decreases wero partly offset by slightly higher
interest on term debt due to debt financing activities discussed further within the "Liquidity and Capital Resources -~ Cash Flow” section of this
management's discussion and analysis. As substantially af of our long-term debt obligations paid Interest at fixed rates (after swaps), the net
interest expense on the balance of our term debt was essentially unchanged,

QOther finance income

f T sdgiany = S : i e e
Other finance incoma 78 17

Other finance income inciuded gains or losses related to changes in foreign exchange contracts and changes in foreign currency exchange rales
on certain infercompany funding arangements.
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Tax expense (benefit)

Tax expense | en it)

The comparability of our tax expense (benefit) was impacted by various transactions and accounting adjustments during each period. Additionaliy,
the tax expense (benelit) in each period reflected the mix of {axing jurisdictions in which pre-tax profits and losses were recognized. Because the
geographical mix of pre-tax profits and losses in interim periods may be different from that for the full year, tax expense or benefit in interim
periods is not necessarily indicative of tax expense for the full year. Tax expense (benefit) for the fourth quarter of 2016 and 2018 included the
following:

ax items impacting comparability:

Corporate tax rates(1) (10} 2
Discrete changes to uncortain tax positions(2) 32 B
Other tax adjustmeants(3) (1) 1
Subtetal 21 3
Tax related to:
Falr value adjustments 14 {3)
Amertization of other identifiable intangible assets (58} {39)
Other tems {2) 3
Subtotal {46) {45)
Total {25) {42)

(1} Relates to the net changes in deferred tax Babllilies due 1o changes in U.S. slate apporticnment factors and changes in corporate tax rates that were substantively snacted in
cerialn purisdictions,

(2} Retates 10 the write-down of deferrad lax assels to reflect the expected oulcome of cerlain tax disputes.

(3} Relates primarily to changes in the recognition of deferred tax assets In various jurisdictions due to earlier acquisitions, assumptions regarling future proftabilty, and
adjustments for indefinite-ived assels and labililies thal are not expecled to ravarse,

Because the kems describad above impact the comparability of our tax expense (beneflt) for each year, we remove them from our calculation of
adjusted earnings, along with the pre-{ax ltems 1o which they relate.

The computation of our adjusted tax expense is set forth below:

Tax expense (heneflt)

i {8)

Remaove: kems from above impacting comparability 25 42
Other adjustment:

Inkerim period affective tax rate normalization - (8

Total tax expense on adiusted samings 2% 28

Earnings and diluted EPS from centinuing operations

Eamings frem continuing operations T 274 358 (23%)
Diluted EPS from continuing operations L 0.35 5 045 (22%)

Earnings from continuing operations and the related per share amount decreased primarily due to lower operating profit. Diluted EPS from
continuing operations also benefited from lower comrnon share outstanding.
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Adjusted earnings and adjusted eamings per share

E ngs attributable to common shareholders 2,226 408 446%
Adjustments to remove:

Fair valkie adustments {57) (6}
Amprtization of other identifiable intangible assets 140 133
Other operating gains, net (9) -
Other financs income {r8) (17
Share of post-lax earnings in equity method hvestments {2} {2}
Tax on above tems{1) (48) (45}
Tax itlems impacting comparahility (1} 21 3
Earnings from discontinued operatlons, net of tax {1,967) (59)
Interlm period effective tax rate narmalization{i) - 8

Dividends declared on prefersnce shares - -

Adjusted sarnings 228 423 (16%)
Adjusted EPS $0,31 $0.55 {44%) (48%)
Diluted welghted-average commuon shares (mitlions} 734.5 770.3

{1) Sea the "Tax expense (benef)’ section above for additional information.

Adjusted earnings and adjusied EPS decreased primarily due to lower underlying operating profit. Both adiusted eamings and adjusted EPS
included & positive impact from foreign currency, which amounted to $0.03 on a per share basis. Additionally, adiusted EPS benefited from lower
outstanding common shares due to share repurchases (ses the “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Share Repurchases” section of this
manzgement's discussion and analysis for additional information).

The 2016 severance charges of $212 million negatively impacted adjusted eamings per share by $0.29, Excluding the severance charges,
adjusted earnings increased 4% and adjusted earmings per share increased 8%.

Cash flow

Hf

Net cash provided by operating activities i1 263 35
Nat cash provided by {used in) investing activities 966 (256) 3,222
Net cash used In financing activities (2,413) (485) {1,928)
{ncreass In cash and hank overdrafts 4,551 222 1,329
Translation adjustments {1 (5) {5)
Cash and bank everdrafts at beginning of perlod 826 Y05 121
Cash and bank overdrafis at end of period 2,367 922 1,445
Cash and bank everdrafis at end of perisd comprised of:

Cash and cash squivalents 2,368 986 1,402

Bank everdrafts {1} (44) 43

Page 53



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2016

Operating activities. The increase in net cash provided by opetating activities was primarily due to lower tax payments, as well as higher
operating profit excluding the 2016 severance charges, mos! of which will be paid in 2017. These increases were partly offset by lower cash flows
from discontinued operations due to the Qctober 2016 sale of the Intellectual Froperty & Science business. Lower tax payments reflecied a

$200 million benefit from a $500 million pansion contribution made in January of 2017,

Investing activities, The increase in net cash provided by investing activities was due to net proceeds of $3.2 bilfion from the sale of our
Intellectual Property & Science business.

Financing activities, The increase in net cash usad in financing activities was primarily due to the repayment of $1.7 billion of commercial paper
that was outstanding as of September 30, 2018 with a portion of the proceeds from the sale of Intslectual Property & Science.

Free cash flow

i — 0

Net cash provided by operating activities 998 063
Capital expenditures, iess proceeds from dispesals (247} {248}
Capital expenditures from discontinued operations » (12)
Other investing aclivities 17 16
Dividends paid on preference shares - B
Dividends paid te non-coniroliing interests {13) {11)
Free cash flow 755 708

Free cash flow increased primarily due to higher cash from operating activities.

Segment Resulls

Financial & Risk

LSadalinrg ; :
Revenues 1,508 1,527 (1%)
Revenue change af constant currency 184
EBITDA 289 450 {36%)
EB{TDA margin 18.2% 28.5% {1030)bp
Begment operating profit 138 318 {56%}
Begment operating protit margin 5.2% 20.8% (1160

Revenues increased on a constant currency basis for the second consecutive guarter. The increase was primarily due to an annual price increase
and the cumulative eifect of positive net sales over the last 12 months, which more than offset a decling in recoveries revenues and commercial
pricing adjustments related e the migration of remaining foreign exchange and buy-side custarners onto new products on Finangial & Risk's unified
platform. Excluding the impact of the decling in recoveries revenues and the impact of the commercial pricing adjustments, Financial & Risk’s
ravenues increased 2% in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the prior-year period.

By geographic area, Financlal & Risl's revenues Increased 2% (4% excluding recoveries) in the Ameticas and 1% (2% excluding recoveries) in
Asia Pacific and decreased 1% (essentially unchanged excluding recoveries) in EMEA.

Met sales were negative overall, despite positive nat sales in the Americas and Asia Pacific. Negative net sales in EMEA were driven by desktop
canceliations at large Furopean banks.
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Resulis by type in constant currency were as follows:

- Subscription revenuss increased 1%, driven by the cumuiative effect of positive net sales over the kst 12 months and a benefit from an annual
ptice Increase, partly offsel by the commercial pricing adjustments related to the migration of remaining foreign exchange and buy-side
customers onto new products on Financial & Risk’s unified platform.

* Transaction revenues increased 5% as growth in Tradeweb, and BETA brokerage processing, was partly offset by the impact of lower forsign
axchange trading revenues.

Recoveries revenues decreased 8%,

EBITDA, segment operating profit and the related margins decreased primarily due to severance chaiges of $167 million to further simplify and
streamline the business. The charges negatively impacted EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 1100bp and 1110bp, respectively.

Excluding the charges, EBITDA increasad 1% and the related margins 70bp primarily due to the impact of higher subscription and transaction
revenues (on a constant currency basig) parlly offset by increased investments in technology to drive fusther efficiency. Segment operating profit
decreased 4% and the refated margin declinad 50bp dua to higher depraciation and amortization, partly offset by the sams factors that impacted
EBITDA. Foreign currency benefited EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 110bp and 120bp, respectively.

Legal

Fee months ended Decernber

Revenues 8

Revenue change at constant currency -
ERITDA 206 327 {9%)
EBITDA margin 34.3% 37.2% {280%bp
Segment operating profit 235 264 (11%)
Segment oparating brofit margin 27.2% 30.0% {280)bp

Revenues were essentially unchanged on a constant currency basis as 3% growth in subscription revenues (74% of the Legat segment) was offset
by a 9% decling in transaction revenues (12% of the Legal segment) and a 7% decline in U.S. Print revenues (14% of the Legal segment).
Exctuding U.5. Pring, Legal's revenues increasead 2%.

Results by line of business in constant currency were as follows:

Revenues from the Solutions businesses increased 1% ag subscription revenue growth of 5% led by U.K. Practical Law, Investigative & Public
Records and Legal Tracker, was partly offset by a 10% dscline in transaction revenues driven by declines in Legal Managed Services and Elite
revenues;

U.S. Online Legal Information revenues increased 2%, which represented the eighth consecutive quarter of positive revenus growth for this
business, and

+ 8. Print revenues decreased 7%.

EBITDA, segment operating profit and the related marging decreased primarily due to severance charges of $26 miltion to further simplify and
strearmniine tha business. The charges negatively impacted EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 300bp each,

Excluding the charges, EBITDA and segment operating proflt decreased 2% and 1%, respectively, and the related margins increased 10bp and
20bp, respectively, The declines in EBITDA and segmeant operating profit were due to the unfavorable impact of curreney, partly offset by slightly
lower expenses {on a constan! currency basis), which reflected cost control efforts. Foreign currency negatively impacted EBITDA and segmeant
operating profit margins by 10bp and 30bp, respectively.
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Tax & Accounting

L3431
Revenues

Revenuse shange at constant cunency 2%
EBITBA 131 161 {18%)
EBITDA margin 31.5% 30.3% (780)kp
Segment operating profit 8B 132 (35%)
Segment operating profit margin 20.7% 32.2% {1150)bp

Revenues increased on a constant currency basis diiven by 4% growth in recurring revenues (88% of the Tax & Accounting segmsnt in the fourth
quarter), partly offsst by & 14% decline in transaction revenues primarily within the Corporate and Government businesses. The Government
business, Tax & Accounting’s smallest unit, reported lower revenuas due to the delays associated with two significant projects. Excluding the
Government business, revenues increased 4%.

Results by line of business in constant currency were as follows:

* Revenues from the Corporate business Increased 3% as recuning ravenus growth of 4% was parlly offset by a decline in transaction revenues
due to a difficull yearon-year comparison, as well as lower perpetual license revenues,

* Revenues from the Professional business increased 13% driven by 12% growth in recurring revenuss;

+ Revenues from the Knowledge Solutions business decreased 4% primarily due to timing of revenues between the third and fourth quarters of
2018,

Revenues from the Govemment business decreased 63%, due o delays associated with certain significant contracts.

ERBITDA and segment operating profit included severance chargss of $18 million to further simplify and streamline the business. The charges
negatively impacted EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 430bp each.

Excluding the charges, EBITDA and segment operating profit decreased 7% and 21%, respectively, and the related margins decreased 350bp and
720bp, respectively. The decreases reflected charges in our Government business largely caused by delays associaled with certain long-term
contracis and higher allocations of technalogy expenses. The declines in segment oparating profit and the related margin also refiected higher
depreciation and amaoriization, partially attributable to accelerated amortization associated with certain assets in our Govermiment business. In the
fourth quarter of 2018, we recorded 328 million of charges io segment operating profit for our Govermment business. Foreign exchange benefited
ZBITDA and segment operating profit margins by 30bp each.

Tax & Accounting is a seasonal business with a significant percentage of its operating profit historically generated in the fourth quarter. Small
movemerts in the timing of revenues and expenses can impact cuartetly margins, Full-year marging are more reflective of the segment’s
petformance.

Carporate & Other

Revenues - Reuters Nows 7 74

Rauters News (8} (12)
Core corporate exparnses {84) (142)
Total {92) {154)
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Revenues from our Reuters News businass increased primaiily due to growth in Reuters Solutions, which includes content markating and
hroadeast solutions, partly offset by lower news agency ravenues and unfavorable foreign currency, Foreign currency had a 1% unfavorable impact
on revenues in the period.

Reuters News results reflected the favorable impact from higher revenues. The decrease in core corporate expenses was primarily due to the
glimination of certain overhead costs in connection with the sale of Intalleciual Property & Science and the allocation of additional costs, primarily
technology, to the segments. Additionally, the decrease also reflected lower severance and healthcare costs.

Discontinued Operations

Earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax 1,967 59

The increase in earnings from discontinued operations, nat of tax, was due to a $2.0 billion gain on the sale of our Intellectual Property & Science
husiness.

Liguidity and Capital Resources
Capital Strategy
Our disciplined capital strategy s afligned with our business strategy and remains focused on:
Driving organic revenue growth, rather than growth from acquisitions;
Delivering consistent free cash flow growth;
Balancing cash generated from operations hetwaen reinvestment in the business and retuming it to shareholders; and
Malntaining a strong balance sheet, solid credit ratings and ample financial Aexibility to support the execution of our business strategy.
Some of our capital strategy highlights in 2016 were the following:
We sold our Intellectual Property & Science business for gross proceeds of $3.55 hillion;

+ We repaid $0.5 billion principal amount of debt that was scheduled to mature and issued new debt in the same amount. We repaid all of our of
outstanding commercial paper ($1.0 billion at the end of 2015);

- At December 31, 2016, our leverage ratio of net debt to adjusted EBITDA was 1.8:1, which was below our 2.5:1 target;
Woae returned $2.7 billion to shareholders in the form of dividends and share buybacks;
We completed our fourth share buyback program,; and

* Qur actuisition spending was $112 million in 2018,

Qur principat sources of liquidity are cash on hand, ¢ash provided by our cperations, our $2.0 biilion commercial paper programs and our

$2.4 billion credit facility. From time to ime, we also issue debi securitiss. Our principal uses of cash are for debt repayments, dabt servicing
costs, dividend payments, capital expenditures, share repurchases and acquisitions. We believe that our existing sources of liguidity will be
sufficient to fund our expected 2017 cash reguirements in the normat course of business.

We believe that our free cash flow performance over the past few years demonstrates the resiliency and stability of our business model.
Additionally, we believe thal our operational efforts to diive revenue and margin growth will continue to result in strong free cash flow generation.
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Cash Flow
Summaty of Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

P i 2,984 2,838
Net cash providet by (used [n) investing activitles 2,186 {936) 3,122
Mot cash used in financing activitles {3,713) {1,971) {1,741}
morease {decrease) in cash and bank overdrafis 1,458 (69) 1,527
Translation adjustments {13) {24) 41
Cash and bank overdrafts at beginning of period 922 1,015 {93}
Cash and bank overdrafts at end of period 2,367 22 1,445
Cash and bank overdrafts at end of peripd comprised of:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,368 966 1,402
Bank overdrafts N (44) 43

Opsrating activities. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to lower tax payments, as well as higher
operating profit excluding the 2018 severance charges. most of which will be paid In 2017, Lower tax payments reflacted a $200 million benafit
from a $500 million pension contribution made in January of 2017. Thess increases were partly offset by lower cash flows from discontinued
operations due to the October 2016 sale of Intellectual Property & Science.

Investing activities, The increase in net cash provided by investing activities was due to net proceeds of $3.2 hillion frora the sale of our
Intedlectual Property & Sclence business.

In 20186, capital expenditures were $905 million (2015- $851 million), which reflected continued investments in our products and technology
infrastructure. Our capital spending was refiactive of our capital strategy to grow our business organically rather than through acquisitions.
Acquisition spending in 2016 was $112 million (2015- $37 million}.

Financing activities. The increase in net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to the 2016 repayment of $1.0 billion of commercial
paper issuad in 2015 with a portion of the proceeds from the sale of Inteliectual Property & Sclence. Additionally, in both years, cash ussed in
financing activities included dividends paid! to shareholders and share repurchases. We returned $2.7 billion and $2.4 billion to our shareholders
through dividends and share rapurchases in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Additional information about our debt, dividends and share repurchases is as follows:

Commercial paper programs. Our $2.0 billion commercial paper programs provide cost-effective and flexible shori-term funding. We had no
commercial paper borrowings oulstanding at December 31, 2018, lssuances of commercial paper reached a peak of $1.9 billion in 2016.

Credit facility. In November 2018, we decreased the size of our syndicated credit facility from $2.5 billion to $2.4 billion and extended the
maturity date of the facility from May 2018 to November 2021, The facility may be utilized to provide liquidity for general comporate purposes
{including support for our commercial paper programs). There were no borrowings under the credit facility in 20186.

We may request an increase, subject to approval by applicable lenders, in the lenders’ commitrnents up to a maximum amount of
$3.0 billion.

Based on our current credit ratings, the cost of borrowing under the agreement is priced at LIBOR/EURIBOR plus 100 basis points. I our
long-term deht rafing were downgraded by Moody's or Standard & Poor's, our facility fee and borrowing costs may increase, although
availability wouid be unaffected. Conversely, an upgrade in our ratings may reduce our facility fee and borrowing cosis. We monitor the
lenders that are party to our facility and believe they continue to be able to lend to us.
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We guarantee horrowings by our subsidiaries under the credit facility. We must also maintain a ratio of net debt as of the last day of each
fiscal quarter to EBITDA as defined in the credit agreement {samings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization and other

modifications described in the credit agreement) for the last four quarters ended of not more than 4.5:1. We were in compliance with this
covenant at December 31, 218,

Debt shelf prospectus. In March 2016, we filed a debt shalf prospactus under which we may issue up to $3.0 bilfion principal amount of debt
securities from time to time through April 2018. We have issued $0.5 billion principal amount of debt securities under the prospectus.

Long-term debt, The following table provides information regarding notes that we issued and repaid in 2016 and 2015:

OLeS ISHUe

May 2016 3.35% Motes, due 2028 USE500
Notas repaid

May 2016 0.875% Notes, due 20186 USSB00

July 2045 5.70% Notes, due 2015 3800

We used the net proceeds of our May 2018 debt issuance o repay the notes which matured in the same month. In July 2018, we repaid

3800 miflion ($593 million after swaps) of notes upon their maturity, principally from cash on hand that included proceeds from sarlier
commercial paper issuances in 2015.

Cradit ratings. Our access to financing depends on, among other things, suitable market conditions and the maintenance of suitable long-
ferm credit ratings. Our credit ratings may bae adversaly affected by various factors, Including Increased debt levels, decreased earnings,
declines in customer demand, Iincreased competition, a further deterioration in generat economic and business conditions and adverse
publicity. Any downgrades in our credit ratings may impeds our access to the debt markets or resull in significantly higher borrowing rates,

The following table sets forth the credit ratings that we have received from rating agencies in respect of our outstanding securities as of tha
date of this management's discussion and analysis:

high)

aaZ BB
Commercial paper P-2 R~2 {highy) F2
TrendfOuilook Stable Stable Stable

These credit ratings are not recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell securitles and do not address the market price or suitability of a
specific security for a particular investor. Credit ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks on the value of securities. We cannot

assure you that our credit ratings will not be lowered in the future or that rating agencies will not issue adverse commentarias regarding our
securities.

Dividends. Dividends paid on our common shares were as follows:

Dividen

Dividends declared 1,M5
Dividends reinvested (35) (33)
Dividends pald 980 1,013

In February 2017, we increased our annualized dividend rate to $1.38 per common share, Refer to the “Subsequent Events” section of this
management's discussion and analysls for additional information,
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Dividend reinvestment plan {DRIP). Ragisterad holders of common shares may participale in our DRIP, under which cash dividends are
automatically reinvested in new common shares. Common shares are valued at the weighted-average price at which the shares traded on the
Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) during the five trading days immediately preceding the record date for the dividend.

Share repurchases. We may buy back shares {and subsequently cancel them) from time to time as part of our capital strategy. in May 2018,
we renewed our normai course issuer bid (NCIB) for an additional 12 morths, Under the NCIB, we may repurchase up to 37.5 million common
sharas between May 30, 2016 and May 28, 2017 in opan market transactions on the TSX, the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and/or other
exchanges and alternative trading systems, if eligible, or by such other means as may be permitted by the TSX andfor NYSE or under
applicable aw, including private agreement nurchases if we receive an issuer bid exemption order from applicable securities regulatory
authorities in Canada for such purchases. In 2016, we privately repurchased 9.5 million common shares (2015 - 10 million common shares) at a
discount to the ther-pravailing market price.

Details of share repurchases in the lasl two years were as follows:
Year ended Dacamber 31

Share repurchases (millions of U8 doilars} E ,
Shares repurchased {mitlions) 41.9 35.9
Share repurchases ~ average price per shars 5 39.91 5 39.42

in February 2017, we announced that we plan to repurchass up to an additional $1.0 billion of our cormmon shares. We have completed four
programs of share repurchiases for approximately $4.5 billion since Cctober 2013. Refer to the "Subsequent Events” section of this
managernent’s discussion and analysis for additional information.

Decisions regarding any future repurchases will depend on factors such as market conditions, share price, and other oppoitunities to invest
capital for growth. We may elect to suspend or discontinue our share repurchases at any time, in accordance with applicable laws. From fime to
time when we do not possess material nonpublic information about curselves or our securlties, we may enter into a pre-defined plan with cur
broker to allow for the repurchiase of shares at times when we ordinarily would not be active in the market due to our own internal trading
blackout pericds, insider trading rules or otherwise. Any such plans entered into with our broker will be adopted in accordance with applicable
Canadian securities laws and the requirements of Rule 10b4-1 under the U.8. Secuwities Exchanges Act of 1934, as amended. We enterad into
such a plan with our broker on Decemnber 31, 2015, As a resull, we recorded a $165 million liability in “Other financial liabilities” within cument
liabilities at Decernber 31, 2015 with a comesponding amount recorded in equity in the consolidated siatement of financial position. We did not
enter into such a plan with cur Broker at the end of 2016,

Free cash flow

cash provided by operating activities 2,984 2,838

N

Capital expenditures, less proceeds from disposals {505) {851)
Capital expenditures from discontinued oparations {38} {5
Other investing activities 48 21
Dividends paid on preference shares {2} (2)
Rividends paid to non-controlling interests {57} (53)
Frae cash How 2,622 1,801

Free cash flow increased primarily due to higher cash from operating activities and lower capital expenditures.

Page 60



Table of Contents

Thomson Rauters Annual Repor 2016

Return on Invested Capital

We measure our retum on invested capital, or ROIC, to assess, over the long tarm, our ahility to create valua for our shareholders. Our goal is to
increase this return over the long term by using our capital to invest in areas with high retums and realizing operating efficiencies to further
enhance our profitability. We expect to increasingly leverage our existing assets and invest in our existing businesses to enhance our products
and bring new solutions to our customers. Additionally, we plan to continue to pursue tactical acquisitions, on a selective basis, {0 broaden the
range of offerings to customers, facllitate entry into higher growth market segments adjacent to existing ssgments of our business and expand our
global presence. The execution of our business strategy is focused on and expected to drive revenue and margin growth organically, which we
beliove wili lead to a higher ROIC.

in 2018, our ROIC was 6.7%, unchanged from 2015, as a result of $212 million of 2016 severance charges. We expect our ROIC to increase in
2017 when we receive the benefits related to these charges, Refar to Appendix C of this management’s discussion and analysis for our cajculation
of ROIC.

Financial Posifion

Our total assets were $27.9 billion at December 31, 2018, a decrease of $1.3 Billion from December 31, 2015, The decrease was primarily due to
changes in foreign currency, depreciation of fixed assets, and amortization of computer software and other identifiable intangible assets, These
decreases were partially offset by capiial expenditures,

At Decermber 31, 2018, the camying amounts of our total current assels exceeded the carrying amounts of our totat curent liabilities as a portion of
the nat proceeds from the sale of Intellectual Property & Science remained in cash and cash equivalents. Typically, the carrying amounts of our
total current liabilities exceed the carrying amounts of our total current assets, because current abifities include deferred revenue, which arises
from the sale of subscription based products and services that many customers pay for in advance. The cash received from these advance
payments is used to currently fund the operating, investing and financing activities of our business, However, for accounting purposes, these
advance paymenis must be deferred and recognized over the term of the subscription. As such, we typically reftect a negative working capital
position in our consolidated statement of financial position. In the ordinary course of business, deferred revenue doas not represent a cash
obligation, but rather an obligation to perform services or deliver products. Therefore, we belleve that the negative working capital position we
typically present is not Indicative of a liquidity issue, bui rather an outcome of the required accounting for our business model. We expect to rever
to our bypical nagative working capital position after the remaining net proceeds from the sale of Intelleciual Property & Science are utilized in
accordance with our capital strategy. Refer to the “Liquidity and Capital Resaurces — Capilal Strategy” section of this management’s discussion
and analysis for additional information.

Net Dabt (1)

Current indebtedness ' ' 1411

Long-term indebtedness 6,278 5,829
Total dabt 7,380 8,424
Swaps 327 370
Total debt after swaps 7,716 8,794
Remove fair value adjustments for hedges(?) 23 25
Tofal debt after currency hedging arangemernis 7,739 8,820
Romaove transaction costs and discounts included in the carrying value of debt 65 o7
Loss: cash and cash equivalents{3) {2,368) (988)
pat debt 5,438 7.921

{1y Net debt is a non-iFRS financial measure, which we define in Appendix A,

(2) Represants the interest-ralated fair valus component of hedging instumants that are removed %o reflact net cash outflow upon maturity.

(3) Includes cash and cash equivalenis of $112 million and $108 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respactively, held in subsidiaries, which have reguiatory restiictions,
contractual restrictions or operate in countries where exchange controls and otherlegal restdctions apply and are therefore not available for general use by our company.
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At December 31, 20186, our total debt position (after swaps) was $7.7 billion. The maturity dates for our term debt are well balanced with no
significant concentration in any one year. Qur next scheduled term debt maturities ocour in February 2017 (repaid on maturity — see “Subsequent

Events") and in September 2017, At December 31, 2018, the average maturity of our term debi was approximatsly eight years at an average
Interest rate (after swaps) of less than 5%.

The following table illustrates our expected term debt maturities.

Schedule of term debt maturities (after swaps) at December 31, 2018
&a,000
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81,500 =

£1,100 41,
210006 -
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Financial Risk Management

Our global operations expose us to a variety of financial risks, which include market risk (primarity currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Our risk management approach is to minimize the potential adverse economic sffects associated with these risks on our
financial performance and to ensure we have sufficient liguidity to fund our opsarations, reinvest in our business, pay dividends and service our debt
obligations. Our centralized corporate treasury group is responsible for our financial risk management strategy and operates under sirict guidslines
and intemal control processes. Cur corporate treasury group identifies, evalustes and hedgaes financial risks. The overall approach is under the
aversight of our Chief Financial Officar. The section entitied "Financial Risk Management” in note 18 of our 2016 annual consclidated financial
statements provides a detalled discussion of the material financial risks that we believe we are exposed fo and our approach to mitigating the
patential adverse effects on our financial performance.

We are exposed lo currency risk related {o cash flows denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, particularly the Eure and British pound
sterling. We mitigate this exposure by enlering into exchange contracts io purchase or sell certaln currencies in the future at fixed amounts.
Because these instruments have not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes, changes in the fair value of these contracts are
recognized through the consolidated income stalement with no offsefting impact. These impacts are eliminated from our adjusted earnings
measures. However, the related cash settlements are included In cash from operating activities within our consolidated statement of cash flow,
and therefore they are included in our free cash flow measure. The Talr value of cuistanding contracts at December 31, 2016 was a net asset of
%8 million, which we reported within “Cther financial assets" curent and *Other financial flabilities™ cument in our consolidated statemant of
financial position. We may enter into additional derivative financial instruments In the future In order to mitigate our foreign exchange risk. Refer to
note 18 of our 2015 annual congolidatad financial statements for additional information.

We monitar the financial stability of the foreign countries in which we aperate. To mitigate risk of loss, we monitor the creditworthiness of our
custorners and have policies and procedurss for trade receivables collection and global cash management to ensure adequate liguidity is available
to us,

Approximately 44% of out cash and cash equivaients at Decernbar 31, 2016 were held by subsidiaries outside the LS. We have historically

accessad such funds in a tax efficient manner te mest our liquidity requirements. We expect to continue to have access 1o such funds in a lax
efficient manner.
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We also monitor the financial strength of financial institutions with which we have banking and other commercial relationships, including those that
hold our cash and cash equivalents, as well as thosa which are countempairties to derivative financlal instruments and other arrangemants,

The following charts outline the currency profile of our ravenues and expenses for 2016:
Revenues . ' Expensegt

UL, daliar

W Bilish pownad sheling
# B

58 Coustha dodsar

B faanags van

& ither

(1) Expenses associated with underdylng operaling profit. Based on average rates of U.S. dollar/ British pound sterling = 1,385 and U.8, dollar { Euro = 1,106,

Our global operations have a well-balanced currency prefile. The majority of our revenues and expenses are denominated in U.S, dollars, While our
Euro revenues exceed their respactive operating expanses, and our British pound sterling operating expenses excaed our British pound stetling
revenues, the remaining curenclas we transact in are relatively well-matched. In 2016, the U.S. ddllar strengthened significantly against the British
pound sterling and was essentially unchanged against the Euro.

The foliowing talle presents the Impact that a 1% weakening In our key 2016 average foreign exchange rates against the U.S. dollar would have
had on our 20816 revenues and underying operating profit:

Revenues (12} {10) {3} (3)
Underlying operating profit (8) 2 {2) {1}

Off-Balance Shest Arrangements, Commitments and Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes cur debt and off-balance shest contractual obfigations:

Al

Leng-term debf( 1,100 1,000 878 574 ATT
Interest payabla(l} 308 273 224 163 170 2,947
Debt-retated hedges outflows(®) 58 58 528 768 497 - 1,909
Debturelated hedges inflows (@l 51) (51} {423) (608} {437} - {4,568
Operating leass payments 261 221 203 164 136 A6V 1451
Unconditional purchase obligations 499 3456 241 105 55 4 1,250
Defined banefit obligationsa(3} 580 - - - - - 580
Total 2,755 1,847 1,652 1,198 1,194 5,400 14,046

{1) Represents our contractual principal and interest payments. Future cash flows have been calculated using forward foreign exchange rates.

{2) Future ¢ash flows have been calculated using forward foreign exchange rates.

{3} Represents expscted contrbutions to fund our material defined benefit obligations consisting of funded pension plans and expected clalms under unfunded pension
pians and retitee medical plans. These amounts do not include voluntary conirlbutions that we may elect to make from time to time to our funded plans. We cannot
reasonably estimate coniributions heyond 2017 because they depend on future economic conditions and plan performance, and may be affected by future government
lagislation.

Page 63



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2016

We provide further information about our obligations below:

Operating leases —~ We enter into operating ieases in the ordinary course of business, primarily for real property and equipment. leaze
payments represent scheduled, contractual obligations as per each agreement. With certain leases, we guarantee the restoration of the leased
property to a specified condition after completion of the lsase period. The liability associated with these restorations is recorded within
"Provisions and other non-current liabifities” in our consolidated statemant of financial position.

+ Subsidiary guarantess — For certain real property leases, banking arrangements and commersial contracts, we guarantee the chligations of
some of our subsidiaries. We also guaranise borrowings by cur subsidiaries under our credit agreement.

* Ungonditional purchase obligations — We have various obligations for materials, supplies, outsourcing and other services contracted in the
ordinary course of business. In the table above, certain commitments have been estirnated over the contractual period.

* Defined benefit obligations — We sponsor defined benefit plans that provide pension and other post-smployment benefits to covered
employess. As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of plan assets for our material funded psnsion plans was 80% of the plan obligations. In
2016, we contributed $85 million (2015 — $89 million) ta cur material defined benefit plans. In January 2017, we contributed $500 million to our
U.S. pension plan. As a result of this contribution, the overall funded status of the plan now exceeds 90% based on current market conditions.
The contribution was funded from free cash flow and is expected to eliminate any material near-term contribution requiremnents fo the L.8.
pension plan. See the "Subsequent Events” section of this managemeant’s discussion and analysis, In addition to the $500 million contribution,
we expect to further contribute approximately $80 million to our material defined hensfit plans in 2017, including $50 million in accordance with
the normal funding policy of funded plans and $30 million for claims expected to arse under unfunded and retiree madical plans.

#rom time to time, we may elect to make voluntary contributions in order to improve the funded status of the plans. For certain plans, the
frustees have the right to cali for special valuations, which could subsequently result in our company having to make an unexpected
contribution, Market-related factors may also affect the timing and amount of contributions. The amount and timing of any fulure required
contributions to pension plans could differ significantly from our estimates at December 31, 2016.

* Disposition contingencies — In cortain disposition agreements, we guarantee indemnification obligations of our subslidiary that sold the
business or assats. We believe that based upon current facts and circumsiances, additional payments in connection with these transactions
would not have a material impact on our consclidated financial statements.

Other than as described above, we do not engage in off-halance sheet financing arrangaments. In particular, we do not have any interests in
unconsolidated special-purpose or structured finance entities.

Contingencies

Lawsuits and Legal Claims

We are engaged in various legal proceedings, claims, audits and investigations that have arisen in the ordinary course of business. These matiers
include, but are not limited to, employmaent matters, commercial matters, defamation claims and inteflectual praperty infringement claims. The
autcome of all of the matters against us is subject to fulure resolution, including the uncertainties of litigation. Based on information currentiy
known to us and after consultation with ouislde legal counsel, management belleves that the ultimate resolution of any such matters, individually
ar in the aggregate, wili not have a material adverse impact on our financial condition taken as a whole.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We are subject to taxation in numerous jwisdictions and we are routinely under audit by many different taxing authorities in the ordinary course of
business. There are many transactions and caloulations during the course of business for which the ultimate [ax determination is uncertain, as
taxing authorities may challenge soms of our pesitions and propose adjusiments or changes to our tax filings.
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As a result, we maintain provisions for uncettain tax positions thal we believe appropriately reflect our risk. These provisions are made using our
best estimate of the amount expacted to be paid based on a qualitative assessment of all relevant factors, We review the adequacy of these
provisions af the end of each reporting period and adjust them based on changing facts and eircumstances. Due to the uncertainty associated with
tax audits, it is possible that at some future dale, liabilities resulting from such audits or related litigation could vary significantly frem our
provisions. However, based on currently enacted legislation, Information currently known to us and after consultation with outside tax advisors,
management believes that the ultimate resclution of any such matters, individually or in the aggregate, wili not have a material adverse impact on
our financial condition taken as a whols.

In June 2018, certain of our U.S. subsidiaries received a statutory notice of deficiency from the Internal Revenue Service (JRS) for the 2010 and
2011 tax yvears. In the notice, the IRS claims thal the taxable income of thase subsidiaries should be increased by an amount that creates an
aggregate potential additional income tax liatility of approximately $250 million for the period, including interest, The IRS claim relates to our
intercompany transfer pricing practices. We plan to pursue all available administrative and judicial remedies necessary to resolve the matter. To
that end, we filed a petition in U.S. Tax Court in September 2018, Management believes that we will prevail in this dispute.

For additional information, please sae the “Risk Factors” section of this annual report, which contains further information on risks related to tax
matters.

Outlook

The information in this section is forward-looking and should be read in conjunction with the section below entitled “Cautionary Note Concerning
Factors That May Affect Future Resulls”,

The following table summarizes our 2017 outiook, For cemparative purposes, 2016 actual amounts are presented excluding the $212 millicn of
2016 severance charges because wae believe the charges distort the underlying performance of our business, since no benefits resulted from these
actions in 20186, Cash payments associated with the charges did not have a meaningful impact on our free cash flow In 2016, as most of the
related payments will be made in 2017.

Adjustad EBITDA margin (1) 26.5%

Adjusted EBITDA margin — exciluding charges 28.4% 28.8% - 29.8%
Adjusted EPE ) $1.79

Adiuated EPS - axcluding charges $2.07 $2.35

Free cash flow (1 $2.0 bilfiont $0.9 - $1.2 billion

(1} Refer 1 Appendix A for addilional infomatlon on non-IFRS financial measures.

Consistent with prior years, our guidance is provided before currency. Our cutiook assumes:
Constant currency rates relative to 2016; and

* Mo further acquisitions or divestitures.

Additiorsally, our outlook for free cash flow reflects cash payments in 2017 relating to the 2016 severance charges, a $500 million contribution to
our LS. defined benefit pension plan, and the loss of free cash flow from the sale of Intellectual Property & Science.
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The following table sets forth our 2017 financial cutlook, the material assumptions related to our financial outlook and the material risks that may
cause actual performance to differ materially from our expectations,

v Gross domeslic oduct {GDP) growth In most of the countries where we operate +  Global economic uncertainly due to factors including conrtinued regulatory
. ' . reform around the world, changes in the political environment and the U K's
+  Continued demand for products and services that help customers navigats y - . -
changing geopoltical, econamic and regulatery environments plan to leave the European Union may limit business opporfunities for our

customers, lowerlng thelr demand for our products and services
An increase In demand for Information anct workflow sclutions + Demand for our products and services could be reduced by changes in
»  The suscessh execution of sales inftiatives, ongoing product relsase programs customer buying patterns, or our inability to execute on key product or
and our globalization siraiegy customer support initiatives

+  Praessure on certain customers, in developed markets in particular, may
constyain the number of professionals employed

s Gompetitive pricing actions could impact our revenuss

« Qur sales and product inifatives may be insufficient to retain customers or
generate new sales

: e
Revenues expected to grow at low single digits +  Sarne as the risks above related to the revenus outlock
«  Business mix contiiees to shift to higher-growth, but lower margin efferings «  Revenues from higher margin businesses may be lower than expected;
. \ - PP sonhversely, revenues from low-margin busihesses could be higher than
«  Execution of transformation and efficiency initatives expecled

* Continue to invest in growth markets and customer sarvice »  The costs of required Investments, including those in growth markets, excesd

expeciations or actual refurns are below expectations
«  Agguisition and disposal activity may dilste margins

Efficiency Inftlatives may cost more than expecied, be delayed or may not
protuce the expected lavel of savings

. Adjust’e ERITDA margin expected to he belween 28.8% and 20.8% + Bamo as The 1isks above related to tha revenue outlook and adusied EBITDA
« Depreciation and software amortization expense sxpected to be between $95¢ margin oufiook

million and §1.05 billion «  Capital expendifures may be higher than currently expected, resulting in higher
+ Inierest expense expected to be betwean $400 and $425 miion in-period depreciation and amorlization
. Effective tax rate expected to be batwaen 10% and 13% v QObsolescence of iechnology may require accelerated amortization or

impairment of certain assets
Completion of $1.0 bilion shase buyback program anvounced in February 2017 « Higher than expectsd debt lsvels or an increase in rates could resuli in higher
ntorest expense

+ Material changes in current tax laws or treaties to which we are subject could
adversely impact our income lax expense

»  Higher common shares outstanding due to lower than expected share
repurchases
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¥ low single digits
«  Adjusted EBFTDA margin expecled fo be belween 28,8% and 29.8%

+  Capital expenditures sxpected lo be approximately 8.5% of revenues

‘as the risks above related to the revenue oullook and adjusted EBITDA
rmargin ouilook

»  Aweaker macroeconomic environment could negatively impact working capital
perfermance

«  Capital expenditures may be higher fhan currently expected resulling in highar
cash outflows

+ The timing and amount of tax payments to governments may differ from our
expectations

Additionally, we expect core corpotate costs o range between $300 million and $325 million, This reflects cost reductions to realign the corporate
canter with the size of our business after the sale of intellectual Property & Science, as well as $40 miflion to $50 millien of higher overhead
allocations, primarily technology, to our segments. The higher allocations will have a negative impact on the EBITDA margin of Tax & Accounting,
our smallest segment, while the impacts on our Financial & Risk and Legal segments are expected to be minimal,

Our Qutlook contains various non-lERS financial measures. For Qutlock purposes only, we are unable to reconcile these nonFRS measurss 10
the most comparable IFRS measures because we cannot pradict, with reasonable certainty, the 2017 impacl of ¢hanges in foreign exchange rates
which impact (i) the translation of our results reported at average forsign currency rates for the year, (i) fair value adjustments asscciated with
forelgn currency derivatives embedded In certaln customer contracts and (iil} other finance income or expense related to foreign exchange
contracts and intercompany financing arrangements. Additionally, we cannot reasonably predict the ocourrence or amount of other operating gaing
and losses, which generally arise from business transactions we do not anticipate.

Related Party Transactions
As of March 1, 2017, Woodbridge beneficially owned approximately €2% of our shares,

Transactions with Woodbridge

From time 1o time, in the notmal caurse of business, we enter into transactions with Woeodbridge and certain of its affiliates. These transactions
involve providing and recelving product and service offerings and are nol significant to our results of operations or financial condition sither
individually or in the aggregate.

In January 2016 and Deceraber 2016, we sold a Canadian wholly owned subsidiary to a company affiliated with Woodbsidge for $16 million and

$15 million, respectively. In December 2015, we completed a similar transaction for $12 million. The subsidiaries’ assels consisted of accumuiated
losses that management did not expect to wliize agatnst future taxable income prior to their expiry. As such, no tax banefit for the losses had
been recognized in our consolidated financial statements. Under Ganadian law, certaln losses may only be transferred to related companies, stch
as those affiliated with Woodbridge, We recorded a gain of $31 millicn and $12 million in 2016 and 2015, respactively, within “Other operating
gaing, net” within the consolidated income statement. For each of these transactions, ol board of directors’ Corporate Governance Commitiee
obtained an independent faimess opinion. We utilized each independent faimess opinion to determine that the negotiated price between us and the
purchaser was reasonablo. After receiving recommendations of the Gorporate Governance Committes, the hoard of directors approved these
transactions. Directors who were not considersd independent because of their positions with Weoodbridge refrained from deliberating and voting on
the matiers at both the committee and board meetings.
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Transactions with Associates and Joint Ventures
From time fo time, we enter into transactions with our investments in associates and jeint venturses. These transactions typically involve providing
or receiving sexvices and are entered inte in the normal cotrse of business,

In connection with the 2008 acquisition of Reuters, we assumed a lease agreement with 3X3Q Associates, an entity owned by a subsidiary of
Thomison Reuters and Rudin Times Square Assoclates LL.C that was formed to build and operate the 3 Times Square property and building in New
York, New York., We foliow the equity method of accounting for our investment in 3XSQt Associates. The lease provides us with approximately
690,000 square feet of office space untll 2021 and includes provisions to terminate portions eafly and various renewal opiions. In both 2018 and
2015, our costs under this lease arrangsment for rent, texes and other expenses were $39 million. At December 31, 2016 and 201456, the amounts
payable to 3X8G Associates were negligible,

Subsequent Events

Pension Conlribution
In January 2017, we confributed $500 mitlion fo our LS. pension plan to pre-fund certain obligations.

2017 Dividends

in February 2017, our board of directors approved a $0.02 per share increase in the annualized dividend to $1.38 per common shara. A quarterly
dividend of $0.345 per share will be paid on March 15, 2017 to sharsholders of record as of February 23, 2017.

Share Repurchases

In February 2017, we announced plans to repurchase up to an additional $1.0 billion of our cormmon shares. The completion of this new buyback
program will depend on factors such as market conditions, share price and other opportunities to invest capital for growth.

Debt Repayment

In February 2017, we repaid $550 million principal amount of 1.30% notes upon their maturity. The repayment was funded with cash on hand.

Changes In Accounting Policies

In April 2018, the Intemational Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued an agenda decision regarding the treatment of
cffsetting and cash-pooling arrangemeants in accordance with IAS 32, Financlal Instruments: Presentation. This decision provided additional
guidance regarding whan bank overdrafts in cash-pooling arrangements would meet the reguirements for offsetting in accordance with 1AS 32,
Following this additional guidance, we changed our accounting policy and revised the amournts of cash and cash equivalents and current
indebtedness in the consolidated statement of financial position and cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts in the consclidated staterment
of cash flow, The impact was as follows:

+ cash and cash equivalents and current indebiedness increased $40 million in equal and offsetting amounts in the consolidated statement of
financial position af December 31, 2015; and

* oash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts increased $40 mifilon in equal and offzetting amounts in the consolidated statement of cash
flow for the year ended December 31, 2015,
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Recent Accounting Pronocuncements
Pronouncements issued by the IASB or IFRIC that are applicable or consequential to the company are described below.

Pronouncements effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2018:

IFRS 15

Revenue from
Contracts with
Customers

iFRS 15 is the culmination of & joint project belwaen the 1ASB and the Financial Accounting 3tandards Board,
the acoounting standard setter in the U.S., to create a single revenue standard. The core principle of IFRS 15 is
that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or sarvices to customers in an
amount that reftects the consideralion to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The new standard moves away from a revenue recognition model based on an eamings process to an
approach that fs based on transfer of control of a good or service to a customer. Additionally, the new standard
requires disclosures as to the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 shall be applied retrospectively to each period presented or retrospectively
as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption.

Based on cur preliminary assessment, we expect that the standard will not have a material impact on
revenlas, We derive the majarity of our revenues from selling electronic content and services on a subscription
basis. As a result, the majority of our ravenue will continue o be recognized ratably over the tarm of the
subscription under IFRS 15. However, under the new standard, we will recognize revenue for certain term
licenseas of Intellectual property at the time controf is transfered to the customer, rather than over the license
term, and will reflect certain contingent payouts as a reduction of revenue, rather than as expense.

We are still assessing the impact of IFRS 15 on our operating expenses. We expect that a larger portion of our
commigsion expenses for sales employses will be deferred, and that a substantial portion of these deferrals will
be subject to a lenger amortization Iife under IFRS 15, iIn 20186, commission expenses were $300 rnillion.

Since interpretation of the guidance continues to evolve, we consider cur current assessment subject to
change, Additionally, we are curently identifying applicable changes to our business processes and confrols fo
support recognition and disclosure under the new standard. We will provide more information as it becomss
available during 2017,
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IFRS 8 Financial instruments

IFRS 9 replaces I1AS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measursment. The new standard
addresses classification and measurernent, impairment and hedge accounting.

Classification and measurement

The new standard requires the classification of financial assets based on business model and cash
flow characteristics measured at either (a) amortized cost; {b) fair value through profit or loss; or
{c) fair value through other comprahensive income or loss. For financial liabilities, the standard
retains most of the IAS 39 requirements, but where the fair valus option is taken, tha part of a fair
value change due to an entity's own credit risk Is recorded in other comprehensive income or loss
rather than the Income statement.

impairment
Under the forward looking impairmeant model, expected credit losses are recognized as scoh as a
financial assat is originated or purchased, rather than waiting for a tfigger event to record a loss.

Hedge accounting

The new standard more closely aligns hedge accounting with an entity's risk management activitles.
Specifically, the new standard {a) no longer requires the use of a specifie quantitative threshold to
determine if the hedging relationship is highly effective in order to qualify for hedge accounting,;

{n} ramoves restrictions that prevented some economically rational hedging strategies from quafifying
for hedge accounting; and (c) allows purchased opiions, forwards and non-derivative financial
instruments to be hedging instruments in applicable circumstances.

IFRS 9 shall be applied retrospectively to sach period presented, subject to the various fransition
provisions within IFRS 9. We do not expect a material impact from the adoption of this standard.

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

IFRS 2, Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions, was amended to
clarify the accounting for {a) the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of
cash-settled share-based payments; (b) share-based payment transactions with a net seitlement
feature for withholding tax obligations; and (¢} a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settlad.
Early adoption is pernitted. Retrospective application is permitted, but not required, We will early
sdopt these amendments effective January 1, 2017, and apply them prospectively. Upon adeption,
we expect to reclassify $152 million of withholding tax obligations for share-based payments from
liabifitiss to aquity and therefore will no longer mark-to-market these or similar instruments awarded in
the future, For reference, operating expenses included mark-to-market adjustrnents of $36 million of
expense and $4 million of income for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectivaly,
which would no longer be required once the amendment is adopted.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency
Transactions and
Advance Considaration

IFRIC 22 clarifies the exchange rate to be used upon recognition of en asset, fability, expense or
income in siluations when a related advanced payment Is dishursed or recelved. We are assessing
the impact of IFRIC 22 on our consolidated financial statements.

Proncuncement effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2019:

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model for leases. The standard requires a lessee o
racognize right-of-use assets and loase labilities on the statement of financial position for
almost all leases having a term of more than 12 months, We are assessing the impact of the
new standard on our consolidated financial statements,
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements reguires management to make estimates and judgments about the future. Estimates and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on hislorical experience and other facters, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circurnstances. Refer (o Appendix D of this management’s discussion and analysis for additional information on our critical
accounting estimales and judgments.

Additional Information

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

QOur Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Cfficer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
applicable 1.8, and Canadian securities law) as of the end of the period covered by this management’s discussion and analysis, have concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that all information that we are required to disclose in reports that we file or
furnish under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act and applicable Canadian securities law is (i} recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and Canadian securities regulatory authorities and (i} accumulated and communicated
to our managemaent, including our Chief Execulive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financlal reporting to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the refiability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.

We are engaged in the following long-term efficiency initiatives which impact our financial reporting:

We are enhancing our order-to-cash (OTC) applications and related workflow processes in phases over multiple years. Key elements of the OTC
solutions are order management, billing, cash management and coliections functionality. We expect to reduce the number of applications and to
streamiine processes across our organization through this Initiative.

' We are automating manual processes and updating workflows associated with intercempany revenus and cost aflocation,

As we are implementing these initiatives in phases over an extended pericd, the nature and extent of activity will vary by quarter. In certain
guarters, we may have limited or no activity,

As these iniiatives could result in material changes to our intemal control over financial reporting depending on the nature and velume of work
completed, we will continue to modify the design and documentation of the related internal control processes and procedures, as necessary.
Except as described above, there was no change in our intemnal control over financial reporting during 2018 that materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Our management assessed the effectivenass of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, and based on that
assessment determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective. Refer to our 2016 annual consolidated financial statements
for our management’s report on internal control over financial reporting.

Share Capital

As of March 1, 2017, we had outstanding 727,171,474 commaon shares, 6,000,000 Series Il preference shares, 10,393,341 stock options and a
total of 8,558,787 time-based restricted share units and performance rasticted share units. We have also issued a Thomson Reuters Founders
Share which enables Thomson Reutars Founders Share Company to exercise extraordinary voting power to safeguard the Thomson Reuters Trust
Principles.

Public Sscurifies Filings and Reguiatory Announcemenis

You may access other information about our company, including our 2016 annual report {which contains information required in an annual
information form) and our other disclosure documents, reports, statements or other information that we file with the Canadian securities regulatory
authorities through SEDAR at www.sedar.com and in the United Slates with the SEC al www.ses.gov.
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Cautionary Note Concerning Faclors That May Affect Fuiure Results

Certain statements in this management’s discussion and analysls are forward-looking, including, but not limited to, statements about our 2017
expectations in the “Overview” and “Outiook” sections, our discussion of outiook for our Financlal & Risk, Legal and Tax & Accounting segments
in the “Results of Operations” section and statarnents ragarding expectsd EBITDA margin performance within our Tax & Aceounting ssgment, our
expectations regarding refum on Invested capital performance and on our financial position, the use of the remaining net proceeds from the sale of
our Intellectual Property & Science business, and our view regarding the resolution of a tax matter with the IRS. The words “expect’, Target” and
“will” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. These forwardJooking statements are based on certain assumpiions and reflect
otr company's current expectations, As a resulf, forward-locking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations. Certaln factors that could cause actual resulfs or events (o differ malerally
from current expectations are discussed in the “Ouiiook” section above. Additional factors are discussed in the “Risk Factors” section of this
anmual Feport and in materials that we from Hme to time file with, or fumish fo, the Canadian secunities regufatory authorities and the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Cormmission, There is no assurance that any forward-iooking statement will materialize. Qur Outiook s provided for the
purpose of providing information about curent expectations for 2017. This information may not be appropriate for other plrposes. You are
cautioned not to place undue refiance on forward-looking statements, which refiect our expectations only as of the date of this management’s
discussion and analysis. Except as may be required by epplicable law, we disclaim any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements.
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Appendix A
Non-IFRS Financial Measures

We use nondFRS financial measures as supplemental indicators of our operating perfermance and financial position. Additionally, we use
non-lFRS measures as performance metrice as the basis for management incentive programs. These measures do nol have any standardized
meaning prescribed by [FRS and therefore are unlikely to be comparable to the caloulation of similar measures used by other companies. Except
for free cash flow and ROIC, all our nen-IFRS measures exclude the results of our Intellectual Property & Science business, which was reported
as a discontinued operation through the closing date of the sale.

Operating profit from reportable segments and Corporate & Provides a consistent basis to evaluate operating Operating profit
Other. The relaled margin is expressed as a percentage of profitability and parformance trends excluding items

revenies, that we do not consider controliable activities for this

Operaling profil from reportable ssgmeants represents purpose.

operating profit before (i) amortization of other identifiable

intangible assets; (i) other operating galns and losses;

{iii) cortain asset impairmant charges; {iv) coiporate-related

items; and (v) fair value adjustments.

AgiUstEd eBlT : SR
Underlying aperating profit excluding the related depreciation  Provides a measure commonly reported and widely
and amortization of computer software. The relalect margin ls  used by investors as an indicator of a company’s
expressed as a percentage of revenues. operating performance and as a valuation metric.
Additionally, this measura is used to assess our ability

rnings from conlinuing operations

SEanG e Teats

, l2ss proceeds Provides a 5 for evaluating the operating Earnings from continuing operations
fram dispasals. The related margin is expressed as @ profitabiity and capital intensity of a business ina
parcentage of revenues. single measure. This measure caplures investments
regardless of whather they are expensed or
capitalized.,
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Earnings atiributable to common sharehelders and per share:

«  aexchiding the post-tax impacis of far value adjusiments,
amortization of other identifiable intangible assels, other
operating gains and losses, certain impalment charges,
other net finance costs or income, our share of pest-lax
sarnings or losses in equity mathod nvestmsnts,
discontinued operations and other iterns affecting
comparability. We calculaie the post-tax amount of sach
itemn excluded from adjusted earnings based on the
specific 1ax rules and tax rates associated with the nature
ant! jurisdiction of each item.

v Woe also deduct dividends declared on prefarence shares.
Adjusted EPS is caloulated using diluted weighted-average
shares,

In Inkerim periods, we also adjust our reported earnings and
earnings per share to reflect a normalized effective tax rate.
Specifically, the normalized effective rate is computed as the
estimaled full-year effective fax rate applied to pre-teax
adjusted earnings of the interim period. The reported effective
tax rate Is based on separate annual effective income tax
rates for each taxing jurisdiction that are applied to each
irgerim period’s pre-tax income.

otal indebtedness, including the associzied fair value of
hedging Instruments, but excluding the assoeclatad
unamertized transaction costs and premiums or discounts
and the interest-related fair value component of hedging
instruments, lass cash and cash equivalents.

Net cash provided by cperating activities, and other investing
aclivities, less capilal expenditures, dividends paid on our
preference shares, and dividends paid to non-controliing
inferests.

sftfigv tEndey| & G

Provides a more comparable basis to analyze
earnings and is also a measure commonly used by
shareholders to measure our performance.

Earnings attributable to common shareholders and
dituted earnings per share

Bacause the geographical mix of pre-tax profits and
Iosses in interim periods may be diferent from that for
the fuil-year, our effective tax rate computed in
accordance with IFRS may be more volatile by
quarter. Therefere, we believe that using the expecled
full-year effective tax rate provides more comparability
among interim periods. The adjusiment to normalize
the effective tax rate reallocates estimated full-year
Income taxes between interimn periods, but has no

i

oany's Total
indebtedness)

Pravides a commonly use
leverage.

Given thal we hedge some of our debt to reduce risk,
we include hedging insiruments as we believe it
providos a better measure of the total obligation
associated with our outsianding debt, Howsver,
becauseo we intend 1o hold our debt and refated hedges
to malurity, we do not consider the interest
componants of the assoclated fair value of hedges in
our measurements, We reduce gross indebledness by
cash and cash equivalents.

3-\2';-__ R
Helps assess our abilty, over the long term, to create
value for aur shareholders as it represents cash
avallable to repay debt, pay common dividends and
fund share repurchases and hew acdguisitions,

Net cash provided by operating ﬁctiv
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Adjusted operating profit after net taxes paid expressed as a

percentage of the average adjusted invested capitai during the resources to profitable activities and is indicative of our  ROIC. Refer to our caleulation of ROIC in Appendix

perind. abliity to create valug for our shareholders. C for a reconciliation of the compenents in the
calculation {o the mest directly comparable IFRS

Applicable

easures whers changes are reported before Provides better comparabiity of business trends from Faor each non-lF RS measure, refer to the definitions
the impact of foreign currency or at “censtant currency”  period te period. above for most directly comparakle IFRE measure,
IFRS Measures: Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, However, we
»  Revenues conduct a significant amount of our activides in
currencias other than the U,8, dollar, We measure our
*  Operating expenses performance before the impact of foreign currency (or

al "constant currancy”), which means that we apply
the same forsign currency exchange rates for the

v Underlying operating profit current and equivalent prior period. To calculate the
fareign currency impact between periods, we convert
the current and equivalent pricr period's local currency
+  Adjusted EBITDA resuits using the same forsign currency exchangs

+  Adjusted EBITDA margin rate.
< Adjusted EPS

Non-IFRS Measures:

+ Underlying operating profil margin

: Hptdre et St e foUE Y f B L : :
Applicable measures where total changes and changes  Provides iransparency about our performance relative  For each non-iFRS measure, refer to the definitions
in constant currency are reported before the impast of  to our original 2018 Outlook, which also excluded the above for most drectly comparable IFRS measure.
the charges charges, and aligns with the updated business Outlook

we provided in November 2018, Provides enhancad

* Underlying operating profi vislbility into our performance.

+  Underlying oparating profit margin
+  Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA margin
Adjusted EPS
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Appendix B

This appendix provides reconciliations that are not presented elsewhere in this management’s discussion and analysis for certain non-IFRRS
measures to the most directly compareble IFRS measure.

Reconciliation of Eamings from Continuing Operations to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Less Capital
Expenditures

9

Adjustments to remove:

Tax expense (benefit) 1 {8} {15) 34

QOther finance income (78) {17 {50} (413

Net interest expense 98 102 403 416

Amortization of other identifiable intangible assels 148 133 528 548

Amortization of computer software 183 185 Tt 694

Depreciation 74 77 313 340
ERITDA 703 810 2,946 3,118
Adjustments {o remove!

Sharoe of postlax earnings in equity method invesimants {2) {2} {4} {10}

Othar operating gaing, net (9} - {8} {13)

Fair value adiustments (57} {G} 20 {6)
Adjustec EBITDA 635 802 (21%) 2,954 3,088 (4%)

Dedust: capilal expenditures, less proceeds from disposals 247 248 905 951
Adjusted EBITDA logs capltal expenditures 388 554 (30%:) 2,045 2,138 (4%)
Adjusted EBITDA margin 22.2% 27.8% (560)hp 26.8% 27.4% (90)bp
Adiusted EBITDA less capital expenditures margin 13.6% 18.2% {560)bp 18.4% 19.0% {60)bp

ended December 31

Financlal & Risk 138 150 289 318 132 450
Legal 238 81 296 264 83 327
Tax & Accounting 86 45 134 132 29 167
Comporate & Other (includes Reuters News) (&2} 41 {81} (154) 18 {136)
Total 363 287 835 560 242 802
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Reconciliation of Underlying Operating Profit to Adjusted EBITDA by Segment {continued)

1,044 585 1,629 1,104 597 1,701
Legal 934 248 1,232 1,013 255 1,268
Tax & Accounting 263 13 414 343 13 456
Corporate & Other (includes Routers News) (381} i) (321} (405) 69 {336)
Total 1,830 1,024 2,954 2,065 1.034 3,089

Reconciliation of Changes in Consolidated Revanues, Qperating Expenses, Adjusted EBITDA, Underlying Operating
Profit and the Related Marging, and Adjusted EPS, Excluding the Effects of Foreign Currency

ed Tscember 31, 201

Ravanus:

2,860 2,887 (1%) (2% 1%
Operating expensos 2,168 2,079 4% (8%) 12%
Adjustad EBITDA £35 202 (21%) 3% {24%)
Adjusted EBITDA margin 22.2% 27.8% (560)bp 120bp (680)be
Underlying operating profit 368 560 (34%) 5% (36%)
Underlifing opaetating profit margin 12.9% 19.4% (850)bp 110bp {T60)bp
Adjusted EPS $6.31 30.55 (44%) 5% (49%)

““Year entted Dasember 31, 2016

i 2825 & el ]

Revenues 11,166 11,257 (1%) (2%) 1%
Operating expenses 8,232 B,i62 1% (3%) 4%
Adjusted EBITDA 2,354 3,089 {4%) 2% (6%)
Adjusted EBITDA masgin 26.5% 27.4% (90)bp 100bp {(160)bp
Underying opoerating profit 1,930 2,055 (B%) 3% (9%)
Underlying operating profit margin 17.3% 18.3% (100)bp 80bp {180)hp
Adjusted EPS $1.79 $1.78 1% 5% {A%)
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Reconciliation of Changss in Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA, Underlying Operating Profit and the Related Margins, by
Business Segment and Adjusted EPS, Excluding the Effects of Foreign Currency and Fourth- Quarter 2016 Severance
Charges

venlies
Financlal & Risk 1,508 . 1,508 1,827 {1%) (2%) 1%
Legal 864 » 864 880 (2%} (2%} “
Tax & Accounting 416 - 416 440 1% (1%) 2%
Corporate & Other 77 - 77 74 4% {1%} 5%
Eliminations () - {5) (4)
Consalidated revenues Z 860 - 2,860 2,887 {1%) {2%) 1%
Adjusted EBITDA
Financial & Risk 280 187 456 450 1% 1% -
Legal 298 26 322 327 (2%} (3%) 1%
Tax & Accounting 131 18 149 161 {7%) 1% (8%}
Corporate & Other (81} 1 (80) {136) n/a n/a n/a
Consolidated adjusted EBITDA B35 212 B47 202 6% 1% 5%
Adjusted EBITDA margin
Financia & Risk 19.2% 30.2% 29.5% 70bp 1100p (40)bp
Legal 34.3% 37.3% 37.2% 10bp {10}0p 20bp
Tax & Accounting 31.5% a5.8% 39.3% {350bp 3065 (380)bp
Corporate & Other n/a nia nia n/a a na
Consolidated adjusted FBITDA margin 22.2% 29.6% 21.8% 180bp 80bp 160bp
Underlying oporating profit
Financial & Risk 138 167 306 318 (4%} 3% (7%;)
Legal 235 25 261 264 (1%) {3%) 2%
Tax & Accounting 86 18 104 132 (2195) 1% {22%}
Corporate & Other (92} 1 191} {154) na n/a n/a
Conselidated underlying operating profit 368 242 580 560 4% 2% 2%
Underlying opesating profit margin
Financial & Risk 8.2% 20.3% 20.8% {50)bp 1200p {170)bp
Legal 27.2% 30.2% 30.0% 20bp (300 6p 50bp
Tax & Accolinting 20.7% 25,0% 32.2% (720)bp 30he (760 bp
Corporate & Other . nin nfa nla wa n/a e
Gonsolidated underlying operating profit margin 12.9% 206.3% 19.4% 90bp 70hp 20bp
Adjusted EPS 50,311 $6.29 $0.60 $0.55 9% 2% 7%
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Reconciliation of Changes in Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA, Underlying Operating Profit and the Related Margins, by

Business Segment and Adjusted EPS, Excluding the Effects of Foreign Currency and Fourth- Quarter 2016 Severance
Charges {continued)

Revenues

Financial & Risk &,057 - 6,057 6,148 {1%;} {1%) -
Legal 3,367 - 3,367 3,407 {1%; (2%) 1%
Tax & Accounting 1,452 - 1,452 1417 2% {2%) 4%
Corporats & Other 304 - 304 296 3% (1%) 4%
Eliminations {14) - (14} (11)

Consolidated revenues 11,168 - 11,166 11,257 {1%) {2%) i%
Adjusted EBITDA

Financiel & Risk 1,629 167 1,796 1,701 8% 2% 4%
Legal 1,232 26 1,258 1,268 (1%) (1%) -
Tax & Accouming 414 18 432 A58 5%) 1% (6%}
Corporate & Other {321) i {3200 (338) e e na
Consolidated adjusted EBITDA 2,084 212 3,166 3,089 2% - 2%
Adjusted EBITDA margln

Financial & Rigk 26.9% 20.7% 21.7% 2000p S0bp 110bp
Legal 36.6% 37.4% 37.2% 20bp 40bp (20}bp
Tax & Accounting 25.5% 28.8% 32.2% (240)bp Sobp 1330) 560
Corporate & Other n/a nfa na n/a na ne
Consolidated adjusted EBITDA margin 28.8%, 28.4% 27.4% 100bp S0bp 20bp
Underlying operating proflt

Financial & Risk 1,044 187 1,211 1,104 10% 3% 7%
Legel 984 26 1,010 1,043 - (1%) 1%
Tax & Accouniing 283 18 304 343 {12%) 2% (14%
Corporate & Clher {381) 1 {380) (405} na n/a va
Gonsolidated underlying operating profit 1,930 292 2,142 2,055 4% 2% 2%
Undeariving operating profit margin

Financial & Risk 17.2% 20.0% 18.0% 2006p 80hp 120bp
Legal 29.2% 30.0% 20.7% 30bp 30bp -
Tax & Accounting 16.5% 20.7% 24.2% (350}bp BObp (430} bp
Corporate 8 Other nla nia n/a nia n/a n/a
Consolidated underlying operating proflt margin 17.3% 19.2% 18.3% 90bp 70bp 20bp
Adjusted EPS $1.79 $0.28 $2.07 $1.78 T6% 4% 12%
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Appendix G
Calculation of Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)

We caloulate ROIC as adjusted operating profit after net taxes paid expressed as a percentage of the average invested capital during the peried.
Invesled capital represents our net operating assets that contribute to, or arise from, our post-tax adjusted operating profit.

The foliowing table provides the calculation of cur ROIC for 2016 and 2015.

it R
Calculation of adjusted oparating profit after taxes
Operating profit 1,380 1,526
Adjustrnents to remove:

Arortization of other identifiable intangible assets 528 548

Fair value adjustments 20 {8)

Other oporating gains, nat (8) {13)
Adjusted operating profit - continuing operations 1,930 2,055
Nol cash taxes paid on operationa(@) {48} {187)
Post-lax adjusted operating profit- continuing operations 1,882 1,868
Post-tax adjusted operating profit- discontinued operations 101 220
Consulidated post-tax adjusted operating profit 1,883 2,088
Caleulation of invested capital
Trade and other receivables 1,382 1,732
Prepald sxpenses and other cutrent assels [2:1:1 883
Computer hardware and othar property, net 96t 1,067
Computer software, net 1,384 1486
Other identifiable intangible assels {(pxcludes accurnulated armortiz ation) 411,387 12,200
Goodwill(3) 14,652 18,036
Payables, accruals and provisions (2,448) (2,255)
Deferred revenus {901} (1,319
Fresent value of operating leases{q) 1,108 1,027
Total investad capitalls) '" 28,208 30,657
Average invested capital 29,478 31,121
Retuimn on invested capital B.7% 6.7%

Excluding the impact of $212 million of 2018 severance charges, 2018 ROIC was 7.4%.

(1) Pror-period amounis have been meclassified to reflect the curenl presentation.

(2) Excludes cash taxes paid on the disposal of businesses and investments.

(3) I both yaars, goodwil has ast besn reduced for the accunulated impairment of $2.7 billen, and axcludes amounts associated with deferred taxes of $2.5 biflon arising from
acguisition accounting.

(4) Represents prasent value of operating leases primadly for rsal property and squipment contracted In the ardinary course of business.

(5] Invested capital excludes: other financial assets and labiites, including cash and debt; other nan-curient assets; defemed faxes; and provisions and other non-cuirent liabiites,
which are largely comprised of defined benefil plan obligations.
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Appendix D)

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments about the future. Estimates and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and cther factors, including expectations of future events that are believed o be
reasonable under the circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actuat results. The following discussion sets forth
management's;

meost critical estimates and assumptions in detarmining the value of assets and liabilities; and
* most critical judgments in applying accounting policies.

Critical accounting estimates and assumplions

Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments

We must make an assessment of whethar accounts recsivable are collectible from customers, Accordingly, we establish an allowance for
estimated Josses arising from non-payment and other sales adjustments, taking into consideration customer creditworthiness, current econormic
trends and past experience. If future collactions differ from estimates, future earmings would be affected. At December 31, 2016, the combined
allowances were $87 million, ar 6%, of the gross trade accounts receivable balance of $1.4 billion. An increase to the reserve based on 1% of
accounts receivable would have decreased pre-tax eamings by approximately $14 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Computsr software

Computer software represented $1.4 billion of total assets in the censolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2016. A significant
portion of ongoing expenditures relate to software that is developed as part of electronic databases, delivery systems and internal infrastiuctures,
and, to a lesser extent, software sold directly to customers, As parl of the software development process, we must sstimate the axpected pericd
of bansfit over which capitalized costs should be amortized. The basis of these estimates Includes the timing of technological chsolescence,
competitive pressures, historical experlence and intemnal business plans for the use of the software. Due to rapidiy changing technolegy and the
uncertainty of the software development process ifself, future results could be affected if our cumrent assessment of our software projects differs
from actual performance.

Other identifiable intangible assats and goodwill

Other identifiable intangible assets and goodwill represented $5.7 billion and $14.5 billion, respectively, of total assets in the consolidaied
statement of financial position at December 31, 2016. Other identifiable intangible assets and goeodwill arise out of business combinations.
Business combinations are accounied for under the acquisition mathod of accounting, which requires us to identify and atlribute values to the
intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair value as well as to estimate their useful lives. These determinations involve significant
estimates and assumptions regarding cash flow projections, economic risk and weighted-average cost of capital. The excess of acquisition cost
over the fair value of identifiable nel assets acquired is recorded as goodwill,

Subseguent to acquisition, we test other identiflabls intangible assels and goodwill for impairment as required. The outcome of these tests is
highly dependent on our latest estimates and assumptions regarding cash flow projections, economic risk and weighted-average cost of capital.

If future events or results differ advarsely from the estimales and assumptions made at acquisition or as part of subsequent lmpairment tests, we
could record increased amortization or impairment charges in the future,
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Valuation Techniques

An impairment of goodwill occurs when the recoverable amount of a cash generating unit (CGU) is below the carying valus of the CGU. The
recoverable amount is the higher of a CGU's fair value less costs of disposal or its value In use. As with previous impairment tests, the
recoverable value of each CGU was bassd on fair valug less costs of disposal, using a weighted-average of the income approach and market
approach. IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value as a markst-based measurement rather than an enfity-specific measurement.
Therefore, the fair value of the CGU must be measured using the assumptions that market participants would use rather than those related
specificaily to us. in patticular, the discount and tax rates used in the income approach refiect market participant assumptions. To calculate these
market participant assumptions, publicly available data was gatherad from companies operating in businesses similar to each CGU, which
Includes key competitors. As cerlain inputs to the valuation are not based on observable market data, the recoveraide value of each CGU is
categorized in Level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy.

The valuation techniques, significant assumptions and sensitivities applisd In the 2016 goodwill impairment test are described below. The selection
and application of valuation techniques and the determination of significant assumptions requires judgment.

Income approach

The income approach s predicated upon the value of the future cash flows that & business will generate. We used the discounted cash flow (DCF)
method, which involves projecting cash flows and converting them into a present value equivalent through discounting. The discounting process
uses a rate of return thal is cormmensurate with the risk associated with the business and the time value of money. This approach requires
assumplions about revenue growth rates, operating marging, capital expenditures, tax rates and discount rates.

Market approach

The market approach assumes thal companies operating in the same industry will share similar characteristics and that company velues will
correlate to those charactetistics. Therefore, a comparison of a CGU to similar companies whose financial information is publicly available may
provide a reasonable basis to estimate fair value. Under the market approach, fair value is calculated based on EBITDA multiples of benchmark
companies comparable to the businesses in each CGU, Data for the benchmark companies was obtained from publicly avaitable information.

Significant Assumptions

Weighting of Valuation Techniques

We weighted the results of the two valuation techniques noted akove, consistently applied to each CGU, as follows: 0% income apptoach/40%
market approach. We believe that given volatiity in capital markets, it is appropriate to apply a heavier weighting to the income approach.

Cash Flow Projections

Cash flow projections were based on our intemal budget. We projected cash flows for a period of three years and applied a perpetual growth rate
thereafter, as prescribed by IAS 36, Impairment of Assets. In order to project cash fows for the thres-year petiod, we considered growih in
revenues and cosis as well as capital expenditures. In preparing our projections, we considarsd past expetience, economic trends such as GDP
growth and inflation as welt as industry and market trands. The projections also took into account the expected impact from efficiency initiatives,
new product launches, customer retention, as well as the maturity of the markets in which each business operates.
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Discount Rate

We assumed a discount rate in order to calculate the present value of our projected cash flows. The discount rate represented & weighted-average
cost of capital (WACC) for comparable companies operating n similar industries as the applicabls CGU, based on publicly available informatien.
The WACC is an estimate of the overal] required rate of return on an investment for both debt and equity owners and serves as the basis for
developing an appropriate discount rate. Determination of the WACC requires separate analysis of the cost of equity and the cost of debt, The cost
of equity reflects the long-term risk-free interest rate associated with U.8, Treasury bonds and considers a risk premium based on an assessment
of risks related to the projected cash flows of sach CGU.

Lower discount rates were applied o CGUs whose cash flows are expecied o be less volatile due to factors such as the maturity of the market
they serve and their market poslition. Higher discount rates were applied to CGlUs whose cash flows are expected to be more voiatile due to
competition, or participation in less stable geographic markets.

Tax Rate

The tax rates applied 1o the projections were based on effective tax rates of comparable companles operating in simlilar industries as the
agplicable CGU, based on publicly available information, or statulory tax rates. Tax assumptions are sensitive to changes in tax laws and the
jurisdictions in which profits are earned.

The key assumptions used in performing the impairment test, by CGU, are presented below:

3.0% 8.2%

nane s 0%
Legal 2.5% 7.2% 36.6%
Tax & Accounting 3.0% 85% 38.0%

(1) The pezpotual growth rate is applied lo the final year of cash flow projections.

Results and Sensitivities

The fair value for each CGU was in excess of its carrying value. The excess was 54% {approximately $7.8 billion) for Financial & Risk and over
100% for sach of the other two CGUs. For all three CGUs, the sensitivity analysis demonstrates that no reasonably possible change in the
perpetual growth, discount rate or income tax assumptions would cause the camying amounts of any CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

The cash flow growth projections and certain key assumptions undetlying the fair vaiue of all CGUs are subject to risks and uncertainties that
could cause future results to differ matertally from current expectations. Specifically, the CGUs cash flow profections could be impasted by
daterloration in macroeconomic conditions, including potential impacts of regulation on customers, changes in customer buying patterns or
competilive pressures. The company's assumption of perpetual growth could be impacted by changes in long-term outlooks far glebat inflation.
Additionally, the discount rate, tax rate and EBITDA multiples are based on those for comparable compantes and are driven by market conditions
and prevailing tax laws.

Employee future benefits

We sponsor defined bensfit plans providing pension and other post-employment benefits to covered employees. The determination of benefit
oxpense associated with employee future benefils requirss assumptions such as the discount rate, which is used to measure seivice cost, benefit
plan obligations and the net interest income (expense) on the net bensfit plan assets {obligations). Other significant assumptions include expected
mortality, the expected rmate of increase with respect to futura compensation and pension payments as well as the expected healthcare cost trend
rate. Because the determination of the cost and obligations associated with employee future benefits requires the use of various assumptions,
there is measuremnent uncertainty inherent in the actuarial valuation process. Actual results wilk differ from results which are estimated based on
assumptions.
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Discount rate

The discount rate was based on current market interest rates of high-quality, fixed-rate debt securities adjusted to reflect the duration of expscied
future cash outflows for pension benefit payments. To estimate the discount rate, our actuary constructed a hypothetical yield curve that
rapresented vields on high quality zsro-coupon bonds with durations that mirrored the expscied payment stream of the benefit obligation, For the
Thomson Reuters Group Pension Plan (TRGP), Reuters Pension Fund (RPF), Supplementary Pension Scheme (SPS} and The Thomson
Corporation FLC Pension Scheme (TTC) combined, a 0.25% increase or decrease in the discount rate would have decreased or Increased the
defined benefit obligation by approximately $259 million as of December 31, 2016,

Rates of inflation, Increase in salaries and pension payments

The rate of inflation, which impacts Increases in eligible U.K. gension payments, was determined by reference to consumer and retail price indices
as well as other benchmarks. The assumption on salary growth is for the long term over the e of benefit plans. For the TRGP, RPF, §P8 and
TTC combined, a 0.25% increase or dacrease in the rate of increase in inflation and salary assurmptions would have increased or decreased the
defined benefit obligation by approximately $97 mililon and $24 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2016.

Medical cost brend

The medical cost trend is based on our actuarial medical claims experience and future projections of medical costs. The average medical cost
trend rate used was 8.5% Tor 2016, which Is reduced ratably to 5% In 2020, A 1% increase or decrease in the trend rate would have resulted in an
increase or decreasa in the benefit obligation for post-retirament benefits of approximately $10 million at December 31, 2016.

Mortality assumptions
The mortality assumptions used to assess the defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2016 are based on the following:

TRGP: RP-2016 with MP-2018 Generatlonal Table; and
+ RPF/SPSITTC: SAPS Light Tables with allowances for plan demegraphic specifics and longevity improvements.

For the TRGP, RPF, 5PS and TTC combined, an increase In life axpectancy of one year across all age groups would have increased the defined
benefit obligation by approximately $148 million as of December 31, 2016.

Income taxes

We compuie an income tax provision In each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. These income tax provisions include amounts that are based
upon our estimates and assumptions regarding prices and values used to record intercompany trensactions, Actual amounts of income tax
expense only become final upon filing and acceptance of the tax retum by the relevant authorities, which occurs subsequent to the issuance of the
financial statements. Additionally, estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on an
assessment of the ability to use the underlying future tax deductions before they expire against future taxable income. The assessment is bassd
upon existing tax laws and estimates of fulure taxable income. To the extent estimates differ from the final tax return, eamings would be affected
in a subsaquert period.

Ininterim periods, the income tax provision is based on estimates of fullysar earnings by jurisdiction. The average annual effective income tax
rates are re-eslimated at each interim reporting date. To the extent that forecasts differ from actual results, adjustments are recorded in
subsequent periods.

Qur 2018 effective income tax rate on eamings from continuing operations was 2 1.4% benefit. A 1% increase in the effective income tax rate
would have decreased 206 income tax benefit and decreased earnings frorm continuing operations by approximately $10 million.

Page 84



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2016

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

Revenue recognition

We assess the criteria for the recognition of revenue relatsd to arrangements that have multiple components. These assessments require that we
make judgments to determine if there are separately identifiable components as well as how to aliocate the total price amoryy the components.
Deliverables are accounted for as separately identifiable components if they can be understood without reference to the series of transactions =5 a
whale. In eoncluding whether components are separately Identifiable, we consider the transaction from the customer’s perspective, Among other
factors, we assess whether the service or good Is sold separately by us in the nomal course of business or whether the customaer could purchase
the service or good separataly, With respect to the allccation of price among components, we use our judgment to assign a fair value to sach
component, As evidence of fair value, we lock to such items as the price for the component when sold separately, renewsl rates for spacific
components and prices for a similar product sold separately.

Uncertain tax positions

We are subject to taxation in numerous jurisdictions and we are routinely under audit by many different taxing authorities in the ordinary course of
business. There are many transactions and caculations during the course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, as
taxing authorities may challenge some of our positicns and propose adjustments or changes to our tax filings. As a result, we maintain provisions
for uncertain tax positions that we belleve appropriately reflect our risk, These provisions are made using our best estimate of the amount
expected 1o be pald based on a yualitative assessment of all relevant factors. We review the adequacy of these provisions at the end of each
raporting periad and adjust them based on changing facts and circumstances, Due to the uncertalnty assoclated with tax audits, it is possible that
at some future date, liabilities resulting from such audits or related litigation could vary significantly fram our provisions, Where the final outcome
of these tax-related matters is different from the amounts that were [nltially recorded, such differences wili affect the tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.
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Appendix E

Selected Annual Information
The following table summarizes selected annual information for 2016, 2015 and 2014,

-

IFRS Consolidated Income Statement Data: (1}
Revenues 11,168 11,257 11,650
Operating profit 1,380 1,526 2,333
Earnings from continuing operations 1,056 1127 1,759
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax 2,093 184 200
Net earnings 3,149 1,341 1,854
Earnings attributable to common shareholders 3,098 1,255 1,808
Hasic earnings per share from continuing operations $1.34 $1.37 §2,14
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations $2.85 $0.23 50,25
Basic earnings per share $4.14 $1.60 52,36
Dited earnings per share from continuing operations $1.34 $1.37 $2.10
Dilsted earnings per share from discontinuecl operations $2.79 $0.23 50.25
_Dited earnings per share 54.13 $1.60 §2.35
IFRS Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Data:
Total assels 27,852 28,112 30,727
Total long-term financial liabilities (2} 6,618 7,216 7,737
Dividend Data:
Dividends per Thomsen Reuters Corporation commen share {USS) $1.36 $1.34 $1.32
Dividends per Thomson Reuters Corporation Serles |l proference share (C$) C§0.47 C$0.48 - C$H0.53

(1} In 2016, we sold our Intellectual Property & Science husiness, which was reported as a discontinued opsration, Prior-year amounts have been have been restated to conform to
the cument years pressntation,
(2) Comptised of Long-term indebtodness” and "Other financial fiabilities” classified as non-sutrent in our consclidated statement of financial position.

Revenues declined over the thres-year pericd due to the negative impact of changes in foreign currency. On a constant currency basis, revenues
graw low single digits reflacting growth from our Legal and Tax & Accounting segments. Revenues from our Financial & Risk segment were
essentially unchanged, Acquisitions did not contribute a meaningful amount to revenue growth,

Operating profit declined in 2016 due to the fourth-quarter 2018 severance charges of $212 miilion to simplify and streamline our business. In
2014, operating profit included a $931 million gain for the release of accumulated foreign currency transtation adjustments from shareholders’
equity, The gain was triggerad by the loss of control of a subsidiary, which involved the settlement of an intercompany loan that had been
considered perrnanent.

Earnings from continuing operations declined over the three-year pericd primarily due to lower operating profit.

Earnings from discontinued operations, nel of tax includes the results of our Intellectuat Property & Science business, which was sold in 2016,
rasulting in a $2.0 billion gain.

Total assets declinad over the threeyear pariod due 1o changes in foreign cumency, depreciation of fixed assets, and amortization of compuler
software and other identifiable intangible assets. These decreases were paitly offset by capital expenditures.

Total long-term financial liabilities declined over the three-ysar paricd due to a decrease in term-debt obligations.
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Appendix F

Quartetly Information (unaudited)
The foliowing table presents a summary of our consolidated operating results for the eight most recent quarters.

Re

2,793 2,802 2,744 2,747 2,860 2,887
Operaling profit 310 345 385 386 294 433
Earnings from continuing operations 210 226 268 263 214 358
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax 62 55 18 30 1,067 59
Net earnings 272 320 281 286 293 2,241 417
Earnings attributable to common shareholders 262 305 262 273 280 2,226 408
Basie eamings per share
From cortinuing operations $0.26 $0.33 $0.29 $0.26 50,34 $0.32 $0.35 50.45
From discentinued operations 0.08 0.05 .06 .07 0,03 (.04 2.69 (3,08

$0.34 $0.38 $0.45 50,33 $0.37 $0.58 $3.04 $0.53

Diluted samings per share

From continuing operations 50,26 50,33 $0.39 $0.26 $0.34 $0.32 $0.35 $0.45

From discontinued operations 0.08 0.05 0.06 0.07 0.02 0.04 2.68 0.08
50.34 $0.38 $0.45 $0.33 $0.38 $0.36 $3.63 $0.53

Qur revenues and operating profit on a consclidated basis do not tend to be significantly impacted by seasonality as wa record a large portion of
our revenuss ratably over a contract term and our costs are generally Incurred svenly throughout the year. However, our non-recurring revenues
{such as transaction revenues) can cause changes in our parformance from quarter to consecutive quarter, Additionafly, the release of certain
print-based offetings can be seasonal as can certain product releases for the regulatory markets, which tend to be concentrated at the end of the
year. Our quarterly performance may also be impacted by volatile forelgn currency exchange rates. As a consequence, the results of certain of our
segments can be impacted by seasonality to a greater extent than our consolidated revenues and cperating profit,

RRevenues — In all perfods, the revenue declines were attributable to the negative impact of foreign currency,

On a constant currency basis, revenuss graw by low single digits in each quarter, except for the second quarter when revenues were essentially
unchanged. Our Tax & Accounting segment reported revenue growth in all four quarters. Financial & Risk revenues declined in the first and second
quarters, but increased in the third and fourth quariers of 2016, Financial & Risk’s revenue patformance over all periods reflected declines in
recoveries revenues and lhe pegalive impact of commaercial pricing adjustments associated with the migration of certain customers {o new
products, Acquisitions did not have a meaningful impact on revenus performance over the last four quarters.

Operating profit — In the fourth quarter, operating profit decreased due to $212 million of severance charges. In the first guarter, operating profit
decreased due to unfavorable fair value adjustrents associated with foreign currency embedded derivatives in certain customer contracts, In the
second quarter, operating profit increased due to favorable fair value adjustments.

Met earnings — In the fouith quarter, net eamings Incrsased due to the gain on sale of our Intellectual Property & Science business. in the first
¢uarter, net eamings decreased due to lower operating profit, while net earnings increased in the second quarter primarfly due 1o higher operating
profit.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The management of Thomson Reuters Corporation (the "Company”) is respansible for the accompanying consofidated financial statements and
other information included in this annual report. The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with Internationad Financial Reporting
Standards, as issued by the Internatichal Accounting Standards Board, using the best estimates and judgments of management, where
approptiate. information presented elsewhere in this annual report is consistent with that in the financial statements.

The Company’s board of directors is responsible for ensuring that managernent fulfills its responsibifities in respect of financial reporting and
internal control. The Audit Committee of the board of directors meets periodically with management and the Company's independent auditor to
discuss auditing matters and financial reporting issues. In addition, the Audit Committee approves the interim consolidated financial statements
and recommaends to the board of directors the approval of the annual consolidated financlal statements and the annual appointment of the
independent auditor. The board of directors has approved the Information contained in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

o o % —éjﬁ}

James C. Smith Stephane Bello
President and Chief Executive Gfficer Exacutive Vice President and Chisf Financial Officer

March 9, 2017

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.

Intemnal centrol over financial reporting is & process that was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
veporting and the preparation of financiat statements for extarnal purposes in accordance with Intemationad Financial Reporting Standards (1FRS"),
as issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board. Internal control over financial reperting includes those policies and procedures that

{i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and falrly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
Thomson Reuters Corporation {the "Company™); (i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessairy o permit
preparation of financial statements In accordance with [FRS, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only In
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (i} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detaction of unauthoiized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstaternents. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future pericds are subject to the risk that conirols may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may detericrale.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectivenass of its system of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework and
critetia established in Intemal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
Dacember 31, 2016,

The effectiveness of the Company’s Internal control over financial reporting as of Dacember 31, 2016 has been audited by
PricewatsrhouseCoopers LLP, independent ragistered public accounting firm, as stated in its report which appears herein.

it /fcﬁ;gé/‘ ﬁ;?@z é‘
James G, Smith Stephane Bsallo
President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officar

March 9, 2017
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Report of independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders of Thomeon Reuters Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position and the related consofidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flow present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Thomson Reuters Corpotalion and its
subsidiarias {the "Company™) at December 31, 2016 and Decembar 31, 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2016 in conformity with Intemational Financial Repeiting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all matetial respects, effective interal control over financial
reporting as of Degember 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Intemal Control - lntegrated Framework (2013} issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ). The Company's management is responsible for these financial statemeants, for
maintaining effective intarnal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Managemeant's Repert on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on
these financial stalerments and on the Company's intemnal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financiaf statements are
free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all matssial respects. Our audits of
the financial staterments included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statemants,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overal] financial statement
presentation. Qur audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial raporting,
assessing the fdsk that a materal weskness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal contrel based on
the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s intemnal control aver financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
repotting and the preparation of financial statements for extemnal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reporing includes those policies and procedures that () pertain to the malntenance of records that, in
reascnable detail, accurately and fairy reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (i) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to parmit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made enly in accordance with authorizations of managament and directors
of the company; and {i#i) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevantion or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company's assets that could have a material effact on the financial statements.

Because of ifs Inherent limitations, Internal control ever financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effactiveness fo future paricds are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseGoopers LLP
New York, Mew York

March 9, 2017

Paye 28



Table of Contents

Thomsoen Reuters Annual Report 2016

THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

I
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Revenues 11,168 11,257
Qperating expenses 5 {8,232} (8,162}
Depreclation {313} (340}
Amortization of computer sofiware {7i1) {694}
Amartization of other identiffable infangible assets (528) (548}
OCiher operating gains, net 8 8 13
Operating profit 1,390 1,526
Finance costs, net

Net interest expense 7 {403} (416)

Other finance incoma 7 50 41
Income befors tax and equity method investmants 1,037 1,151
Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments 4 10
Tax benefit (expenge) 8 15 {34)
Eamings from continuing operations 1,058 1,127
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax 9 2,093 184
Net earoings 3,149 1,311
Farnings attributable to:
Common shareholders 3,098 1,255
Non-gontrolling interests il 56
Earnings per shars: G
Basic earnings per share

From centinuing operations $1.34 $1.37

From discontinued operations 2,80 0.23
Basic samings per share $4.14 $1.60
[Huted earnings per share

From continuing operations $1.34 $1.37

From discontinuead operations 279 0.23
Diluted sarnings pet share $4.13 $1.60

The related noies form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net sarnings

Other comprehensive loss:
ltems that have been ot may be subsequently reclassified to net earnings:

Cash flow hedges adjustments to net earnings 18 {46} 306

Cash flow hedges adiustments to equity 18 42 (238)

Foreign currency transhation adiustments o equity 18 {575) (570}

Reclassification of forelgn currency translation adjustments on dispesal of buginess 18 (19} -

{584} (552)

Hems that will not be reclassified to net sarnings:

Rameasurement on defined benefit pension plans 25 (67} 110

Related tax benedil (expense) on yemeasurement on definad benefit pension plans 8 9 {54}

(o8) 56,

Other comprahensive loss {656) {456)
Tolal comprehensive income 2,493 815
GComprghernsive income for the period attributable to;
Common shareholders:

Continuing operations 368 573

Discontinued operafions 2,056 168
Non-controfling interests 49 54
Total comprehensive income 2,493 815

The related notes form an integral part of thase consolidated financial statements.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASS

Cash and cash equivalents 11 2,368 9686
Trade and other receivables 12 1,392 1,732
Other financiad assets 18 88 176
Prepald expenses and other current assets 13 686 683
Current assets 4,634 3,567
Somputer hardwara and other property, net 14 961 1,067
Computer software, net 15 1,364 1,486
Other identifiable intangible assets, net 16 5,655 6,417
Goodwil 17 14,485 15,878
Other financial asssls 18 135 116
Other non-current assets 19 837 544
Deferred tax 22 ] . 47
Total assets 27,862 29,112
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilitios

Current indebtedness 18 1,111 1,595
Payables, accraals and provisions 20 2,448 2.255
Deofarred revenue 901 1,319
Other financial fiabiiities 18 102 238
Currert liahilities 4,552 5,407
Long-term indebtedness 18 5,278 6,829
Provisions and other non-current kabilities 21 2,258 2,124
Other financial kabilifies 18 340 387
Defarred tax 22 1,158 1,265
Total liabilifies 14,506 45,012
Equity

Capital 23 9,580 9,852
Refained earnings T4F7 6,458
Accumulaled ofher comprehensive loss 4,293} (3.e87)
Total shareholders’ equity 12,773 12,613
Non-controfiing interests AB3 487
Total equity 13,256 13,100
Total labiitiss and equity 27,882 29,112

Caontingencies {note 28)
The related notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents.

These consolidated financial statements ware approved by the Company’s board of direstors on March 1, 2017,

( oh KA s
e (5 gy

Bavid Thomson James C. Smith
Director Director
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Cash provided by {used in):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Earnings from continuing cperations 1,058 1,127
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 313 340
Amortization of computer software 711 694
Arnortization of other identifiable: Intangible assets 528 548
Net gains on disposals of businesses and investments (3) {24}
Deferred tax 22 {11) (144)
Other 26 238 236
Changes in working capital and other itoms 26 18 {186)
Operating cash flows from continuing cperations 2,900 2,541
Operating cash flows from discontinued operations 84 297
Nel cash provided by operating aclivities 2,984 2,838
MVESTING ACTIVITEES
Asyuisitions, net of cash acquired 27 (112} (37)
Proceeds from disposals of businesses and investments, net of taxes paid 5 83
Capital expenditures, less proceeds from disposals (905} (951}
Other investing activities A 21
Investing cash flows from continuing operations {972} (824}
Investing cash flows from discontinued operations, net of taxes pald 3,158 (52)
Net cash providad by (used in) nvesting activities 2,188 (938)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from debl 18 458 4
Repayments of debl 18 {503} (594)
Net (repayments) borrowlgs under shart-term loan facilities 18 11,038} 1,037
Repurchases of commen shares 23 {1,873} (1,417)
Dividends paid on preference shares {2} 3}
Dividends paid on common shares 23 {980} (1,013}
Dividends paid to non-controling interests (57} (53
Other financing zcliviies a3 57
Net cash used in financing activities {3,712} {1,971)
Increase (decrease) in cash and bank overdrafls 1,458 {59}
Translation adjustmenlts {13) {24}
Cash and bank overdrafts at beginning of peried 922 1,015
Cash and bank overdrafts al end of period 2,367 922
Cash and bank overdrafis at end of period comprisad of: '
Cash and cash squivalents 11 2,368 966
Bank overdrafls (1) (44)
2,387 ) 922
Supplernental cash flow infermation is provided in note 26.
Interest paid {347) (37
Income taxes paid 26 {347) {206)

Interest paid is reflected as an operating cash flow and is nat of debt-related hedges.
fhcome taxes pald are reflected as either operating or investing cash flows depending on the nature of the undetiying transaction.

The related notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

13.733).

Total comprahansive insoms (loss) -
Change tn cwnarship intarest of

subsidiary =
Disfrihutions to non-sentrelling

interests -

Dividends declared on preference
shares -
Dividends declared on common

21 4

{2)

shares - (1,018
Shares tssuesd under Dividend

Relnvestment Plan {'DRIP?) 35 35
Repurchases of common shares 475 {3,498)
Stock compensatlon plans 145 78
RBalanca, Dacember 31, 2016 9,393 12,773

Balanca, Dacember 3%, 2014

(3,168)

Net earnings -
Cther comprehensive incoma {loss) -

18 (568)

Total comprehenslve income (foss} -

{568)

Change in ownemnship Intarest of

suhsidiary -
Distributlons to non-controlling Interests -
Dividends daclarad on preferance

shares - -
Dividends declared on common shares - -
Shares issued under DRIP a3 -
Rapurchases of commeon shares (415) -
Pre-defined share repurchagse plan (55) “
Stock competisailon plans 147 (15) ¢ .
Balanee, Decamber 31, 2015 4,888 156 R5 458 36

12,613

The related notes form an integral part of these consciidated financial statements.
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Thomson Reuters Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{unless otherwise stated, all amounts are In millions of U.S, doliars)

Note 1: Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

General business description

Thomson Reuters Corporation (the "Company” or "Themson Reuters™ is an Ontario, Canada corporation with common shares listed on the Toronto
Stock Exchange (‘TSX") and the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") and Series 1l preference shares listed on the TSX. The Company is a major
source of news and information for professional markets, operating in more than 10¢ countries.

These consalidated financial statements were appraved by the Company’s board of directors on March 1, 2017,

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial stalements were prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS"), as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™), on a going cohcern basts, under the historleal cost convention, as moditied by the revaluation
of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certaln critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2,

In October 2016, the Company sold its Intellectual Property & Sclence busingss, which was reported as a discontinued operation. Prior petiod
amounts have been restated to conform fo the current period's presentation, as prescribed by IFRS 5, Non-current Asssts Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Referances to "$" are to U.5. dollars, references (o "C§" are to Canadian dollars, references to “E" are to British pounds sterling and references to
“¢" are to Euros.

Prior-year amounts have been reclassified to raflsct the current presentation,

Changes in accounting policies

tn April 2018, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC™) issued an agenda decision regarding the treatment of
offsetiing and cash-pooling arrangesments In accordance with 1AS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentaiion. This decision provided additional
guidance ragarding when bank overdrafts in cash-pocling arrangements would meet the requirernents for offsetling in accordanse with IAS 32,
Following this additional guidance, the Company changed its accounting policy and revised the amounts of cash and ¢cash equivalents and current
indebiedriess in the consolidated statement of financlal position and cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts in the consolidated statement
of cash flow. The impact was as foliows:

cash and cash equivalents and current indebtedness increased $40 million in equal and offsetting amounts in the conselidated statement of
financial position at December 31, 2015; and

cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts increased 540 million in equal and offseiting amounts In the consolldated statement of cash
flow for the year ended December 31, 2015,

Principles of conselidation
The consdlidated financial statements of the Company inciude the accounts of all of its subsidiaries.

Page 85



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2018

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has control, whers control is defined as the power to govem financial and operating policies.
Generally, the Company has a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting rights in its subsidiardes. The effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable are considered when assassing whether control exists, Subsidiaries are fully consalidated from the date control is transferred
te the Company, and are de-consolidated from the date control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiarias as follows:

acquisition cost is measured as the fair value of the asssis given, equity Instruments issusd and liabiities Incurred or agsumed at the date of
axchange, exciuding transaction costs which are expensetl as incurred;

identifiable assels acquired and liabilities assumed are measurad at their fair values at the acquisition date;
the excess of acquisition cosl aver the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill;

*if the acquisition cost is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the fair value of the net assels is re-assessed and any remaining
difference is recognized directly in the consolidated income statement,

*+ gontingent consideration is measured at fair value on the acquisition date, with subsequent changes in the fair value recorded through the
consofidated income statement when the contingent consideration is a financial liability. Contingent consideration is not re-measured when it is
an equily instrument; and

* upon gaining contrel in a step acquisition, the existing ownership interest is re-measured to fair value through the consolidated income
statement.

Intercompany transactions between subsidiaries are eliminated in consclidation,

Non-controlling interests represent third party shareholdings in a subsidiary controlied by the Company. Non-controlling interesis are measured at
fair value on the date acquired plus Lheir proportionate share of subsequent changes in equity. Transactions with third party shareholders, including
purchases and sales of ownership interests, that do not result in a change of control in a subsidiary are recorded directly in equity. Sales of
ownership interests that result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are recorded in sagnings.

Equity method investees
Equity method investess are entities over which the Company has significant Influence, but not control. Generally, the Company has a

shareholding of between 20% and £0% of the veling rights in its equity method investees. invesiments in equity method investees are accounted
for using the equity method as follows:

investments are initially recognized at cost;
*+ equity method investees include goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss;

the Company's share of post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized In the conselidated income statement and is adjusted against tha
carrying amount of the investrmants;

when the Company’s share of losses squals or exceeds its interest in the investee, the Company does not recognize further losses, unless it
has incumed obligations or made payments on behalf of the Investes; and

+ gains and losses on transactions between the Company and Its equity method investess are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s intsrest
in these entities.
Joint ventures

Joint ventures are entities over which the Company has joint control with one or more unaffiliated entities. Joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method as described under equity method investees,

The accounting policias of subsidiaiies, equity method investess and joint ventures were changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopled by the Company.

Operating segments

The Company's operating segments are organized around the markets it serves and are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
pravided to the chief operating decision-maker ("CODM”). The Chief Executive Officer has authority for resource sliocation and assessment of the
Company's periormance and is therefore the CODIM.
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Foreign currency
The consoclidated financial statemants are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s presentation currency.

The financial statements of each of the Company's subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary econoric environment in which
the subsidiary operates {the “functional currency”). Foreign currency transactions are transiated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing al the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the setement of such transactions as well as
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of the subsidiary, are recognized in the
consolidated income siatement, except for qualifying cash flow hedges which are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive loss in
shareholders’ equity.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the following are presented in the consolidated income statement within “Finance costs, net"
borrowings and refated hedging Instruments;
cash and cash equivalents; and
intercompany loans that are not permanent in nature,

Assels and Habilities of antities with functional currencies other than U.S. dollars are translated to WLS, dollays at the period end rates of exchange,
and the results of their operations are translated at average rates of exchange for the period. The resulting transiation adjustments are included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity. Additionatly, foreign exchange gains and losses related to certain intetcompany
foans that are parmanent in nature are inciuded in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Upon loss of control, significant influence or joint control of the applicable entity, accumulated foreign exchange grins and losses, including those
arsing from setberment of intercompany loans previously considered permanent in nature, are recycied from accumeiated other comprehensive
joss to “Other oparating gains, net” or to discontinued operations, as applicable within the consolidated income staternent.

All other forsign exchange gaing and losses are presanted in the consolidated income statement within “Operaling expsnses”™.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair valus of the consideration received or receivable, net of estimated returns, discounts, value-added and othsr sales
taxes, and after eliminating intercompany sales. The Company bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognized when the following criteria are met:
the amourt of revenue can be measured reliably;
+ the stage of completion can be measured raliatdy;
the receipt of ecenomic benefits is probable; and
costs incurred and to be incurred can be measured reliably.
Ravenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the following criteria are mef:
the risks and rewards of ownership, including managerial invelvement, have transferred to the buyer;
+ the amount of revenua can be measurad reliably;
* the receipt of economic benefits is probable; and
= costs incurred or to be incurired can be measured reliably,
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In addition to the above general principles, the Company applies the following specific revenue recognition policies:

Subscription-based products, including software term lcenses

Subscription revenues from sales of produsts and services that are delivered under a contract over & period of time are recognized on a siraight-
line basls over the term of the subscription. Where applicable, usage fees above a base perind fee are recognized as services are delivered.
Subscription revenue received or receivable in advance of the delivary of services or publications is included in deferred revenus,

Muliiple component arangements

When a single sales fransaction requires the delivery of more than one product or service (multiple components), the revenue recognition criterla
are applied to the separately identifiable components, A component is considered to be separately identifiable if the product or service daliversd
has stand-alone value to that customer and the fair vaiue associated with the product or serviee can be measured reliably, The amount recognized
as revenue for each component is the fair value of the alement In ralation to the fair value of the arangement as a whole.

Inataflation or implementation services

Certain arrangements include instaliation or implementation services. Consulting revenues from these arrangements are accounted for separately
from software or subscription revenus If the services have stand-slong value to that custamer and the amount attributed to the services can be
measured reliably. f the services do not qualify for separate accounting, they are recognized togethear with the related software or subscription
revenue,

Sales involving third parties
Revenus from sales of third party vendor products or services is recorded net of costs when the Company is acting as an agent between the
customer and vendor and recorded gross when the Company is a principal to the transaction.

Other service contiacts

For service or consulting arrangements, revenues are recognized as services are performed, generally based on hours incurmed relative to total
hotrs expected to be incurred.

Employae future benefits

For defined henefit pension plans and other postemployment benefits, the net periadic pension expense is actuarially determined on an annual
basis by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The determination of benefit expense requires assumptions such as the
discount rate, which is used to measure service cosi, bensfit pian obligations and the net interest income {expense) on the net benefit plan assets
{obligations). Other significant assumptions inciude expected mortality, the expected rate of increase with respact to future compensation and
pension payments as well as the expected healthcare cost trend rate. Actual results will differ from results which are estimated based on
assumptions. Past service cost arising from plan amendments is recognized immediately in the consclidated income slatement.

The asset or liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position is the present value of the defined benefit abligation at the end
of the reporting period less the fair value of plan asseis. The present valus of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outffows using interast rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. All actuarial gains and losses that arise in
calculating the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the falr value of plan assels are recognized immediately in refained samings and
included In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. For funded plans, surpluses are recognized only to the extent that the surplus s
considered recoverable. Recoverability is primarily based on the extent to which the Company can unilaterally reduce future contributions to the
plan.

Paymenis to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred, which is as the related employes service is rendered.

Share-based compensation plans

The Company operates a number of equily-settied and cash-seitled share-based compensation plans under which it receives services from
employees as consideration for equity insirumenis of the Company or cash payments based on the value of equity instruments of the Company.
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For equity-settled share-based compensalion, axpense is based on the grant date fair value of the awards expected 1o vest over the vesting
perlod. For cash-settled share-bassd compensation, the expense is determined based on the fair value of the liability at the end of the reperting
period until the award is settled. The expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which ail of the specified vesting
conditions are satisfied. For awards with graded vesting, the fair valus of each tranche is recognized over its respective vesting petiod. At the end
of each reparting period, the Company re-assesses iis estimates of the number of awards that are expected to vest and recognizes the impact in
the consolidated income statement,

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are generally payable when an employesg is terminated before the normal retirement date or accepts voluntary redundancy.
The associated charges are recognized when the Cormnpany can no longer withdraw the offer of termination benefits as follows:

Voluntary redundancy - recognized the eatlier of when the employee accants the offer and when the Company is restricted from withdrawing the
offer; or

involuntary termination - recognized when the Company has communicated to the affected employees a termination plan that is unlikely to
change, describing (a) the type and amount of benefits, (b) the number, job classifications or functions and locations of employees to be
terminated and {c) the plan's expected completion dats.

Profit sharing and bonus plans

Liahilities for profit sharing and bonuses are recognized based on a formula thal takes into consideration various financial metrdics after certain
adjustments. The Company recognizes an accrual whers contractually obliged or where thera is a past praclice that has created a constructive
cbiligation to make such compensation payments.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash en hand, demand deposits and investments with an original maturity at the date of purchase of threg
months or less,

Trade receivables

Trade recelvables are amounts due from customers from providing services or the sale of goods in the ordinary course of business, Trade
receivables are classified as cument assets if payment is due within one year or iess. Trade recelvables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost, less impairment.

The Company maintains an allewance for doubiful accounts and sales adjustments to provide for impairment of trade receivables. The expense
refating to doubtful accounts is included within “Operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement. Revenues are recorded net of sales
adjustments.

Computer hardware and other property
Computer hardware and ather property are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer hardware 3-5 yoars n
Buildings and building improvements 5.40 years
Fumiture, fhttures and equipment 5.7 yenrs

Residual values and useful lives ars reviewed af the end of sach reporting peried and adjusted if appropriate.
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Intangible assets

Computer software
Certain costs incusred in connaction with the development of software to be used internally or for providing services {o customers are capitalized
once a project has progressed beyond a conceptual, preliminary stage to that of application development. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controiled by the Company are recognized as intangible assels
when the following criteria are met:
= it is technically feasible to complete the software product s that it will he available for use;

management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other rescurcas to complete the development and to use or sell the software product are available; and
+ the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured,
Costs that qualify for capitalization include both intemal and external costs, but are limited to those that are directly related to the specific project.
The capitalized amounts, net of accumulated amortization, ara included in “Computer software, net” in the consolidated statement of Tinancial
position. These costs are amortized over their expected useful lives, which range from three to five years. Amortization expense is inciuded in

“smortization of computer software” in the conselidated income statement. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and adjusted if appropriate,

Goodwill

Goodwill reprasents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company's share of the identifiable net assets of the
acquired subsidiary or equity msthod investee at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried &t cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include an allecation of goodwill.

Other identifiable intangible assets
Upon acqguisition, identifiable intangibls assets are recorded at fair vaiue and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization,

Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful fives as follows:

Trade names 2-20 yoars
Cusiomer refationshins 3-30 years
Databases and content 3-30 years
Other 2-30 vears

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

Impairment

Inpairments are recorded when the recoverable amount of assets is less than their canying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
assel’s fair value less costs of disposal or its valua in use. Impairment losses, other than those relating 1o goodwill, are evaluated Tor poltential
reversals when events or changes in circumslances warrant such consideration,

intangible assets

The carrying values of all intangible assets are reviewed for impairmant whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their camrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Additionally, the carrying values of identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill are testsd
annually for impaiement. For purposes of impairment testing:

the fair value of trade names is determined using ah income approach, specifically the reflef from royalties method; and
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goodwill is allocated to cash-ganerating units ("CGUs") or groups of CGUs based on the level at which management monitors it, which is not
higher than an operating segment. Goodwlll is allocated to those CGUs of groups of CGUs that ave expected to bensfit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose,

Non-financial assets

The cartying value of a non-financial asset with a finite life, such as computer hardware or software, is assessed for impainment whenaver events
or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable. In addition, a long-lived asset that is not amaortized, such as
an equity investment, Is subject to annual of more frequent impaiiment assessments. An asset is assessed for impairment at the lowest level that
the asset generates cash inflows that are largely independent of cash inflows from other assets. The lowest level may be an individual asset ora
group of assets that form a CGU.

Dizposal of long-lived assets and discontinued operations

Long-ived assets are classified as held for sale if the carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continved use and such sale Is considered highly probable. The criteria for classification as hekd for sale include a firm decision by management or
the board of directors to dispose of a businsss or a group of selecied assets, an active marketing plan, and the expectation that such disposal will
be completed within a 12 month period. Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their camying amounts or their fair value less costs of
disposal and are no longer depreciated. Assets held for sale are classified as discontinued operations If the operations and cash flows can be
clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes from the rest of the Company and they:

* represent a separate major lins of business or geographical area of operations;

+ agre pagt of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
* are a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view {o resals,

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations t¢ pay for goods or services that havs been acquired in the ordinary course of business, Trade payables are initially
recogiized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest mathod. Trade payabies are classifled as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year ot less.

Provisions

Provisions reprasent liabilities of the Company for which the amount or timing is uncettain. Provisions are recognized when the Company has a
prasent legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an cutfiow of rescurces will be required to seltie the obligation,
and the amount can be reliably eslimated. Provisions ars not recognized for fulure operating losses. Provisions are measured at the present value
of the axpected expenditures to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of monsy
and the risks specfific to the obligation. The Increase in the provision dus to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

indebtedness

Debt is recognized initially at fair value, net of fransaction costs incurred. Debt is subsequently stated at amortized cost with any difference
between the proceeds (nat of transactions costs) and the redemption value recognized in the consolidated income statement over the term of the
debt using the effective interest method. Where a debt Instrument is In a falr value hedging relationship, a fair value adjustment is made to its
carrying value to reflect hedged risk. Interest on indebtedness is expensed as incurred unless capitalized for gualifying assets in accordancs with
1AS 23, Borrowing Cosis.

Debt is elassifiad as & current Hablity unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Leases

Leases mre classified as either operating or finance, based on the substance of the transaction at inception of the lease. Classification is
re-assessed if the terms of the lease are changed.
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Qperating lease
lLeases in which a significant portion of the rigks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments

undar an operating lease {net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognized in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

Finance lease

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transfered to the Company are classified as finance leases. Assets
mgeting finance lease criteria are capitalized at the lower of the present value of the related lease payments or the fair value of the jeased asset at
the inception of the lease. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the liability. The finance charge i allocated
to sach petiod during the lease term sc as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the Fability.

Financlal assels

Purchases and sales of financial asssts are recognized on the seitlernent daie, which is the date on which the asset is delivered to or by the
Company. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or were transferred and the
Company has transferred substantially aHl rizsks and rewards of ownership. Financlal assets are classified in the following categories at the time of
initial recogrition based on the purpose for which ths financial assets were acquired:

Financlal assets at fair value through the consolidated income statement
+ Classification
Financial assets are classified at fair valug through the consolidated income statement if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the

short=term, such as financial assets held for trading, or if so designated by management. Assets in this category principally include embedded
detivatives and forward foreign exchange coniracis.

* Recognition and measurement
Financial assets carried at fair value through the consolidated income statement are initiadly recognized, and subsequently camled, at fair value,
with changes recognized in the consolidated income statement. Transaction costs are expensed.

Cash, trade and other recsivables

» Classification
Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not guoted in an active market.
They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period, which are
classified as non-curent assets, “Trade and other receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents” are classified as current assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are inilially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at amotiized cost using the
effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets

+ Classification
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories,
They are included in other non-current financial assets unless management intends o dispase of the investment within 12 months of the end of
the reporting period. Included within this category are investments in entities over which the Company does not have control, joint contral or
significant influence.

* Recognition and measurement
Investmsnts are initially recognized at fair value plus fransaction costs and are subsequently caried at fair value with changes recognized in
other comprehensive income or loss. Upon sale or impairment, the accumuiated fair value adjustments are recycled from accumulated other
comprehensive loss to "Other operating gains, net” within the consofidated incoma statement.
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Offsetting financial instruments

Financiat assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceabla
right to offset the recognized amounts and thers is an intention to settle on a net basis or to simultaneously realize the asset and settle the
fiability. Bank overdrafts in cash pooling arrangemants may only be netted against cash and cash equivalents when settlement occurs on or about
the end of the reporting period.

Impainment of financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is objective avidence that a financial asset is impaired. Impalrments are
measured as the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value and are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Derivative financial instruments and hadging

Derivatives are inltially recognized at fair value on the date a contract is entered into and are subsequently re-msasured at their fair value. The
method of recagnizing the resulting galn or toss depends on whether the derlvative is designated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the
item being hedged.

The Company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged ltems, as well as its risk
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Company also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hadging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in {air
values or cash flows of hedged Hems,

Non-performance risk, including the Company’s own credit risk, is considered when determining the fair value of financlal instruments,

The Company designates certain detivatives as eithen

Fair value hedges

These are hedges of the fair value of recognized assets, Habilities or a firm commitment. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated as fair value hedges are recorded in the consolidated income statement together with any changes In the falr value of the hedgsd
asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

* Cash flow hedges
These are hedges of highly probable forecast transactions. The effective portion of changes in the falr value of derivatives that are designated
as a cash How hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. The gain or loss relating $o the ineffective portion is recognized
immediately in the consolidated income statement. Additionaily:

—  amounts accurmulated in other comprehensive income or loss are recycled to the consolidated income statement in the period when the
hedged item will affect eamings;

-~ when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no tonger meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
loss in other comprehensive income or loss remaing in other comprehensive income or loss and is recognized when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognized in the consolidated income staternant; and

— when a forecast transaction is no longer axpected to aocour, the cumulative gain or foss that was reported in other comprehensive income or
loss is immediately recognized in the consolidated income statement,

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative Instruments, while providing effective economic hedges, are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes. Changss in the
fair value of any derivatives that are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes are recognized within "Other finance {costs) inceme” or
"Operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement consistent with the underlying nature and purpose of the dervative Instruments,
Settlements from these instruments are classifiad within “Net cash provided by operating activitias” in the consolidated statement of cash flow,
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Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a feature within a contract where the cash fiows associated with that feature behave in a similar fashion o a stand-
alone derivative. The Company has embedded foreign currency derivatives in cariain revenue and purchase contracts where the currency of the
contract s different from the functional or local currencies of the parties involved, These derivatives are accounted for as separate instruments
and are measured at fair value at the end of the raporting period using forward exchange market rates, Changes in their fair values are recognized
within "Operating expenses” in the consolidatad income statement.

Taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognized in the consalidated income sialement except to the extent it relates to
items recognized in other comprehensive income or loss or directly in aquity.

Cursent tax

Current tax expense is based on the results for the perlod as adjusted for items that are currently not taxable or not deductibla. Current tax is
calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting peried. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken In tax retums with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Frovisions are
sstablished where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 1o be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized, using tha llability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
cartying amounts in the consolidated statement of financial position. Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and which are expectad to apply when the related deferred income tax assel is realized or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax Habilities:
are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences;

* are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on investments In subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the
reversal of the temporary differencs can be controlled and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future or create a
tax fiability; and

= are not recognized on temporary differences that arlse fram goodwill that is not deductible for tax purposes.

Deferred tax assels:
are recognized o the extent it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilized; and

are reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that i is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset o be recovered,

Deferred tax asseis and Kabilities are not recognized in respect of temporary differences that arise on initial recognition of assets and labilities
acguired other than in a business combination.
Note 2: Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires management to maka estimates and judgrents about the fulure. Estimates and judgments are
continualiy evaluated and are based on historical experience and other facters, ncluding expectations of future events that are belioved to be
reasonable under the circumstancss. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual resulis. The foliowing discussion sets forih
management's:

most critical estimates and assumptions in determining the value of assets and abilities; and
most crifical judgments in applying accounting policias.,
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Criticad accounting estimates and assumptions

Allowance for doubtful accounis and sales adjustments

The Company rmust assess whether accounts receivable are collectible from customers. Accordingly, managerent establishes an allowance for
astimated losses arising from non-payment and other sales adjustrnents, taking into consideration customer creditworthiness, current economic
trends and past experignce. I future collections differ from estimates, future earings would ba affected. At December 31, 2018, the combined
allowances were $87 million, or 6%, of the gross frade accounts recelvable balance of $1.4 billion. An increase 1o the reserve based on 1% of
accounts recsivable would have decreased pre-tax eamings by approximately $14 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Computer software

Computer software represented $1.4 billion of total assets in the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2016, A significant
portion of ongoing expenditures relate to software that Is developad as part of electronic databases, delivery systems and internal infrastnictures,
and, to a lesser extent, software sold directly to customers, As part of the software development process, management must estimate the
expacted period of benefit over which capitalized costs should be amortized. The basis of these estimates includaes the fiming of technological
obsolescence, competitive pressures, historical experience and internal business plans for the use of the sofiware. Due 1o rapidly changing
technology and the uncertainty of the software development process itself, future resulls could be affected if management's current assessment of
its software projects differs from actual performance,

Cther identifiable intangible assets and goodwill

QOther identifiable intangible assets and goodwilf represented $5.7 billion and $14.5 billion, respectively, of total assets in the consolidated
statemnent of financial position at December 31, 2016. Other identifiable intangible assets and goodwill arise out of business combinations.
Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, which requires the Company to identify and attribute values
to the intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair value as wall as o estimats their useful lives. These determinations invalve
significant estimates and assumptions regarding cash flow projections, economic risk and weighted-average cost of capital. The excess of
acquisition cost over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Subsequent to acquisition, the Company tests other identifiable infangible assets and goodwill for impairment as required. The outcome of these
tests is highly dependent on management’s latest estimates and assumplions regarding cash flow projections, economic risk and weighted-
average cost of capital,

If future events or resudts differ adversely from the estimates and assumptions made at acquisition or as parf of subsequent impairment tests, the
Company could record increased amortization or impairment charges in the future.

See note 17 for discussion of the annual impairment testing of goodwili.

Employee future benefits

The Cornpany sponsors defined baneflt plans providing pension and other post-employmaent benefits to covered employees, The determination of
benefit expense associated with employee future benefits requives assumptions such as the discount rate, which is used to measure seivice cost,
benefit plan obligations and the net interest income {expense) on the net benefit plan assets (ohligations ), Cther significant assumptions include
expectad mortality, the expected rate of increase with respect to futura compensation and pension payments as well as the expected healthcare
cost trend rate. Because the determination of the cost and obligations associated with employee future benefits requires the use of varicus
assumptions, there is measuremant uncertainty inherent in the actuarial valuation process. Actual resuits wilf differ from resuits which are
estimated based on assumptions. See note 25 for further detalls ingluding an estimate of the impact on the consolidated financial statements from
changes in the rmost criticat assumptions.

Income taxes

The Company computes an incomeg tax provision in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. These income {ax provisions include amounts
that are based upon the Company’s estimates and assumplicns regarding prices and values used to record intercompany transactions. Actual
amounts of income tax expense only bscome final upon filing and acceptance of the tax retum by the relevant authorities, which cccurs
subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements. Additionally, estimation of income taxes includes evaluafing the recoverability of deferred
tax assets based on an assessment of the akility to use the underlying future tax deductions before they expire against future taxable incoma. The
assessment is based upon existing tax laws and estimates of fufure taxable income. To the extent estimates differ from the final tax retum,
earnings would be affected in a subsequent period.
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In interim periods, the income tax provision is based on estimates of full-year eamings by jurisdiction. The average annual effective income tax
rales are re-estimatad at each interim reporting date. To the extent that forecasts differ from actual resulis, adjustments are recorded in
subsequent periods. See note 8 for further details on income taxes inciuding a discussion on sensitivity.

Critical jJudgments in applying accounting policles

Revenue recognition

As described in note 1, the Company assesses the ciiteria for the recognition of ravenus related to arrangements that have multiple components.
These assessments require judgment by managerneant to determine if there are separately identifiable components as welt as how (o allocate the
total price amony the components. Deliverables are accourted for as separately identifiable compoenents if they can be understood without
reference o the seriss of ransactions as a whole, In concluding whether componests are separately identifiabls, management considars the
transaction from the customer's parspective, Among other factors, management assesses whether the service or good Is sold separately by the
Campany in the normaf course of business or whather the customer could purchase the ssrvice or good separately. With respsct to the allocation
of price among components, management uses its judgment to assign a fair value to each component. As evidence of fair value, managsment
looks to such items as the price for the component when sold separately, renewal rates for specific components and prices for a similar preduct
sold separataly.

Uncertain tax positions

The Company is subject io taxation in numerous jurisdictions and is routinely under audit by many different taxing authorities in the ordinary
course of business. There are many transactions and calculations during the course of business for which the uitimate tax determination is
uncertain, as taxing authorities may challenge some of the Company’s positions and propose adjustments or changes to its tax filings. As a result,
the Company maintains provisions for uncertain tax positicns that it believes appropriately reflect its risk, These provisions are made using the
Company's best estimates of the amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment of all refevant factors. The Company raviews the
adequacy of these provisions at the end of each reporting pericd and adjusts them based on changing facts and clrcumstances. Due to the
uncertainty associated with tax audits, it is possible that at some future date, lishilities resulting from such audits or related litigation could vary
slgnificantly from the Company's provisions. Where the final outcome of these tax-related matters Is different from the amounts that were Initially
recorded, such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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Note 3: Recent Accounting Fronocuncements
Pronouncements issued by the IASB or IFRIC that are applicable or conseguential to the Company are described below.

Pronouncements effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2018:

FRS15  Revenus from
Conirasts
with
Customors

IFRS 15 Is the culmination of a joint project batwean the IASE and the Flnancial Accounting Standards Board, the accounting standard
saiter in the U.8,, to create a single revenue standard. The cors principle of IFRS 15 is that an antity recognizes revenus to deplct the
transfer of promised goods or services to customars in an ameunt that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. The new slandard moves away from a revenue recognition medel based on an sarnings process
to an approach that is basad on transfar of controf of a good or service 1o a customer, Additionally, the new standard requires disclosures
as to the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 shall be
applied ratrospectivaly to each pericd presented or retrospectively as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption.

Based on a preliminary assessment, the Company expects that the standard wilt nol have a materiat impact on revenues. The Company
derives the majority of its rovenues from seling electrenic content and services on a subscriplion basis. As a resudt, the majority of Its
révenus wil conlinue 1o ba recognized ratably ovar the term of the subscription under IFRS 15. However, under the new standard, the
Company will recognize revenue for certain term lisenses of intellectual property at the time control is transferred to the cusiomer, rather
than over the license term, and will reflect cerfain contingent payouts as a reduction of revenue, rather than as expense,

The Company is stil assessing the impact of IFRS 15 on its operating expenses. Management expects that a larger portion of its
commission expenses for sales employees will he defarred, and that a substantial portion of these deferrals will be subjecl to a longer
amortization life under IFRS 18. In 2016, commission expenses were $300 milkon.

Sinca interpretation of the guidance continues to evalve, the Company considers its current assessment subject to change. Additionaly,
managemont is currently identifying applicable changes e its business processes and controls to supporl recognition and disclosure under
the new standard. The Gompany will provide more information as it becomes available during 2017,

IFRS5 9 Finaneial
Instruments

I¥RS 9 replaces |AS 38 — Financial instruments: Recogniion and Measurement. The new standard addresses classification and
measurament, impairmant and hedge accounting.

Classification and measurement

The new standard raguires the classification of financia! assets based on business model and cash flow characteristics measured at efther
(a) amortized cost; {b) falr value through profit or loss; or (c) fair value through other comprehensive incorne or oss. For financial Fabilties,
the standard retaing most of the LAS 39 requirements, ud where the fair value option is faken, the part of a fair value change dug (o an
entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income or loss rather than the income statement.

Imipairment

Under the forward locking impairment model, expected credit losses are recognized as soon as a {inancial asset i originated or
purchased, rather than watting for a {rigger event to record a loss.

Hadge accounting

The new standard more closely aligns hedge accounting with an entity’s risk management activiies. Specificadly, the new standard (&} no
longer requires the use of a specific quantitative threshold to determine I the hedging relationship is highly effective in order to quaiify for
hedge accounting; (b) removes restrictions that prevented some economically rativnal hedging strategies from qualifving for hedge
accouniing; and {¢) allows purchased opiions, forwards and non-derivative financial instruments to be hedging instruments in applicable
circumstances.,

IFRS 8 shall be applied retrospectively to each period presented, subject to the varicus transition provisions within IFRS 8, The Company
does not expect & material inpact from the adoption of this standard.

FRS 2 Share-based
Payment

IFRS 2, Ciassification and fMeasurement of Share-based Payment Transactions, was amended to clarify the accounting for {a) the effects
of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; (b} share-hased payment transactions
with & net selilement feature for withhalding tax obligationg; and {¢) a modification to the tarms and condifions of & shars-based payment
that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-seftied to equity-setiled, Early adoplion s pormitied, Relrospective application
is permitted, but nol required. The Company will early adopt these amendments effective January 1, 2017, and apply them prospeciively.
Upon adoption, the Company expects to reclassity $1582 milion of withholding tax obligations for share-based payments from Eabilities to
equity and therefora will no longer mark-to-market iess or similar strianents awarded In the fulure. For reference, cperating expenses
included mark-to-market adjustments of $36 milion of expense and $4 milion of income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2015,
respeciively, which would ne longer be required once the amendment is adopted.

iFRIC 22 Foreign
Currsncy
Transactions
and Advanee
Consideration

IFRIC 22 clarifies the axchange rate to be used upon recognition of an asset, liablity, expense or income in skuations whan a related
advanced payment is disbursed or received. The Company is assessing the impact of IFRIC 22 on its consolidated financial statements,

Fronouncement effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2019

IFR5 16 Laases

IFRS 18 introduses a single accounting mods! for leases. The standard requires a lessee to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
vit the statament of financial position for almost all leases having & tarm of more than 12 monihs, The Company is assessing the impact of the
niew standard on its consolidated financial stalemenis,
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Note 4: Segment Information
The Company is organized as three reportable segments, reflacting how the businesses are managed: Financial & Risk, Legal, and Tax &
Accounting. The accounting policies applied by the segments are the same as those applied by the Company.

Results from the Reuters News business are excluded from reportable segments as they do not qualify as a component of the Company’s three
reportable segments, nor as a separate reportable segment. The operating results of Intellectual Property & Science, which was previcusly a
raportable segment, was reported as a discontinued operation (see note 9}, except for the Westlaw [P business, which the Company retained as
part of the Legal segment. Prioryear amounts have been restated fo conform to the cument year's presentation.

The reporiable segments offer products and services to target markets as described below.

Financial & Risk

The Financial & Risk seagment Is a provider of critical news, information and analytics, enabling transactions and connecting communities of
trading, investment, financial and corporate professionals. Financial & Risk also provides regulatory and operational risk managemerit solutions.

Legat

The Legal segment is & provider of critical enline and print information, decision tools, software and services that support legal, investigation,
business and govemnment professionals around the world.

Tax & Accounting

The Tax & Accounting segment is a provider of inlegrated tax compliance and accounting information, software and services for professionals in
accounting firms, corporations, law firms and government,

The Company alse reports “Corporate & Qther”, wiich Includes expenses for corporate functions and the results of the Reuters News business.
Neither Corporate & Other nor the Reuters News business qualify as a compenent of another repartable segment nor as a separate reportable
segment.

nu

Financial & Risk 6,057 6,148

Legal 3,367 3,407

Tax & Accounting 1,462 1,447
Corporate & Other {includes Reuters News) 304 296
Eliminations {14) (11}
Consolidaled revenues 11,166 11,257
Opaorating profit
Segmant operating profit

Financial & Risk 1,044 1,104

Legal 9854 1,013

Tax & Accounting 83 343
Corporate & Other (includes Reuters Mews) {381y (405)
Underlying aperaling profit 1,930 2,085
Fair value adiustments {ses note §) {20} 6
Amaortizalion of other identifiable intangible assets (528) {548)
Other operafing gains, nef ) 8 13
Consclidatad operating profit 1,350 1,526
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Financial & Risk 597 381 278 14,507 15,150
Legal 248 256 157 188 5,731 8,088
Tax & Agcounting 131 143 119 108 1,874 1,022
Reportable seoments 954 985 B5T 578 22,112 23,130
Caporate & Other (includes Reuters News) %0 89 417 384 6,740 4,320
Assets related to discontinued operations - - a4 83 - 1,662
Total 1,024 1,034 1,218 1,043 27,852 26,112

{1} Capital assets include computer hardwarg and other property, computer software and other identifiable intanglble assets.

ear;ended Decdnibar 31

y ry-of arigin* SIS | 2016 S5 : 3016

U5, 6,291 6,228 12,475

Canada (country of domlclle) 3061 304 1,175 1,194
Gither 278 303 33 275
Americas (Mosth Arerica, Latin America, Soulh America) 6,879 6,836 13,963 15,307
UK, 1,514 1,641 2,550 3,687
Gther 1,529 1,663 4,327 4,602
EMEA (Europe, Middle Eaat and Africa) 3,043 3,204 7,217 8,189
Asia Pacific 1,253 1,217 1,506 1,855
Tatal 11,168 11,257 23,685 25,051

{2) Non-current assets are primarlly comprised of computer hardware and othar property, computer software, other identifiable intangible assots, goodwill and investments in equity
methed invesleas.

tn accordance with IFRS 8, Operating Segments, the Company discleses infarmation about its reportable segments based upon the measures
used by management in assessing the performance of those reportable segments, These measures are described below and may not be
comparable to similar measures of other companies.

Segment operating profit

* Segment operating profit represents operating profit before (i) amortization of other identifiable intangible assets; (i) other operating gains and
losses; (iii) certain asset impairment charges; (iv) corporate-ralated ftems; and {v) fair value adjustments.,

The Company does not consider these excluded items to be controllable cperating activities for purposes of assessing the current performance
of the reportable segments.

*  Each segment includes an allocation of costs for centralized support services such as technology, editorial, real estate and certain global
transaction processing functions that are based on usage or other applicable measures. However, certain technelogy and real estale assets
associated with these allocations are not included within the reportable segments, but remain in Corporate & Other.

Additionally, the Gompany assesses its consolidated performance using the following measures,

Consolidated revenues and underlying cperating profit
+ Consolidated revenues are revenuas from reportable segments and Corporate & Other, less eliminations.

* Underlying operating profit is comprised of operating profit from reportable segments and Corporate & Other.
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Revenue by Classes of Similar Products or Services
The following table sets forth revenues by major type:

lectronic, sofwara ) } 10,354 10,267
Print 812 890
Fotal 11168 {1557

Note 5: Operating Expenses
The componants of operating expenses include the following:

ded December 31,

Salaries, commissions and allewances(1} 4,249 4,089
Share-based paymants 106 79
Post-employment benafits 245 247
Total staif costs 4,800 4,425
Goods and services(?) 2,018 1,084
Data 836 885
Telecommunications 396 485
Real estate 362 389
Fair vakie adjustments(3) 20 (8)
Toftal operating expenses 8,232 8,162

{1) Salaras, commissions and sfowances Include severance costs,
(2) Gonds and services Include professional faes, consulling and outsourcing services, conbractors, selling and marketing, and other general and administrative costs.
(3) Fair vakue adjusiments pzimarily represent mark-to-markei impacts on embedded derivalives and certain share-based awards.

Operating expenses In 2016 included $212 million of charges to simplify and streamline the business, The charges were comprised of severance
and recorded ptimarily within the Financial & Risk segment.

Note 6; Other Operating Gains, Net

tn 2016, other operating gains, net, of $8 million included a $31 million gain on the sale of two Canadian whally owned subsidiaries to a company
affiliated with The Weodbridge Company Limited (“Woodbridge™, the Company’s principat shareholder (see note 20). These gaing were partly offset
by costs assoclated with acquisitions.

In 2015, other operating gains, net, of $13 mitlion included a gain on sale of the Fiduciary Services and Competitive Intelligence unit of the Lipper
business, which was formerly managed within the Financial & Risk segment, and a $12 million gain on the sale of a Canadian wholly ownad
subsidiary to a company affiliated with Woodbridge {see note 29}, These gains were partly offset by cosis associated with acquisitions.
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Note 7: Finance Costs, Net
The components of finance costs, net, include interest expense {income) and other finance costs {income) as follows:

Year énded December 31,

339 338

Derivative financial insirumants - hedging activities 6 13

Qther, net 13 15
Fair value {gains} losses on fisancial Instruments:

Cash flow hedges, iransfer from equity (see note 18) {46) 306
Net foreign exchange losses (gains) on debt 46 {306)
Met interest expense - debt and other 358 366
Met inferest expense - pansion and other pest-employ ment benefit plans 52 52
Interest ingome {7} (2}
Nat inferest expense 403 416

Net{gains} losses due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates {74) 2
Metiosses (gains) on derivative instruments 23 {43)
Other 4 -
Other finance income {50 41)

Net {gains} losses due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates

Net {gains) losses due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates were principally comprised of amounts related to ¢ertain intercompany
funding arrangements.

Met losses (gains) on derivative instruments

Net losses (gains) on derivative instruments were principally comprised of amounts relating to foreign exchange contracts {see note 18).

MNote 8: Taxation
The components of tax (benefit) expense for 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Current tax {bensfit} expense . L] 228
Deferred tax {(banefil) {11) {184)
Total tax {henefit) expensea {18} 34

Taxes on items recognized in “Other comprehensive loss” or directly in equity in 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

errad tax (be pe on actuarial {losses) gains on defined benefit plans ]
Defarred tax {benefit) expense on share-based payments {12) 8
Current tax {benefit) on share-based payments (6) (6}
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Below is a reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the Canadian corporata tax vate of 26.6% (2015 - 26.5%) to the tax (benefit) expense for
2016 and 2015:

Income before tax multiplied by the standard rate of Canadian

corporate tax of 26.6% {2015 « 26.5%) 77 308
Effects of:
Income taxas recorded at rates different from the Canadian tax rate {407) (453)
Tax losses for which no benefit is recognized 63 318
Net non-taxable gains on disposal of businesses {9) {f)
Net non-deductible {non-taxable) foreign exchange and other losses (gains) ) 17 (172)
Withholding taxes 24 26
Impact of non-controlling Interests {13) {15)
Other adjustments related to prior years {8} (4)
Impact of tax law changes {5} 9
Provision for uncertadn tax positions(1) 41 20
Derecognition of tax asssts that arose in prior yesrs u 3
Qiher differences il u
Total tax {beneft) expense {15) 34

(132016 Includes a $32 milion charge related to the wite-down of deferred tax assels to reflect the expacted outcome of cedain tax disputes.

The Company's effective income tax rate on eamings from continuing operations was a (1.4%) benefit in 2016 (2015 - 2.9% expense), A 1%
increase in the effective income tax rate would have decreased 2018 income tax benefit and decreased eamings from conéinuing operations by
approximately $10 million. The effective incorne tax rate in both years was lower than the Canadian corporate income tax rate due significantly to
the lower tax rates and differing tax rules applicable to certain of the Company’s operating and financing subsidiaries outside Canada. The
Company's effective tax rate depends on the faws of numerous countiies and the provisions of multiple income fax conventions between various
counlries in which the Company operates. Because of the requirements of income tax accounting under {AS 12, fncome Taxes, income tax
expense can differ significantly from taxes paid in any reporting peried.

At December 31, 2018, the consoclidated statement of financial position included current taxes receivable of $73 million (20115 - $73 million) within
“Prapald expenses and other current assets” and current taxes payable of 568 million (2015 - $66 million) wilhin “Payables, accruals and
provisions”.
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Note 9: Discontinued Operations

in Qctober 2016, the Company sold its Intellectual Property & Science business which was reported as discontinued oparations In the
consolidated financial statements for all periods presented.

Eamings from discontinued operations are surmmarized as follows:

Revenues 704 0952
Expenses (554) (748)
Earnings from discondinued operations before income tax 150 206
Tax expense on earnings from discontinued operations {52) {22)
Earhings from discontinued operations after income tax 98 184
Gain on sale of discontinued operations before ingome tax 2,190 -
Tax expense on: gain on sale of discontiied operations . (195} -
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax 2,093 184

The consideration received and the net assets disposed, as a result of the sale of the Intellectual Property & Science business, were as follows:

Consideration received - cash and cash sguivalentsi1} 3,436
Trade and other receivables (2a0)
Prepraid expensss and other current assets {30}
Computer hardware and other property, net {24)
Computer softwars, net {123}
Other identiflable intangible assets, net {180)
Goodwil : {1.053)
Deferred tax 5]
Other assets (7
Total assets ) (1,651)
Payables, aceruals and provisions 114
Defarred revenus 283
Provisions and other non-current linbilities 31
Deferred tax 38
Total liabilities ABE
Net assels disposed {1,185)
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments(2) 19
Disposal costs {80}
Gain on sale hefore income tax 2,190

(1)} Consideration received is net of working capitat adjustments.
(2} Raiates to amounts previously recognized within accumulated other comprehensive loss,

Following the sale, the Company s providing a range of transitional services to the former Intellectual Proparty & Science business through 2019,
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Note 10: Eamings Per Share

Basic earnings per share was calculaied by dividing eamings attributable to commaon shareholders tess dividends declared on preference shares
hy the sum of the weighted-averags number of common shares outstanding and vested deferred share units ('DSUs") cutstanding during the
period. DSUs represent common shares that certain employees have elected 1o receive In the future upon vesting of share-based compensation
awards or in lieu of cash compensation.

Diluted earmings per share was calculated using the denominator of the basic caloulation described above adjusted to inciude the potentially
dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and {ime-hased restricted share units ("TRSUs").

Earhings usad in determining consolidated eamings per share and sarnings per share froim continuing operations are as follows:

Earnings attributable to common shareholdars 3008 1,255
Less: Dividends declared on preference shares {2} (2}
Earnings used in consciidated earnings per shars 3,006 1,263
Less: Earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax (2,083} {184)
Earnings used in earnings per share from continuing eperations 1,003 1,069

The welighted-average number of comimon shares outstanding, as well as a reconciliation of the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding used in the basic earnings per share computation to the weighfed-average number of common shares outstanding used in the diluted
earnings per share computation, is presentad below:

& : =
Weighted-average numbe
Weighted-average number of vested DSUs

Basic 747,328,483 784,273,338
Effect of stock options and TRSUs 1,633,011 2,865,054
Diluted 748,961,494 784,138,389

There were 11,109 and 375,077 share-based compensation awards cutstanding at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, where the exercise
price was greater than the average market price. Accordingly, these awards were anti-dilutive, and therefore exciuded from the diluted eamings per
share computation.

Note 11: Cash and Cash kquivalents

Cash

Cash at bank and on hand 596 862
Cash equivalents

Short-term deposits 630 el

Money market accounts 1,148 285
Cash and cash equivatents 2,368 966

Of total cash and cash squivalents, $112 million and $106 million at December 31, 2018 and 2015, respectively, were held in subsidiaries which
have regulatory restrictions, contractual restictions or operate in countries whare exchange controls and other legal restrictions apply and were
therefare not available for general uss by the Gompany.
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Note 12: Trade and Other Receivables

Trade raceivables 1414 1,817
Lass: aliowance for doubtful accounts {42) {47)
Less: allowance for sales adjusiments {45} {56)
Met trade receivables 1,327 1714
Olher receivables 65 18
Trade and other receivables 1,382 1,732

The aging of gross trade recelvabies at each reporting date was as foliows:

Current 827 1,103
Past due 1-30 days 201 251
Past due 31-60 days 80 121
Past due 61-90 days 125 134
Past due »01 days 181 208
Balance at Decemher 31 4,414 1,817

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The changs in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

Balence at beginning of year 47 61
Charges 54 45
Write-offs {50 {54)
Transfar to assets held for sale {7) -
Transkation and other, net {1 (5}
Balance at end of year A2 a7

The Company is exposed to normat cradit risk with respect to its accounts rscelvable and maintains provisions for credit losses. The potential for
such losses is mitigated because there is no significant exposure to any single customer and because customer creditworthiness is evaluated
before credil is extended,

Note 13: Prepaid Expenses and Gther Current Assels

Inventory = ' ' ' e ' 23

Prepaid expenses 36 358
Othar current assels 338 292
Prepaid expenses and other current assofs &85 583

Other current assets were principally comprised of receivables for current income taxes and value added taxes,
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Note 14: Computer Hardware and Other Properly
Computer hasdware and other property consist of the following:

Cost:

December 31, 2014 2,158 1,323 582 4,063
Capital expenditures 166 35 63 2867
Ramoved from service {21} (11} {15) (47)
Transfer to assels held for sale - (2} {1) (3)
Transktion and other, net {61} (27} {20) (108}
Recember 31, 2015 2,242 1,321 G0% 4,172
Capital expenditures 178 [:{] 40 277
Removed from sorvice {45} [£:1] {75) {129}
Transfer to assets held for sale {48} {33) {16) (98)
Translation and other, net {81} (20} {48) {149}
December 31, 2016 2,246 o A,318 510 4,075
Accumulatad depraciation:

Becember 31, 2014 (1,777} {707} {397) (2,881)
Current year depreclation - confinuing opsrations {222) (72) (48) (340)
Current year depreciation - discontinued operations{1} (3 {3) {t) {7}
Removed from service 21 1 15 47
Transfer to assets held for sale - 1 1 2
Tranzlation and other, net 50 12 12 74
Dacember 31, 2015 {1,931) {758) {416} {3,105)
Current year depreciation - continuing operations (194) (779 142) (313)
Current ysar depreciation « discontinued operations(t) - - - -
Removed front service 45 9 75 129
Transfer 1o assols held for salke 42 17 13 72
Translation and other, net 73 20 10 3
December 31, 2016 {1,3835) {789} {360) {3,114)
Carrying amount:

December 31, 2015 311 863 163 1067
December 31, 2046 281 530 150 961

(1} Reprasents depreciation expense through January 2016 when the Intellsctual Property & Sclence buainess was classifisd as a discontinuad operation,

Fully depreciated assets are retained in cost and accumulated depreciation accounts unti such assets are removed from service. Proceeds from
disposals are netted against the related assets and the accumulated depreciation and included within “Operating profit” in the consolidated income
statement.
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Note 15: Computer Software

Computer software consists of the following:

Cost
Balance at January 1, 6,616 8,027
Additions:

Internally developed 678 369

Purchased 48 50

Acquisitions 19 5
Remaoved from service (508} (53)
Transfer to assels held for sale (448} (10)
Translation and other, nat (7% {72)
Balance at December 31, §,331 8,616
Accumulated amotiization:
Balance at January 1, {5,134) (4 498)
Current year amortization - continuing operations {7it) {694)
Current year amortization - tiscontinued operations{1) {1} (58)
Removed from service 508 53
Transfer to assets held for sale 326 5
Translation and other, net 73 B2
Balance st December 31, ] {4,937) (5,130}
Carrying amount at December 31 1,384 1,486

{1) Represenls amortization expense through January 20616 when the Intellectual Property & Sclence business was ¢lassified as a disconiinued operation.

Fully amortized assets are retained in cost and accumutated amortization accounts until such assets are removed from service. Proceeds from
disposals are netted against the related assets and the accumulated amertization and included within “Operating peofit” in the consolidated income
statement.
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Note 16: Other Identifiable Intangible Asssls

Cost:
December 31, 2014 2,648 362 6,734 218 1,867 12,528
Acquisitions - 2 4 - 1 7
Rernoved from service - (5) - - (38) (43)
Transfer to assets heid for sate - - n 3 - (3)
Translation and other, net - )] {205) [23) (523 (289)
Decermber 31, 2015 2,846 350 6,533 893 1,778 12,200
Acquisitions - 2 28 3 - 33
Femoved from service - {4) - {2) {20} (26)
Transfer to assets held for sale - 8% {235) {97} {141} {616)
Transkation and otber, net - {1} {148) 21) {54} {224)
Diacamber 31, 2016 2,648 254 6,128 776 1,563 11,367
Accumuiated amortization:
December 31, 2014 - {272) {3,156) (589) (1,387) (5,404)
Current year amortization - continuing operations - (26} (408) (57} (60) (548)
Current year amortization - discontinued aperations(2) - {7} {18} (3} {5) {33)
Removed from service - 5 - - 38 43
Transfer & assets hald for sale - w - 3 R 3
Translation and oiher, net - 7 94 16 38 156
December 31, 2015 - {283} {3,485) (630)  (1,375) (5,783}
Current year amoriization - continuing operations " {16) {412} (47) (53 {528)
Current year amortization - discontinued operations(2) - - {hH - - n
Removed from service - 4 - 2 20 26
Transfer to assets held for sale - i1 68 87 114 438
Translation and other, net - 1 83 14 40 138
Decembar 31, 20168 - {237) {3,847) (574) {1,254} {5,712)
Carrying amount:
Decernber 31, 2015 2,645 57 3,048 263 403 5,417
December 31, 2016 2,546 17 2,481 202 509 5,655
{1} The bakance at Dacember 31, 2018 indudes a camying amount of $1,604 million with & remaining amortization period of five to seven years, arising from the Reuters acquisition
in 2008,

(2) Reprosants amorization axpense through January 2018 when the Intellactual Property & Science business was classified as & discontinued eperation,
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The carrying amount of the indefinite-lived trade names is comprised of the following:
Reuters trade name of $1,839 million al December 31, 2016 and 2015, which is included within the Financial & Risk CGL); and
* Waest trade name of $707 million at Dacember 31, 2016 and 2015, which is included in a CGU within the Legal segment.

Due to widespread brand recognition, long history and expected future use, these trade names have been assigned indefinite lives. The Company
performed its annual test for impaimaent of indefinite-ived intangible assets in the fourth quarter of 2016, The key assumptions used in the test
were as follows:

Reutars T .% 2% 5%
West 2.0% 7.2% 5.0%
{1) The perpetuat growth rate is applied to the final year of cash flow projections.

The estimated fair value less costs of disposal of the trade names exceeded thelr canying values by more than 96% for each of tha trade names,
As a result, no impairment was recorded. Based on sensitivity analysis, no reasonably possible change in assumptions would cause the carrying
amount of any trade name o excead its recovarable amount.

Note 17: Goodwill
The following table presents goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2015;

Cost

Balance at Jaruary 1, 18,633 19,243
Acquisitions 65 18
Transfor to assets held for sale {1,053} (40)
Translation and other, net 1480} (585)
Balance at December 31, 17,165 18,6833
Accumuiated Impaliment:

Balance at January 1, {2,755) {2,840
Translation 75 85
Hatance at Decambaer 31, 12,680} [2.755)
Carrylng amount at December 34: 14,485 15,878

Impairment test of goodwill

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2016. The estimated fair value less costs of disposal of all
CGUs exceeded their camrying values. As a rasult, no goodwill impairment was recorded.
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The Company has three CGUs to which goodwill is allocated and monitored by management. The following tabie shows the carrying amount of
goodwiil by CGU:

:December31

Legal 3,539 3,657
Tax & Accounting 1,354 1,328
Total goodwill 14,485 14,825

{1}In 2015, the Gompany had a fourth CGU, Intellectual Property & Science, which was ¢lassified as a discontinued operation In 2018, The carnying amount of $1,063 milien of
goodwill assaciated with Intellestual Property & Science was transferred to assets held for sale,

The valuation technigues, significant assumptions and sensitivities applied in the goodwill impairment test are described below. The selection and
application of valuation techniques and the determination of sighificant assumptions requires judgment.

Valuation Technigues

As with previous impairment tests, the recoverable value of each CGU was based on fair value less costs of disposal, using a weighted-average of
the income approach and market approach. IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value as a market-based measurermeant rather than an
entity-specific measurement. Therefore, the fair value of the CGU must be measured using the assumptions that market participants wouid use
rather than those related specifically io the Company. In particular, the discount and tax rates used in the income approach reflect markeat
participant assumptions. To caloulate these market participant assumptions, publicly available data was gathered from companies operating in
businesses similar to each CGU, which includes key competitors. As certain inputs to the valuation are noi based on observable market data, the
recoverable value of each CGU is categorized in Level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy.

Income approach

The income approach is predicated upon the value of the future cash flows that a business will generate. The Company used the discounted cash
flow {"DCF") mathod, which involves projecting cash flows and converting them into a present value equivaient through discounting, The
discounting process uses a rate of return that is commensurate with the risk sssociated with the business and the time value of money. This
approach requires assumptions about revenue growth rates, operating margins, capital expenditures, tax rates and discount rates.

Market approach

The market approach assumes that companies operating in the same industry will share similar characteristics and that company values will
correlate to those characteristics, Therefore, a comparison of a CGU to similar companies whose financial information is publicly available may
provide a reasonable basis to estimate fair value. Under the market approach, fair value is calculated based on EBITDA multiples of benchmark
companies comparable 1o the businesses in each CGU, Data for the benchmark companies was obtained from publicly available information.

Significant Assumptions

Weighting of Valuation Technigues
The Company weighted the resuits of the two valuation techniques neted above, consistently applied to each CGU, as follows: 60% income

approach/40% market approach, The Company believes that given volatility in capital markets, it is appropriate to apply a heavier weighting to the
income approach.
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Cash Flow Projections

Cash flow projections were based on the Company’s internat budget. The Cornpany projectad cash flows for a period of tivee years and applied a
perpetual growth rate therealter, as prescribed by I1AS 36, Impairment of Assets. In order o project cash flows for the three-year period, ihe
Company considered growth in revenues and costs as well as capital expenditures. In preparing its projections, the Company considered past
sxperience, economic trends such as GUP growth and inflation as well as industry and market trends, The projections also took into account the
expected impact from efficlency initiatives, new product launches, customer retention, as well as the maturity of the markets in which each
business operates.

Discount Rate

The Company assumead a discount rate in order to calculate the present value of its projected cash flows, The discount rate represented a
weighted-average cost of capital ("WACC") for comparable companies opersting In similar industries as the applicable CGU, based on publicly
available information. The WACC is an estimats of the averall requirad rate of retum on an investment for both debt and equity owners and serves
as the basis for developing an appropriate discount rate. Determination of the WACC requires separate analysis of the cost of equity and the cost
of debt, The cost of equity reflects tha long-term risk-fres interest rate associated with U.S. Treasury bonds and considers a risk premium based
on an assessment of risks related te the projected cash flows of each CGU.

Lower discount rates were applied to CGUs whose cash flows are expected o be less volatile due to factors such as the maturity of the market
thay serve and their market position, Higher discount rates were applied to CGUs whose cash flows are expected to be more volatile due to
competition or participation in less stable geographic markets,

Tax Rate

The tax rates applied to the projections were based on effsctive tax rates of comparable companies operating in similar industries as the
applicable CGU, based on publicly available information, or statulory tax rates. Tax assumptions are sensitive to changes in tax laws and the
jurisdictions in which profits are earmed.

The key assumptions used in performing the impairment test, by CGU, are presented below:

Financial & Risk . 2! 28.0%
Logal 2.5% 7.2% 36.6%
Tax & Accounting 3.0% B.8% 38.0%

{1} The perpetua growih rate is applied to the final year of cash flow projeciions.

Results and Sensitivities

The falr value for each CGL! was in excess of its carrying value, The excess was 54% (approximately $7.8 billion) for Financial & Risk and over
100% for each of the other two CGUs. For ali three CGUs, the sensitivity analysis demonstrates that no reasonably possible change in the
perpetual growth, discount rate or Incomes tax assumptions weuid cause the carrying amounts of any CGU lo exceed its recoverable amount.

The cash flow growth projections and certain key assumptions undatlying the fair value of all CGUs are subject {o risks and uncertainties that
could cause future results to differ materially from current expectations. Specifically, the CGUs cash fiow projections could be impacted by
deterioration in macroeconomic conditions, including potential impacts of regulation on customers, changes In customer buying patterns or
compelitive pressures. The Company’s assumption of perpetual growth could be impacted by changss in long-term outlooks for globa) Inflation.
Additionally, the discount rate, tax rate and EBITDA multiples are based on those for comparable companies and are driven by market conditicns
and pravailing tax laws.
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Nofe 18: Financial Ingtruments

Financial assets and {iabilities
Financiat assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position were as follows:

December 31, S
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

Other financtal assets - current
Other financial assets - non-current

Current indebtedness " = “ - {11 {1,111}
Trade payables (see note 20) n - n " (311) {311
Accruals (ses note 20) - - - - {1,517 (1,817
Other financial liabifitiss - current " (34) a - {88) {162}
Long-tarm indebledness - - - - {6,278) {8,278}
Other financial Babilities - non-current - {12} (327) - {1) 1340}
Total 3,880 122 (327) 35 (9,285) {5,578)

ibecember-ﬁ 2019, i f ;
Cash andg cash equivalents 965 - - - - 966

Trade and other receivables 1,732 - - - " 1,732
Other financial assets - current 58 121 - - - 176
Other financial assets - non-current 58 24 - 36 - 116
Current indebtedness - - - - {1,598) (1,598)
Trade payables (sea note 20) - B - - (282) (282)
Accruals (sea note 20) - - - - (1.520} {1,520)
Other financial liabiliies - current(2) - {15 - - (2273} (238)
Long-term indebtedness - - - - (6,828} (6,829}
Other financlal liabifilles - non-current - (15) {370} - {2) {387)
Total 2,809 115 {370} 36 (10,451} (7,861}
{1} Derivatives are entered into with speciflc objectives for each transaction, and are linked lo specific assats, liabilities, firm commitments or highly probable forecasted

transactions,
{2} Includes a commitment to repurchase up to $165 milion related to the Company's pre-defined plan with its broker to repurchase the Company's shares duing its intemal
trading blackout period, See note 23,
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Fair Value

The fair values of cash, trade and other recelvables, trade payables and accruals approximate their camying amounts because of the short-term
maturity of these instruments. The falr value of long-term debt and related derivative instruments is set forth in the section below entitled “Debt and
Related Derivative Instruments™,

Debt and Related Derivative Instruments

Carrying Amounts

Amounts recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position are refarrad to as “camying amounts™. The camrying amounts of primary debt
ars reflected in “Long-term indebtedness” and "Current indebtedness” and the canying amounts of derivative instruments are included in “Other
financial assets” and "Other financial liabilities”, both current and non-current in the consolidated statement of financial position, as appropiiate.

Fair Value

The fair value of debt is estimated based on elihar quoted market prices for simllar Issues or current rates offered to the Company for debt of the
same maturity, The fair value of interest rate swaps are estimated based upon discounted cash flows using applicable current market raies and
taking into account non-performance risk.

The following is a summary of debt and related derivative instruments that hedge the cash flows of debt:

Bank a'nd other = g - . 13 = -

CE500, 3.369% Notes, due 2018 372 o9 386 a9
C§750, 4.35% Notes, due 2020 557 163 601 163
G§550, 3.300% Motes, due 2021 448 65 426 &5
$550, 1.30% Notes, due 2017 548 - 550 -
$550, 1.65% Notes, due 2017 549 n 550 n
$1,000, 6.50% Notes, due 2018 998 " 1,067 -
$500, 4.70% Notes, dua 2019 459 = 528 -
$350, 3.95% Notes, due 2021 348 - 361 -
$600, 4.30% Notes, due 2023 595 - 625 -
$450, 3.85% Notes, due 2024 Ad6 - 454 -
5500, 3.35% Notes, due 2026 494 - 481 -
$350, 4.50% Notes, due 2043 341 - 325 -
5350, 5.65% Notes, dus 2043 341 - 378 -
$400, 5.50% Debeniures, dus 2035 394 - 424 -
$300, 5.858% Debentures, dug 2040 488 - 544 -
Total 7,389 327 7,713 327
Current portion 1,111 -

Long-term portion 6,278 327
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Décermber 31,2015~ ! -
Bank and oiher 57 - 58 .

Commercial paper 1,037 - 1,037 -
C$500, 3.369% Notes, due 2019 358 108 374 109
C3$750, 4.35% Notes, due 2020 537 182 581 182
C$550, 3.309% Notes, tdue 2021 394 79 405 79
$500, 0.875% Notes, due 2018 500 - 499 -
$550, 1.30% MNotes, due 2017 548 - 548 -
$550, 1.65% Notes, dus 2017 548 - 547 -
$1,000, 6.50% Notes, due 2018 9487 - 1,102 -
$800, 4.709% Notes, due 2019 ] - 535 -
$350, 3.95% Notes, due 2021 348 - 361 -
$600, 4,.30% Notes, due 2023 5094 - 815 -
$450, 3.85% Notes, due 2024 445 - 442 -
$350, 4.50% Motes, due 2043 340 - 300 -
$350, 5.65% Motes, due 2043 340 - 351 -
$400, 5.50% Debentures, due 2035 304 - 411 B
$500, 5.85% Dabeniures, due 2040 489 - 531 -
Total 8,424 370 8,606 370
Currant portion 1,585 "

Long-term portion 6,829 370

Long-term Debt Activity

The following table provides information regarding notes that the Company issued and repaid in 2016 and 2015

MONTHIYEAR TRANSACTION PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (i MILLIONS)
Notes issued

May 2016 3.35% Notes, due 202¢ LUS$500
Notes repaid

May 2016 0.875% Notes, due 2016 USH500

July 2015 5.70% Notes, due 2015 CES00

The Company used the net proceeds of its May 2016 debt issuance to repay the notes which matured in the same month, In July 2015, the
Company repaid C3600 mitfion (3593 million after swaps) of notes upon their maturity, principally frorn cash on hand that included proceads from
carlier commercial paper issuances in 2015.

Commercial Paper

Under its commercial paper programs, the Company may issue up to $2.0 hillion of notes. There was no cutstanding commearcial paper at
December 31, 20116, Current indebtedness included $1,037 million of outstanding commercial paper within the consolidated statement of financial
position at December 31, 2015,
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The Company has entered into the following derivative instiuments to hedge its exposures on indebtedness:

Cross-currency interast rate swaps
To hedge currency risk exposures, the Company enters into fixed-to-fixed cross-cumency interest rate swaps, which swap Canadian dollar principat
and inferest payments into U.S. dollars. These instruments were designated as cash flow hedges and were recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position at their fair value, which was a net liability position of $327 million at Decernber 31, 2016 {2015 - net liability posiion of $370

million). The outstanding instruments were the same at December 31, 2016 and 2015, as set forth below:

Cash flow hecdges

Canadian dollar fixed U8, dollar fixed Forelgn exchange 2019 Us5478
Canadian doliar fixed L.S, dollar fixed Foreign exchange 2020 Us$731
Canadlan dolly fixed L. 3, dollar fixed Foreign exchange 20214 USH483

Credit Facility

The Company has a $2.4 billion syndicated credit facility agreement which matures in November 2021, The facility may be utilized to provide
liquidity for general corporate purposes (including support for its commercial paper programs). There were no borrowings under the credit facility in
2016 and 2015,

The Company may request an increase, subject to approval by applicable tenders, in the lenders’ commitments up to a maxirmum amount of
$3.0 billion.

Based on the Company’s credit ratings, the cost of borrowing under the agreement is priced at LIBOR/EURIBOR plus 100 basis peints. If the
Company’s fong-term debt rating was downgraded by Mecody's or Standard & Poor’s, the facility fee and borrowing costs may increase, although
availability would be unaffected. Conversely, an upgrade in the Company's ratings may reduce the facility fee and borrowing costs.

The Company guaranteas borowings by its subsidiaries under the credit facility. The Company must alse maintain a ratio of net debt as of the las{
day of each fiscal quarter to EBITDA as defined in the credit agreement (eamings before inferest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization and
other modifications described in the credit agreement) for the last four quarters ended of not more than 4.5:1. The Company was in compliance
with this covenant at December 31, 2016.

Currency Risk Exposures
At each reporiing dale presented, substantially ail indebtedness was denominated in U.S. dollars or had been swapped inle U.S. doliar obligations.

The carrying amount of debt, alf of which is unsecurad, was denominated in the following currencies:

Canadian dollay 1,320 -

.S, doliar 7,087 7.0731 8,772

Euro 16 7 )

Other currencies 7 1 7
7,388 3,424 1,739 8,820

(1} Excludes fair value adjustments of $23 milfion and $26 million at December 31, 2018 and 2015, respectivoly, associated with the inferest related fair value compenant of
hedaing instraments.
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Interest Rate Risk Exposures

At December 31, 2016, substantially all indebtedness of $7,739 million (after swaps) pays interest at fixed rates. The welghted-average Interast
rate was 4.2% (2015 - 3.7% Including commercial paper borrowings of $1,037 milton).

Foreign Exchange Contracts

The Company uses foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign exchange risk on cash flows excluding indebledness. Specifically, the
Company mitigates such exposure by entering into & series of exchange contracts o purchase or self certain currencies in the future at fixed
amounis. The cumuative U.8. dollar notional amounts of contracts outstanding at December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

08 - 554 527
British poutls stering (204) (260)
Japanese yen 48 58

The 2016 arrangemants setile at various dates over the next 12 months. The fair vaiue of contracts outstanding at December 31, 2016 was a net
asset of $8 million (2015 - net asset of $5 miilion).

Embedded Derivatives

The majority of embedded derivatives arise as a result of U.S, dollar pricing of customer agreaments by subsidiaries oufside of the U.S. At
December 31, 2016, the fair vaiue of embedded derlvatives representad a net asset of $116 million (2015 - net asset of $112 miltion).

Fair vaiue gains and losses from derivative financlal instruments

Fair value gains and logses from derivative financlal Instruments recognized in the consolidated income staternent and consolidated statement of
changes in equity were as follows:

Embedded dervatives 16 - R T 24 N

Foreign exchange contracts {23} B 44 -

Hedging nstruments:

Cross currency interest rate swaps — cash flow hedges A8 (4} (308} 18

Forward interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges {1} - (1) -
32 (4 (239) 18

Financial Risk Management

The Company is exposed fo a varety of financial risks including market risk (primarily currency risk and interest rate risk), cradit rlsk and liquidity
risk, as its operations are diverse and global. A centralized corporate treasury group works to minimize the potential adverse effects from these
risks by using hedging strategies, where agplicable, as well as associating with high quality financial institutions, limiting exposures to
counterparties and ensuring flaxible sources of funding. The Chief Financial Cfficer oversees the overall approach and ensures the use of strict
guidelines and internal control processes.,
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Market Risk

Currency Risk
The Company’s consolidated financlal statements are expressed in U.S. dollars but a significant pertion of jts business is conducted in other

curencias, Changes in the exchange rates for such currencies into U.5. dollars can increass or decrease revenues, operating profit, net earnings
and the camrying values of asssets and Eabilities.

+ ghanges in exchange rates between 2015 and 2016 decreasad consolldated revenues by approximately 2%;

the translation effects of changes in exchange rates in the consclidated statement of financiat position were net translation losses of
$575 miflion in 2016 {2015 - net translation josses of $570 million), which were recorded within accumulated other comprehensive loss In
sharsholders” eguity,;

in 2018, net accumulated foreign currency transiation gains of $18 million (2015 - nil) were recycied from equity to the consolidated income
statement in connection with the sale of the Inteliectual Property & Science business; and

the Company only uses derivalive instrumants to reduce foreign currency and interest rate exposures. Canadian dollar borrowings are generally
converted to U.S. dollar obligations through the use of currency swap arrangements. Al gach reporting date presented, substantially all
indebtedness was denominated in U.S. dollars or had been swapped into U.S. dollar obligations. Additionally, the Company enters into forward
contracts to mitigate foreign exchange risk related to operating cash flows other than the U.8. doliar,

The table below shows the impact that a hypothetical change in foreign currency exchange rates would have on eamings as a result of changes in
fair values of financial instruments as of December 31, 2016.

[pt eaings
Impact on earnings from non-permanent intercompany loans 77 24 190
Total impact on sarnings 76 {2} ) 161

(1) Excludes debt which has been swapped into U.B. doifar obligaiions.

Interest Rate Risk
The Company Is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates with respect to cash and cash equivalents and long-term borrowings.
As of December 31, 2016, the majority of $2,368 million in cash and cash equivalents (2015 - $968 million) was comprised of interest-bearing

asseis, Based on amounts as of December 31, 2016, a 100 basis polnt increase in inlerest rates would have increased annual interest income by
approximately $20 million {2015 - $6 million).

At December 31, 2016, substantially all indebtedness of $7,739 million {(after swaps) pays interest at fixed rates. If the U.S. dollar interest rates
were Lo increase by 100 basis points, the gain recorded to equity In refation to debt-related cash flow hedges would be $81 mitlion (2015 - §78
million). The equivalent increase In Canadian doliar interest rates would result in a loss recorded to equity in relation to cash flow hedgas of
$50 million (2015 - $62 million). A corresponding decrease in respective interest rates would have an approximately equal and opposite effect.

As of December 31, 2016, there were no derivatives designated as fair value hedges.

Price Risk
The Company has no significant exposure to price 1isk from equity securities of commaxdities.

Page 127



Table of Contents

Thomsoen Reuters Annual Report 2016

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial instruments, as well as credit exposure to customers including
outstanding receivables. The Company attempts to miniimize credit exposure as follows:

cash investments are placed with high-quality financial institutions with limited exposure to any one institution. At December 31, 2016,
approximately 95% of cash and cash equivalents were held by instltutions that were rated at "A~" or higher by at least one of the major credit
rating agencies;

+ counterparties to derivative contracts are major investment-grade international financial institutions and exposure to any single counterparty is
menitored and limited; and

= the Company assesses the creditworthiness of its cusiomaers.

No allowance for credit losses on financial assets was required as of December 31, 2016, other than the allowance for doubtful accounts (see note
12). Further, no financial or other assets have been pledged.

The Company's maximum exposure with respect to credit, assuming no mitigating factors, would be the aggregate of its cash and cash
equivalents $2,368 million (2015 - $266 million), trade and cther receivabies $1,392 million (2015 - $1,732 mililon) and other financial assets
$288 mitlion {2015 - $256 million), The Company had no credit exnosure on its debt-related derivatives, as all of these instruments were in a
payable position at the end of each year.

Liguidity Risk
A centralized treasury function ensures funding flexibility by assessing futwre cash flow expectations and by maintaining sufficient capacity under

its commitied borrowing facilities. Cash flow estimates are based on rolling forecasts of operating, investing and financing flows. Such forecasting
also takes into account horrowing limits, cash restrictions and compliance with debt covenants.

Cash which is surplus to working capital requirements is invested in money market funds or bank money market deposits with maturities aligned 1o
expected cash needs. In addition, the Company maintains commercial paper programs, which provide cost-sffective and flexible short-term
funding.

The table below sets forth non-derivative and derivative financial liabilities by maturity based on the remaining period from December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively, to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows,

Decetiher31;2016 - e s ¥

Long-term deb¥1) 1,100 1,000 879 574

7477
Interest payable(1) 308 273 224 193 2,947
Debt-related hadges outllows(2) 58 58 528 768 1,909
Debt-refated hedges Inflows{2) {51) {81} (423} {6086) (1,568}
Trade payables 3N “ - - 3
Accruals 1,817 il - - 1517
Other financial liabifties 111 13 - = 124
Total 3,354 1,203 1,208 929 12,717

Hscaniber 31 20154 PRI Co e e e s rerea
Long-term debi(1) £00 1,100 1,000 869 857 3411 7,437

Interest payable() 759 289 254 206 175 1,857 3,080
Debbrelated hedges outlows(2) 58 58 58 528 768 497 1,967
Debt-related hedges inflows(2} (4%} {48} (49) {411} {589) (424 (1.571)
Commercial paper 1,057 - - - - - 1,037
Trade payables 282 - - - - - 282
Accruals 1,520 - - B " - 1,520
Qthar financiat iiabilities 295 17 - - " N 312
Totat 3,942 1,416 1,263 1.992 911 5,341 14,064

(1) Reprasants contractual princigal and Intersst payments. Future cash flows have been caloulated using forward forgign exchange rates.
(2) Future cash flows have been calculated using forward foreign exchange rates.
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Capital Management
The Company's capital rnanagement strategy Is aligned with its business strategy, both of which remain focused on:
* Driving revenue growth from existing businesses, rather than growth from acquisitions;
Balancing cash generated from cperations betwesn reinvesiment In the business and returning it to shareholders; and

Maintaining a strong balance sheet, solid credit ratings and ample financlal flexibility to support the execution of the Company’s business
strategy.

As at December 31, 2016, tolal capital was comprised of equity with a fair value of $31.8 billion and debt of $7.4 billion. As at December 31, 2018,
cash and cash equivalents ware $2.4 billion.

The Company’s existing sources of liquidity generate sufficient funding for the company to meet its cutrent obligations as well as allowing for
{1} reinvestment in the business; (i} debt sevice; and (ili} returns to shareholders in the form of dividends and share buybacks, The Company's
investment grade credit provides added financial flexibility and the ability to borrow to support the operations and growth strategies of the business.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s credit ratings were as follows:

a3,

i)
Commercigl paper Pe2 A2 R-2 {high) F2
Trend/Outicok Stable Stable Stable Stabla

The Company also monitors its capital on the basis of “net debt”. Net debt is defined as total indebtedness, including the associated fair value of
hedging instruments, but excluding the associated unamortized transaction costs and premiums or discounts and the interest-related fair value
compenent of hedging instruments, lsss cash and cash equivalents. As the Company hedges some of its debt to reduce risk, the hedging
instruments are included in the measurement of the {ofal obligation associated with its outstanding debt. However, because the Company generally
intends to hold the debt and related hedges to matunity, it does not consider the associated fair value of the interestrelated component of hedging
instrumenits in the measurement of nat debt.

The following table presents the calculation of nst debt():

December 3,

Current indebtedness 1111 1,695
Long-term indebtedness 6,278 6,829
Tokal debt 7,389 8,424
Bwaps 327 370
Total debt after swaps rTis 8,794
Remove fair vakue adjustments for hedges(2) ] 23 28
Total dabt after currency hedging arrangemerts 7,738 8,820
Ramova transaction costs and discounts included in the carrying value of debt 65 G7
Less: cash and cash aquivalents {2,368} (966)
Net debt 5,438 7,921

{1} Net debt Is a non-IFRS measure.
(2} Reprasents the Interast-related tair valus component of hedging instruments that are remeved to reflect net cash cutflow upon maturity.
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Fair value estimation

The following fair value measurement hierarchy is used for financial instruments that are measured in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair valus:

Level 1— guoted prices {unadjusied) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

* level 2—  inputs other than guoted prices inciuded within level 1 that are observable for the asset or Habllity, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); and

+ lLevel 3-  inputs for the asset of liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

Thae levels used to detarmineg fair value measurements for those instruments carried at fair value in the consclidated statement of financial position
are as follows:

Dacember31,2016
?\ssets
Embedded derivatives(1)
Foreign exchange contracts(2)

Financial assets at falr value through earnings - 168 -
Awvailable for sale investments(3} 7 28 -
Total assets 7 196 -
Liabilities
Embedded derhatives(1) - {24) - (24)
Forelgn exchange contracts(2) . - {20) - {20)
Contingeri consideration() - - {2} {2)
Financial Hablities at fair valus through earaings - {44] (2) {48)
Darivatives used for hedging(5) - (327 - (327)
Total fabilities - (371 (2) 375

Assefs

Embedded derivatives()

Foreign exchange contracts (2} - 13 - 13
Financial assets al fair value through earnings - 145 - 145
Availabie for sale investments(3) 6 30 " 38
Toldl assets 8 175 - 181
Linbilities

Embedded derivatives{1} - (206) - {20)

Foreign exehange conlracis(2) - (8 - (&

Con!ingen‘tﬁu(‘:uonsidc—}ration(ﬂ-} - - {2) (2}
Financial liabiities at fair value through sarmings - (28) {2) {30y
Derivatives used for hedging(5) - (370) - {370}
Tolal liabiities — (398) (2} {400}

(1) Largaly related to U.5, dollar pricing of customer agresments by subsidiarios outside of the LL.5.

(2]} Used to manage foreign exchange risk on cash flows excluding indebledness.

(3} Invesiments in entities over which the Company does not have conlrol, joint contrel or significant influence,

(4) Obligations to pay additional consideration for prior acguisitions, based upon performance measures contractually agreed at the time of puichase.
(8} Comprised of fixed-to-fixed cross-cumency swaps on indebledness.
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The Company recognizes transfers into and out of the fair value measurement hierarchy fevels at the end of the reporting period in which the event
or change in circurnstances that caused the transfer occurred. Thare were no transfers between hierarchy levels for the vears ending

December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Valuation Techniques

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded In an active market {for example, over-the-counier derivatives} is determined by using
vaiuation techniques. These valuation technigues maximize the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as littie as possible on
entity specific estimates. If ali significant Inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. If one or
more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market dats, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
* guoted markst prices or dealer quotss for similar insfruments;

= the fair value of cross-curency interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts is calculated as the prasent value of the estimated
future cash flows based on abservable visld curves; and

+ the fair value of contingent consideration is calculated based on estimates of fulure revenue performancs.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The Company is subjsct to master netting arangements with certain counterparties. Certain of these arrangements allow for the netting of assats
and liabifities in the ordinary course of business, and are reflected on a net basis on the consolidated statement of financial position, In other
circumstances, netting is permitted only in the event of bankruptoy or defaull of either party to the agreemant, and such amounts are not netled in
the consolidated statement of financial position. This information is sumimarized in the table below.

Derivative financial assels :
Cash and cash equivalents 36 "

: (1
December 31, 2016 . 83 i {17) 48
Detivative financial agsets 13 5 3
Cash and cash equivalents 43 - ; 40 3

December 31, 2015

Derivativa financial liabilities

gank indebtedness 1 ) -
Docomber 31, 2016 57 17 3
Derivative financial labiiies 378 (5) 373
Bank indebtedness 40 (40} -
December 31, 2015 418 {45) 373

(1) Included within "Other financial assets® current and "Other flhancial assels™ non-current in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(2) Included within “Cash and cash equivaients” In the consolidated statoment of financial position.

{3) Incluged wilhin “Other financial ablities” ~ currant and “Other financial liabilities” - non-current in the conselidated statement of financial position,
{4} Ineluded within “Cument indebtedness” in the consolidated statemant of financial position.
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MNote 19: Other Non-Current Assets

December 31,

N d beneftt plan surpluses (soe nota 25)

Cash surrender value of fife insurance policies 283
Equity method investments 173
Other non-current assels 59
Total other non-current assets 544

Note 20: Payables, Accruals and Provisions

Trade payables T ' S 311 282

Accruals 1,817 1,520
Provisions {(see note 21) 273 176
Other current fiabilities 237 377
Total payables, accruals and provisions 2,448 2,255

Note 21: Provisions and Other Non-Current Liabilities

Net defined benefit plan obligations (see note 26) 1,417 1,31
Defarred compensation and employee incehtives 235 242
Provislons 140 117
Uncertain tax positions 268 338
Gther non-current liabilities 168 1186
Total provisions and other non-current liabiities 2,258 2124

The following table presants the movement in provisions for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2016

Balance at December 31, 25 189

Charges - -

Utilization (22} (22}

Translation end other, net _ 3 - (8)

Batance at December 31, 2015 75 7 159

Less: short-tarm provisions - 8 118

Long-term provisions - - 75 1 41

Balance at Decernber 31, 2015 52 78 T 186 283
Charges 291 13 - " 346
Uiz ation (144} {11 5 {19 {176}
Translation and othey, nat ) 4 (8} (2) {8) {18}
Balance at Decemnber 31, 2016 198 63 - 148 413
Less: shortsterm provisions 168 14 - 91 273
Long-term provisions 30 : L] - 35 140

Page 132



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2018

Employee-related

The employee-related provisions remaining at December 31, 2016 consist of severance and are expected to be paid by 2018,

Fadcilities-related

Facilities-ralated provisions inciude lease retirernent obligations, which arise when the Company agrees to restore a leased property to a specified
condition at the completion of the lease perod. Lease retiremeant provisions relate primarily to leases which expire over the next five years.

Other

Other includes various items arising in the normal course of business such as legal provisions, reserves for health care and disposal related
reserves.

MNote 22: Defarred Tax

The movemsnis of deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below:

Drecemb , 2014 1,787 48) 639 2,378
Acguisitions 2 - - 2
Benefit to income statement - continuing operations {118} {63} {48) {224)
(Banefit) expense to income statement - discontinued operations {5} {2) 3 {4
Translation and other, net {48) 2 {15) (613
December 31, 2015 1,620 (1) 582 2,091
Acquisitions i3 - - [
Benefit to income statement - continuing operations {132) = {13) (14%)
Benefit to incoma statement - discontinued operations {19) {2} (39) £
Transfer to assets hald for sale {54) 1 - {83}
Translation and other, net {14} 12 4 2
Becember 31, 2016 7,407 1o B34 {88

(1) Includes $3%7 million (2015 « $436 million) related fo infercompany sales of certain technology and content assets as part of the Company's consolidation of the ownership and
management of these assets.
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Doecember 31, 2014 88 485 154 268 995
(Expense} benefit to ihcome statement - continuing operations (10} 20 2} {38} (30)
(Expense} benefit to Income statemant - discontinuad operations {2) 1 - 3] (5)
[Expense) benefit to equity " (58) (8) 4 {62)
Translation and other, net 4) (3) - {18) (25)
Decernber 31, 2015 72 445 144 212 873
{Expensze) benefit to income statement - continuing operations [12) {165) 17 26 {134)
(Expense) benefit to income statement - dissontinued oparations (8) (1) 2 {3} "
Transfer to assels held for sale (9) “ - (19) (19)
Benefit to equity - 8 12 - 24
Translation and other, net 2 {4} - 2 -
December 31, 2016 48 264 175 227 734
Nef deferred liabiity at December 31, 2015 {1,218}
Net deferred liability at December 31, 2046 {1,107}

The estimated recovery period for the deferred tax balances Is shown bsiow:

afarr: es

Deferred tax fiabilties to be recovared after more than 12 months 1,820 2,071
Deferred tax Jiabilties to be recovered within 12 moinths 21 20
Total deferred tax liabilities o 1,841 2,091
Deferred tax assels

Deaferred tax assets & be recovered after more than 12 months 582 735
Defarred tax assets o be recovered within 12 months 142 138
Total deferred tax assels 734 873
Net deferred tax liability 1,107 1,218

At Decernbar 31, 2018, the Company had Canadian tax losses canied forward of $1,607 million, tax losses cared forward in other jurisdictions of
$4,884 million, and U.5. state tax losses sarmied forward which, at current U135, state rates, have an estimated vaiue of $25 million. If not wtilized,
the majority of the Canadian tax losses and U.5. state tax losses carrded forward will expire between 2017 and 2036, The majority of the tax
losses caried forward in other jurisdictions may be canied forward indefinitely.

Deforred tax assets are recognized for {ax loss cary-forwards to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable
profits is probable. The ability to realize the tax benefits of these losses is dependent upon a rumber of facters, including the future profitability of
operations In the jurisdictions in which the {ax losses arose. At December 31, 2018, the Company did not recognize deferred tax assets of
$1,804 miltion related to $6,471 million of tax losses canied forward.

At December 31, 2018, the Company had $581 million of capital losses caried forward which may only be used to offset future capital gains. The
defarred tax asset not recognized in respect of these losses was 588 million,
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Mo deferred tax is recognized on the temporary differences assoclated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that the
Company is able to control the timing and reversal of such differences, or the reversal would not create a tax liability, These temporary differences
are primarily attributable to the undistributed samings of non-Canadian subsidiaries, which were $13.8 billion at Decemnber 31, 2018 (2015 - §13.6
billion}.

Note 23: Capital

Tha change in capital, which includes stated capital and contributed surplus, was as follows:

L Tes
Balance, Decarnber 31, 2014 705,016,214 9,866 110 181 10,167
Shares issued under DRIP 831,068 32 - - 33
Slock compensation plans 3,675,666 147 - (15) 132
Repurchases of cormmon shares(d) (35,927,084) (470) - - (470)
Balance, Dscember 31, 2015 734,594,864 9,676 110 166 9,862
Shares Issued under DRIP 854,808 36 - - 35
Stock compensation plans 3,853,670 148 - 30 178
Repurchases of common shares (41,8569,842) (473} . - {4733
Balance, December 31, 2016 727,443,301 9,283 0 195 9,589

{1} Siated capital includes $(55) wmillion related to the Company's pre-defined share repurchase plan. See share repurchases below,
Comimon shares of the Company have no par value and the authorized common share capital is an unlimited number of shares.
Dividends

Dividends on common shares are declared in U.S, dollars, In the consolidated statement of cash flow, dividends paid on common shares are
shown net of amounts reinvested in the Cormpany under its dividend relnvestment plan. Details of dividends declarad per share and dividends paid
on common shares are as follows:

Dividends daclad par COMEnon $harg ! _ ) $1.38

Dividends declared 1,018 1,048
Dividends reinvested {35) (33)
Dividends paid 980 1,013

Registered holders of comimnon shares may participate in the dividend reinvestment plan, under which cash dividends are automatically reinvested
in new common shares, Common shares are valued at the weighted-average price at which the shares traded on the TS8X during the five tfrading
days immediately preceding the record daie for the dividend,

Share Rapurchases

The Company may buy back shares (and subsequently cancel them) from time to time as part of its capital strategy. In May 2018, the Company
rerewed its normal course issuer bid ("NCIB") for an additional 12 months. Under the NCGIB, the Company may repurchase up to 37.5 miilion
common shares betweesn May 30, 2016 and May 28, 2017 In apen market transactions on the TSX, the NYSE andior other exchanges and
alternative trading systems, if eligible, or by such olher means as may be permitted by the TSX and/or NYSE or under applicable law, inciuding
private agreement purchases if the Company receives an issuer bid exemption order from applicable securities regulatory authorities in Canada for
such purchases. In 2018, the Company privately repurchased .5 milllon common shares {2015 - 10 million common sharas) at a discount to the
then-prevailing market price.
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Details of share repurchases were as follows:

Share repurchases {milions of U.S, dollars} 1,673 1,417
Shares repurchased (milions) 41.8 35,9
Share repurchases - average price per share $39,91 $30.42

Decisions regarding any future repurchases will depend on factors such as market conditions, share price, and other opportunities o invest capital
for growth, The Company may elect to suspend or discontinue its share repurchases at any time, in accordance with applicable laws. From time to
time when the Company does not possess materdal nonpublic information about ikself or its securities, it may enter into a pre-defined plan with its
broker to allow for the repurchase of shares at times when the Company ordinarily would not be active in the market due to its own interal trading
biackout periods, insider trading rules or otherwise. Any such plans entered into with the Company’s biroker will be adopted in accordance with
applicable Canadian securities laws and the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the 1.5, Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The
Company enfered into such a plan with its broker on December 31, 2018, Ag a resull, the Company recorded a $185 million liability in *Other
financiai Habilities” within current liabilities at Decembar 31, 2015 with a corresponding amount recorded in equity in the consolidated statement of
financial pesition, The Company did not enter into such a plan with its broker at December 31, 2016.

Series I, Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares

The authorized prefarence share capital of the Company is an unfimited number of preference shares without par value. The directors are
authorized to issue preference shares without par value in ohe or more serles, and to determine the number of shares in, and terms atiaching to,
each such series. As of Decermber 31, 2016 and 2015, 6,000,000 Series 1, cumulative redeemable preference shares were authorzed, issued and
outstanding, The Series 11 prefersnce shares are nonwvoting and are redesmable at the optian of the Company for C525.00 per share, together with
accrued dividends. Dividends are payable quarterty at an annual rate of 70% of the Canadian bank prime rate applied to the stated capital of such
sharas.

Note 24: Share-Based Compensation

The Company operales a number of equity-settied and cash-setlied share-based compensation plans under which it receives services from
amployees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company or cash payments. Each plan is described below:

Stock Incentive Plan

Under its stock incentive plan, the Company may grant stock options, TRSUs, performance restricted share units ("PRSUs") and other awards to
cettain employess for a maximum of up to 50 million commeoen shares. As of December 31, 20116, there were 2,788,790 awards available for grant
{2015 - 7,121,298).

The icllowing table summarizes the methods used fo measure fair value for each type of award and the related vesting period over which
compensation expense s recognized:

option pricing model business day prior at reporting date
to grant date
TR3Vs Up to seven years Closing common Fair vaiue on Fair vaiue
share price business day prior at reporting date
1o grant date
PRSUSs Three vear Closing consmon Fair value oh Fair value
performance period share price business day prior at reporting date

to grant date
(1) Cash-setiled awards represent the pertion of cettain share-based compensation related to withhielding tax, which the Company funds from its own cash.
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Additional information on each typs of award is as follows:

Stock Options
The maximum termn of an option is 10 years from the grant date, Under the plan, options may be granted by reference to the Company’s commaon
share price on the NYSE or TSX,

The weighted-average fair value of options granted for the years ended Decamber 31, 2016 and 2015 and principal assumplions used in applying
the Black-Scholes option pricing model were as follows:

Weighted-average fair value ($) 3.44 3.91

Welghted-average of key assumgptions:
Share price (§) 36,63 38,50
Exercise price ($) 36.83 38,50
Rigk-free interest raie 1.5% 1.7%
Dividend yield 3.9% 3.8%
Volatility factor 18% 18%
Expected life (In years) 5 5

Tha Black-Scholes model was developed for use in astimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions. The model requires
the use of subjective assumptions, including expacted stock-prica volatility. Historical data has been considered in setting the assumptions,

Time-Based Restricted Share Units (TRSUs)

TRSUs give the holder the right fo receive one commeon share for each unit that vests on the vesting date. The holders of TR8Us have no voting
rights and accumulate additional units based on notiona! dividends paid by the Company on its common shares on each dividend payment date,
which are reinvested as additional TRSUs. The weighted-average fair value of TRSUs granted was $41.40 and $39.98 for the years ended
Pecember 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Performance Restricted Share Units {PRSUs)

PRSUs give the holder the right to receive one common share for each unit that vests on the vesting date. The holders of PRSUs have no voting
rights and accumulate additional units based con netional dividends paid by the Company on its common shares on each dividend payment dats,
which are reinvested as additional PRSUs. The percentage of PRSUs initially granted that vests depends upon the Company's performance,
typically over a three-year period, against pre-established performance goals. Bstween 0% and 200% of the initial amounts may vest for grants
made from 2014 through 2016,

The weighted-average fair value of PRSUs granted was $36.86 and $39.49 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respeclively,

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)

The Company maintains an ESPR whereby eligible employees can purchase common shares at a 15% discount to the closing share price on the
NYSE on the last business day of each quarter. Each quarter, employees may elect to autherize payroll deductions from their eligible
compensation, up to a meodmum of $21,250 per year {or a comparable amount in foreign currency for the giohal ESPP), The discount is expensed
as ncurred. A maximum of 21 miilion common shares can be purchased through the ESPP. The maximum number of shares currently issuable for
the L.S. ESPP is 15 million and for the global ESPP is & milfion,

Share Appreciation Rights (SARs)

The Company has a phantom stock plan that provides for the granting of stock appreciation rights ("SARs™ and other cash-based awards to
certain employees. SARs provide the opportunity fo receive a cash payment equal to the fair market value of the Company's commeon shares less
the grant price. SARs vest over a four-year pericd and expire four to ten years afier the grant date. Compensation expense is recognized basad on
the fair value of the awards that are expected to vest and remain outsianding at the end of the reporiing period using a Black-Scholes eption
pricing model. There were no SAR grants in 2015 and 2015,
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The movement in the number of awards outstanding and their retated weighted-average exercise prices are as follows:

Awards outstanding {in thous ds.

Quistanding at December 31, 2014 9,359 4,101 3,530 57 17,047 33.85
Granted 2,584 864 1,207 - 4,655 39,50
Exercised (2,332) (556) (764) (28) (3,680) 34.22
Forfeited (645) (457) {673) - (1,778) 26.47
Expired {53) - - {4) (57} 39.30
Cuistanding at December 31, 2015 8,913 3,952 3,300 25 16,19¢ 35,14
Exsrcisable at December 31, 2015 4,550 - - 25 4,575 34,30
Granted 2,761 658 1,852 - 5,269 36,63
Exercised (3,108} (781} {968) (15} {4,882) 33.59
Forfeited {206} {125} (391} » (722) 3718
Expired {151} - " - (151) 42.79
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 3,204 3,692 3,793 10 15,704 36,04
Exorcisable af December 31, 2018 3,033 - - 10 3,043 34.58

{1) Reprasents the weighted-average exercise price for stock options and S5ARs, TRSUs and PR5Us are excluded as they entitle holders to raceive comman shares upon
vesting without an associated exercise price.

In 2018, the weighted-average share price at the time of exercise for the awards described above was $40.34 per share (2015 - $39.98).
Share-based compensation expenss for years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was as follows:

Dacember 31, 2016(1) 21 37 75

Dacornbet 31, 2015(1) 5 23 44

{1} Includes expense of $36 millon al Dacember 31, 2016 {2015 ~ income of §4 million} refating fo the revaiuation of withholding taxes on share-based compansatlon awards,
which is included within fair value adjustmants in the prasantation of “Operating expenses” in note 5.
{2} Principally comprised of expenss ralated to ESFP and DSUs,

The Company recorded a liability for cash-settled share incentive awards of $154 miliion at December 31, 2016 (2015 - $111 million). The intrinsic
vaiue of the Hability for vested awards was $45 milion at December 31, 2016 {2015 - $24 million).

The following table summarizes additional information relating to stock eptions and SARs outstanding at December 31, 2016;

0,00 - 30,00 526 4.88 $27.78 526 $27.79
30.01 - 35.00 2,021 5.82 $32.96 1,032 $32.60
35.01 —40.00 5,643 7.87 $37.87 1,458 $38.27
40.01 - 45,00 29 0,22 _ §42.77 29 842,77
Totak 8219 3,043 ‘

{1) TR8Us and PRSUs are exciuded as they entitle holders to receive comraon shares upon vesting without an associated exemlse price,

Paga 138



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2016

Note 25: Employee Benefit Plans

Retirement Benefits

The Company sponsors both defined benefit and defined contribution employee future benefit plans covering substantially ali employees, Costs for
future employee benefits are accrued over the periods in which employess sarn the benefits. Defined benefit plans provide penslon and other post-
employment benefits ("OPEB") to coverad employees. Significant plans are valued under {AS 19, Employee Benefits, by independent qualified
actuaries using the projected unit credit method,

The most significant funded defined benefit plans are the Thomson Reuters Group Pension Plan (“TRGP"), covering U.8. employees, and the
Reuters Pension Fund ("RPF™), Suppiementary Pension Scheme ("SPS5”} and The Thomson Corporation PLGC Pension Scheme ("TTGC"), covering
U.K. employess, collectively the “Large 1LK. plans”. The Company also has unfunded obligations consisting of supplemental executive retirement
plans ("SERPs") and OPEB consisting largely of retiree medical benefits, both prmarily in the U.5B. Defined benefit obligations in the rest of the
world are less significant,

Defined benafit plan design and governance

Benefits payable are generally based on salary and years of service, although each plan has a unique benefits formula. Employeas in the Large
LLK. plans (and in some smalier glcbal plans) may also make voluntary contributions to augment future benefits. The normat retirement age is
typically in the range of 80 to 65 years and benefits are generally payable in annuity or lump sum upon retirement. Most plans include provisions
for sarly retirement, death, survivor and disability benefits. Under the Large U.K. plans, vested benefits of former employees who are not yet of
retirement age are held in deferment. Under the TRGP, former and future terminating employess with vested benefits have the option to receive
benefits as a iump sum or to defer benefits until retirement. In addition, future TRGP retirees may receive benefits In lump sum or annuity. Eligible
benefits under the Large UK. plans increase basad on inflation, whereas TRGP banefiis are not indexed to inflation. in some countries, the
Company operates cash balance plans {(accounted for as defined benefit obligations) where the accumulated balance on the pension account is
based on employee and employer allocations and a promised annual crediting rate.

Except where required by law, virtually ail defined benefit plans are closed to new employses. However, most new employees are eligible to
participate in defined contribution plans,

The TRGP is a qualified pensicn plan in the U.S, and is goveined by the Employee Retirement Income Secuwity Act of 1974 ("ERISA"), In its role
as plan fiduciary, the Company has a policy o contribute at least the minimum required amount under ERISA.

Similar to the TRGP, the Company bears the cost of the Large UK, pians (less employee contiibutions). However, the responsibility for the
managemant and governance of each of the Large UK. plans lies with an independent trustee board (the "Trustees”). The Trustees are rasponsible
for canying out triennial valuations (unless circumstances require an earier review) and securing funding for bensfit payments, In order to develop
funding valuations and investment policies, the Trustees consult with the plan’s actuary fwho is indspendent of the Company’s actuary}, the plan's
investment advisors {also independent of the Company's investment advisors) and the Company. The Trustees and the Company are required to
agree on a schedule of contributions in support of funding objectives. The Company has separate funding agreements with the respactive Large
LLK, plan's Trustees that provide for ongoing contriputions to fund current service accruals and scheduied deficit recovery contributions to remedy
prior funding deflcits over a period of several years. These arrangements are updated in conjunction with the triennial valuations. The RPF and
8PS plan assels that can be recognized on the Company's consolidated statement of financial position are Himited by plan restrictions that ensure
any expected surplus assets at plan termination helong {o the plan (and therefore its participants). This limitation is known as the asset ceiling
resfriction.

Other international locations operate various pension plans in accordance with local requiations and practices.
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Net defined bensfit plan obligations

Tha movement on net defined benefit plan obligations was as follows:

501 ' S 2016

As of January 1 {1,138} (1.124) (157) (222} {1,292}
Plan (expense) benefit recognized in incoms statemant:

Continuing operations {138} {148) {11} {15) {148)

Discontinued operations 5 (4) " “ §
Actuarial {losses) gains {79) 39 12 71 {67)
Exehange differences 3 15 1 2 32
Gontributions paid 74 B0 14 9 88
Othar (17} 7 1 (2} (16)
Met plan ebligations as of December 31 {1,259} {1,135} (140) (157) (1,298)
Net plan surpluses recognized in non-current assoets 18
Net plan ebligations recegnlzed in non-current liabllitles {1,417)

(1) includes amaounts for immaterial defihad bensfit and OPEB plans that are not included In the detalled analysis below.

Anatysis of material defined benefit plans
The net surpluses (abligations) of the material defined benefit plans recognized in the consolidated statemant of financial position were as follows:

1

3

Present valle of plan obiigations (6,818 (5,518 (314) (di4 (133) (7,286} {5,965)
Falr value of plan assets 6,164 . 5444 - - - 6,164 5,944

{655 (5743 (3743 14y {133 {1,083} {1,027
Unrecognized plan assets(2) (280) (235) " - - {2603 {236)
Mot plan obligations {935) {808} (314) {114} {133} {1,362) (1,256)
Met plan surpluses 15 15 - - - 15 15
Met plan obligations {950) (824} {314) {114) {133} {1,377 (1,271)

(1) Unfunided pension plans consist of SERPs for eligible employees.

(2) Unrecagnized plan assats are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position because they are not considered recoverable. as the Company cannot
unifaterally reduce futura contributions In ordar to utilize the sumplus, The Company considered the related plans’ funded status, expected future service acenuals and employer
confribution commitments in determining the plan assets that are subject to this asset ceiling restriction.
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Defined banefit obligation
The foliowing summarizes acitivity in the defined benefit obligation:

ngfit Obiig
20160 : 01 :

Opening defined benefit obligation {6,518} (6,958) {314) (339) {133) (203) {6,965) (7,600)
Current service cost:

Continuing operations 78 (82) (3} (3) N {2) (82) (87)

Discontinued operations {2) (4) - n “ - (2) 4
Administration fees (18) (114} (1} - - - (20) (14)
Interes! cost {240) (250) {13 {13) {5} {7} {253%) (270}
Actuarial (losses) gains from changes in fisancial assumptions(1) {834) 223 {10} 10 {2} 3 {948} 236
Actuarial gains from changes ih demographic assumptions(2) 53 37 4 5 2 20 B4 62
Experionce (losses) gains {46) 6 - {2) 16 50 {30} 54
Coniributions by employees {9) {10} " - {2 (2} {11} {12)
Benefits paid 258 291 18 18 11 9 287 318
Administration fees dishursements 18 13 1 - " - 19 13
Curtaitment gain:

Continuing operations 11 - - ~ - - 11 -

Discontinued operations 8 - - - - - 8 -
Exchange differences 04 215 3 3 - - 707 218
Cther (30} 15 2 7 - ) (28) 21
Closing defined bensfit obllgation {6,819} (6,518) {313} (3143 {114 {133) {7,248) (6,965)

{1} Losaes In 2016 wera primarlly assoclated with 5 decrease In discount rates at the measuramenl date, compared to the prior measurement date, {Gains in 2015 were primarily
associated with an Increase In discount rates at the measurement date, coinpared to the prior measurement dale).

{2) Galns In 2016 were primaiily associated with new 2018 morality fables issuad by the Soeciety of Acluaries in the United States, reflecting shotter lfe expectancy. (Gains in
2015 were primarlly associated with new 2015 mortalty tables issued by the Scciety of Actuaries in the United States, reftecting shaiter life expectancy.}

The tfotal closing defined benefit obligation can be further analyzed by participant group and by geography.

20460158

Aclive employees 25% 27% u.s.
Deferred 38% 35% UK
Retlirees 3T% 30% Resl of worlkd
Closing defined bensfif obligation HHY%  100%

The weighted-average duration of plan obligations were as follows:

RPF 21 20
5PS 15 14
TG 18 18
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Plan assets
The following summatizes activity In plan assets:

5944

Opening fair value of plan assels 5,944 - - - - 6,470
Interest income() 216 - - - - 216 230
Feturn on plan assets excluding amounts inciudad in ntsrast income (axpense)(®) 939 “ - - - 939 (292)
Contributions by employer 55 24 18 9 7 85 89
Contributions by employees 9 - - 2 2 11 12
Benafts paid {258) (18)  (18) {11) (9) (287) (318)
Administration fees disbursements {18} {1 - “ - 19y {13)
Exchange differences {725} - B - - {728}  {217)
Other 2 (2) “ - N ] = (17}
Closing fair value of plan assets 8,164 B - - - 6,164 5044

{1} interest incoma is caleulated using the discount rale for the perdod,
{2} Retum an plan assets reprosents the difference between the actual retum on plan assets and the interest Income computad using the discount rate (which also considers
fimitalions from unrecognized plan assets),

Investment policy of funded plans

Plan assets are invested to adequately secure benefits and to minimize the Company’s long-term contributions to the plans. However, specific
investment allocations will vary across plans. The Company funds unfunded and OPEB plans as claims are made.

Plan fiduciaries, comprised of the Company or plan trustees, set investment policies and strategies for each funded plan and oversee investment
allecation, which includes selecting investment managers, commissioning periodic asset-abllity studies and setting long-term strategic targets.
Investment aliocation takes into consideration a number of factors, including the funded status of the plan, a balance hetwsen risk and return, the
plan's liguidity needs, clatent and expected economic and rmarkst conditions, specific asset class risk as well as the risk profile and maturity
pattern of the respective plan.

Target investment allocation ranges are guidelines, not limitations. Funded plans may have broadly diversified portfolios with investments in
equities, fixad incoms, real estate, insurancs contracts, derivatives and other asset classes through direct ownership or through other instruments
such as mutual funds, commingled funds and hedge funds. Derivatives may be used to achieve Investment objectives or as a component of risk
rnanagement such as for Interest rate and currency management strategies.
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In aggregate, the major categories of plan assets for funded plans were as follows:

Eouities(2}
U3, 167 134 120 124 287 258
UK 12 9 - - 1% 9
Al other 174 182 1,036 1,010 1,216 1,192
Bonds(d)
Cuorporate
u.s. 279 285 470 451 749 736
(ER,9 “ - 354 881 354 881
Al other 8 8 791 47 799 55
Govarnmani
u.s, " v 248 271 248 271
UK, - - 9345 1,034 985 1,031
All oiher - - 4 5 4 5
Gther fixed income 154 157 374 275 528 432
Muliti-asset(4)
UK. - = 1] 96 1 96
All other = - 384 483 334 463
Property 25 24 32 116 57 140
Insurance - - 80 83 B0 a3
Detivatives - - 51 88 51 88
Cash and cash squivalents 110 20 214 178 324 198
Other & 5 [ 3 11 8
Total 934 824 5,230 5,120 6,164 5,844

(1} Assal valualion based on Level 1 evidence under the fair value hiararchy: queted prices (Unadjusied) in aclive markeis for Identical assels or liabilties.

(2} Equifles include direct shareholdings and funds facused on equily siralegies.

(3} Bonds include direct credit boldings and funds focused on fixed income strategies. Within this grouping, Govemment includes debt issued by national, stale and local
govemmant agencies and Gther fixed income includes blended Comporate/Govemment cradit slrategies.

(4) Muiti-asset includes funds that invest In a range of asset Glasses.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no Thomson Reuters securitles held in the Company’s pension plans’ assets.

Confributions

In 2016 and 2015, the Company contribuied $85 million and 588 million, respactively, to its material defined benefit plans.

In January 2017, the Company contributed $500 million to the TRGP. See note 30. In addition to this contribution, the Comgany expects to further

contribute approximately $80 million to its material defined bensfit plans in 2017, including $50 million in accordance with the nomrnal funding policy
of funded plans and $30 million for claims expected to arise under unfunded and OPEB plans.
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From fime to time, the Campany may elect to make voluntary contributions In order o improve the funded status of the plans. For certain plans,
the krustees have the right to call for special valuations, which could subsequently result in the Company having to make an unexpected
ceniribution. Market-related factors may also affect the timing and amount of contributions. The amount and timing of any future required
contributions to pension plans could differ significantly from the Company’s estimates at December 31, 2018.

Actuarial assurnptions
The weighted-average actuarial assumptions were as follows:

2015°

s of Decémber 31, : 2016 2015 1 ; )
Discount rate 3.09%  3.88% £.01% 4.30% 3.78% 3.94%
Inflation assumption 3.21% 3.U% 2.66% 2.62% - -
Rate of Increase i salaries 337%  3T7T% 3.49% 3.54% 3.50% 3.50%
Rate of Increase In pension payments 2.984%  2.89% 3.65% 3.00% . -
Madical cost trend - - - - §.50% 6.50%

Discount rate

The discount rate was based on current market interest rates of high<quality, fixedrate debt securities adjusted to reflect the duration of expscted
future cash outflows for pension benefit payments. To estimate the discount rate, the Company’s acluary constructed a hypothetical yield curve
that represented yields on high quality zero-coupon bonds with durations that mirrored the expected payment stream of the benefit obligation. For
ihe TRGP and the other Large U.K. plans combined, a 0.25% increase or decrease in the discount rate would have decreased or increased the
defined benefit obligation by approximately $258 million as of Decembar 31, 2016.

Rates of inflation, increase in salaries and pension payments

The rate of inflation, which impacts increases in eligible UK. pension payments, was determined by reference to consumer and retall price indices
as welt as other benchmarks. The assumption on salary growth is for the long term over the life of benefit plans. For the TRGP and the other Large
LK. plans combined, a 0.25% increase or decrease in the rate of increase in inflation and salary assumptions would have increased or decreased
the defined benefit obligation by approximately $87 million and 324 million, respectively, as of Dacember 31, 20186,

Medical cost trend

The medical cost trend is based on the Company’s actuarnial medical claims experience and future projections of medical costs. The average
medical cost trend rate used was 8.5% for 2016, which is reduced ratably to 5% in 2020. A 1% increase or decrease in the trend rate would have
resufted in an increase or decrease in the bensfit obligation for postretirement benefits of approximatety $10 million at December 31, 2016,

Mortalily assumptions
The mortality assumptions used to assass the defined benafit obligation as of December 31, 2016 are based on the following:
* TRGE: RP-2018 with MP-2016 Generational Table; and

* Large UK, plans: SAFS Light Tables with allowances for plan demographic specifics and longevity improvements,
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The following table illustrates the life expectation in years of an average plan participant retiring at age 65 as of December 31, 2018 and 2015 and
@ plan participant at age 40 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 retiring 26 years later at age 65 under the mortality assumptions used.

B : e

Employes retiring as of December 31, 2016 at ags 65 23 25
Employee age 40 as of December 31, 2016 retiring at age 65 25 27

-Employse retiring as of Dacambel: 3, 2015 at age 85 23 25
Employes age 40 as of Decamber 31, 2014 reliring &t age 65 pa) 27

For the TRGP and the other Large U.K. plans combined, an increase in life expectancy of one year across all age groups would have increased
the defined benefit obligation by approximately $148 million as of December 31, 2016.

The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in one assumption while holding all other assumptions constant, so that interdependencies
between assumptions are excluded. The measuremnent methodology (i.e. present value of the obligation cafculated using the projected unit credit
method) applied in the sensitivity analyses is also consistent {o that ussed to determine the defined benefit chiigation in the consolidated statement

of financial position,

Risks and uncertlainties
The material risks and uncertainties the Company is exposed to in relation to defined benafit pension plans are:

Investment risk: Returns on plan assets may not be sufficient to fund plan obligations. To mitigate such risk, plan fiduciaries maintain
investment policies and perodically review investment allocations to ensure adequate support of funding objectives. Additionally, plan
fiduciaries review fund manager parformance against benchmarks for specific investment mandates.

Interest rate risk: A fall In Interest rates will increase the value of the plan obligations as wall as the fixed income investments used to fund the
obligations. Although a significant amount of plan assets are allocated to fixed income investments, the Company’s funded benefit plans do not
strictly follow a liability matching investment strategy. As a result, plan liabilities may increase faster than assets in a dechining interest rate
envirenment, potentlally requiring the Company to make additional contributions. Diversified asset aliocations mitigate this risk by creating the
potential to outperform increases in liabilities and 1o reinvest excess retums In liahility matching assets, reducing the need for Company
contributions.

+ Inflation risk: Actual salary increases and pension increases linked to inflation may exceed expectations, resulting in higher than anticipated
plan obligations. To mitigate this risk, cerlain plan assets are invested in hedging assets, including derivatives and inflationdinked bonds.

+ Currency risk: In some plans, obligations denominated in local currency may be parlially funded by foreign investments, To hedgs this
currency mismatch, derivatives may be usecl.

+ Liquidity risk: If a plan has insufficient cash to fund near term benefit payments, the Company may have to make additional contributions or
unexpecied changes in asset ailocations may be required. This risk is mitigated as near term pension payments are reasonably Known and
plans generally hold short-term debt securities to fund such payments.

Mortality riske Life expectancy may improve at a faster rate than expected, resulting in higher plan obligations. To mitigate this risk, life
sxpectancy assumptions are reviewed in connection with periadic valuations,

For defined benefit retiree medical plans, the material risks are mortality risk, as described above, and cosis being greater than assumed, either
due to inflation of future medical costs or the frequency of participants’ clalms.
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Analysls of iIncome and expense
Defined benefit plan expense for years ended December 31, 2018 and 2015 was as fdllows:

Current service cost 78 86

Net interest cost 33 30 5 51
Administration fees 19 14 - 14
Curiaiment gain {11} - - - - - {11} -
Defined benefit plan expense 118 130 17 16 B 10 142 156

{1) Cument service cost and administration fees are ingluded in the “Post-employment benefits” component of “Operating expenses” as sot out in note 5. Net interest cost is
reporied in “Finance costs, net" as set out in note 7.

Analysis of other comprehensive loss {incoma)
The following summarizes amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss {income) for material defined benefit plans:

other Comprahensivélln
Yeat ehided Décémber 31, ;
Remeasurement losses (gains) on defined bensfit obligatio

2016

Due to financial assumpticn ¢changes 834 (223) 10 (10) 2 3) 946 (238)
Due lo demographic asswnption changes {58) {37} {4) (5) (2} 20) {64) (62)
Dus to experience 46 {6} - 2 (16} 50} 30 (54)
Return on plan assels (greater) lkess than discount rate (938} 202 - “ - - (933) 292
Changae in lrrecoverable surplus other than interest 84 {50} - " - - 88 (50)
Tetal racognized In other comprehensive loss (Income) befare taxation 70 {24} [ {13) {18} {73) 1] (110}

Balanca of actuaria losses {gains} at January 1

Mot actuarial (gains) losses recognized in the year {26) {60)
Balance of acluarlal losses (gains) at December 31 1,183 1,189
Balance of asset ceiling at January 1 T84 904
Interest cost on irrecoverable swplus 8 10
Effects of the asset celling in ihe year 84 (50}
Balance of asset ceiling at Dacamber 31 - 278 184
Tatal accumulated comprehensive loss {income) at December 31 1,486 1,378 68 60 {81) {65) 1,441 1,373

Defined coniribution plans

The Company sponsors various defined contribution savings plans that provide for Company-matching coniributions. Total expense related to
defined contyribution plans was $135 miflion in 2016 (2015 - $133 million}, which approximates the cash outlays related to the plans.
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MNote 26: Suppiemental Cash Flow Information

Betails of “Other” in the consolidated statement of cash flow are as follows:

Non-cash employee benefit charges 294 270
Fair vadue adjustrments 20 8)
Nat losses on foreign exchange and derlvative financlal instruments (54} {44)
Other 28 1€

288 236

Detalis of "Changes in working capital and other items” are as foliows:

Trade and other receivables 30 (51)
Prepaid oxpenses and other current asseis (32) (68)
Other financlal assets {5 82
Payablos, accruals and provisions 220 {61)
Deferred revenue 1 28
Other financial liabilittes (21} {10
income taxes {63} 17
Other(1} (112} (123)

18 (186)

(1) Includes $(88) millien (2015 - $(88) mllion) related to employes benefit pans.

The details of income taxes paid are as follows:

187}
QOperating activiies ~ discontinued operations (89) {18)
Investing aclivities - continuing operations - (1
imvesting activities - discontinuad operations (249) -
Total hcome laxes paid {347} {206)
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Note 27: Acquisitions

Acquisitions primarily comprise the purchase of businesses that are integrated into existing operations to broaden the Company's range of
offerings to customars as well as lts presence in global markets.

Acquisition activity

The number of acquisitions completed, and the related cash consideration, during 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

Businesses acquired 4 110 3 28
Less: cash acquired " 3
Buslnesses asquired, net of cash 4 110 3 23
Deferred and contingent consideration payments q 8
investments in businesses 2 q 1 ]

] 112 4 37

Purchase price allocation

Each business combination has baen accaunted for using the acquisition method, The results of acquired businesses are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the dates of acquisition. Furchass price allocations related to certain acquisitions may be subject to
adiustrnent pending completion of final valuations.

The detalls of net assets acquired were as follows:

Cash and cash aquivalenis - 3
Trade receivables 9 2
Prepaid expenses and other current assels 4 -

Current assets 13 5
Computer software 19 5
Other idenlifiable intangible assets 33 7
Total assets 65 q7
Payables and accruals (4 {1
Defarred revenue {10y {3)
“"Current fiabilities {14) (4)
Deferred tax 16} (2)
Totel liabilities 20} (B}
Met assels acquired 45 11
Goodwil 68 15
Total 110 26
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The excess of the purchase price over the net tangible and identifiabie intangible assets acquired and assumed liabilities was recorded as goodwill
and reflects synergies and the value of the acquired workforce. The majerity of goodwill for acquisitions completed in 2016 and 2015 is not
axpected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisition transactions were completad by acquiring all equity interasts or the net assets of the acquired business.

Other

The revenues and operating profit of acquired businesses since the date of acquisition were not material to the Company’s results of operations,

Note 28: Contingencies, Commitments and Guaraniees
Lawsults and legal claims

The Company is engaged in various legal proceadings, claims, audits and investigations that have arisen in the ordinary course of business.
These matters include, but are not limited 1o, employment inatiers, commaercial matiers, defamation claims and intellectual property infringement
claims. The outcome of all of the matters against the Company is subject to future resolution, including the uncertainties of litigation. Based on
information currently known to the Company and after consultation with outside legal counsel, management belleves that the ultimate resolution of
any such matters, individually ar In the aggregate, will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition taken as a whole.

Uncertain tax positions

The Company is subject to taxation in numerous jurisdictions and is routinely under audit by many different taxing authorilies in the ordinary
course of business. There are many transactions and calculations during the course of business for which the ulimate tax determination is
uncertain, as taxing authorities may challenge some of the Company’s positions and propese adjustments or changes to its tax filings.

As a result, the Company maintains provisions for uncsttain {ax positions that it believes appropriately reflect its risk. These provisions are made
using the Company's best estimates of the amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company
reviews the adequacy of these provisions al the end of each reporting period and adjusts them based on changing facts and circumnstances. Dus
to the uncertainty associated with tax audits, it is possible that at some future date, liabilities resulting from such audits or related Hitigation could
vary significantly from the Company’s provisicns. HMowever, based on currently enacted Jegislation, information currently known by the Company
and after consdiation with outside tax advisors, management believes thal the ultimate resciution of any such matters, individually or in the
aggregate, will not have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial condition taken as a whole.

In June 20186, certain U.8. subsidiaries received a statutory notice of deficiency from the Internat Revenue Service {(RS3) for the 2010 and 2011 tax
years. In the notice, the IRS claims that the taxable income of these subsidiaries should be increased by an amount that creates an aggregate
potential additional income {ax liability of approximately $250 millien for the period, including interest. The HRS claim relates to the Company's
intercompany transfer pricing practices. The Company plans to pursue all available administrative and judicial remedies necessary to resolve the
matter. To that end, the Company filed a petition in U.3. Tax Court in Septamber 2016, Management believes the Company will prevail in this
dispute.
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Leases

The Company enters into operating Jeases in the ordinary course of business, primarily for real property and squipment. Payments for these leases
are contractual obligations as schedulad per each agreement. Operating lease payments in 2018 were $279 million (2015 - $295 million), The future
aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

‘Pecember 51;
016
1

2018 221
2019 203
2020 164
2021 ) 138
2022 and thereafter 487

1,451

With certain leasas, the Company guarantees the restoration of the leased property to a specified condition after complation of the lease period.
The liability associated with these restorations Is recorded within “Provisions and other non-current liabilities” in the consolidated statement of
financiatl position.

The total of future minimum sublease payments to be received under non-cancellable subleases was $122 million at December 31, 2016. Sublease
paymenis recelved in 2016 ware 57 million (2015 - $5 mitlion).

Dispesitions

in certain disposition agreements, the Company guarantees to the purchaser the recoverability of certain assets or Emits on certain liabilities. The
Company does not believe based upon current facts and circumstances, that addiional payments in connection with these transactions would
have & material impact on the consolidated financial stataments.

Unconditional purchase obligations

The Company has varicus obligations for materials, supplies, outsourcing and other services contracted in the ordinary course of business. The
future uncondiional purchase obligations are as follows:

2017 499
2018 348
2019 241
2020 105
2021 55
2022 and thereafter 4

1,250
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Note 28: Related Party Transactions
As of December 31, 2016, Woodbridge beneficially owned approximately 82% of the Company’s shares.

Transactions with Woodbridge

From time to time, in the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions with Woodbridge and certain of its affiliates. These
transactions involve providing and receiving product and service offerings and are not significant to the Company’s resuits of operations or
financial condition either individually or in the aggregate.

in January 2016 and December 2018, the Company sold & Canadian wholly owned subsidiary to a company affiliated with Woodbridge for

$16 million and $15 miflion, respactively, In December 2015, the Company completed a similar transaction for $12 million, The subsidiaries’ assets
consisted of accumulated losses that management did not expect to utilize against future taxable income prior to thelr expiry. As such, no tax
benefit for the losses had been moognized in the consclidatad financial staternents. Under Canadian law, certain losses may only be transfetred to
related companies, such as those affiliated with Woodbridge. The Company recorded a gain of $31 million and $12 million in 2018 and 2015,
respectively, within “Other operating gains, net” within the consolidated incerne statement. For each of these transactions, the board of directors’
Corporale Governance Commitiee obtained an indepsndent faiimess opinion. The Company utilized each independent faimess opinlon to determine
that the negotiaisd price between the Company and the purchaser was reasonable. After receiving recommendations of the Corporate Governance
Committee, the board of dirsctors approved these transactions. Directors who were not consldered independent because of their positions with
Woodbridge refrained from deliberating and voting on the matters at both the committee and board meetings.

Transacticns with associates and joint ventures

From time to fime, the Company entars into transactions with its investments in associates and joint ventures. These transactions typically
involve providing or receiving services and are entered into in the nommal course of business.

in connection with the 2008 acquisition of Reutars, the Company assumed a lease agreemant with 3X5Q Assoclates, an entity owned by a
subsidiary of the Company and Rudin Times Square Associates LLC that was formed to build and operate the 3 Times Square property and
building in Mew York, Mew York. The Company follows the squity method of accounting for its invesiment in 3X8Q Associates. The lease provides
the Company with approximately 69C,000 square feet of office space until 2021 and includes provisions to terminate portions early and various
renewal options. [n both 2018 and 2015, the Company’s costs under this lesse arrangerment far rent, taxes and other expenses were $39 million.
Al December 31, 2016 and 2015, the amounts payable to 3X5Q Assoclates were negligible.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation, including directors, was as follows:

i : 27
Share-based paymenis(1) 15
Total compensation 42

(1) Share-based payments exclude mark-to-market fair valus adjustments.

Key management personnel are comprised of the Company's directors and execufive officers.
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MNote 30: Subsequent Evenis
Pension contribution

In January 2017, the Company contributed $500 million to its Themson Reuters Group Pension Plan to pre-fund certain ebligations.

2017 dividends

In February 2017, the Company's board of direciors approved a $0.02 per share increase in the annualized dividend to $1.38 per common share. A
quartedy dividend of $0.345 per share will be paid on March 15, 2017 to shareholders of record as of February 23, 2017.

Share repurchases

tn February 2017, the Company announcsad plans to repurchase up to an additional $1.0 billion of its common shares. The compietion of this naw
buyback program will depend on factors such as market conditions, shars price and other opportunities to invest capital for growth,

Bebt rapayment

In February 2017, the Company repaid $5850 million principat amaunt of 1.30% notes upon their maturity. The repayment was funded with cash on
hand.
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Executive Officers and Directors

Executive Officers
The foliowing individuals are our executive officers as of March 1, 2017 and are members of our Executive Commitiee,

i ¢ i
James C. Smith 57 Frasident & Chief Exacutive Dificer

Stophane Bello 56 Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Delrdre Stanlay 62 Execulive Vice President, General Counssl & Secrelary
Peter Warwick B5 Executive Vice President & Chief People Officer

Mell Masterson 48 Exatutive Vice President & Chief Transformation Officer
Brian Scanlon 44 Exesutive Vice President & Chief Strategy Officer
David W. Craig 47 Prasident, Financial & Risl

Susan Tayior Martin 53 Prasident, Logal

Brian Poccaroll] 58 Prasident, Tax & Accounting

Other Executive Commitiee Members
The following individuals are also members of our Executive Committes as of March 1, 2017, but are not considered executive officers:

G & Vi 45 m ons Offic
Carla Jones 53 Chief of Staff

Rick King 80 Execuiive Vice Frasident & Chisf information Officar
Gonzalo Lissarrague 46 President, Global Growth Organization
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Jim Smith has been President & Chiel Executive Officer and a director of our company since January 2012, Mr. Smith was Chief
Operating Ofiicer of Thomson Reutars from September 2011 to December 2011 and Chief Executive Officer of Thomson Reuters
Professional division from April 2008 to Septembei 2011, Prior to the acquisition of Reuters by Thomson in April 2008, he served as Chiaf
Operating Officer of Thomson and as President and Chief Executive Officer of Thomson Learning's Academic and Reference Group.

Mr. Srrith joined the Thomsor Newspaper Group In 1987, He held several staff and operating positions, culminating in his rele as head of
operations for Thomson Newspapers In the U.S, With the sale of the Themson Newspaper Group I 2009, he joined Thomson in 2001 as
Executive Vice Prasident. He began his career as a journalist and held saveral aditorial and general management positicns prior to jolning
Thomson, He is also a director of Plizer, Ine. Mr, Smith is relocating to the company's office in Tarento, Ontario, Ganada in April 2017 as
part of an expatriate assignment.

Stephane Belie has been Exaculive Vice President & Chief Financial Cfficer since Jenuary 2012, Mr. Bello was Chief Financlal Officer of
Themson Reuters Professional division from April 2008 to December 2011. Mr. Bello feined Thomson in 2001 and was Senlor Vice
President and Treasurer until April 2008, Pricr to joining Thomson, Mr. Bello beld several positions at General Motors. Mr. Bello is relocating
to the company’s cfffee in Toronto, Ontario, Canada in April 2017 as part of an expatriate assignment.

Deirdre Stanley has been Executive Vice President & General Gounsel since April 2008 and Secretary since January 2013, Prior to
Thomson's acquisition of Reuters in April 2008, Ms. Stanley was Senior Vice President and General Counsal of Thomsaon. Prier to joining
Thomson in July 2002, Ms, Stanley served in various senior executive positions, inchiding Depuly General Counset at USA Netwarks, Inc.
and ils successor companies, From 1997 through 1994, Ms. Stanley served as Associate General Counsel for GTE Corporation, where
she headed the mergers and acquisitions practice group. Before GTE Corporation, Ms, Stanley practiced law at Cravath, Swaine & Moore
in New York. Ms, Stanley resides in Mew York, New York, United States,

Peter Warwick has been Executive Vice President & Chief People Officer since January 2042, Mr, Warwick was Chief Operating Offlcer
of Thomson Reuters Professional division from April 2011 to December 2011, My, Warwick joined Thorson in 1998 and has held a number
of key leadership positions within the organization, including President and CED of Thomsoh Reuters Legal, President and CEO of
Thomson Tax & Accounting and CEQ of Thomson Legal & Regulatory Asia Pacific. Prior to joining Thormson, Mr. Warwick was managing
director of Pitman Publishing, deputy chief executive of the Longman Group and ehief executive of Pearson Professional in London.

Mr. Warwick is a director of Scholastic Corp. Mr, Warwick reskies in New York, New York, United States.

Moil Masterson has been Executive Vice President & Chief Transformation Officer since Qclober 2013. As of January 2016, the
oparational infrasiructure now concentrated in the Enterprise Technology & Operations organization, is also led by Mr. Masterson.

Mr. Mastarson joined Thomson i 2002 and has held a number of key leadership positions within the organization, including Managing
Director of the Investor segment of Financial & Risk and Vice President, Treasury and Corporate Planning for Thomson Reuters. Prior to
joning Thomson, Mr. Mazterson spent two years at Reuters as Senior Vice President of Business Development. Mr. Masterson resides in
Wadenswil, Switzerland as part of an expatriate assignment.

Brian Scanlon hes been Executive Vice President & Chief Strateay Officer since January 2044, Mr. Scanlon previously spent 14 years at
McKinsey & Co., where he held a number of senior leadership positions, including partner in the Corporate Finance & Strategy praciice Tn
Stamford, Conneclicut; Chief Financial Cfficer for the northeast offices: and Managing Partner of MoKinsey's South East Aslan Privats
Equity practice in Singapore. Prior ic joining McKinsey, Mr, Scanlon was a senior accountant and consultant at Andersen Consulting, now
callad Accenture. Mr. Scanlon resides In Baar, Switzerland as part of an expatriate assignment.

Pags 154



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2016

David Gralg has been President, Flnancial & Risk since January 2042, Mr. Cralg was President of Thomson Reuters Governancs, Risk &
Compliance business from September 2040 through December 2011, Prior to that, Mr. Craig was Chief Strategy Gfficer of Thomson
Reuters from Aprit 2008 to August 2010, He joined Reuters In April 2007 as Head of Strategy. Prior to April 2007, Mr. Cralg was a Pariner
at MoKinsay & Company and a Senlor Princips! and Partner 2t American Management Systems. Mr. Cralg resides iy London, United
Kingdem,

Susan Taylor Mariin has been President, Legal slhce January 2014, Prior to January 2014, Ms. Taylor Martin held a number of other kay
leadership positions within the organization, including Managing Direstor of the Legal business in the U.K. and Trefand, President of Modia
and Global Head of Corporate Strategy for Retders. Ms. Taylor Martin joined Reaters in 1993. Ms. Tayior Martin is a non-axecutive
director of Whitbread PLC. Ms. Taylor Martin resides in New York, New York, United States as part of an expatriate assignment.

Brian Peccarelli has been President, Tax & Accounting since February 2011, Prior to February 20141, Mr. Peccareli was President of
Workflow & Service Solutions within ihe Tax & Accounting business for seven years. Mi. Peccareli joined Thomson in 1984 and has held a
number of other key leadership positions within the organization, including Vice President of the Corporate Services Market and General
Manager for RIA Compliance. He is also a certifiad public accountant and a lawyer. Mr. Peccarelii resides in Planc, Texas, United States.

Other Executive Comimittes Members

Gus Cargon has been Executive Vice President & Chiel Comrunications Officer of Thomson Reuters since December 2013, From
February 20711 to November 2013, Mr, Carlson ran hls own communications consuliancy. Prior to February 2011, Mr. Carlson held 2
number of executive roles at Thomson Reutors, including Executive Vice President & Chief Marketing Officer and prior to April 2008,
Wr. Carlson was Senior Vice President and Chief Markating & Communications Officer for Thomsen. Before joining Thomson in 2006,
Mr. Carlson held senior communications positions at Accenture, Standard & Poor's, PaineWebber, Barnes & Noble and Hill & Knowiton.
Mr. Carlson is also a former business news editor for The New Yark Times and The Miami Herald. Mr. Carlson resides in Bedford, New
York, United States.

Caria Jones has been Chief of Staff since May 2015, Ms. Jones has held a numbes of executive roles at Thomson Reuters since joining
the company in 1987, Inciuding Senior Vice Presidant, Office of the Chiaf Executive Ofiicer for Thomson Reuters, Senior Vice President of
Corimunications for Thomson Reuters Professional divislon and Vice President, Office of the Chief Executive Officer for Thomson. Ms.
Jores resides In Ridgefield, Connecticut, United Stales.

Rick King has been Executive Vice President & Chief Information Officer since Novamber 2015, Praviously, Mr. King was Executive Vice
Prasident & Chief Operating Officer, Technolody, frotm January 2014 to Novermber 2015, Mr. King has held a number of executive roles at
the company since 2000, including Chief Technology Officer of the former Professional division and Chief Technology Officer of lhe Legal
segment. Prior t¢ joiring the company, he hekd executive npositions at Ceridian Employer Services, Jostens Learning and WICAT Syslems.
M. King is a direcior of TCF Financial Corporation. Mr, King reskles in Eden Prairie, Minnesola, United States.

Gonzalo Lissarrague has been President, Global Growth Organization since January 2014, Mr. Lissarrague joined La Lay, an Argenting
legal content company, in 1891, and held a number of positions in aditorial, marketing, safes and strategy. Mr. Lissarragus played 2 key
role during Thomsaen's acquisition of La Ley in 2000 and was appointed Managing Director, Argenting, for the Legal and Tax & Accounting
husinesses in 2004, Afier the formation of Global Growth Organization in 2012, Mr, Lissarrague was Managing Director of Latih America
through the end of 2013. Mr, Ussarrague resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina,
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Directors

The names, municipalities and countries of residence, offices and principal occupations of our directors as of March 1, 2017 are shown below.
Each director has been a director since the vear indicated below. All of our directors have been sngaged for more than five years in their present
principal ocoupations or in other capacities within Thomson Reuters, except where noted below. Each directar will continue o hold office urtil the
next annual meeting of our sharehclders or until the director resigns or a successor is elected or appointed.

David Thomaon, Chairman 59 1988
James C. Smith 57 2012
Sheila G, Balr 62 . 2014
David W, Binet, Deputy Chairman 58 M . 2013
ary Cirilio B9 - » 2005
W, Edmund Clark, C.M. 89 Chair 20118
Wichael E, Danisls 62 M - 2014
P. Thomas Jenking 57 . 2014
Ken Olisa, OBE 65 . 2008
Vance K. Opperman, Lead Independent Director 74 Chair Chair . 1996
Kristin G. Poack 45 - 2016
Barry Salzbery 83 . 2015
Peter J. Thomson 51 1965
Wulf von Schimmeimann 70 . 2011

David Themson is Chairman of Thomson Reuters. He is also a Chairman of Woodbridgs, the Thomsan family investment company, and
Chairman of The Globe and Mall Inc., a Canadian media company. Mr. Thomnson is an active private iivestor with a focus on real estale
and serves on the boards of several private companies. Mr. Themson has a MA from Cambridge University, Mr. Thomson resldes in
Toronto, Ontarie, Canada.

Jim Smith is President and Chief Executive Officer of Thomson Reulers. Prior to becoming CEO in January 2012, he held a number of
key leadership positions over his 25 year career with Thomson Reulers, including Chief Operating Officer of Thomson Reutors, Chief
Exacutive Officer of Thomson Reuters Professional division and Execulive Vice President and Chief Oparating Officer of Thomson, Heis
also a director of Pfizer, Inc. Mr. Smith received a BA dagree from Marshall Universily. Mr, Smith is raloeating te the company’s office in
Torente, Ontario, Canada in Aprll 2017 as part of an expatiiaie assignment.
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Shelfa C. Balris President of Washington College. Pricr to her appaintment as President of Washington College in August 2015, she was
Senlor Advisor to The Pew Charltable Trusts for four years. Ms. Bair was also a Senior Advisar to DLA Piper, an iternational law firm.
Prior to August 2011, she was the Chair of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, where she served in that capacity from June 2006
to July 2011, From 2002 to 20086, she was the Dean's Professor of Financial Regulatory PoBoy for the Isenberg School of Management at
the University of Massachusetts-Amherst. She also served as Assistani Secretary for Financial [nstitutions at the U.S. Depariment of the
Treasury from 2001 to 2002, Senior Vice President for Government Relations of the New York Stock Exchange from 1996 to 2000 and
Commissioner of the Commedity Futures Trading Commission from 1991 to 1995, Ms, Bair is also a director of Host Hotels & Resorts, Inc.
Ms. Bair has a bacheior's degres and law degree from the University of Kansas. Ms. Bair resides in Kennedyvilie, Maryland, United States.

David W. Binet is Deputy Chairman of Thomson Reuters. He is also President and Chief Executive Officer and a director of Woodbridge,
the Thomson famlly investment company. Frior to January 2013, he held a nusmber of senlor positions at Woodbridgs betwesn 1988 and
2012, inchiding Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Binet is & director of The Globe and Mall Inc., a Canadian media company and of a number of
other companies in which Woodbridge Is invested. Mr. Binet is also Chalrman of the Thomson Reuters Foundation. Prior to joining
Waocdbridge In 1999, he was a partner at a major [aw firm, Mr, Binet has a law degres from McGill University, a BA from Queen's University
and & graduate degree in Journalism from Northwestern University. My, Binet resides in Toronte, Ontario, Canada.

Mary Cirilo is a corporate director, Ms, Cirilio was Chair and Chlef Executive Officer of Opoenter, LLG, an Internet consulting firm, from
2000 to 2003, Prior fo that, she was a senior banking executive at Bankers Trust and Citibank for over 20 years. Ms, Cirlllo i8 2 member of
tha Advisory Board of Hudson Venture Partners, L.P., a venture capital firm, and serves on the boards of several culiural and educational
organizations. $he is also a director of ACE Ltd. She has a BA from Hunter Coliege. Ms. Cirillo resiles in New York, New York, United
States.

W, Edmund Clark, C.M. is a corporate director. Mr. Clark served as Group Prasident and Chief Executive Officer of TD Bank (roup from
2002 until his retirerment in Navember 2014, Mr., Clark was inducted as a Companion of the Canadian Qrder of the Businass Hall of Fame in
206, in 2014, Mr. Clark was elected to the Board of Trustees of the Brookings Institute. In 2015, Mr. Clark was appolnted as business
advisor o the Premier of Ontario, Mr. Glark has a BA from the University of Toronto, and an MA and Doctorate in Economics from Harvard
University. In 2010, he was made an Cfiicer of the Order of Canada, one of the country’s bighest distinctions. He has aise recelved
honarary degrees frem Mount Allson Universily, Queen’s University, Western University and the University of Toronto. Mr, Clark resides
in Taronto, Ontaric, Canada.

Michael E. Daniels Is a corporate director. in March 2013, Mr, Dandels retired as Senior Vice President and Group Executive IBM
Services after 36 years with the company where he drected 1BM's consulting, systems integration, application managernent, cloud
sompuiing and outsourcing services around the glebe, Mr, Daniels also held a number of senior leadership positions in his career at IBM,
including Genaral Manager of Sales and Diskribution Operations of the Americas as well as leading Global Services in the Asia Pacific
region. He is also a director of SS&C Technologies Heldings, Inc., ardd Johnson Controls International ple. Mr. Daniels has a bachelor's
degree in political science from Holy Gross Cellege. Mr, Dandels resides in Hilton Head, South Carolina, United States.

2. Thomas Jenkins is Chalrman of OpenText Corporation, a multinational enterprise software firm. He has served as a director of
OpenText since 1994 and as its Chairman since 1998, From 1984 to 2005, Wr. Jenkins was President and Chief Executive Officer, and
than from 2005 to 2013, Executive Ghairman and Ghief Strategy Officer of GpenText. Prior to that, Mr. Jenkins was smployed in technicsl
and managerial capacitias at a varisty of technology companies dating back to the late 1970s. He is also a director of OpenText
Corporation, TransAlta Corporation and Manullfe Financial Gorporation. Mr. Jenkins is also an Executive Fellow at the School of Pubic
Policy at the University of Galgary, Mr. Jonking has an MBA from Schulich School of Business at York University, an M.A.Sc. In elestrical
engineering from the University of Toronio and a B.Eng. & Mgt. in Enginsering Physics and Commerce from McMaster University.

Mr. Jenking resides in Canmore, Alerta, Canhada,
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Ken Olisa, OBE, is Founder and Chairman of Restoration Partners, a boutique technology merchant bank advising and investing in IT
companios. He joinad the board of Reuters in 2004, From 1992 fo 2006, Mr. Olisa was Chair and CEQ of Interregnum PLC, a public
technclogy merchant bank. Prior to that, and following a carger at IBM, he was a senior executive for over 10 years at Wang Labs. From
1998 to 2008, Mr. Olisa was also a diractor of Opan Text Corporation and of Eurasian Matural Rasources Corporation from 2007 until
2011, He serves on the boards of several UK. not-for-profit organizations. Effective May 2015, Mr. Olisa has been appointed as IMer
Majeaty's Lord-Lieutenant of Greater London, He has a MA from Fizwilliam College, Cambridge. Mr. Olisa resides in Kingston, United
Kingdom,

Vange K. Opparman is Lead Independent Diracior of Thomson Reuters. He i alse President and Chief Executive Officer of Key
Investment, Inc., a private investment company involved in publishing and other activities, Previously, Mr. Opperman was President of
West Publishing Cempany, an information rovider of lsgal and business research which is now owned by Thomson Reuters. He serves
as Lead Independent Director of TGF Financial Corporation. He also serves on the board of several educational and not-for«profit
organizations. He has a law degree from the Universily of Minnesota and practiced law for many years, Mr, Opperman resides in
Minneapclis, Minnesota, United States,

Kristin G, Posk s Execufive Vice President and President of U.S. Operations at Zoetis, a NYSE-listed glubal leader in the discovery,
developrment, manufacture and commerclalization of ardmal health medicines and vaccines that was spun off by Pfizer in 2013, From
October 2012 through April 2015, she served as Executive Vice President and Group President of Zoetis, Ms, Peck joined Plizer in 2004
arid held various positions, including Executive Vice President, Worldwide Business Development and innovation; Senior Vice President,
Worldwide Business Development, Strategy and Innovation; Vice President, Steategic Planning; Chief of Staff to the Vice Chairman; arl
Saniar Direstor, Strategic Planning. She &iso served as a member of Plizer's Exesutive Leadarship Team, Prior to joining Plizer, M3, Peck
was a Principal at Boston Censuling Group. She holds a Bachelor's degree from Georgetown University and a Master of Business
Adeministration from Colurnbia Business School. Ms. Peck resides in Darien, Connecticut, United States,

Barry Salzberg is a corporate director, Barry Salzberg served as the Global Chief Executive Officer of Deloltte Touche Tohmatsu Limiied
from 2011 until his retirement in May 2013, He joined Deloitte in 1977 and his roles insluded Chief Executive Officer and Managing Partner
of the firm's U.S, operations. Me Is currently a Professor at Columbia Business School, Mr, Salzberg has previously served as a board
member of New Profit, Inc. and previously served as Chairman of the United Way Woridwide, Chairman of the Board of College Sumimit
and Chairman of the Board of the YMCA of Greater New York, He has a BS in Accounting from Brooklyn College, a JD from Brooklyn Law
School, and an LLM in Taxation from the New York University School of Law, Mr, Salzbarg resides in New York, New York, Unitad States,

Peter J, Thomson is a Chalrman of Woodbridge, the Thomson family investment company, Mr, Thomsan Is an active private equity
investor and serves on the boards of several privede companies. He has a BAfrom the Universily of Western Onfario, Mr. Thomson
resides in Toronto, Ontario, Canada,

Wulf von Schinmmelmann is a sorporate director. He joined the board of Thomson Reuters in July 2011, Mr. von Schimmelmann was
Chief Executive Cfficer of Deutsche Postbank AG from 1889 to 2007, where he transformed the organization from a check processing
division of Deutsche Post i one of Germany’s lkading retall banks. Since 2008, he has served as Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Post DHL AG, an international leader in mail and logistics services. He also serves as a mamber of the Supervisory Board of
Maxingvest AG and a member of the Supervisory Board of Alianz Deutschland AG and as a direclor of Accenture Ltd. Prior to his lengthy
carser in banking, he was a partner at McKinsey & Co., working in Switzerland, the U.5. and Germany. Mr. von Schirmmelmann was also
previously a member of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Teleknow, a director of Western Union and Chair of BAWAG P.8.K. Mr. von
Scohimmelmann receivad g degree in aconomic sciences and his Ph.D. in economics from the Undversity of Zurich. Mr. von Schimmelmann
resides in #Munich, Germany.
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Audit Commitiee

The Audit Cornmittes compiises Vance K. Oppenman (Chair), Sheila Bair, P. Thomas Jenkins, Ken Olisa, Barry Salzberg and Wulf von
Schirmeimann. All members of the Audit Committee are financially fiterate in accordance with applicable Canadian and W.5, securities rules,
Messrs. Jenkins and Salzberg each qualify as an "audit committee financial expert” (within the meaning of applicable SEC rules) and meet
apslicable tests Jor accounting or refated financial management expertise within the meaning of NYSE listing standards. Biographies for each
membaer of cur Audit Committee are included earlier in this section of the annual report,

The following is a brief summary of the education and experlence of each member of the Audit Committee that is relevant to the performance of
his or her responsibilities, including any education or experience that has provided the member with an understanding of the accounting principles
we use {0 prepare our financial statements.

; T}
Vance K, Opperman (Chair} * Former President and COO of West{ Publishing Company
« Presldent and CEQ of Key Investmant, inc,
» Chalr of Audit Commitiee of Thomson Reuters for over 10 years
» ember of TCF Financiat Corporation audit committee
* Representad financial institutions in securities and financial regulations matters as a practicing atterney

Shaila C. Bair * Formar Ghair of the Federal Deposil Insuranse Corporation

* Formar Deair’s Professor of Financizl Regulatory Policy for the senberg School of Management at the University of
Massachusetts-Amharst

+» Former Assistant Secretary for Financial Institutions at the U.S, Department of the Treasury
» Former Senlor Vice President for Government Relations of the New York Stock Exchange
« Former Commissioner of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission

P Thomas Jenkins * Former President and CEO of OpenText Corporation
= Ghairman of OpenText Corporation
= Former member of the Audit Committee of BMC Corporation

Ken Olisa « Former Interregnum PLC Chair and CEC
+ Mamber of private company audit committees and former membar of a publis company audit comimities
» UK Financial Conduct Authority approved person

Bamy Salzberg + Former Global Chief Exacutive Officer of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
+ Professor at Columbia Business Schoo!
+ Degree in accounting from Brooklyn College, a JD from Braoklyn Law School and ar LLM in tax from the New York University

Welf von Schimmsknann « Former CEQ of Deutsche Postbank AG
= Degrae In economic sciences and Ph.D in economics from WUniversity of Zwrich
s Member of Maxingvest AG audit commiitiea
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Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth fees related to services renderad by PricewalerhouseCoopers LLP and its affiliates in 2018 and 2015. The increase in
2016 compared to 2015 was primarily due to a complex, global carve-out audit for the sale of ouwr Intsliectual Property & Science business,

Audit fees 3 212 $ 224
Audit-related fees 13.6 3.3
Tax fees 3.6 2.4
All other fees 0.2 0.2
Total $  38.6 $ 283

*2015 {fee amounts have baen updated from the amounts disclosed In last year's annuszl report to reflact approximately $100,000 of additional approved audii-related feas ideniifled by
PricewaterhouseCoopers which related to the year ended Decembear 31, 2015.

The following are descriptions of fees for services rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in 2016 and 2015.

Audit Feas

These audit fees were for professional services rendered for the audits of consolidated financial statements, reviews of interim financial
statements included in periodic reports, audits related 1o intemal control over financial reporting, statutory audits and services that generally only
the independent auditor can reasonably provide, such as comfort letters and consents. These services included French franslations of our financiat
staternents, MD&A and financlal infermation included in our interim and annual filings and prospectuses and other offering documents,

Auditrelated Fees

These audit-related fees were for assurance and related services thal are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the
financial statements and are not reported under the “audit fees” category above. These sarvices included subsidiary carve-out audits (including for
the saie of our Intelleciual Property & Science business), transaction due diligence, SSAE 16 engagements, licensing of technical research
material, audits of various employes benefit plans and agresd-upon procedures principally refated to execitive compensation reporting in the
management proxy circular.

Tax Fees

Tax fees were for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. These services included the preparation and review of corporate and expatriate tax
returns, assistance with tax audits and transfer pricing matters, advisory services relating to federal, stats, provincial and international tax
compliance, and restructurings, margers and acquisitions,

All Cther Fees

Feas disclosed in the tables above under the item "all other feas” wers for services other than the audit {ees, audit-relsted fees and tax fees
described above. These setvices include independent benchmarking services and IT information secwity assessments,

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Commitiee has adopted a pclicy regarding its pre-approval of all audit and parmissitle non-audit services provided to our company by
the independent auditors.

The policy gives detailed guidance to management as o the specific types of services that have been pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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The policy requires the Audit Committae’s spacific pre-approvat of all other permitted types of services that have not already been
pre-approved.

* Senior management periodically provides the Audit Committee with a summary of services provided by the Independent auditors in accordance
with the pre-approval policy.

+ The Audit Committee's charter delegates to its Chair the authority to evaluate and approve engagements in the event that the need arises for
approval between Audit Committee mestings. If the Chair approves any suich engagements, he must report his approval decisions to the fult
Audit Committee at its next mesting.

For the year ended December 31, 20186, nche of the fees of Thomson Reuters described above made use of the de minimis exception to
pre-approval provisions as providad for by Rule 2-01(c){7}{i)}C) of SEC Regutation $-X and Section 2.4 of the Canadian Securitias
Administrators” Multilateral Instrument 52-110 {Audit Committees).

Controlled Company
Qur company is a “controlled company” as a result of Woodbridge's ownership.

The NYSE corporate governance listing standards require a listed company to have, among other things, solely independent directors on its
sompensation committee and nominating/corporate governance committee. A “controlled company” (&@s defined by the NYSE) is a company of
which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company and is exempt from these requirements.

Supplemental guidelinas issusd by the Canadian Coalition for Good Governance (CCGG) address controlied companies. A “controlled company”
{as defined by CCGG) includes corporations with a controlling shareholder who controls a sufficient number of shares 1o be able to elect the board
of directors or to direct the management or policies of the comoration.

White a majority of members of each of the Corporate Governance Committee and the HR Committee of our company are independert, the board
believes it is appropriate for Messrs. Binet and Clark, who are not considered to be independent under applicable rules because of their affiliation
with Woodbridge, to serve on these committees and has approved our reliance on the NYSE's controlled company exemption o do 6, CCGG has
stated that it believes it is appropriate for directors who are related {o the controlling shareholder to sit on these committess to bring the knowledge
and perspective of the controlling sharsholder to executive compensation, appointments and board nominations.

Mo directors affiliated with Woodbridge serve on our Audit Committes, which is required to have solely independent directors.

independent Directors

A majority of the board is indepercient. Under the corporate govemance guideiines adopted by the board, a director is ot considered independent
unless the board affinmatively determines that the dirsctor has ne “material relationship” with Thomson Reuters. In determining the Independence of
diractors, the hoard considers ali relevant facts and circumstances. in March 2017, the board conducted its annual assessment of the
independence of each of its current members and determined that 9 of the 14 directors (appioximately 64%) serving on the board are independent.
In determining independence, the board examined and relizd on the applicable definitions of “independent” in the NYSE listing standards and
Canadian Securities Administrators' National Instrument 58-101. The board also raviewed the results of questionnaires completed by directors.

In order for the board to function independently from managermsnt:
The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman (David Thomson) and the CEQO (Jim Smith} are separate;
We have a Lead Independent Director (Vance K. Opperman);, and

The Audit Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors {as required by applicable law) and the Corporate Govemance Commitiee
and Human Resources Commities each have & majority of independent directors,
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David Thomsoen 14 A Chairman of Woodbridge, the principal shareholder of
Thomson Reuters

James C. Smith v v President & Chief Executive Officer of Thomson Reuters

Shelia C. Bair v

David W, Binet 5 President of Woodbridge

Mary Cirlile v

W, Edmund Clark, C.M, v Advisor to the trustee of the 2003 TIL Settlement and
Whoodbridge

Michael E. Daniels v

P. Thoemas Jenking v

Ken Olisa, OBE v

Vanoe K. Qpperman v

iKilstin C. Peck v

Barry Salzherg W

Pater J. Thomson v A Chairman of Woodbridge

Wuli von Schlmmeimann

Total 1 9 5

Nene of Messis. D. Thomson, Binet ar P. Thomson is a member of Thomson Reuters executive management team, With its substantial equity
invesiment in Thomson Reuters, Woodbridge considers that its interests as a shareholder are aligned with these of all other sharehciders.

In determining the independence of directors, the board aiso considers that in the normal course of business, we provide services (o, and recsive
services from, companies wilh which soma of the independent dirgctors are affiiated. Based on the specific facts and circumstances, the board
determined in March 2017 that these relationships were Immaterial.

Presiding Directors at Meetings of Non-Management and Independent Directors

Our board begins each in-person meeting with an “in-camera” session with the CEQ, but no other members of management. This is intended io
give the CEQ an opportunity 1o discuss his objaciives for the day’s meeting, and for directors 1o exprass preliminary observations based on thair
prior review of mesting materials. This permits a more effective use of time in the board meeting. A simifar session is typicaliy held with the CEO
at the end of the meeting, followed by & mssting of the board without the CEO or other members of management present. Board committess also
utilize “in-camera” meetings for discussions without the CEC or members of management present.

At least once each year, the board mests without the CEO and without the directors affiliated with Woodbridge. These meetings of the independent
diractors, which follow a regularly scheduled board meeting, are chaired by the Lead Independent Director. The Lead Independent Director
develops the agenda for these meetings, although discussion has not haen limited to it. The agenda generally addresses any issues thal might ba
specific to a public corporation with a contreiling shareholder. The Lead Independent Director reports to the Chairman, Deputy Chairman and the
CEO on the substance of these meetings to the extent that action is appropriate or required and has been available for consuliation with the other
independent directors as required. One meeting of the independent direciors took place in 2016 which was presided over by Mr. Opperman.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (Code) applies to our employees, directors and officers, Including our CEOQ, CFO and Controller, Qur
employees, directors and officers are required to submit an acknowledgment that they have received and read a copy of the Cods and understand
their obligations to comply with the principles and policies outlined in k. In an effort to promote further a culture of ethical business condust
throughout Thomsen Reuters, we have instituted a mandatory onling training course refated to the Code, The Corporate Govermnance Commities
receives an annual report regarding tha Code from the General Counsal,

kn 2016 and through the date of this annual report, no material viciations by our directors or executive officers were reported for the Coda. Also, no
waivers under the Code were sought by or granted to any of our direciors or executive officers.

Additional Disclosures

Additional information regarding the members of our board of dirgctors, inciuding our corporate governance and compensation practices, will be
provided in our management proxy circular, which is being prepared in connection with our upcoming annual and special meetlng of shareholders to
be held on May 3, 2017. Each board ecramittee has a written charter which is publicly available at www.thomsonreuters.com. The Audit
Committee's charter has been filad on SEDAR and EDGAR and is incorporatad by reference in, and forms a part of, this annual report,

As of March 1, 2017, our executive officers and directors as a group beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or exercised control or direction over,
less than 1% of our outstanding common shares, based on the issued and outstanding shares of our company ag of that date. David Thomson
and Peter J. Thomson are the Chairmen, and David W, Binst is the President, of Woaodbridge, our cantrolling shareholder. As of March 1, 2017,
Woodbridge beneficially owned approximately 62% of our common shares.

Since 1992, Mr. Olisa has been chairman of two boutique merchant banks that provide advisory services to technology companies, some of which
are or have been sarly stage. Mr. Olisa serves on the board of directors of a number of these companies. He was previously a director of Axallis
Limited which was dissolved after liquidation proceedings in the U.K, in 2012,
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Additional Information

Thomson Reuters Comoration was incorporated under the Businass Corporations Act (Ontario) by articles of incorporation dated December 28,
1977. Our company amalgamated with one of Its wholly owned subsidiaries on March 10, 2010. Our registered office and principal executive office
is located at 333 Bay Street, Sulte 400, Toronto, Ontario M5H 2R2, Canada. Prior to Aprll 17, 2008, Thomson Reuters Corporation was known as
Tha Themson Corporation.

Description of Capital Structure
As of March 1, 2017:

« our authorized share capital consisted of an unlimited number of common shares, an unlimited number of preference shares, {ssuable in series,
and a Thomson Rauters Founders Share; and

+ we had outstanding 727,171,474 common shares, 6,000,000 Series 1l preference shares and one Thomson Reuters Founders Share,

Common Shares

Each common share entiles its holder to receive notice of, to attend and to vote at all meetings of our shareholders {except for meetings of
holders of a particular class or series of shares other than the common shares required by applicable laws to be held as a separate class or serles
meeting). Each common share also antitles its holder to recalve dividends when declared by our board of directors, subject to the rights of holders
of the preference shares. All dividends declared by our board of directors are paid equally on all common shares. Holders of common shares will
participate equally in any distribution of our assets upen liquidation, dissclution or winding-up, subject to the rights of the holders of the preference
shares. There are no presmptive, redemption, purchase or convearsion rights attaching to our common shares.

We have also issued Depositary Interests (Dls) as an altemative way to hold our common shares. Dis are designed to facilitate the transfer and
settlement of our shares in the UK, when they ars traded in the secondary market. Each D] represenis one common share. The holder of Dis has
baneficial ownership of the underlying common shares. The administrator of owr DI program hoids legal title to the commen shares and holds the
shares on behalf of and for the benefit of the Di holder. Holders of Dis have the same voting rights and receive the same dividends as other
comimon shareholdets.

Preference Shares

Our preference shares may be issued in one or more seres as determined by our board of directors, Qur board of directors is authorized to fix the
number, the consideration per share and the rights and restiictions of the preference shares of each series. The preference shares of each series
are to rank on a parity with the preference shares of each other seriss with respect to the payments of dividends and the retuen of capitat on our
liguidation, dissolution or winding-up, The preference shares are entitled to preference over the common shares and any olher shares ranking junior
to the preference shares with respect (o the payment of dividends and the returm of capital. The special rights and restrictions attaching to the
preference shares as a class may not be amended without approval of at least two-thirds of the votes cast at a meeting of the holdars of
preference shares. The holders of preference shares are not entitisd to any veting rights except as provided by our board of direclors when
autharizing a series or as provided by law. Our Series |1 preference shares are non-voling and are redesmable at our option for G$25.00 per share,
together with accrued dividends. Dividends are payable quartedy at an annual rate of 70% of the Canadian bank prime rate applied to ths stated
capital of the shares,

Thomson Reutars Founders Share

Our company has issued a Thomson Reuters Founders Share to the Thomseon Reuters Founders Share Company, which enables the Thomson
Reuters Founders Share Company to exercise extracrdinary voting power to safeguard the Thomson Reuters Trust Principles and to thwart those
whose holdings of Thomson Reuters vating shares threaten the Thamson Reuters Trust Principles,
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The Founders Share entitles the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company to vole in circumstances where an acquiring persen, other than an
approved person or an entity within Thomson Reuters, has bacome or becomes “interested” in, or the beneficial owner of, 15% or mores of the
outstanding voiing shares of Thomson Reuters or has obtalned or is attempting to obtain the abllity to control the exercise of, or beneficlal
ownership of, 30% o more of the outstanding voting shares of Thomson Reutars. In general, votes cast by the Thomson Reuters Founders Share
Company, alone of in corabination with votes cast by approved persons, will be sufficient either to negate the voting power of the acquiring parson
or to constitute the requisite majority voting power. The rights attaching to the Founders Shares may not be varied or abrogated in any respect
without the prior written consent of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company. In addition, without the prior written consent of the Thaomson
Reuters Founders Share Company, we may not take certain fundamental corporate actions, including certain changes to our share capital, or
remove or amend provisions in our organizational documents relating to the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company and the Foundars Share.
For a discussion of the Thomson Reuters Trust Principles and the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company, see the “Material Contracts”
section below.

Market for Securities

Listings and Index Participation
Our common shares are listed in Canadian dollars on the T8X and in U.S. dollars on the NYSE under the symbol “TRI" and our Serles

preference shares are listed in Canadian doliars on the TSX under the symbol “TRI.PR.B”, Ow company Is Included in the S&P/TSX seties of
indices.

Share Prices

The following table provides information regarding the price history of cur commeoen shares and Seres 1l preference shares for the periods indicated,

Hi Preférence Share

Comman Shares (U5%
51

January 5278 14942 15240 18917604 | 3760 13306 3740 21,891,818 [1225 11025 1098 69,165
February BEEE VAT ES T AGET 18060858 3802340 5660 21484507 [1080 TA6.00 1 10.00 198,310
March BYOR A ETT 6282 15754057 A0SR TV RE R 404 SO EETORE 08074000 TGS 62,230
Aprl B BETUENEE T BT 11,458,587 4260 T R051 1413 785,088 V1AV 64 .G 53540
Hay 5537 084 Y BEG7 15288536 V4558 V30084508 17,668,744 1151 1688 AT 36,088
Juna BEA VB0 G227 18,870,807 a8 IR 40 43 20,751,008 | 1466 1076 | 11.25 50,788
July 5766 IBILOE T EEGH 8735807 [4388 V3888 AR 16,680,245 1948 [10.78 I 0.00 18,168
Bugust 55.05 15282 T ELE TTEEd 764 | 4257 VAo ETAS SRR RV E TS A5 48D
feptombar 5590 52,98 1 6428 19,368 784 [ 4280140267141 58 P R N RPN A E LN T ) 158553
October 5488 TERGT I EDES {9448 788 AT T Be 28T ae 4748777 [ 1300 {14.77  :11.95 106,932
Hovombor BEAT B3 G4TTRTEE A LT X T R P T T R U T T T X T 78,531
December R T ) BT {308 808 | E588 14008 T 48TE 14,570,088 1A {1887 TR 60,676
January o T60.43 T 5a83 10,197,957 | 4550 | ABBT | A4 T1979.147 11381 11230 . 13.80 75,405
February BRGE {5536 | 66.16 14780374 T AR T AR g T da 0 30,747 378 A0SR TS EE 91662
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Dividends

Cur company and our predecessor companies have paid dividends for over 30 years and we view dividends as a critical component of sharehclder
refurn.

Any dividends that we declare on our shares take into account all factors that our board congiders relevant, including our available cash flow,
financiat condition and capitat requirements. QOur target dividend payout ratio s 40% to 50% of annuat free cash flow over the long term.

Qur board raviews our dividend pclicy in the first guarter of each fiscal year. In February 2017, our board approved an increase in our annuaiized
dividend rate to $1.38 per share (or $0.345 per share on a quarterly basis), effective with our dividend payable on March 15, 2017 to holders of
record as of February 23, 2017. This was the 24th consecutive annual dividend increase for our company. The declaration of dividends by our
board and the amount of those dividends is at the discretion of the board.

The following graph shows our annualized dividends per common share for the periods indicatad.

oo
FHiod 20 it 11

The foliowing table provides information regarding the default currencies for our dividend payments, as well as other currency options that were
available to owr shareholders as of March 1, 2017,

¢ RN s S

British pounds sterling
s {representing common shargs) British pounds sterling 11.5. dollars

Canadlian dollars
Baries !l preference shares Canadian dollars N/A

We also have a dividend reinvestment plan which allows eligible holdars of our common shares to elect to have their cash dividends reinvested in
additional shares,

Additicnal information regarding currency electicns for our dividends as well as our dividend reinvestment plan is provided in the invesior Relations
section of our website under “Dividends™.

We pay dividends on our Series 1l oreference shares quarterly at an annual rate of 70% of the Canadian bank prime rafe applied to the stated
capital of these shares,
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The table below sets farth the dividends declared on our common shares and Serigs H preference shares in the last three years and the first
guarter of 2017.

$ . )
Q2 5 0.330000 [ 0.130890
Q3 5 0,330000 63 0.132329
Q4 5

0.330000 C$ 0.132329

" 0.335000 8125137

0.335000 Ch 0.124348
0.335000 C$ 0.120419
0.335000 C$ 0.112008

0346000 c$ 0.117480

0,340000 CH 0.117480
0.340000 s3] ' 0.118770
0.340000 Cs 0,118770

L S : - g SRR 00 o5 -

“The first quades 2017 dividend on our Series Il preference shares had not yet been declared by our company as of the date of this annual report.

Woodbridge

As of March 1, 2017, Woodbrldgs beneficially owned approximately 62% of our common shares and is the principal and controfling shareholder of
Thomson Reuters.

Woodbridge, a private comparty, is the primary investment vehicle for membars of the family of the late Roy H. Thomson, the first Lord Thomson
of Fleet. Woodbridge is a professionally managed company that, in addition to its controfling interest in Themson Reuters, has other substantial
investments.

Prior {o his passing in 2008, Kenneth R, Thomson controlled our company through Woodbridge. He did so by halding shares of a holding company
of Woodbridge, Thomson Investrents Limitad. Under his estate arrangements, the 2003 Til. Settement, a trust of which the trust company
subsidiary of g Canadian chartered bank is trustes and members of the family of the late first Lord Thomson of Flest are beneficlares, holds those
holding company shares. Kenneth R, Thormson established these arrangernents to provide for tong-term stability of the business of Weodbridge.
The equity of Woodbridge continues to be ownad by members of successive genarations of the family of the first Lord Thomson of Fleet,

Under the estate arrangements of Kenneth R. Thomseon, the directors and officers of Woodbridge are responsible for its business and operations.
In certain limited circumstances, including very substantial dispositions of Thomson Reuters Corporation common shares by Woodbridyge, the
estate armangements provide for approval of the trustee to be obtained.

Woodbridge's primary investment is its holding of our shares. It actively monitors our company as a controfling shareholder. In its involvement with
our company, Woodbridge focuses on these matters:

+ carporate govermnance, including the effectiveness of our board;
+  appointment of the Chief Executive Officer and other members of senicr management and related succession planning;
* development of the long-term business strategy of Thomson Reuters and assessment of its implementation; and

capital strategy.
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With its substantial equity investment in our company, Woodbridge considers that ifs interests as & Thomson Reuters shareholder are aligned with
those of all other shareholders.

The Cotporate Governance Committee of our board considers any transactions that may take place hetween our company and Woodbridgs, with
any committee metnbers related to Woodbridge abstaining from voting. In addition, any transactions between Woodbridge and our company are
subject to public disclosure and other requirernents under applicable Canadian securities laws,

Transfer Agents and Registrars

Atl
Common shares Canada Computershars Trust Company of Canada Taoronto; Montreai, Gelgary; and Vancouver
United States Computershare Trust Company N.A. Canton, Massachusetis; Jersey City, New Jersay; and
College Station, Texas
United Kingdom Compitershare Investor Services PLC Bristol, England
Depositary interests United Kingdom Computershare Investor Services PLC Bristol, England
Serles | preference shares Canada Computarshiare Trust Company of Canada Toronto

Ratings of Debt Securities

Our access fo financing depends on, among other things, sultable market conditions and the malntenance of suitable long-term credit ratings, Our
credit ratings may be adversely affacted by various factors, including increased debt levels, decreased earings, declines in customer demands,
increased competition, a further deterloration in general economic and business conditions and adverse publicity. Any downgrades in our credit
ratings may impede our access to the debt markets or ralse our borrowing rates,

Our long-term unsecured debt securities are rated Baa2 (stable) by Mocdy's, BBB+ (stable) by S&F, BBB (high) (sizable) by DBRS and BBB+
(stable) by Fitch. These credit ratings are not recommendations to purchase, hold or sell securities and do not address the market price or
suitability of a specific security for 2 particular investor. Credit ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks on the value of securities. In
addition, real or anticipated changes in the rating assigned to a security will genarally affect the market value of that security. Sharsholdars cannot
be assured that a rating will remain in effect for any given pericd of time or that a rating will not be revised or withdrawn entiraly by a rating agency
in the future,

Moody’s Investors Services (Moody's)

Moody's long-term cradit ratings are on a rating scale that ranges from Aaa to C, which represents the range from highest to lowest quality of such
securties rated. Moody's “Baa” rating assigned to our long-term debt instruments is the fourth highest rating of nine rating categories. Obligations
rated "Baa” are subject to madesale cradit risk. They are considered medium-grade and as such may possess certain speculative characterstios.
Moody's appends numerical medifiers from 1 to 3 to its long-term dabt ratings, which indicate where the obligation ranks within its generic rating
catagory, with 1 being the highest. Qutlooks represent Moody's assessment regarding the likely direction of the rating over the medium-term.

Standard & Poor's (S&P)

S&P's long-term credit ratings are on a rating scale that ranges frorn AAA io D, which represents the range from highest to lowest quaiity of such
securities rated. 5&P's "BBR" rating assigned to our long-term debt instruments is the fourth highsst rating of 10 major rating categories, A "BBEB"
rating indicates that the obligor has adequate capacity to meet its financial commitments. However, adverse economic conditions or changing
circurnstances are more likely to lead to & weakened capacity of the obligor te meet its financial commitment. S&F uses "+ or *" designations to
indicate the relative standing of secwities within a particular rating catagory. Outlooks represent 5&P's assessiment regarding the potantial
direction of the rating over the immediate term {typicaily stx months to two years).
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DBRES Limited (DBRS)

DBRS’ credit ratings are on a long-term debt rating scale that ranges from AAA to D, which represents the range from highest to lowest quality of
such securities rated. DBRS's “BBB” rating assigned to our long-term debt is the fourth highest of the 10 rating categories for long-term debt. Debt
securities rated "BBB” are of adequate credit quality, and while the capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered acceptable, it
may be vulnerable to future events. A reference to "high” or “low” reflects the relative strength within the rating category. Rating Trends represent
DBRS's opinion regarding the outiook for the ratings, should present tendencies continue.

Fitch Ratings (Fitch)

Fitch's long-term credit ratihgs are on a rating scale that ranges from AAA to D, which represents the range from highest to lowest quality of such
securities rated. Fitch’s "BBEB” rating assigned to our long-term debt instruments is the fourth highest rating of 10 rating categories. A "BBB" rating
indicates a low expectation of default, and that while the capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate, adverse business
or sconomic conditions are mote likely to impalr this capacity, Fitch uses "+" or %" designations fo indicate the relative standing of securities within
a particular rating category. Oulooks represents Fitch's assassment regarding the direction a rating s likely to move over a one {o two-year
petiod.

Material Contracts

Credit Agreement

In November 2016, we decreased the size of our syndicated credit facility from $2.5 billion to $2.4 billion and extended the maturity date of the
facility frorn May 2018 to November 2021, The facility may be used to provide liquidity for general corporate pusposes (including to support our
commercial paper program).

We may also request an increase, subject to approval by applicabie lenders, in the fenders' commitments up to @ maxiraum amourt of $3.0 biliion,

Basad on our current credit ratings, the cost of borrowing under the agreement is prced at LIBOR/EURIBOR plus 100 basis points. If our long-term
debt rating was downgraded by Moady's or Standard & Poor's, owr facility fee and borrowing costs may increase, although availabiiity would be
unaffected. Conversely, an upgrade in our ratings may reduce our facility fees and borowing costs. We monitor the lenders that are party to our
facility and helieve they continue to be able to lend fo us.

We guaraniee borrowings by our subsidiaries under the credit facility. We must also maintaln a ratio of net debt as of the last day of each fiscat
quarter fo EBITDA as defined in the credit agreement (eamings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amoriization and other
modifications described in the credit agreement) for the last four quarters ended of not more than 4.5:1. We were in compliance with this covenant
at December 31, 2016,

Thomson Reuters Trust Principles and Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company

Our company is dedicated to upholding the Themson Reuters Trust Principles and to presetving its independence, integrity and freedom from blas
in the gathering and dissemination of information and news.

The Thomson Reuters Trust Principles are:
+ That Thomson Reuters shall at ne time pass info the hands of any one inerest, group or faction;
- That the integrity, independence and freedom from bias of Thomson Reuters shall at all times be fully preserved;

* That Thomson Reuters shall supply unbiased and reliable news services to newspapers, news agencies, broadcasters and other media
subscribers and to businesses, gavernments, instifutions, individuals and others with whom Thomson Reuters has or may have contracis;

That Thomson Reuters shall pay due regard o the many interests which it serves in addition to those of the media; and

* That no effort shall be spared to expand, develop and adapt the news and other services and preducts of Thomson Reuters so as to maintain
its leading position in the intemational news and information business.

Page 1692



Table of Contents

Thomson Reuters Annual Report 2016

The Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company was established in 1884 when Reuters became a public company. The directors of the Thomson
Reuters Founders Share Company have a duty to ensure, to the extent possible, that the Thomson Reuters Trust Principles are complied with.

The directors of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company are experienced and eminent people from the wosld of politics, diplomacy, media,
public service and business. They generally have all held high offices in their respective sectors, The directors are selected by a nomination
compmittee and proposed to the board of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company for appeintment. The nomination committee also has
unique features. Two of its members are judges from the European Court of Human Rights and assist in scrutinizing candidates’ suitability. OQur
hoard currently has two representatives on the nomination committee. 1n addition to the chairman and deputy chairman of the Thomson Reutars
Founders Shars Company. who are also members of the nomination committes, the chairman of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company
appoints thres other representatives to the nomination committes. Other members are representatives of press associations from the United
Kingdom, Australia and New Zealand.

The directors of the Thomson Reutars Founders Share Company have a minimum of two mestings per year, They receive reports on our activities
in the different fislds in which we operate. The directors mest with representatives of senior maniagement at the Thomson Reuters Founders Share
Company board meetings and Thormson Reuters slte visits; the directors of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company also have access to
our hoard, as necessary. Through the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company’s chairman, regular contact is maintained with cur company.
The relationship is one of trust and confidence.

The current directors of the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Cornpany, with thair countries of residence and the year of initial appointments are:

Dame Haten Alexander [Chairman) UK. 2011
Pascal Lamy France 2009
Dy, Michael Maumann Germany 2010
Yuko Kawamoto Japan - 2011
Padro Malan Brazil 2011
Beverly LW Sunn Hong Kang 2012
Steven Turnhull UK, 2013
Lord Jay of Ewelme UK 2013
Vikram Singh Mehta India 2013
Lawton Fiit U.5. 2014
Nicholas Lemann US. 2014
Ory Okoiloh Kenya ) 2015
President Tarja Halonan Finland 2016
Kim Williams, AM Ausiralia 2016
Ronald G, Close Canada 2018

Prior to May 1, 2014, directors ware appointed for an initial term of five years that ends on December 31 following the fifth anniversary of
appoiniment. Those directors are eligible for re-appointment for an additional term of five years, subject to a maximum term of 15 years. Directors
appointed on or after May 1, 20714 serve an initial term of three years and must retire on December 31 following the third anniversary of
appointment. Those directors are sligible for re-appointment for an additional term of three years, subject to a maximum term of nine years.

Our company Is a party to an Amended Deed of Mutual Covenant, under which Thormson Reuters and the Thomson Reuters Foundars Share
Comgpany have covenanied with United Kingdom, Australian and New Zealand press associations to use their best endeavors to ensure that the
Trust Principles are complied with in refation to Thomson Reuters.
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Under a Thomson Reutars Trust Principlss Supporl Agreemant, Woodbridge has agreed to support the Trust Principles and to exsrcise its voting
righis to give effect 1o this support and the Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company has irrevocably designated Woodbridge as an approved
person for so long as Woodbridge is controfled by members of the Thomson family, companies controlled by them and trusts for their benefit,

Principal Subsidiaries

The following provides Information about our principal subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018, As of that date, we heneficially owned, directly or
indirectly, 100% of the voting securities and non-voting securities of each of these subsidiaries. Certain subsidiaries, each of which represents not
more than 10% of the consolidated assets and not more than 10% of the consolidated revenues of our company, and alt of which, in the
aggregate, represent not more than 20% of the tetal consolidated assets and the total consclidated revenues of our company as of December 31,
2016, have been omitted.

3276838 Nova Scetia Company Nova Scotia, Canada
FX Mliance, LLC Delaware, United States
International Thomson Reuters BV, The Netherlands
LiveNole Technologies Limited England

I.N Holdings Limited Bermuda

Manatron Holdings, Inc.

Celawara, United States

Manatron, Inc,

Michigan, United States

Manatron Intermediate Heldings, Inc.

[elaware, United States

Rauters {Canvas) Holdings 1 Limited Bermuda
Reuters Holdings Limited England
Routers Lirmited England
Reuters Transaction Services Limited England
The Thomson QOrganisation (No. 10) England
The Thomson Crganisation Limited England
Thomson Holdings Limited Engiand
Thomson Infarmation & Publishiig Holdings Limited England
Thomson Information & Solutions (Holdings) Limitad England
Themson Information & Solutions Limitad England
Thomson Publishing Group Limited Ergland

Thomsen Reuters (GRE Inc.

Defaware, United States

Thomsen Reuters {Legal) Inc.

Minnesota, United States

Thomsen Reuters {Markels) Deuischland Gl Geymany

Thomson Reuters (Markets) LLG Delaware, United States
Thomson Reuters {Markets) SA Switzerland

Thomson Reuters {Professional) UK Ltd. England

Thomson Reuters (Tax & Accounting) Inc.

Texas, United States

Thomson Reuters (TRI) Inc.

Delawars, Unitad Stales

Thomson Reuters Ametica Carporation

Delawarg, United Stales

Thomseon Reuters Canads Limited

Cntario, Canada

Thomsen Reuters Corporation Pie Limited

Singanore

Thomson Reuters Deutschland Gmbi

Germany
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Thomsen Reuters Finance 3.4,

Luxembourg

Thomsoen Reuters France

France

Thomsen Reuters Global Resources Unlimited Company

roland

Thomsen Reuters Group Limited

England

Thomsen Reuters Holdings A.G.

SBwitzeriand

Thomsen Reuters Holdings B.V.,

The Netherlands

Thomsen Reuters Holdings Inc,

Delaware, United States

Thomson Reuters Holdings S.A,

Luxembourg

Thomson Reuters Holdings SARL

France

Thomson Reuters Hong Kong Limitad

Hong Kong

Thomson Reuters India Holdings B,V,

Tha Nethertands

Thomsor Reuters Investrnent Holdings Limited

England

Thomson Reuters Markets KK

Japan

Thomson Reuters No. 4 Inc.

Delawara, United States

Thomson Reuters No. 5 LLG

Delaware, United States

Thomson Reuters No. 8 LLC

Delaware, United Stales

Thomson Reuters 1.3, LLC

Delaweare, United Stales

Thamson LIK Limited England

TR (2008) Limited England

TR Holdings Limited Bermuda

TR Organisation Limited England

TR Professional Holdings Limited England

TRUS. Inc. Delaware, United States
TTC (1894) Limited England

TTC Holdings Limiied Bermuda

West Publishing Corparation

Mirnesota, United States

Waorldscope/Disciosure L.L.C.

Delawaro, United States

Interests of Experts

Cur independent registered public accounting firm is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, whe has issued an independent registered public accounting
firn's report dated March 9, 2017 in respect of our consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and for
each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2015 and our internal control aver financial reporting as at December 31, 2016,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has advised that it is independent with respect to our company within the meaning of the Rules of Professional
Gonduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, and the rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the requirements
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States).
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Further information and Disclosures

Iran Threst Reduction and Syria Human Righis Act Disclosure

The Iran Threat Reduction and Syra Human Rights Act of 2012 (ITRA) requires us to disclose information in our annual report if we or any of our
affiliates knowingly engaged in certain transactions or dealings related to Iran in 2016. Disclosure Is generally required, even if the transactions or
dealings were conducted in compliance with applicable law and regulations.

During 2016, certain of our non-U.5. subsidiaries sold Reuters text newswlires and videc broadcast services products to one customer covered by
the ITRA. These sales were exempt from applicable U.8. econamic sanctions laws and regulations as exports of information and informational
materials and authorized under the applicable UK. and £.U. sanctions against fran. These sales represented approximately 0.00437% of our
company’s 2016 consolidated revenues, The agoragate gross revenuss attributable to these sales in 2016 were approximately $488,400, We
astimate that the 2016 net profit attributable to these sales was approximately $390,720. Our Reuters business does not plan to renew its existing
custamer contract or enter into new sales contracts with customers covered by the [TRA, subject to certain limited exceptions where continued
sales are permissible under applicable export control and economic sanctions laws and regulations.

Additionally, in 2016, our former Intellectual Property & Science business, which we sold in October 20186, sold products to six customers covered
by the ITRA. The products sold were exempt from applicable economic sanctions laws and regulations as exports of information and informational
matenials, These transactions and dealings by our former inteliectual Properly & Science businass representad approximately 0.00512% of our
2016 consolidated revenues. The aggregate gross revenues attributable to thesse sales through October 3, 2016 (when we sold the Intellectual
Property & Science business) were approximately $572,231, We estimate that the 2016 net profit attributable to these sales was approximately
$311,286, We have no plans to enter into new salas contracts with these customars as we no longer own the Intellectual Proparty & Science
business.

Cther Information and Disclosures

For more information about Thomson Reuters, please see our various filngs and notifications posted on our website, www.thomsonreuters.com,
the Canadian Securities Administrators’ SEDAR website, www.sedar.com, and in the EDGAR section of the Securities and Exchange
Commission's (SEC) website at wwww.sec.gov. in addition, you may review a copy of our filings at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549, United States. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information.

Additional information, including directors’ and officers’ remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of our shares and securities authorized
for Issuance under our aquity compensation plans, will be contained in our management proxy circular, which is being preparad in connection with
our upcoming annual and special meeting of sharsholders to be held on May 3, 2017. Coples of our management proxy clicudar will be available
upon request in writing tor Investor Relations Departrent, Thomson Reuters, Metro Center, One Station Place, Stamford, Connecticut 06902,
United States. Requests may also be sent by e-mail tor investor.relations@thomsonreuters.com.

Information required to be provided pursuant to Canadian Securities Administrators Multilateral Instrument Form 52-110F1 (Audit Cornmittees) for
our company is included in the "Executive Officers and Direclors” section of this annual report.

Under NY SE listing standards, we are reguired to disclose any significant ways In which owr corporate govemance practices differ from those
required to be followed by U.8. domestic companios under NYSE listing standards. There is only one significant difference between our sorporate
governance practices and those required of domestic companies under NYSE listing standards. NYSE listing standards require sharsholder
approval of all “equity compensation plans” and material revisions to these typas of plans (with limited exceptions). TSX rules require shargholder
approval of security based compensation arangements only for plans which involve newly issued shares or specified amendments to the plans.
Skmifar to a number of other Canadian issuers, our company follows the TSX rules.

Qur Code of Business Condust and Ethics, corporate govemance guidelines and board committee charters are available on
www.thomsonreuters.com as well as in print or electronically {without charge) to any sharsholder who requests a copy in writing
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or by e-mail to our Investor Relations Department. Shareholders and other interested parties may contact the board or its non-management or
independent directors as a group, or the directors who preside over their mestings, by wiling to them cf/e Secretary to the Board, Thomson
Reuters, 3 Times Square, New York, New York 10036, United States.

Any statement in this annual report about any of our contracts or other documents is not necessarily complete. If the contract or document is filed
as an exhibit to our annual report with the SEC or as a material contract with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities, then the contract or
document is deemed to modify the description contained in this annual report. You should review the contracts or documents themselves for a
complete description.

We are required ta file reports and other information with the SEC under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (U.8. Securities
Exchange Act) and regulations under that act. As & foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the .S, Secuwrities Exchange Act
prescribing the form and content of proxy statements and our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short
swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the LS, Secuiities Exchange Act.

Front cover photo credit: REUTERS/[2ominic Ebenbichler,
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Cross Reference Tables

For the convenience of our sharehecldars, we have prepared one annual report for the year ended December 31, 20116 that addresses our disclosure
reguirements under applicable Canadian and U.8. laws and regulations.

The following pages include cross reference tables that reflect where we have disclosed information required to be contained in an annual
information form prepared in accordance with Canadian laws and regulations and an annual report on Form 40-F prepared in accordance with SEC
requirements.
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Exhibit 99.2
Consent of Independent Registered Poblic Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Annual Report on Form 40-F for the year ended December 31,2016 of Thomson Reuters
Corporation of our report dated March 9, 2017 relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal contro! over financial
reporting, which appears in Exhibit 99.1 incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.
We also consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form F-10 (No. 333-210327), Form 8-8 (No, 333-188914), Form S-8 (No.
333-12284), Form S-8 (No. 333-126782), Form S-8 (No. 333-135721), Form $-8 (No, 333-152029), Form S-8 (No.333-162035) and Form [-3 {No. 323-
150560) of our report referred to above,

We also consent to the reference to us under the heading “Interest of Experts” in Exhibit 99.1 incorporated by reference in this Annual Repott.

Pﬂcewaterhouseropers LLP
New York, New York
March 9, 2017



Exhibi¢ 99.3

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James C. Smith, certify that:

1.
2.

1 have reviewed this antiual report on Form 4C-F of Thomson Reuters Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
slatements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
repott;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The issuer’s other centifying officer(s) and T are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e}) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15{f and 15d-15(1))
for the issuer and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, ot cansed such disclesure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

by  Designed such interal conirol over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢}  FEvaluated the effectiveness o the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conciusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

dy  Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s intemnal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The issuer’s other certifying cfficer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial repotting, to the
issuer’s auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

g} All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the issuer’s ability to recoxd, process, sumimarize and report finaneial information; and

b)  Any frand, whether or not material, that invelves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 9,2017

/sf James C. Smith
James C. Smith
President and Chicf Executive Officer




Exhibit 99.4

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIET FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephane Bello, certify that:

1.
2.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 46-F of Thomson Reuters Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matexial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the citcumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
repolt;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information ineluded in this report, faitly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(g)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the issuer and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such discloswre controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by ethers within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b}  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢}  Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evalvation; and

d}  Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal contrel over financial reporting, to the
issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent finctions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation ofinternal control over financial repotting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, summatize and report finangial information; and

b)  Any frand, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer’s intemal control over
financial reporting,.

Date: March 9, 2017

/sf Stephang Bello
Stophane Bello
Executive Viee President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 99.5
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED BY
SECTICN 246 OT THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, James C. Smith, President and Chief Executive Officer of Thomson Reuters Corporation (the “Company™), hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Satbanes-Oxley Act of 2602, that:

a) The Company’s Annual Report on Foerm 40-F for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the “Form 40-F) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

b) The information contained in the Form 40-F fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 9, 2017

By: Js/ James C. Smith
JTames C. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer

Asigned original of this written statement has been provided to Thomson Reuters Corporation and will be retained by Thomson Reuters Corporation and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upen request,



Exhibic 99.6
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S5,C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED BY
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Stephane Bello, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Thomson Reuters Corporation {the “Company”), hereby centify, pursuant to 18
1J.8.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002, that:

a) The Company’s Annual Report on Form 40-F for the year ended December 31,2016 (the “Form 40-F) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

b) The information conlained in the Form 40-F fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 9, 2017

By: /s/ Stephane Bello
Stephane Bello
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement has been provided to Thomson Reuters Corporation and will be retained by Thomson Reuters Corporation and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staffupon request.
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THOMSON REUTERS
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
1. PURPOSE

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Thomson Reuters Corporation (the “Corporation™) in
fulfilling its ovessight responsibilities in relation to:

»  the integrity of financial statements and other financial information relating to the Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Thomson
Reuters™);

*  Thomson Reuters compliance with risk management, and legal and regulatory requirements;

«  the qualifications, independence and performance of Thomson Reuters auditor;

+  the adequacy and effectiveness of Thomson Reuters internal control over financial repotting and disclosure controls and procedues;
+  the effectiveness of Thomson Reuters internal audit finction; and

«  any additional matters delegated to the Audit Committee by the Board.

2. MEMBERS

The Board must appoint a minimum ofthree and a maximum ofsix directors to be members of the Audit Committee, The members of the Andit
Committee are selected by the Board on the recommendation of the Cerporate Governance Committee. All members of the Audit Committee must meet
the criteria for independence contained in applicable law and stock exchange les and requirements.

Every member of the Audit Committee must be Financially Literate, In addition, the Board will determine and publicly disclose whether at least one
member has accounting or related financial management expertise as defined in applicable NYSE rules, including whether that member is an Audit
Committee Financial Expert.

Members of the Audit Commitfes may not serve on more than two other public company audit commitiees except with the prior approval of the Board,

3.  RESPONSIBILITIES

The Audit Committee is respensible for performing the duties set out below as well as any other duties that are otherwise required by applicable law or
stock exchange rules and requirements or are delegated to the Audit Committee by the Board.



(a) Appointment and Review of the Auditor

The auditor is accountable to the Audit Committee and reports direcily to the Audit Committee, Accordingly, the Audit Committee will evalyate and
be directly responsible for Thomson Reuters relationship with the auditor. Specifically, the Audit Committee will:

)

select, evaluate and recommend to the Board, to put forward for shareholder approval at the annual meeting, the auditor to be prepesed for

appointment or reappointiment, as the case may be, to prepare orissue an auditor’s report as well as perform audit, review, attest or other services
for the Corporation;

review and approve the auditor’s engagement letter;

after seeking and taking into account the views of senior management and the officer in charge of internal audit, review the independence,
experience, qualifications and performance of'the auditor, including the lead audit partner;

oversee the auditor’s work, including investigating and resclving any disagreements between senior management and the auditor regarding
financial reporting or the internal audit funetion;

at least annually, obtain and review a report by the auditor describing its internal quality-control procedures, any material issues raised by the
most recent internal quality-control review, ot peer review, of'the firm, or by any inguiry or investigation by governmental or professional
authotities, within the preceding five years, respecting one er more independent audits cartied out by the anditor and any steps taken to deal with
any such issues; and

where appropriate, terminate the auditor.

Confirmation of the Auditor’s Independence

At least annually, and before the auditor issues its report on the Corporation’s annual consolidated financial statements, the Audit Committee will:

confirm that the auditor has submitted a formal written statement describing all of its relationships with Thomson Reuters that, in the auditor’s
professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on its independence;

discuss with the auditor any disclosed relationships or services, including any non-audit services the auditor has provided to Thomson Reuters,
that may affect its independence;

obtain written confirmation from the auditor that it is independent with respect to Thomson Reuters within the meaning of the Rules of
Professional Conduct adopted by the Ontario Institute of Chartered Accountants, the standards established by the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) and the standards established by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission; and
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+  confirm that the auditor has complied with applicable law with respect to the rotation of certain members of the audit engagement team for
Thomsen Reuters.
{c) Pre-Approval of Non-Audit Services

The Audit Committee will pre-approve the appointment of the anditor for any non-andit services, provided that it will not approve any services that are
prohibited under applicable law. The Audit Committee has established policies and procedures, and may revise such from time to time, which pre-
approve the appointment of the auditor for certain non-audit services, In addition, the Audit Committee may delegate to one ormore independent
members the authority to pre-approve the appointment of the auditor for any non-audit services to the extent permitted by applicable law, provided
that any pre-approvals granted pursnant to such delegation shall be reperted to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting following such
pre-approval,

(d) Communications with the Auditor

The Audit Committee has the authority to communicate directly with the auditor and will meet privately with the auditor as frequently as the Audit
Comunittee determines is appropriate to fulfill its responsibilities, which will net be less frequently than annually, to discuss any items ef concern to
the Audit Committee or the auditor, including, without limitation:

o planning and staffing ofthe audit;

*  any material written communications between the auditor and senior management, such as any management representation letter, management
letter, schedule of adjusted differences and summary of uncorrected misstatements;

= whether or not the auditor is satisfied with the quality and effectiveness of financial recording procedures and systems;
= the extent to which the auditor is satisfied with the nature and scope of its examination,;
+ any instances of fraud or other illegal acts invelving senior management or employees invelved in financial reporting of Thomson Reuters;

*  whether or not the auditor has received the full cooperation of senior management and other employees of Thomson Reuters and whether the
auditor has encountered any audit problems or difficulties in the comse of its audit work, including any restrictions on the scope of the auditor’s
work or access to required information and any significant disagreements with management (along with management’s response);

+  the auditor’s observations of the competence and performance of the Chief Financial Officer and other key financial personnsl; and
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+ . the items required to be communicated to the Audit Committee under the standards established by the PCAOB, Canadian authoritative guidance
or under Canadian generally accepted anditing standards (“GAAS™).
(¢) Review of the Audit Plan

The Audit Committes will discuss with the auditor the nature of an audit and the responsibility assumed by the anditor when conducting an audit of
financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IFRS”). The Audit Committee will review a summary of the auditer’s audit plan for each audit.

(f)  Review of Anditor’s Fees

The Audit Committee will determine the auditor’s fees and other terms of the auditor’s engagement. In determining the auditor’s fees, the Audit
Committee will consider, among other things, the number and nature ol reporis to be issued by the auditor, the quality of the internal control over
financial reporting of Thomson Reuters, the size, complexity and financial condition of Thomson Reuters and the extent of intemal sudit and other
suppott to be provided to the auditor by Thomson Reuters.

(g) Review of Annual Financial Statements

The Audit Committee will review and discusg the following with senior management and the anditor, before recommending them for approval by the
Board:

+  the annual consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and the related management’s discussion and analysis;
+  critical accounting policies and practices used or to be used by Thomson Reuters; and

+  altemative treatments of financial information within IFRS that have been disenssed with senior management, ramifications of the use of such
alternative disclosures and treatments, and the treatment preferred by the auditor.

()  Approval of Quarterly Financial Statements and Earnings Press Releases

The Audit Committee will review and approve the quarterly consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and the related management’s
discussion and analysis after discussion with senior management and the auditor. The Audit Committee will also engage the auditor to review the
consolidated quarterly financial statements of the Corporation and any reconciliation of such financial statements prior to the Audit Committee’s
review of such financial statements or reconeiliation.

4.



- The Audit Committee will review and approve annual and quarterly earnings press releases prior to their public release, as well as any financial
information and earnings guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies. The Audit Committee will also review the type and presentation of
information to be included in such press releases and guidance {including the use of “pro forma” or “adjusted” non-IFRS financial measures).

(i) Review of Other Financial Information

The Audit Committee will:

+  pertiodically assess the adequacy of procedures that are in place for management’s review of all other financial information extracted or derived
from Thomsen Reuters financial statements that were previously reviewed by the Avdit Committee before such information is released to the
public, including, without limitation, financial information or statements for use in prospectuses or other offering or public disclosure documents
and financial statements required by regulatory authorities;

+  review major issues regarding accounting principles and financial statement presentations, including any significant changes in Themson
Reuters selection or application of accounting principles, and major issues as to the adequacy of Thomsen Reuters internal control over financial
reporting and any special audit steps adopted in light cf any material control deficiencies;

+  review analyses prepared by management and/or the auditor sstting forth significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in
connection with the preparation of Thomson Reuters financial statements, including analyses of the effects of alternative IFRS methods on the
financial statements; and

< review the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures en the financial statements.
{j)  Review of the Internal Audit Function

The Audit Committee will review the mandaie, budget, planned activities, siaffing and organizational structure of Thomson Reuters intemnal audit
function (part of which may be outsourced to a firm other than the auditor) to confirm that it is independent of management and has sufficient rescurces
to carry out its mandate. The Audit Committes will discuss this mandate with the awditor.

The Audit Committee will review the appoinfiment and replacement of the officer in charge of internal andit and will review summaries of reports to
management prepared by the internal audit department and management’s tesponses. The Audit Committee will also annually review the effectiveness
of'the internal audit function and will veport its findings to the Board,
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The officer in charge of internal audit teports directly to the Chair of the Audit Committee and has a dotted line reporting relationship to the Chief
Financial Officer. The Audit Committee has the authority to communicate directly with the officer in charge of intemal audit and will meet privately
with him or her as frequently as the Audit Committee determines is appropriate to fulfill its responsibilities, which will not be less frequently than
anpually, to discuss any areas of concem to the Audit Committee or the officer in charge of internal audit.

(&) Relations with Senior Management

The Audit Committee members will meet privately with senior managsment as frequently as the Audit Committee determines is appropriats to fulfill its
responsibilities, which will not be less frequently than annually, to discuss any areas of concem to the Audit Committee or senior management,

(1) Oversight of Internai Controls and Disclesure Controls

The Audit Committee will review with senior management the adequacy and effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting (within the
meaning of applicable law) that is maintained by Themson Reuters to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS. The Audit Committee will review any special audit steps adopted in light of material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies (in each case within the meaning of applicable law).

The Audit Committee will teview with senicr management the adequacy and effectiveness of the disclosure contrels and procedures (within the
meaning of applicable law) that are maintained by Thomson Reuters to confinn that material information about Thomson Reuters that is required to be
disclosed under applicable kaw or stock exchangs rules and requirements is disclosed within the required time periods.

The Audit Committee will also review disclosures made to it by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer during their certification
process for applicable securities law filings about any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in the design or operation of Thomson Reuters
internal control over financial reporting and any fraud, whether or not material, involving management or other employees who have a significant role
in Thomson Reutets internal control over financial reporting.

{m) Legal and Regulatery Compliance
The Audit Committee will review with Thomson Reuters legal counsel;
+  any material legal or regulatory matters; and

»  any material inquiries received from regulators and governmental agencies.
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(m) - Risk Assessment and Risk Managemen(

The Audit Committee will review pericdically with senicr management controls and policies of Thomson Reuters with respect to risk assessment and
risk management, including, without limitation, regarding financial, operational, legal, treasury, tax, information security and disaster
recovery/business continuity risks. As part ofthis process, the Audit Committee will review the steps and processes taken by senior management to

monitor, mitigate and manage key risks. As part of these responsibilities, the Audit Committee will oversee the Corporation’s enterprise risk
management framework.

{0) Taxation Matters
The Audit Committee will periodically review with senior management the status of significant taxation matters of Thomson Reuters.
(m Hiring Employees of the Auditor

The Audit Committee will maintain and monitor compliance with pelicies for hiring partners and employees and former partners and employees of the
auditor,

COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE

_The Audit Committee will maintain procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by Thomson Reuters regarding
accounting, intermal accounting centrols, auditing matters and disclosure controls and procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission of
concemns by employees of Thomson Reuters regarding questionable accounting, internal accounting controls, anditing matters or disclosure controls
and procedures.

REPORTING
The Audit Committee will:

+  regularly report to the Board on all significant matters it has addressed and with respect to such other matters as are within its responsibilities;
and

+  pversee the preparation of and review any disclosure with respect to its activities in discharging the responsibilities set out in this Charter
included in materials sent to shareholders of the Corporation.

REVIEW AND DISCLOSURE

The Audit Committee will review this Charler at least annually and submit it to the Corporaie Governance Committee together with any proposed
amendments. The Corpotate Governance Committee will review this Charter and submit it to the Board for approval with such further amendments as it
deems necessary and appropriate.
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10.

1.

ASSESSMENT

At least annually, the Board, acting through the Corporate Governance Commitiee, will review the effectiveness of the Audit Committes in fulfilling
its responsibilities and duties as set out in this Charter and in a manner consistent with the Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by the Board.

MEETINGS

Quorum for meetings of the Audit Committee will be a majoiity of its members. A meeting ofthe Audit Committee may be called by the Chair or any
other member of the Audit Committee, the Chairman, any Deputy Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the auditor, the officer in charge of the
internal audit or the Secretary. The Secretary will act as Secretary to the Audit Committee unless the Chair of the Audit Committee decides otherwise,

The Audit Committee will ordinarily meet in camera at the end of each of its meetings and may meet in camera at any other time as required.
CHAIR

Each year, the Board on the recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee will appoint one member to be Chair of the Audit Committee. If,
in any year, the Board does not appoint a Chair, the incumbent Chair will continue in office until a successor is appointed,

REMOVAL AND VACANCIES

Any member may be removed and replaced at any time by the Board, and will automatically cease to be a member as soon as the member ceases to
meet the qualifications set out above. The Board will fill vacancies on the Audit Committee by appointment from among qualified members of the
Board. If a vacancy exists on the Audit Committee, the remaining members will exercise all of its powers so long as a quoram remains in cffice.

ACCESS TO MANAGEMENT AND OUTSIDE ADVISORS
The Audit Committee may invite any member of management, employes, outside advisor or other person to attend any of its meetings.

In canying out its duties, the Audit Committee may retain an outside advisor without Board approval at the expense of Thomson Reuters and has the
authority to determine any such advisor’s fees and other retention terms. Thomson Reuters will also provide appropriate funding, as determined by the
Audit Committee, fot the payment of the compensation of the anditor, Independent covnsel and outside advisors and any ordinary administrative
expenses of the Andit Comrmittee that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties.
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12. DETINITIONS

Capitalized terms used in this Charter have the meanings attributed to them below:

“Aundit Committee Financial Expert” means a person who has the following attributes:

®
()
©

@
(e)

an understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and financial statements;
the ability to assess the general application of such principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves;

experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of
accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by
Thomson Reuters financial statements, or experience actively supervising one or more person’s engaged in such activities;

an understanding of internal contrels and precedures for financial reporting; and

an understanding of audit commitiee functions,

A person shall have acquired such attributes through:

(@

(i)

(i1}

v

education and experience as a principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, public accountant or anditor or
experience in one or more pesitions that involve the performance of similar functions;

experience actively supervising a principal financial cfficer, principal accounting officer, controller, public accountant, auditor or person
performing similar functions;

experience overseeing or assessing the parformance of companies or public accountants with respect to the preparation, auditing or
evaluation of financial statements; or

other relevant experience.

“Financially Literate” means the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of
accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by Thomson
Reuters financial statements,
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